

# THE 5S RNP AND THE REGULATION OF THE TUMOUR SUPPRESSOR, P53

Loren Samantha Gibson

Submitted for Doctor of Philosophy Degree

Final submission: April 2016

Faculty of Medical Sciences University of Newcastle upon Tyne

#### ABSTRACT

Ribosomes are vital molecular machines involved in catalysing mRNA translation into proteins. Understandably, when ribosome production is disrupted, there are mechanisms available to prevent further cell growth. The main complex involved in this process is the 5S RNP, a ribosome assembly intermediate consisting of the ribosomal proteins RPL5 and RPL11, and the 5S rRNA. The 5S RNP induces the tumour suppressor p53 by interacting with, and inhibiting, MDM2 an ubiquitin ligase responsible for maintaining low levels of p53 in the cell. The 5S RNP-p53 pathway has been implicated in diseases known as ribosomopathies, however the regulation of these pathways have not been fully characterised and there is still much that is unknown. The aim of this project was to identify the components involved in regulating 5S RNP integration into the ribosome and to determine what further components may be required for 5S RNPmediated p53 activation.

There have been many recent studies elucidating the mechanism by which the 5S RNP is incorporated into the ribosome in yeast, however this mechanism appears to vary in humans. The data presented in this thesis determined that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 Y30 prevented 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome. Furthermore, depletion of RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21 resulted in large subunit biogenesis defects and abrogated 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome.

Previous studies have suggested that SRSF1 and PRAS40 may be involved in the regulation of p53 via RPL5 and RPL11 respectively. In congruence with this, the data presented here showed SRSF1 interacts with the 5S RNP. Furthermore, depletion of SRSF1 results in reduction in 5S RNP-dependent p53 activation, mis-localisation of RPL11, and reduction in 5S RNP integration. Collectively, these data suggest that SRSF1 may be important for both ribosome production and p53 regulation. The role of PRAS40, however, still remains unclear. Despite not interacting with the 5S RNP, depletion of PRAS40 appeared to abrogate 5S-RNP mediated p53 induction.

In summary, this work has provided a basis for studies into how the 5S RNP is recruited into the ribosome and provides evidence to suggest that SRSF1 is a component of the 5S RNP complex to activate p53.

i

# DECLARATION

I certify that this thesis contains my own work, except where acknowledged, and that no part of this material has been previously submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this or any other University.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to Dr. Nick Watkins for all of his help and support throughout my PhD. You have been very understanding and helped me build so much character. Thank you to the rest of the Watkins/Schneider lab for all of the support and encouragement-especially Andria Pelava for keeping me company on early starts. Thank you to Dr. Katherine Sloan for providing the RPL5 and RPL11 U2OS cell lines. I'd also like to thank Prof. Neil Perkins, and all the members of the lab that have helped me over the years-especially Adam Moore, Dr. Alessio Ianetti, and Dr. Alexandros Sfikas. A special thank you goes to Dr. George Schlossmacher for providing the U2OS p53 reporter cell lines. All of your knowledge and experience has helped me with many of my experiments and I'm extremely grateful. I'd also like to thank my progress panel, Dr. Jeremy Brown and Dr. David Lydall, for all their useful advice throughout the PhD.

I am so grateful to my parents and grandparents, who always believed in me. Without all of your help, I don't know where I would be. I'd finally like to thank my wonderful husband, Paul, for always being patient and for all the proof reading and cups of tea throughout the years. I couldn't have done this without you. I'm so proud of all that you've achieved; you've helped me to see what is truly possible. I can't wait for the next chapter of our life together as Dr. and Dr. Gibson.

This work was funded by the BBSRC and the Diamond Blackfan Anaemia Foundation.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract
Declarationii
Acknowledgementsii
Table of contents
Index of figuresx
Index of tables
List of abbreviationsxvi
Chapter One: Introduction1
1.1 The ribosome1
1.2 Ribosome biogenesis1
1.2.1 The nucleolus
1.2.2 rRNA processing
1.2.3 Small and large subunit processing and assembly in yeast
1.2.4 Nuclear export11
1.2.5 The 5S RNP recruitment and rearrangement11
1.2.6 Quality control of ribosome biogenesis14
1.3 The tumour suppressor, p5314
1.3.1 The p53 family of proteins15
1.3.2 Regulation of p53 via MDM2 and MDMX/MDM416
1.3.3 Activation of p5318
1.3.4 Transcriptional activation via p5319
1.4 The role of the ribosome in p53 signalling24
1.4.1 Ribosomal proteins and p53 signalling24
1.4.2 The 5S RNP and MDM2/p5326

1.4.3 The 5S RNP and MDMX28
1.4.4. The 5S RNP and p7329
1.4.5 The 5S RNP-p53 pathway is linked to the expression of oncogenes and
tumour suppressors
1.5 Regulation of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway31
1.5.1 PICT-1
1.5.2 SRSF1
1.5.3 PRAS4034
1.5.4 Post-translational modifications37
1.6 Diseases as a result of aberrant ribosome biogenesis40
1.6.1 Diamond Blackfan Anaemia41
1.6.2 5q-syndrome43
1.6.3 Treacher Collins Syndrome44
1.6.4 Cancers
1.6.5 Other diseases as a result of aberrant ribosome biogenesis
1.7 Project aims and objectives49
Chapter Two: Methods51
2.1 Reagents
2.2 DNA methods51
2.2.1 Plasmid purification51
2.2.2 PCR
2.2.3 Sequencing53
2.2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis53
2.2.5 Restriction digests54
2.2.6 Ligation54
2.2.7 Transformation into <i>E.coli</i> 54
2.3 RNA methods54

2.3.1 RNA extractions	54
2.3.2 Northern blot methods and probes	55
2.3.3 Labelling RNAs for interaction studies	56
2.3.4 Quantification of RNA	57
2.4 Human Cell Culture	58
2.4.1 Human Cell lines	58
2.4.2 RNAi	59
2.4.3 Creation of pcDNA5 cell lines	59
2.4.4 Chemical treatments	61
2.4.5 Whole Cell extracts	61
2.4.6 Immunofluorescence	61
2.4.7 Pulse labelling experiments	62
2.4.8 Glycerol Gradient analysis of 5S RNP components	63
2.4.9 Cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry	63
2.5 Protein Methods	63
2.5.1 SDS-PAGE	63
2.5.2 Western blotting	64
2.5.3 Phosphorylation gels	65
2.5.4 Luciferase assays	65
2.6 Over-expression and purification of GST-tagged proteins in <i>E.coli</i> cells	65
2.6.1 Purification of GST-tagged proteins	65
2.6.2 Desalting	66
2.7 Interaction studies	66
2.7.1 Glutathione-sepharose protein-RNA pull downs	66
2.7.2 Immunoprecipitations	66
Chapter Three: Understanding the factors involved in recruiting the 5S RNP into the	ž
ribosome	69

3.1 Introduction69
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Depletion of RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 in U2OS cells73
3.2.2 Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 affects integration of the 5S rRNA into the ribosome74
3.2.3 RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 are crucial for ribosome biogenesis and RPL7 and RPL18 knockdowns lead to accumulation of the 36SC precursor
3.2.4 Knockdowns of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 but not RPL10 induce p53 via the 5S RNP
3.2.5 Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 result in an accumulation of cells in G1 in an RPL5-dependent manner80
3.2.6 <i>In vitro</i> binding assays to show RPL11/28S rRNA interactions82
3.2.7 RPL11 directly binds helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA but not the 5S rRNA85
3.3 Discussion
Chapter Four: Investigation into the role of SRSF1 and PRAS40 as potential regulators of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway93
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Results
4.2.1 Creation of inducible cell lines expressing FLAG-SRSF1 and FLAG-PRAS4099
4.2.2 Localisation of FLAG-SRSF1 and PRAS40100
4.2.3 Expression of FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40 increase p53 levels in U2OS cells
4.2.4 SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression does not affect cell cycle progression 103
4.2.5 SRSF1, but not PRAS40, co-purifies with the 5S rRNA104
4.2.6 Depletion of PRAS40 increases p53 activity whilst depletion of SRSF1 reduces p53 activity
4.2.7 SRSF1 and PRAS40 have opposing effects on ActD treatment108

4.2.8 Depletion of SRSF1 and PRAS40 counteract the p53 response from RPL5 and	
RPL11 over-expression110	0
4.2.9 Knockdown of SRSF1 and PRAS40 have effects the localisation of 5S RNP	
components112	2
4.2.10 Depletion of SRSF1 affects integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome113	3
4.2.11 Knockdowns of SRSF1 and PRAS40 have no significant effect on rRNA	
processing in pulse-labelling experiments11	5
4.2.12 p53 induction from Deguelin treatment is RPL5-dependent110	6
4.3 Discussion119	9
Chapter Five: The role of phosphorylation of RPL5 in cell signalling via p53	7
5.1 Introduction12	7
5.2 Results132	1
5.2.1 Tyrosines 30, 31 and 44 of RPL5 are located on the interaction surface with	
the ribosome and, thus, if phosphorylated, may block ribosomal integration13	1
5.2.2 Creation of inducible cell lines expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 phosphorylation	า
mutants133	3
5.2.3 Mutation of RPL5 tyrosine 30 does not affect the localisation of RPL513	5
5.2.4 Mutating Y30 to phenylalanine or glutamic acid does not affect RPL5-5S	
rRNA interactions130	6
5.2.5 Expression of RPL5 Y30E results in increased levels of non-ribosomal RPL5	
compared the RPL5 Y30F mutant and wild type RPL5	7
5.2.6 RPL5 shows evidence of differential phosphorylation between non-ribosoma	ıl
and ribosomal RPL5138	8
5.2.7 FLAG-RPL5 Y30 mutants associate with MDM2 and p53140	0
5.2.8 The wild type and mutant RPL5 all increase p53 levels but the Y30F mutation	1
does not increase p53 activity14	1
5.2.9 Expression of the wild type RPL5 and the mutants all lead to decreased	
cellular growth rate144	4

5.2.10 Expression of the wild type, Y30E or Y30F mutants leads to an accumulation
of cells in G1/G0 in a p53-dependent manner145
5.3 Discussion
Chapter six: Conclusions and discussion155
6.1 Introduction155
6.2 rRNA processing in humans156
6.3 The recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome157
6.4 Regulation of the 5S RNP pathway160
6.4.1 PRAS40 and SRSF1161
6.4.2 Phosphorylation of RPL5163
6.4.3 Summary165
6.5 Future treatments for disease165
6.6 Conclusions167
References

# **INDEX OF FIGURES**

- Figure 1.1 The structure of the eukaryotic ribosome
- Figure 1.2 The structure of the nucleolus
- Figure 1.3 rRNA processing in S. cerevisiae
- Figure 1.4 rRNA processing in mammals
- Figure 1.5 The domain structure of the p53 family of proteins is highly conserved
- Figure 1.6 The structure of the homologous proteins, MDM2 and MDMX
- Figure 1.7 Pathways for activating p53
- Figure 1.8 The intrinsic apoptosis pathway
- Figure 1.9 Cell cycle regulation by p53
- Figure 1.10 Ribosomal protein binding sites in MDM2
- Figure 1.11 The 5S RNP interacts with MDM2 to promote p53 signalling
- Figure 1.12 Regulation of MDMX and MDM2 via the 5S RNP
- Figure 1.13 The 5S RNP-p53 pathway
- Figure 1.14 The regulation of RPL11-mediated p53 induction via PICT-1
- Figure 1.15 Summary of the role of PRAS40 in the Akt/mTOR and p53 pathways
- Figure 1.16 Phosphorylation sites reported in RPL5 and RPL11
- Figure 1.17 Nucleolar morphology in cancer
- Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the homologous recombination between the pcDNA5 vector and Flp-In T-REX cells
- Figure 3.1 The 5S RNP-p53 pathway
- Figure 3.2 The 5S RNP 'binding pocket'

Treatment of cells with siRNAs for RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 results

Figure 3.3 in a reduction of the relevant mRNA and protein levels

- Figure 3.4 RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 depletion leads to accumulation of 'free' 5S rRNA
- Figure 3.5 RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 knockdowns affect ribosome biogenesis
- Figure 3.6 Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 induces p53 in a 5S RNP-dependent manner
- Figure 3.7 RPL7 and RPL18 knockdowns give an RPL5 dependent accumulation of cells in G1
- Figure 3.8 The 28S rRNA contacts RPL11 in the ribosome
- Figure 3.9 Protein purifications of RPL5 and RPL11
- Figure 3.10 RPL11 directly binds to helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA
- Figure 3.11 rRNA processing defects in ITS1 and ITS2
- Figure 3.12 Figure 3.12
- Figure 3.13 The binding of the 28S rRNA and MDM2 to RPL11 are mutually exclusive
- Figure 4.1 The role of the 5S RNP in p53 signalling
- Figure 4.2 SRSF1 in p53 signalling
- Figure 4.3 The role of PRAS40 and SRSF1 in the regulation of translation via mTORC1
- Figure 4.4 SRSF1 and PRAS40 expression in cell lines
- Figure 4.5 Localisation of FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40
- Figure 4.6 The effect of SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression on p53
- Figure 4.7 Cell cycle analysis of SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression
- Figure 4.8 SRSF1 interacts with the 5S RNP whilst PRAS40 only interacts with RPL11
- Figure 4.9 PRAS40 and SRSF1 depletion affects p53 and p21 levels
- Figure 4.10 SRSF1 and PRAS40 have opposite effects upon ActD treatment

- Figure 4.11 Figure 4.11 Depletion of SRSF1 or PRAS40 counteracts the p53 response from RPL5 and RPL11 over-expression
- Figure 4.12 SRSF1 and PRAS40 depletion affects localisation of RPL5 and RPL11
- Figure 4.13 Depletion of SRSF1 affects integration of RPL5 and RPL11 into the ribosome
- Figure 4.14 Analysis of the effect of depletion of SRSF1 or PRAS40 on rRNA processing
- Figure 4.15 The effect of deguelin, leucine and arginine treatment in U2OS cells
- Figure 4.16 A proposed model for SRSF1 in the 5S-RNP mediated activation of p53
- Figure 4.17 The mechanism of Deguelin activating p53 via the 5S RNP
- Figure 5.1 The 5S RNP activates p53 via interactions with MDM2
- Figure 5.2 Reported phosphorylation sites on RPL5

RPL5 Y30, Y31 and Y44 are located within the interaction surface with the Figure 5.3

- ribosome and Y30 and Y44 are highly conserved in eukaryotes
- Figure 5.4 Phosphorylation of RPL5 in cells
- Figure 5.5 Inductions of RPL5 and the mutants in U2OS cell lines
- Figure 5.6 Mutation of Y30 does not affect localisation of RPL5
- Figure 5.7 Interactions between RPL5 wild type and mutants with the 5S rRNA
- Figure 5.8 Mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 Y30 leads to decreased ribosomal integration of RPL5
- Figure 5.9 RPL5 is differentially phosphorylated when incorporated into ribosomes.
- Figure 5.10 The RPL5 mutants interact MDM2 and p53
- Figure 5.11 Expression of the RPL5 mutants affects p53 protein levels and activity
- Figure 5.12 RPL5 expression slows the growth of U2OS cells
- Figure 5.13 Expression of RPL5 induces an accumulation of cells in G1

- Figure 5.14 Schematic representation of the proposed role of phosphorylation in 5S RNP signalling
- Figure 5.15. Proposed model for phosphorylation in the regulation of p53 via MDMX
- Figure 6.1 Proposed 5S RNP ribosomal integration pathway
- Figure 6.2 The proposed model for 5S RNP-p53 signalling via SRSF1 and PRAS40

# **INDEX OF TABLES**

- Table 1.1Diseases of ribosome biogenesis dysfunction
- Table 2.1 Primers used for cloning
- Table 2.2The PCR conditions used for cloning
- Table 2.3List of primers used for RT-PCR
- Table 2.4The PCR thermal cycling conditions for Go Taq G2 polymerase
- Table 2.5List of primers used in mutagenesis PCR
- Table 2.6Probes used for northern blot hybridisation
- Table 2.7Conditions for *in vitro* transcription
- Table 2.8 Conditions for labelling RNAs
- Table 2.9siRNA sequences used
- Table 2.10Final concentration of chemical treatments used in cell culture
- Table 2.11Antibodies used in immunofluorescence
- List of antibodies used with the dilutions used in Western Table 2.12 blotting

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

7-AAD	7-Aminoactinomycin D
A. <i>melanoleuca</i>	Ailuropoda melanoleuca
A. nidulans	Aspergillus nidulans
ActD	Actinomycin D
АКТ	Protein Kinase B
ALK	Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase
AML	Acute Myeloid Leukaemia
ARF	ADP ribosylation factor
ATM	Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
B. Mori	Bombyx mori
С	Cysteine
C. elegans	Caenorhabditis elegans
CDK	Cyclin Dependent Kinase
cDNA	Complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
СНК	Checkpoint Kinase
CK2	Casein Kinase II
CMV	Cytomegalo virus
C-terminal	Carboxyl terminal
DC	Dyskeratosis Congenita
D. discoidium	Dictvostelium discoideum
D. melanogaster	Drosophila melanogaster
D. rerio	Danio rerio
DAPI	4'.6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBA	Diamond Blackfan Anaemia
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E	Glutamic Acid
E. coli	Escherichia coli
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ETS	External Transcribed Spacer
F	Phenylalanine
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
FRT	Flp Recombination Target
G. gallus	Gallus gallus
G1	Gan 1
G2	Gap 2
G2 GST	Gap 2 Glutathione S-Transferase
G2 GST GTP	Gap 2 Glutathione S-Transferase Guanosine triphosphate
G2 GST GTP <i>H. sapiens</i>	Gap 2 Glutathione S-Transferase Guanosine triphosphate <i>Homo sapiens</i>
G2 GST GTP <i>H. sapiens</i> HRP	Gap 2 Glutathione S-Transferase Guanosine triphosphate <i>Homo sapiens</i> Horseradish peroxidase

IP	Immunoprecipitation
ITS	Internal Transcribed Spacer
Kb	Kilobase
kDA	KiloDalton
MDM2	Mouse Double Minute 2
MgCl2	Magnesium Chloride
mRNA	Messenger RNA
mTOR	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
mTORC1	mammalian Target of Rapamycin Complex 1
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NaH2PO4	Sodium dihydrogen phosphate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
	Neural precursor cell expressed developmentally down-regulated
NEDD8	protein 8
NES	Nuclear Export Signal
NLS	Nuclear Localisation Signal
N-terminal	Amino-terminal
PAGE	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PIPES	1,4-Piperazinediethanesulphonic acid
PNK	Polynucleotide kinase
pol	Polymerase
PRAS40	Proline-rich AKT substrate of 40 kDa
pre-rRNA	Precursor rRNA
PUMA	p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis
R. novegicus	Rattus norvegicus
rDNA	Ribosomal Deoxyribonucleic Acid
RING	Really Interesting New Gene
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RNAi	RNA interference
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein Complex
RP	Ribosomal protein
RPM	Revolutions per minute
rRNA	Ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid
RRP	Ribosomal RNA-processing protein
S	Svedburg unit
S. cerevisiae	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
S-phase	Synthesis Phase
SRSF1	Serine Arginine Rich Splicing Factor 1
T. citricida	Toxoptera citricida
T. gondii	Toxoplasmosis gondii
TBE	Tris- boric acid- EDTA
Tet	Tetracycline
TFIIIA	Transcription factor 3A

TIP 49	TBP (TATA binding protein) - interacting protein of 49kDa
Tris	Tris (hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
tRNA	Transfer RNA
TSC2	Tuberous Sclerosis 2
U.V.	Ultraviolet
UTP	Uridine triphosphate
v/v	Volume per volume
w/v	Weight per volume
X. laevis	Xenopus laevis
Y	Tyrosine
μg	Microgram
μl	Microlitre
μm	Micrometre
μΜ	Micromolar

# **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1** The ribosome

Ribosomes are highly conserved complexes involved in translating mRNA into proteins through peptide bond formation. Ribosomes are conserved throughout all domains of life, although their composition varies. The mature eukaryotic ribosome (80S) consists of two subunits, the large (60S) subunit and the small (40S subunit). They are thus named the 80S, 60S and 40S due to their sedimentation coefficient. The structure of the ribosome has been solved in several eukaryotic organisms including *S.cerevisiae*, *H.sapien*, and *T.thermophila*, showing the organisation of the rRNAs and ribosomal proteins (Khatter et al., 2015, Ben-Shem et al., 2010, Klinge et al., 2011). The small and large subunits are composed of ribosomal RNA (rRNA) and ribosomal proteins. The small subunit is involved in the decoding function of the ribosome whilst the large subunit contains the peptidyl transfer centre (Lafontaine and Tollervey, 2001, Jones et al., 2008). The small subunit contains around 32 ribosomal proteins and the 18S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) whilst the large subunit consists of 3 ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs), the 28S (25 in S. cerevisiae), 5.8S and 5S rRNAs as well as approximately 46 ribosomal proteins (Wilson and Doudna Cate, 2012).

The rate of ribosome production dictates cell growth, differentiation and proliferation (Rudra and Warner, 2004, Warner, 1999b, Sulic et al., 2005, Thomas, 2000). Furthermore, ribosome production is down-regulated during differentiation (Villunger et al., 2003) and up-regulated during cancer (Ruggero and Pandolfi, 2003). As ribosome biogenesis is so energy costly to the cell, the regulation of this process is highly important and errors in ribosome biogenesis have been reported in a number of genetic diseases known as ribosomopathies (Danovi et al., 2004).

# **1.2 Ribosome biogenesis**

Eukaryotic ribosome biogenesis is an extremely complex and tightly regulated pathway that involves the coordination of all 3 RNA polymerases as well as more than 200 different ribosome assembly factors (Henras et al., 2008). Ribosome biogenesis is extremely energy consuming. In yeast 60% of the total transcription is dedicated to ribosomal RNA (Warner, 1999a) and thus this process has to be tightly regulated.

#### **1.2.1 The nucleolus**

Ribosome biogenesis occurs in the nucleolus, a nuclear sub-compartment formed around the nucleolar organiser regions (NORs) at the end of mitosis. The NORs are stretches of DNA containing the rRNA genes (McStay and Grummt, 2008). There are about 150 copies of the rDNA genes in yeast that are found in tandem repeats on chromosome 12 (Kobayashi et al., 1998). In humans, there are around 400 tandem repeats of the rDNA genes located in NORs on the short arms of acrocentric chromosomes (Chromosomes 13, 14, 15, 21 and 22) (Heliot et al., 1997). In humans, not all of the NORs are active, however those that are not active are believed to be important for nucleolar organisation and chromatin structure (Sanij and Hannan, 2009).

Although the nucleoli are not membrane-bound organelles, they are organised into three different compartments- the fibrillar centres, the dense fibrillar component (DFC), and the granular component (GC) (Derenzini et al., 1990) (Figure 1.1). Depending on the cell type and stage, the arrangement of the nucleoli can vary as their morphology can change in response to altered demands (Hernandez-Verdun, 2006). The FC consists of a network of 4-5nm thick fibrils where components of the transcription machinery are localised whereas the DFCs are composed of 3-5nm thick densely packed fibrils is where rRNA processing occurs (Schwarzacher and Wachtler, 1993). The GC contains 15nm granules and functions as a storage component.

The 47S pre-rRNA precursor is transcribed by RNA polymerase I at the FC/DFC border of mammalian nucleoli (Puvion-Dutilleul et al., 1997, Cheutin et al., 2002) before the RNAs move into the DFC during the elongation process (Cheutin et al., 2002). In the DFC, the initial cleavage steps are thought to occur (Derenzini et al., 1990) before the movement to the GC and subsequent processing takes place (Gerbi and Borovjagin, 1997). Finally, the pre-rRNAs exit the nucleoli and enter the nucleoplasm before being exported to the cytoplasm (Lei and Silver, 2002).



**Figure 1.1 The structure of the nucleolus.** Immunogold labelling detection of rRNAs from mouse ELT cells.showing the three nucleolar compartments: fibrillar centers (FC), dense fibrillar component (DFC) and granular component (GC). Figure modified from Cheutin et al. (2002).

The nucleolus has many functions including regulation of RNA and RNP biogenesis, organisation of the epigenome, and modulation of cellular stress responses (Quin et al., 2014). Several studies have demonstrated that ribosome biogenesis is up-regulated in cancer tissues, believed to be caused by a loss of tumour suppressor function (As reviewed in Montanaro et al. (2008)). This prompts the notion that the nucleolus may play roles in coordinating the cell cycle and cell death in stress situations, and the formation and maintenance of cancers. Furthermore, expression of dominant negative mutants of the nucleolar protein, BOP1 results in p53-mediated cell cycle arrest (Pestov et al., 2001b).

#### 1.2.2 rRNA processing

The transcription and processing of the ribosomal rRNA is a key step in the formation of ribosomes. In eukaryotes, the 18S, 5.8S and 28S (25S in yeast) rRNAs are transcribed as a single polycistronic precursor by RNA polymerase I in the nucleolus (Leary and Huang, 2001, Nazar, 2004) whilst the 5S rRNA is transcribed by RNA polymerase III in the nucleoplasm. The eukaryotic rRNA precursor is 13kb long and has a sedimentation value of 47S (35S in yeast). The 47S pre-rRNA undergoes a series of processing steps in order to produce the mature ribosomal rRNAs. During transcription of the rDNA, the nascent transcripts emerge from the rDNA template in a "Christmas tree"-like manner known as Miller spreads (Miller and Beatty, 1969). The terminal knobs at the ends of the transcripts correspond to the rRNA processing complexes containing precursors to the mature ribosomal subunits (Bernstein et al., 2004, Dragon et al., 2002, Grandi et al., 2002). Many of these factors are recruited as part of a large complex called the small subunit (SSU) processome which associates with the pre-rRNA during transcription (Osheim et al., 2004) and is involved in processing, assembly and maturation of the small subunit. These processing steps, whilst similar, vary between organisms.

#### 1.2.2.1 rRNA processing in S. cerevisiae

Most of the current understanding of rRNA processing has been gleaned from studies in yeast and are summarised in Figure 1.2. The sites A<sub>2</sub>, A<sub>3</sub> and an internal transcribed spacer (ITS1) are important for separating small subunit rRNA (18S) from the large subunit rRNAs (25S and 5.8S rRNAs).

The 35S pre-rRNA undergoes B<sub>0</sub> cleavage in the 3' ETS by Rnt1 (Kufel et al 1999). This is followed by cleavages at A<sub>0</sub>, A<sub>1</sub> and A<sub>2</sub> which requires processing by several snoRNPs (Lafontaine and Tollervey, 1995, Venema and Tollervey, 1995, Morrissey and Tollervey, 1993). Two further proteins have been proposed to be involved in the cleavage of sites A<sub>1</sub> and A<sub>2</sub>. Bleichert et al. (2006) suggested that Utp24 may be responsible for the endonucleolytic cleavages at A<sub>1</sub> and A<sub>2</sub> whilst Site A<sub>2</sub> has also been proposed to be cleaved by Rcl1 (Horn et al., 2011).

Removal of the 5' external transcribed spacer (5' ETS1) and cleavage in the internal transcribed spacer, ITS1 is performed by the small subunit (SSU) processome complex (Phipps et al., 2011). The 20S precursor is then transported to the cytoplasm where cleavage at site D by the endonuclease Nob1 then removes the remainder of ITS1 at the 3' end of the 18S rRNA to produce the mature 18S rRNA (Lamanna and Karbstein, 2009, Pertschy et al., 2007).





There are then two different pathways in yeast for the processing of the large subunit rRNAs. In the majority of cases, RNAse MRP, an RNA-protein complex, is required for cleavage at A<sub>3</sub> (Lygerou et al., 1996, Schmitt and Clayton, 1993) along with Nop4 (Sun and Woolford, 1994) and a component of the SSU processome, Rrp5 (Venema and Tollervey, 1996). The 5' to 3' exonucleases, Xrn2/Rat1 (Petfalski et al., 1998) and Rrp17 (at the B<sub>15</sub> site) (Oeffinger et al., 2009, Henry et al., 1994) as well as the A<sub>3</sub> cluster of proteins (Granneman et al., 2011, Sahasranaman et al., 2011) are involved in processing the 5' end of the 5.8S rRNA. However, in around 20% of cases, the 27SA<sub>2</sub> is produced by cleavage at A<sub>2</sub>. The B<sub>1L</sub> site is endonucleolytically processed, by an unknown RNase. The two pathways then follow a similar route, however the minor pathway produces the 5.8S<sub>L</sub> whilst the major pathway produces the 5.8S<sub>S</sub> (Henry et al., 1994).

Exonucleolytic cleavage at Site C<sub>2</sub> in the nucleus produces 7S and 27SB<sub>5</sub>/27SB<sub>L</sub> (Michot et al., 1999). Exonucleases Rat1 and Rrp17 then process the mature 5' end of the 25S (Oeffinger et al., 2009). The 5.8S containing precursor generated by cleavage at C<sub>2</sub> is processed by the exosome to produce 5.8S with 30 nucleotide 3' extension (5.8S+30). Exonucleases act in both directions following C<sub>2</sub> cleavage and require Las1 (Schillewaert et al., 2012). The 5.8S +30 precursor is cleaved to 6S by Rrp44 and Rrp6 of the exosome (Schillewaert et al., 2012). The mature 3' end of the 5.8S<sub>s</sub> and 5.8S<sub>L</sub> are formed in the cytoplasm by Rex1, Rex2 and Ngl2 exonucleases (Faber et al., 2002) The Mature 3' of 25S is produced by exonuclease Rnt1 (Oeffinger et al., 2009).

#### *1.2.2.2 rRNA processing in mammals*

In direct contrast to yeast, mammalian ribosome biogenesis is much less studied and thus less is known about the factors involved. The human rRNA precursor transcript is 47S compared to the yeast 35S and has many of the same features including the internal and external spacer regions as shown in Figure 1.3B. Furthermore, the mammalian rRNA processing pathway has multiple different alternative processing pathways (Figure 1.3A).

In mammalian pre-rRNA processing, there are two cleavage steps in the 5' ETS of the 47S transcript at sites A' and  $A_0$  (Hadjiolova et al., 1993, Mullineux and Lafontaine, 2012). The A' cleavage occurs co-transcriptionally and generates the 45S (Mullineux and Lafontaine, 2012). This cleavage relies on UTP-A, XRN2 and MTR4. However, in the

absence of XRN2 but not MTR4, A<sub>0</sub> cleavage becomes the first cleavage in the 5' ETS (Sloan et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.3 rRNA processing in mammals. (A)** The rRNA processing pathways in mammals from (Sloan et al., 2013b). The major pathway is represented by black text and arrows whilst the minor pathway is shown with grey text and arrows. The mature rRNAs are shown in orange (large subunit) and blue (small subunit). (B) Schematic representation of the rRNA cleavage events in mammals depicting the full length 47S transcript with the key cleavage sites (A', A<sub>0</sub>, 1, 3, 2a, 2, 4a and 3') and spacer regions (ITS1, ITS2, 5'ETS, 3'ETS) mapped. The bars represent the rRNAs whilst the lines represent the transcribed spacer regions. The processed intermediates are shown below the full length transcript and are processed into the mature 18S, 5.8S and 28S rRNAs as shown at the bottom.

After A' processing, cleavage at site 2 produces the 30S and 32S precursors and separates the large and small subunit rRNAs. The 5'ETS is removed from 30S to generate 21S. At this stage, there are two potential pathways. Either A<sub>0</sub> and site 1 are cleaved simultaneously, or if A<sub>0</sub> is cleaved before site 1, via a 26S intermediate (Bowman et al., 1981, Hadjiolova et al., 1993). The order at which these steps occur can vary and ITS1 cleavage can occur after cleavages to remove the 5'ETS. This generates the 41S which is cleaved at site 2 to produce the 21S and 32S. ITS2 contains two cleavage sites known as 3' and 4a. Cleavage at the 3'-region of ITS2 results in the generation of the 12S pre-rRNA (Hadjiolova et al., 1993) and further cleavage at site 4a results in a 7S pre-rRNA (Farrar et al., 2008). The mature 3' end of the 5.8S is generated by exonucleolytic processing involving the exosome (Wang and Pestov, 2011). Exonucleolytic processing is required for the formation of the 5' and 3' ends of the 28S.

The production of the 18S in mammals is known to be slightly more complicated than that in yeast. Site 2 cleavage was shown to be the initial cleavage in ITS1 in humans (Mullineux and Lafontaine, 2012) and the efficiency of site 2 cleavage is insensitive to defects in the cleavage of  $A_0$  and site 1 and depends on PES1, BOP1, NOL2, RPL15 and RPL26 (Lapik et al., 2004, Preti et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013b). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that there are two pathways for the processing of ITS1 in human cells, the major and the minor pathways. In the major pathway, site 2 is cleaved and the 5' end of 5.8S and site 2a is processed by exonucleases to produce the 18SE precursor (Preti et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013b). After nuclear export site 3 is processed by NOB1 to produce the mature 18S (Preti et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013b). The minor pathway is triggered when 18SE production is blocked, resulting in an endonucleolytic cleavage at sites 2 and 2a. RRP6, a component of the exosome then processes to site 2a (Sloan et al., 2013b). Recently, hUTP24 has been demonstrated to be essential for the processing of the 5'-end of the 18S rRNA (Tomecki et al., 2015).

#### 1.2.2.3 rRNA modifications

In addition to the processing events, pre-rRNAs also undergo co-transcriptional and post-transcriptional covalent modifications (Kos and Tollervey, 2010) which are mediated by small nucleolar RNPs (snoRNPs). There are two different modifications that take place; 2'-O-methylation and the conversion of uridine to pseudouridine (pseudouridylation). Many of the modifications take place in functionally important domains and are thus extremely crucial for ribosome function (Decatur and Fournier, 2002, Ofengand, 2002, Liang et al., 2007, Baudin-Baillieu et al., 2009).

These two modifications are mediated by two different sub-classes of snoRNPs. The first class are BOX C/D snoRNPs that are responsible for 2'-O-methylation whilst the second class are BOC H/ACA snoRNPs involved in pseudouridylation (Watkins and Bohnsack, 2012). 2'-O-methylation is important for stabilising base pairing and RNA folding whilst pseudouridylation is important for maintaining secondary structures and the interactions between rRNA and ribosomal proteins (Helm, 2006, Decatur and Fournier, 2002, Decatur and Fournier, 2003). It has also more recently been shown that snoRNPs may have other important roles such as regulating gene expression by alternative spicing and gene silencing, and mediating stress responses (Bratkovic and Rogelj, 2011, Bratkovic and Rogelj, 2014).

#### 1.2.3 Small and large subunit processing and assembly in yeast

In yeast, after A<sub>2</sub> cleavage to separate the large and small subunits, many of the factors involved in 60S maturation are assembled onto the pre-rRNA (Grandi et al., 2002, Schafer et al., 2003, Tschochner and Hurt, 2003). The 40S particles contain most of the small subunit ribosomal proteins (Ferreira-Cerca et al., 2007) as well as some 40S biogenesis factors. The 40S particle, in conjunction with the biogenesis factors, is exported rapidly to the cytoplasm to complete maturation (Schafer et al., 2003).

Maturation of the 60S, however, requires more processing prior to its export and final maturation in the cytoplasm. There are around 80 factors thought to be involved in the maturation of the 60S subunit. One of the main factors involved in the maturation of the 60S subunit is the A<sub>3</sub> cluster of proteins consisting of Nop7, Erb1, Ytm1, Rlp7, Nop15, Nsa3/Cic1 and Rrp1 (Pestov et al., 2001a, Oeffinger et al., 2002, Oeffinger and Tollervey, 2003, Fatica et al., 2003, Miles et al., 2005, Wu et al., 2001, Granneman et al., 2011, Sahasranaman et al., 2011). Erb1, Nop7 and Ytm1 form a scaffold onto which other A<sub>3</sub>-cluster proteins, exonucleases and ribosomal proteins assemble (Sahasranaman et al., 2011, Tang et al., 2008). The A<sub>3</sub> cluster of proteins is linked to the processing of 27S A<sub>3</sub> pre-rRNA which acts to complete the maturation of the 5' end of the 5.8S rRNA. Furthermore, most of the A<sub>3</sub> factors bind within the pre-rRNA at sites close to the 5' region of the 25S rRNA or the 3' end of the 5.8S rRNA (Granneman et al., 2011). The release of the A<sub>3</sub> factors is believed to trigger a conformational change within ITS2, triggering further maturation events (Sahasranaman et al., 2011, Granneman et al., 2011).

The dynein-related AAA-ATPase, Rea1 is involved in removing factors from the 60S subunit at many steps as it matures and it contacts the pre-ribosome through its ring structure (Ulbrich et al., 2009, Nissan et al., 2004). Ytm1, Nop7 and Erb1, all A<sub>3</sub> cluster proteins, are removed at this stage (Bassler et al., 2010), however Rsa4 and Rea1 dissociate at a later stage (Ulbrich et al., 2009) after aiding in the recruitment and rearrangement of the 5S RNP (Bassler et al., 2015).

Both the 40S and 60S subunits require transporting to the cytoplasm (see 1.2.3 for detail) to finalise their maturation process. After export, the pre-40S and pre-60S particles undergo a series of final maturation steps. Once in the cytoplasm, the ribosomal protein RPS3 is incorporated into the pre-40S particle whilst Ltv1 and Enp1,

ribosomal biogenesis factors, dissociate (Schafer et al., 2006). Most of the factors involved in the later stages of 40S maturation have had their binding sites identified and it has been proposed that these factors prevent premature association of the translation machinery and joining of the subunits (Strunk et al., 2011, Granneman et al., 2010).

The cleavage of the 20S pre-rRNA to the 18S rRNA is one of the final maturation steps of the 40S precursor and is mediated by Nob1 (Lamanna and Karbstein, 2009). This step is initiated by Fun12, the yeast equivalent of the eIF5b translation initiation factor (Lebaron et al., 2012), and involves the general translation termination factors Rli1 and Dom34 (Strunk et al., 2012).

The maturation of the 60S subunit also involves many factors acting in coordination. When the pre-60S is exported, all of the ribosomal proteins associate but the nonribosomal assembly factors dissociate and are recycled to the nucleus (Hedges et al., 2005, Hung and Johnson, 2006, Zemp and Kutay, 2007). The AAA-ATPase Drg1 removes the shuttling proteins Nog1 and Rlp24 (Kappel et al., 2012, Pertschy et al., 2007). Removal of the RPL24-like protein rlp24 allows for the incorporation of RPL24 which, in turn, recruits Rei1. Rei1 and Jjj1 promote the release and recycling of factors Arx1 and Alb1 (Demoinet et al., 2007). Arx1 is a protein that is found at the ribosome exit tunnel and acts to inhibit the association of translation factors (Bradatsch et al., 2012) and thus removal of this protein is important for the creation of mature ribosomes.

The removal of Tif6 is also an important step in the maturation of the 60S subunit as Tif6 (eIF6 orthologue) inhibits ribosomal subunit joining (Gartmann et al., 2010). The removal of Tif6 is mediated by EfI1 and Sdo1 and is known to require Arx1 removal (Senger et al., 2001, Menne et al., 2007). In order for EfI1 to be able to remove Tif6, the formation of the 60S stalk is required which requires the incorporation of the ribosomal protein P0 (Lo et al., 2009). The final step is the removal of Nmd3 by Lsg1 and Rpl10 which requires the prior removal of Tif6 (Hedges et al., 2005). The fully matured subunits are then free to join together and translate mRNA into protein.

#### 1.2.4 Nuclear export

For successful export, the subunits have to interact with the hydrophobic channel of the nuclear pore complex. Export of both subunits involves the exportin, Xpo1/Crm1, several nuclear pore components, and the RanGTPase system. In higher eukaryotes, export of the pre-60S complex can occur independently of Crm1 through the export factor, Exportin 5 (Wild et al., 2010).

Crm1 mediates export by recognising molecules with a leucine rich nuclear export signal (NES) and is recruited to the 60S subunit via Nmd3 (Ho et al., 2000). The NES sequences are found in each pre-ribosome on adapter molecules (Fukuda et al., 1997, Zemp and Kutay, 2007). In the nucleus, Crm1 binds to RanGTP and translocates to the cytoplasm through a nuclear pore complex. RanGTP is hydrolysed, causing dissociation and subsequent release of the pre-ribosomal complexes into the cytoplasm (Zemp and Kutay, 2007, Guttler and Gorlich, 2011).

Other factors have also been thought to be implicated in this process, for example, in yeast, Mtr2p, Mex67 and Rrp12 have also been suggested to be involved in the export of both subunits (Faza et al., 2012, Oeffinger et al., 2004, Santos-Rosa et al., 1998) whilst Arx1, Ecm1, Bud20, and Npl3 have been implicated in the export of the 60S subunit (Bassler et al., 2012, Bradatsch et al., 2007, Yao et al., 2010, Hackmann et al., 2011).

#### 1.2.5 The 5S RNP recruitment and rearrangement

One important assembly intermediate of the large subunit is a ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) called the 5S RNP which consists of the 5S rRNA complexed with two large subunit ribosomal proteins, RPL5 and RPL11.

The 5S rRNA is the smallest ribosomal RNA species, the structure of which is generally highly conserved throughout most organisms and is found in most ribosomes apart from some mitochondrial ribosomes (Bhat et al., 2004). A significant proportion of the 5S rRNA in the cell is not associated with ribosomes (Knight and Darnell, 1967, Sloan et al., 2013a) and 5S is the only rRNA that forms a pre-ribosomal complex with ribosomal proteins prior to integrating into the ribosome (Ciganda and Williams, 2011). The 5S RNP is a major component of the ribosome central protuberance, although the

5S rRNA is not a component of the peptidyltransferase, decoding or elongation factor binding centres and, instead, acts to connect all of these components (Dinman, 2009).

The biosynthesis of the 5S rRNA depends upon interactions with TFIIIA in the cytoplasm to the 5S gene in *Xenopus*, but it has also been demonstrated that 5S rRNA can bind TFIIIA itself (Szymanski et al., 2003, Sloan et al., 2013a). In some organisms, the binding of the 5S rRNA and TFIIIA forms the 7S RNP (Layat et al., 2013). In *Xenopus* oocytes, the 7S RNP is stored in the cytoplasm and TFIIIA acts to protect the rRNA from degradation (Allison et al., 1991). After transcription, the 5S rRNA contains a 2-3 3' nucleotide extension, which is processed and removed to form the mature 5S rRNA. This processing step involves several exonucleases in yeast (Rex1p, Rex2p, and Rex3p) (van Hoof et al., 2000) and, more recently, Sloan et al. (2013a) demonstrated that RPL5 was also essential for this maturation step in humans.

The integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome is not yet fully understood but is known to require Rrs1 and Rpf2 in yeast. Morita et al. (2002) demonstrated a role for Rpf2 and Rrs1 in yeast ribosome biogenesis by showing interactions between Rpf2 and Rrs1 and also demonstrating that Rpf2 interacted with RPL11 in the pre-60S ribosome particles. Depletion of Rpf2 resulted in a defect in 60S ribosomal subunit assembly based on polysome profiling and it was concluded that Rpf2 and Rrs1 were implicated in the processing of the 27SB to the 25S rRNA.

Furthermore, it was shown that Rrs1 and Rpf2 were responsible for the integration of the 5S RNP into 90S pre-ribosomes containing the 35S pre-rRNA (Zhang et al., 2007). Zhang et al. (2007) further demonstrated that Rpf2, Rrs1, RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S rRNA formed a complex in yeast and that depletion of Rpf2 and Rrs1 resulted in a lack of integration of the 5S RNP into pre-ribosomes. It was also demonstrated that depletion of Rpf2/Rrs1 prevented Rpl10 association with pre-ribosomes. This data suggested an essential role of the Rpf2/Rrs1 complex in 5S RNP recruitment.

Recently, the crystal structure of Rrs1 and Rpf2 complex has been solved in *Aspergillus nidulans* (Asano et al., 2014, Kharde et al., 2015) and yeast (Madru et al., 2015) leading to a greater understanding of the role of the Rpf2/Rrs1 complex in 5S RNP recruitment in these organisms. Kharde et al. (2015) and Madru et al. (2015) demonstrated that Rpf2 interacts with the 5S rRNA but that Rrs1 does not, whilst the whole complex also

interacts with RSA4. This interaction with Rsa4 occurs at the UBL domain, which, crucially, is involved in the recruitment of Rea1, a dynein-related AAA-ATPase (Ulbrich et al., 2009).

RPL5 and RPL11 are delivered to the nucleus and probably assembled onto the 5S rRNA by the symportin, Syo1 (Calvino et al., 2015) to form the 5S RNP. The 5S RNP docks onto helix 84 of the 25S rRNA (Rhodin et al., 2011). When the 5S RNP is recruited into the ribosome, it is locked into conformation by the C-terminal tail of Rpf2, Rsa4 and Nsa2 to prevent any rotation (Kharde et al., 2015, Bassler et al., 2015). Interestingly, the conformation of the 5S RNP in pre-ribosomes is not the same as that found in mature ribosomes (Leidig et al., 2014). Rea1 releases Rsa4 from the 5S RNP and rotates the structure by 180° (Bassler et al., 2015, Leidig et al., 2014). This allows for the correct formation of the central protuberance (Leidig et al., 2014) and is an important step in ribosome formation.

Whilst Rrs1 and Rpf2 are crucial for the recruitment of the 5S RNP into ribosomes in yeast, the role of the human homologues, RRS1 and BXDC1, in human ribosome assembly appears to be different. Sloan et al. (2013a) demonstrated that RRS1 and BXDC1 do not contact the 5S RNP outside of ribosomes and showed that depletion of RRS1 or BXDC1 resulted in a reduction of RPL5 in the nucleolus whilst only depletion of BXDC1 had the same effect on RPL11. However, depletion of both proteins increased the nucleoplasmic localisation of RPL5 and RPL11. Cross-linking experiments revealed that RRS1 and BXDC1 both directly contact the 5S rRNA suggesting that RRS1 and BXDC1 directly contact the 5S RNP complex to regulate its nucleolar localisation. Interestingly, it was also found that depletion of PICT-1 (also known as Glioma tumour suppressor candidate region gene – GLTSRC2), the human homologue of the yeast 60S ribosome biogenesis factor, Nop53, (Thomson and Tollervey, 2005), had a more profound effect than depletion of RRS1 or BXDC1 on 5S rRNA ribosomal recruitment. PICT-1 was demonstrated to directly contact the 5S rRNA and be required for the integration of the 5S rRNA into the ribosome. Unlike RRS1 and BXDC1, PICT-1 had a lesser effect on localisation of RPL5 and RPL11, only increasing the levels of nucleoplasmic RPL11. This suggested that RRS1 and BXDC1 may not be as important for recruitment of the 5S RNP into human ribosomes as they are in yeast, but instead

be an important factor for the localisation of the 5S RNP whilst PICT-1 is an important integration factor.

#### 1.2.6 Quality control of ribosome biogenesis

As ribosome biogenesis is such an energy costly process, ribosome assembly is monitored in order to prevent the formation of defective ribosomes. Aberrant or stalled pre-ribosomes are picked up by a surveillance system and targeted for degradation. It is thought that biogenesis factors are assembled onto the preribosomal complexes much earlier than they are required in order to provide a quality control system. For example, Dim1 is recruited early and its presence, rather than dimethylation activity, is required for A<sub>0</sub> and A<sub>1</sub> cleavages (Lafontaine et al., 1998).

When ribosome biogenesis is disrupted, pre-RNAs do not accumulate very significantly, suggesting that they are unstable and targeted for degradation rapidly (Houseley and Tollervey, 2009). Pre-ribosomes that accumulate in the nucleus are degraded by the exosome complex (Allmang et al., 2000, Mitchell et al., 1997). Furthermore, a co-factor of the exosome, the TRAMP complex, targets the exosome to substrates that are destined for degradation (Dez et al., 2006).

Defective ribosomal subunits that escape the initial degradation and are present in the cytoplasm are also targeted for degradation. Ribosomes with mutations in important sites such as residues within the peptidyl transfer centre of the large subunit or the decoding centre of the small subunit results in the degradation of the RNA components by non-functional rRNA decay (NRD) (Cole et al., 2009, LaRiviere et al., 2006).

# 1.3 The tumour suppressor, p53

The tumour suppressor p53 is a protein that was first identified in 1979 as a protein linked to the transformation of cells (Linzer and Levine, 1979, DeLeo et al., 1979). It wasn't until ten years later that p53 earned its title as a tumour suppressor gene (Baker et al., 1989, Finlay et al., 1989). It has since become well established for its role in malignancy as it is mutated in the majority of cancers (Muller and Vousden, 2013), and its involvement in malignancy development earned the protein the title, 'guardian of the genome' (Lane, 1992). Introduction of mutated p53, which abrogated cell cycle arrest activity but retained apoptosis activity, into p53<sup>-/-</sup> mice demonstrated resistance
to spontaneous tumour development compared to p53<sup>-/-</sup> counterparts (Toledo et al., 2006). However, mice harbouring a P172R mutation in p53 are deficient in p53-driven apoptosis but were still protected from cancer (Liu et al., 2004). This demonstrates the versatility of p53 as a tumour suppressor as it exerts its activity by triggering pathways such as apoptosis and cell cycle arrest.

# 1.3.1 The p53 family of proteins

p53 belongs to a family of proteins which includes two structural homologs of p53- p63 and p73. The overall domain structure of the three proteins is conserved (Figure 1.4). All three proteins contain a transactivational domain (TAD), proline rich domain (PRD), DNA binding domain (DBD) and the oligomerisation domain (OD) (Levrero et al., 2000). p63 and p73 also contain an additional sterile alpha motif (SAM) domain, although, unlike other SAM domains, these are not involved in homo- or hetero-dimerisation (Chi et al., 1999). As p63 and p73 are structural homologues of p53, they are able to form oligomers, bind DNA, and transactivate p53 responsive genes much like p53 (Zhu et al., 1998, Jost et al., 1997, Yang et al., 1998, De Laurenzi et al., 1998, Melino et al., 2004, Keyes et al., 2005). However, both p63 and p73 also regulate genes that are not targets of p53 (Harms et al., 2004).



**Figure 1.4 The domain structure of the p53 family of proteins is highly conserved.** Schematic representation of the domain structure of p53, p63 and p73. All three proteins contain a transactivational domain (TAD), proline rich domain (PRD), DNA binding domain (DBD) and the oligomerisation domain (OD). The longest forms of p63 and p73 also contain an additional PRD and a sterile alpha motif (SAM).

Both the *TP63* and *TP73* genes have two separate promoters, the P1 promoter yields the full length proteins with the TAD. The P2 promoter, located in intron 3, yields Nterminal truncation proteins lacking the TAD, which are referred to as  $\Delta$ Np63 and  $\Delta$ Np73 (Yang et al., 1998, Senoo et al., 2001). Furthermore, 5' exon splicing within the P1 transcripts of *TP73* results in additional isoforms of p73 lacking the TAD known as  $\Delta N'$ p73,  $\Delta ex2p73$  and  $\Delta ex2/3p73$ .(Fillippovich et al., 2001, Stiewe and Putzer, 2002, Ishimoto et al., 2002).

Mutations in *TP63* and *TP73* are rare in cancers (Nomoto et al., 1998, Park et al., 2000). However,  $\Delta$ N isoforms of p73 and p63 are overexpressed in many different cancer types (Uramoto et al., 2006, Uramoto et al., 2004, Dominguez et al., 2006, Wager et al., 2006, Park et al., 2000).  $\Delta$ Np63 and  $\Delta$ Np73 proteins function as dominant-negative inhibitors of the p53 family of proteins by competing for p53 DNA binding sites and forming complexes with p63 and p73 over p53 (Stiewe and Putzer, 2002, Chan et al., 2004, Yang et al., 1998, Grob et al., 2001). Therefore, it is possible that the  $\Delta$ N isoforms of p63 and p73 act as proto-oncogenes by negatively regulating the p53 family of tumour suppressors.

### 1.3.2 Regulation of p53 via MDM2 and MDMX/MDM4

The main regulator of p53 is Mouse Double Minute 2 (MDM2- HDM2 in humans), an ubiquitin ligase which promotes the ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by targeting it to the 26S proteasome (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). Loss of function of MDM2 is embryonic lethal in mice due to p53-induced apoptosis (Itahana et al., 2007), thus showing the importance for MDM2 in suppression of p53. Furthermore, MDM2 is also involved in the suppressing the transactivation potential of p63 and p73 without promoting their degradation (Kadakia et al., 2001, Zeng et al., 1999).

In addition to its involvement in the degradation of p53, MDM2 is responsible for the nuclear export of p53 through concealment of its nuclear localisation signal (Boyd et al., 2000) and, furthermore, the binding of MDM2 to p53 also conceals p53's transactivation domain (Kussie et al., 1996). In stressed conditions such as DNA damage or chromosomal aberrations, MDM2 is suppressed and leads to the stabilisation and activation of p53 (Michael and Oren, 2003). Furthermore, MDM2 is regulated at the transcriptional level by a p53 responsive element in its second intron, meaning that MDM2 serves as a negative feedback regulator of p53 (Wu et al., 1993).





MDMX is a protein that was first identified through its ability to bind to p53 from a mouse cDNA library screen (Shvarts et al., 1996). It is homologous to MDM2, most notably in its p53 binding domain where both proteins are able to inhibit p53s transcriptional activation function (Figure 1.5). However, MDMX, most importantly, lacks the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of MDM2, due to an inactive ring domain and thus cannot target p53 for degradation. This means that MDMX has the ability to prevent p53 activity without promoting p53 degradation (Jackson and Berberich, 2000). Together with the evidence that MDMX-p53 interactions are also far less susceptible to treatment with the small molecule inhibitor Nutlin-3 (which blocks interactions between MDM2 and p53), it was suggested that the two proteins work through different mechanisms (Joseph et al., 2010).

Initially there were two separate models for the suppression of p53 via MDM2 and MDMX; one is whereby the two work in conjunction as a heterodimer, whilst the other states that the two proteins have separate, specific roles. In fact, it appears that the proteins work both alone and in conjunction with one another to suppress p53.

### 1.3.2.1 MDM2 and MDMX working in conjunction

There is a lot of evidence to suggest that MDM2 and MDMX work together to inhibit p53 and that they are dependent on one another for function. Using siRNA knockdowns of MDM2 and MDMX, it was found that MDM2 is dependent on MDMX for stabilisation whilst MDMX requires MDM2 for shuttling to the nucleus (Gu et al., 2002).

MDM2 and MDMX interact with one another through their RING (Really Interesting New Gene) finger domains (Tanimura et al., 1999) and are able to form heterodimers

as well as homodimers. It was shown that this RING-RING interaction is required for the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of MDM2, suggesting that MDMX is crucial for MDM2s main mechanism of action against p53 (Kawai et al., 2007).

#### 1.3.2.2 MDM2 and MDMX as distinct mechanisms

MDM2 and MDMX whilst clearly acting in co-operation, have many mechanistic differences. MDM2 inhibits p53 mainly through its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, targeting p53 for degradation (Honda et al., 1997) whereas MDMX inhibits p53 by binding to its transactivation domain (Danovi et al., 2004).

Whilst both proteins were found to be crucial for development, it was shown that MDM2 deletion in mice lead to apoptosis whilst deletion of MDMX resulted in p53dependent cell cycle arrest suggesting alternative mechanisms of action of each protein (Chavez-Reyes et al., 2003). There is also a difference between different cell types whereby one can be deleted but not the other (Boesten et al., 2006, Grier et al., 2006).

### 1.3.3 Activation of p53

Several pathways have been identified that lead to p53 activation as summarised in Figure 1.6. One such pathway involves activation of p53 through DNA damage such as ionising radiation through ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) kinase and the checkpoint kinase, CHK2. CHK2 works downstream of ATM and is able to phosphorylate p53, preventing MDM2 binding and allowing for p53 activation (Vogelstein et al., 2000).

Another pathway is initiated by growth signals produced by the expression of oncogenes such as c-Myc and Alternative Reading Frame (ARF). ARF, which in humans produces a 14kDa protein, p14<sup>ARF</sup>, is a negative regulator of MDM2 and binds to, inactivates and promotes degradation of MDM2, the main suppressor of p53 (Zhang et al., 1998), thus inducing p53. Interestingly, p53 provides a feedback loop and has the ability to inhibit the transcription of the *ARF* gene (Jin and Levine, 2001). Furthermore, ARF is activated by c-Myc, an oncogene frequently translocated in Burkitt Lymphoma and overexpressed in multiple myeloma (Dang, 2012).



**Figure 1.6 Pathways for activating p53.** A schematic representation of various pathways involved in the activation of p53. Ionising radiation leads to activation of ATM kinase which phosphorylates and activates CHK2. CHK2, in turn, phosphorylates p53 and activates it. When onocogenes such as Myc or ARF are activated, ARF inactivates MDM2, the negative regulator of p53. This allows p53 to be active. In U.V damage, ATR activates CK2 which phosphorylates p53 at two sites, leading to activation.

The final way that p53 can be activated is by chemotherapeutic drugs and U.V. light through interactions with Ataxia Telangiectasia Related (ATR) and casein kinase II (CK2) through the phosphorylation of serine 37 of p53, enhancing its transcriptional ability (Meek, 1999).

# 1.3.4 Transcriptional activation via p53

Under cellular stress such as DNA damage, oncogene activation, hypoxia, nucleolar stress or changes in cellular metabolism, p53 is activated and leads to DNA repair, autophagy, senescence, cell cycle arrest or apoptosis through a variety of signalling pathways (Ko and Prives, 1996, Timofeev et al., 2013, Sperka et al., 2012, Sugikawa et al., 1999, Vogelstein et al., 2000, Vousden and Lane, 2007, Vousden and Prives, 2009).

## 1.3.4.1 p53 in the regulation of apoptosis

One of the main roles that p53 is most commonly known for is its ability to regulate apoptosis in cells. Apoptosis is a process often referred to as 'programmed cell death' and results in cellular death without the loss of membrane integrity (Kerr et al., 1972).

There are two apoptotic pathways- the extrinsic (death receptor pathway) or the intrinsic (mitochondrial pathway) (Elmore, 2007). Both pathways result in the activation of molecules known as caspases. Caspases are selective proteases that

organise all steps of the apoptotic process (Fan et al., 2005). Caspases exist in the cell in an inactive form known as pro-caspases but, when active, break down cellular molecules and DNA, and condense chromatin (Cohen, 1997). p53 has been implicated in the regulation of both pathways.

The extrinsic pathway is activated by Tumour Necrosis Factor (TNF) family of proteins (Locksley et al., 2001) that activate death receptors resulting in the activation of the cell surface Fas receptor (Apo-1 or CD95). Fas interacts with FADD (Fas-associated death domain), forming the DISC complex (Death inducing signalling complex). The DISC complex activates caspases 3 and 7, resulting in apoptosis (Wajant, 2002, Kischkel et al., 1995). The extrinsic pathway can be activated via p53 transcriptional upregulation. p53 initiates transcription of Fas (Muller et al., 1998) and the death receptor gene, DR5 (Wu et al., 1997).





The intrinsic pathway is a slightly more complex pathway and is also known as the mitochondrial pathway as it involves cytochrome c release from the mitochondria through the action of the BCL-2 family of proteins. The BCL-2 family of proteins contains both pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic members. The anti-apoptotic members

inhibit apoptosis and include proteins such as Bcl-2, Bcl-W, Bcl-XL and Mcl-1. The proapoptotic BCL-2 family members can be further subdivided into two groups- the BAX family (e.g. BAX, BAK, BOK) and the BH3-only family (e.g. BID, BAD, BIK, PUMA, NOVA) (Tsujimoto, 1998).

In normal cellular conditions, the anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family members are found in a complex with the pro-apoptotic BAX family proteins in order to inhibit their function and prevent apoptosis. For example, when apoptosis is triggered, BAX (BAX family member) is displaced from Bcl-XL by BAD (BH3-only family member) (Yang et al., 1995). This causes a conformational change in BAX and it is incorporated into the outer membrane of the mitochondria (Liu et al., 2003). Once within the mitochondrial membrane, BAX increases the permeability of the membrane, releasing cytochrome c. This process is summarised in Figure 1.7. Unlike BAX, BAK is always found within the mitochondrial membrane but changes conformation during apoptosis to allow for permeability (Lindsay et al., 2011).

Cytochrome C binds to Apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (APAF-1), forming the apoptosome, a three-dimensional protein structure formed during apoptosis (Acehan et al., 2002). The apoptosome activates procaspase 9 which, in turn, activates caspases 3 and 7, leading to a caspase cascade and apoptosis (Hill et al., 2004).

Stabilised p53 regulates the expression of many of the pro-apoptotic genes involved in both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways such as BAX (Miyashita and Reed, 1995), NOXA (Oda et al., 2000), PUMA (Nakano and Vousden, 2001), BID (Sax et al., 2002) and APAF-1 (Moroni et al., 2001). Aside from its ability to transcriptionally upregulate important apoptosis regulatory genes, p53 can also directly influence apoptosis. During apoptosis, p53 is also able to migrate to the mitochondrial membrane and can interact with Bcl-XL, freeing BAX from the complex. This allows BAX to relocate to the mitochondria and trigger cytochrome C release (Wolff et al., 2008).

Whilst apoptosis is an important anti-tumourigenic mechanism, it is not the main form of defence. p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA) is a BCI-2 homology domain 3 protein that induces apoptosis through the mitochondrial pathway. PUMA was identified for its ability to be activated by p53 in cells undergoing p53-induced apoptosis (Nakano and Vousden, 2001, Yu et al., 2001). PUMA null mice showed that PUMA is required for the apoptotic response to p53 in many tissues (Jeffers et al., 2003). However, PUMA null mice do not spontaneously develop cancer (Michalak et al., 2008) supporting the theory that apoptosis is not the main form of defence against cancer and that p53 acts through a diverse range of different pathways to protect cells from transformation.

### 1.3.4.2 p53 as a cell cycle regulator

One further way that p53 protects the cells from cancer is through the regulation of the cell cycle. Early on it was discovered that p53 had a pivotal role in controlling cell cycle progression by transcriptionally activating the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor, p21 (el-Deiry, 1998), Growth Arrest and DNA Damage 45 (GADD45) (Carrier et al., 1994) and 14-3-3 sigma (Hermeking et al., 1997) as summarised in Figure 1.8.



**Figure 1.8 Cell cycle regulation by p53.** p53 transcriptionally upregulates the genes encoding GAD45, p21 and 14-3-3. GADD45 expression induces G2 arrest by inhibiting Cdc2/cyclin B complexes and also induces G1 arrest by interacting with p21. p21 inhibits CDKs to induce G1 arrest. GADD45 and p21 also bind to PCNA to induce DNA repair pathways. Finally, 14-3-3 induces G2 arrest by inhibiting Cdc2.

The cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor, p21 is regulated at the transcriptional level by both p53 dependent and independent mechanisms (Gartel and Tyner, 1999). p21 expression is induced by low levels of p53 (el-Deiry, 1998, el-Deiry et al., 1993) and p21 is known to play a pivotal role in growth arrest after DNA damage (Dulic et al., 1994, Brugarolas et al., 1995) but is not required for p53-mediated apoptosis (Deng et al., 1995). The p21 promoter contains two binding sites for p53, at least one of which is required for p53 responsiveness after DNA damage (el-Deiry et al., 1995). However, p21 can also be upregulated independently of p53 by proteins such as Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), Specificity proteins 1 and 3 (Sp1 and Sp3) and activator protein 2 (Ap2) (Chin et al., 1996, Gartel and Tyner, 1999). Furthermore, MDM2 is able to negatively regulate p21 by targeting it for degradation, independently of p53 (Zhang et al., 2004).

Early on it was shown that over-expression of p21 leads to a G1, G2 or an S-phase arrest (Niculescu et al., 1998, Ogryzko et al., 1997), suggesting a role for p21 in cell cycle progression. p21 is a member of the Cip/Kip family of Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors which inhibit the action of cyclin dependent kinases required for cell cycle progression. The Cip/Kip family specifically block transition from G1 phase to Sphase (Perez-Sayans et al., 2013). If cell cycle arrest is required, expression of p21 occurs in early to mid G1 and p21 is incorporated into cyclin D-CDK 4/6 complexes to inhibit their activity (Sherr and Roberts, 1999). Furthermore, p21 can bind to Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) (Xiong et al., 1992), a protein involved in DNA replication and repair (Warbrick, 2000). The interaction between p21 and PCNA results in a block in DNA synthesis via DNA polymerase  $\delta$  (Waga et al., 1994, Flores-Rozas et al., 1994) meaning that p53-regulated p21 induction can also block DNA synthesis as well as promote cell cycle arrest.

Furthermore, p53 transcriptionally upregulates GADD45 (Figure 1.8). GADD45 is proposed to have a role in halting the cell cycle arrest at G1 to S-phase transition possibly via p21 (Liebermann and Hoffman, 2008). GADD45 interacts with Cdc2 (CDK1)/Cyclin B complex, causing it to dissociate. The dissociation of the complex halts cell cycle progression (Liebermann and Hoffman, 2008). Furthermore, GADD45 competes with p21 to interact with PCNA to promote DNA repair (Smith et al., 1994, Chen et al., 1995).

p53 has also been shown to interact with the scaffold protein, 14-3-3 (see Figure 1.8) to regulate cell cycle (Hermeking et al., 1997). Activation of 14-3-3 also causes G2 arrest as it prevents the activation of the Cdc2/Cyclin B complex required for G2/M phase transition. The checkpoint protein kinases, CHK1 and CHK2 phosphorylate the cell cycle protein, Cdc25, allowing it to bind to the scaffold protein, 14-3-3. This binding sequesters Cdc2 to the nucleus and prevents G2-M transition (Peng et al., 1997, Furnari et al., 1999). Whilst 14-3-3 is transcriptionally upregulated by p53, 14-3-3 can directly interact with p53 upon DNA damage to enhance its expression and activity via a positive feedback loop (Yang et al., 2003). Furthermore, 14-3-3 over-expression also

blocked MDM2-mediated p53 ubiquitination and thus 14-3-3 also regulates p53 stability (Yang et al., 2003).

## 1.3.4.3 p53 and autophagy

Finally, p53 also plays a role in the regulation of autophagy in cells. Autophagy is a process by which dysfunctional or old proteins and organelles are delivered to the lysosome for degradation and acts to recycle the cellular components. One way that p53 can positively regulate autophagy is through the inhibition of the mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR).

AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) is a negative regulator of mTOR and is activated by p53 (Feng et al., 2007). AMPK activates a subunit of the tuberous sclerosis complex, Tuberous Sclerosis Complex 2 (TSC2) which negatively regulates mTOR (Inoki et al., 2003). Furthermore, p53 can positively regulate autophagy by transactivating proautophagic genes such as the damage-regulated autophagy modulator (DRAM) (Liu et al., 2013). Interestingly, the pro-apoptotic genes upregulated by p53 such as BAX, BAD and PUMA have also been shown to play a role in the upregulation of autophagy (Yee et al., 2009, Maiuri et al., 2007). Conversely, it is also believed that inactivated, cytoplasmic p53 can inhibit autophagy (Tasdemir et al., 2008).

# 1.4 The role of the ribosome in p53 signalling

As the rate of ribosome biogenesis dictates the proliferation rate of the cell, it is extremely important to tightly regulate this process. Many studies have shown a link between defects in ribosome biogenesis and the activation of p53 (Fumagalli and Thomas, 2011). The dysregulation of p53 has been reported in a number of diseases known as ribosomopathies.

# 1.4.1 Ribosomal proteins and p53 signalling

Many ribosomal proteins have been shown to bind to MDM2 including RPL23 (Jin et al., 2004), RPL26 (Ofir-Rosenfeld et al., 2008), and RPS7 (Chen et al., 2007). All ribosomal proteins, apart from RPL11, have been shown to interact with the acidic domain of MDM2 as shown in Figure 1.9.

Immunoprecipitations using over-expressed MDM2 revealed interactions between MDM2 and RPL5, RPL11 and RPL23 (Jin et al., 2004). Further to this, it was found that

RPL23 binds to MDM2 in a region distinct to that which binds RPL11, thus suggesting they do not compete with one another and may act in coordination.

It was demonstrated by Chen et al. (2007) that, using *in vitro* pull down assays in yeast, RPS7 could directly bind to MDM2 with the absence of any co-factors and that this binding occurred at amino acids 180-298 of the MDM2 protein. However, this has been debated as the binding site has also been mapped to 273-339 of MDM2 (Zhu et al., 2009). It was shown that over-expression of RPS7 in U2OS cells resulted in p53 stabilisation and activation. Furthermore, Zhu et al. (2009) showed that RPS7 was a target for MDM2 ubiquitination, whilst also being able to inhibit the E3 ligase activity of MDM2. Ubiquitination of RPS7 was demonstrated to be able to prevent MDM2mediated degradation of p53 and promote apoptosis much more strongly than RPS7 alone. This suggested that RPS7 ubiquitination via MDM2 is an important regulator of p53.



**Figure 1.9 Ribosomal protein binding sites in MDM2.** Schematic representation of the MDM2 protein domain structure showing the location of the p53 binding domain (p53 BD), the nuclear localisation signal (NLS), the Nuclear export signal (NES), the acidic domain (AD), the Zinc finger domain (Zn) and the RING domain. Ribosomal proteins such as RPL5, RPL23 and RPS7 have been shown to interact with the acidic domain of MDM2 whilst RPL11 interacts with the zinc finger domain. p53 binds to the p53 binding domain whilst MDMX interacts with the RING domain. Figure adapted from Kim et al. (2014).

RPL26 has been shown to function in a slightly different manner. RPL26 binds to the 5' untranslated region of p53 mRNA and is able to control p53 translation after DNA damage (Takagi et al., 2005). Furthermore, Ofir-Rosenfeld et al. (2008) established

that, using a yeast two-hybrid screen and immunoprecipitations from HEK293 cells, RPL26 interacted with MDM2. This MDM2 interaction was found to prevent RPL26 from binding to p53 mRNA and thus inhibit p53. Interestingly, it was also shown that MDM2 was able to polyubiquitinate RPL26 and target it for proteasomal degradation.

It has since been demonstrated that RPS7, RPL26, or RPL23 were not required for p53 responses after Actinomycin D (ActD) treatment but that RPL5 and RPL11 were (Bursac et al., 2012). ActD is a drug that activates p53 by selectively preventing transcriptional elongation of RNA polymerase I (Sobell, 1985) and thus induces ribosomal stress to cells without affecting 5S rRNA transcription. As RPL5 and RPL11 were crucial for this response and not the other ribosomal proteins, this suggests that it is the 5S RNP pathway that is crucial upon ribosomal stress. One reason that many ribosomal proteins interact with MDM2 is that ribosomal proteins are basic in their structure (Warner, 1977) and thus may naturally interact with the acidic domain of MDM2. This may mean that all of the ribosomal proteins seen to interact with MDM2 are not necessarily involved in p53 signalling.

## 1.4.2 The 5S RNP and MDM2/p53

A link between RPL5 and p53 was first established more than 20 years ago. Marechal et al. (1994) showed in 3T3DM cells, with immunoprecipitations, an interaction between RPL5, MDM2, and p53. Whilst this was an important observation, it was not yet clear what the purpose of this complex was. It soon became clear that RPL5 and RPL11 were binding partners of MDM2 that could suppress the E2 ligase activity and promote p53 activation (Dai and Lu, 2004, Lohrum et al., 2003).



**Figure 1.10 The 5S RNP interacts with MDM2 to promote p53 signalling.** Schematic representation of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway. The 5S RNP is a complex of RPL11 (maroon), RPL5 (red) and the 5S rRNA (black line). Non-ribosomal 5S RNP binds to MDM2 (green), blocking its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, activating p53 (blue).

Initial studies demonstrated that over-expression of RPL5 or RPL11 resulted in the stabilisation of p53 (Dai and Lu, 2004, Horn and Vousden, 2008), however it was also suggested that the two proteins could also work in co-ordination to activate p53 (Horn and Vousden, 2008). Furthermore, RPL11 or RPL5 depletions were able to counteract the effects on p53 of ActD treatment to cells (Bhat et al., 2004, Bursac et al., 2012, Dai and Lu, 2004). These studies suggested that RPL5 and RPL11 were important for the activation of p53 in ribosomal stress situations. However, as RPL5 and RPL11 form a sub-complex with the 5S rRNA (the 5S RNP) prior to incorporation into the ribosome (Zhang et al., 2007), it was suggested that the 5S RNP complex, rather than RPL5 and RPL11 alone, may be involved in the stabilisation of p53 (Fumagalli et al., 2012). The 5S rRNA involvement in p53 activation was shown in more recent studies by two independent groups (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a). Like RPL5 and RPL11, the 5S RNA directly contacts MDM2 and depletion of the 5S RNA was able to reduce the p53 response after ActD treatment (Sloan et al., 2013a). Furthermore, these data showed that when ribosome biogenesis was blocked by depletion of ribosomal proteins or ribosome biogenesis factors, the entire 5S RNP accumulates in the nucleoplasm and binds to MDM2 in order to stabilise p53 as demonstrated in Figure 1.10. Furthermore, it has recently been demonstrated that the 5S RNP is involved in maintaining p53 homeostasis in unstressed cells (Sloan et al., 2013a).

The outcome of 5S-RNP-mediated p53 activation appears to be variable. Depletion of ribosomal proteins, apart from RPL11 and RPL5, in human cell lines results in p53-dependent cell cycle arrest (Fumagalli et al., 2012), presumably through the 5S RNP pathway. Furthermore, RPL5 overexpression in U2OS cells was shown to promote p53-dependent cell cycle arrest (Dai and Lu, 2004), however in p53 null Saos2 cells, RPL5 overexpression induces p73-mediated apoptosis (Zhou et al., 2015). SRSF1-RPL5-MDM2 interactions (described in section 1.5.2) were implicated in inducing cellular senescence (Fregoso et al., 2013). In addition, apoptosis in red blood cells, as a result of ribosome biogenesis defects and p53 activation, have been implicated in disease pathogenesis (described in section 1.6.1)(Danilova et al., 2014). More recently RPL5 and RPL11 have been shown to be involved in coordinating the regulation of nutrient stress with lipid metabolism through p53 signalling (Liu et al., 2014). All these data together show the complexity of the 5S RNP-MDM2-p53 pathway.

# 1.4.2.1 Interactions between the 5S RNP and MDM2

Recently, the crystal structure of RPL11 in a complex with MDM2 has been solved, showing the binding regions between the two proteins (Zheng et al., 2015). It was revealed that MDM2 binds to RPL11 in the same region that RPL11 binds to the 28S rRNA in the ribosome and that MDM2 interacts with RPL11 through an acidic domain and two zinc fingers. This supports the work by Zhang et al. (2011) who had previously demonstrated that RPL11 binds to distinct regions of the zinc finger domain of MDM2. RPL5, however, binds to the acidic domain of MDM2 (Dai and Lu, 2004).

Furthermore, it has been shown that the 5S rRNA also directly contacts MDM2 but not mutant MDM2 that can no longer interact with RPL5 or RPL11 (Sloan et al., 2013a). In addition, the interaction between the 5S rRNA and MDM2 was significantly stronger when ribosome biogenesis was disrupted. These data together demonstrate that all three components of the 5S RNP directly bind to MDM2 to co-ordinate p53 stabilisation.

# 1.4.3 The 5S RNP and MDMX

Despite the similarities between MDM2 and MDMX, there have been no reported interactions between MDMX and the 5S RNP complex. However, it was shown that 5S rRNA binds to MDMX via its RING domain and acts as an inhibitor of MDMX degradation by Mdm2 (Li and Gu, 2011).

p53 activation by ribosomal stress involves degradation of MDMX in an MDM2dependent manner (Gilkes et al., 2006). RPL11-MDM2 interactions result in MDMX ubiquitination and degradation (Gilkes et al., 2006), suggesting a role for RPL11 in regulating p53 via MDMX. In light of recent findings that the 5S RNP binds to MDM2 as a whole (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a), this suggests a more intricate pathway for regulation of p53 via the 5S RNP involving MDMX as summarised in Figure 1.11.



**Figure 1.11 Regulation of MDMX and MDM2 via the 5S RNP**. In normal cells, the 5S rRNA binds to the RING domain of MDMX and protects it from MDM2-mediated degradation. Upon nucleolar stress, the 5S RNP binds to MDM2 and prevents its inhibition of p53, thus activating p53. Furthermore, the binding of the 5S RNP to MDM2 results in the polyubiquitination of MDMX via MDM2, resulting in the degradation of MDMX. As MDMX is an inhibitor of p53, this activates p53.

# 1.4.4. The 5S RNP and p73

As MDM2 is also involved in the regulation of the p53 isoforms, p63 and p73 (Kadakia et al., 2001, Zeng et al., 1999), it is unsurprising that the 5S RNP has also been implicated in the activation of p73. However, no interactions between p63 and the 5S RNP have yet been described.

Zhou et al. (2015) demonstrated that RPL5 and RPL11 directly bound to p73 independently of MDM2, preventing MDM2-p73 interactions. Furthermore, the authors showed that depletion of RPL5 and RPL11 resulted in a decrease in p73 activity. As this occurs independently of MDM2, it is unclear whether this involves the 5S RNP complex or RPL5 and RPL11 proteins independently. However, given that the 5S rRNA/RPL5 complex is found in high proportions in the cell (Sloan et al., 2013a) and ribosomal proteins are generally unstable (Lam et al., 2007), these data taken together suggest a role for the 5S RNP in regulating p73.

# 1.4.5 The 5S RNP-p53 pathway is linked to the expression of oncogenes and tumour suppressors

The 5S RNP-p53 pathway (Figure 1.12) has also been linked to the expression of oncogenes and tumour suppressors such as c-Myc and ARF. ARF is able to down-regulate ribosome biogenesis whilst c-Myc up-regulates it (Stumpf and Ruggero, 2011).

ARF is a 14kDa protein that is induced by the expression of oncogenes (Zindy et al., 1998, Palmero et al., 1998). ARF binds to, and inhibits, MDM2, allowing for p53 activation (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). Furthermore, ARF is able to sequester MDM2 in the nucleolus and inhibits the nucleolar export of both MDM2 and p53 (Tao and Levine, 1999). The region in which RPL11 and RPL5 contact MDM2 is also a region important for ARF binding although the two binding regions do not overlap (Zhang et al., 2011) . This suggested that RPL5 and RPL11 may act in a similar way to ARF. However, ARF has since been shown to bind to RPL11 (Dai et al., 2012) and RPL11 has been shown to be important for ARF-mediated MDM2 suppression. When ARF is induced in U2OS cells, p53 and p21 are induced in a 5S RNP-dependent manner (Sloan et al., 2013a). This suggests that the entire 5S RNP, including the 5S rRNA, is important in ARF signalling to p53.



**Figure 1.12 The 5S RNP-p53 pathway.** A schematic representation of 5S-RNP mediated p53 regulation. When ribosome biogenesis is disrupted, the 5S RNP is not incorporated into the ribosome. It can bind to MDM2 and inhibit its E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, preventing ubiquitination of p53 and causing p53 activation. The 5S RNP can also interact with ARF in order to further inhibit MDM2.

Interestingly, the 5S RNP pathway also has links with the oncogene, c-Myc. When investigating the links between RPL11 and MDM2, one important mutation, MDM2 C305F, was identified from cancer patients, as being able to block RPL11 binding (Lindstrom et al., 2007, Zhang et al., 2011). Disruptions in ribosomal protein (RP)-MDM2 interaction accentuated the p53-mediated response to ribosomal stress and caused an increase in c-Myc induced lymphomagenesis (Macias et al., 2010). This is interesting as it suggests that the 5S RNP is able to inhibit the oncogene c-Myc and that this pathway may also be an alternative protective pathway against c-Myc oncogenesis from the canonical ARF-MDM2-p53 pathway. Interestingly, RPL11 is involved in a feed-back loop with c-Myc. c-Myc is able to upregulate the transcription of RPL11 whilst over-expression of RPL11 inhibits c-Myc induced transcription and prevents proliferation of the cell (Dai et al., 2007). More recently, it has been demonstrated that RPL5 and RPL11 are able to co-operatively inactivate c-Myc via the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Liao et al., 2014). All these data together implicate the 5S RNP in the repression of c-Myc.

# 1.5 Regulation of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway

Regulation of the 5S RNP-p53 signalling pathway is not yet fully understood. It has been demonstrated that 5S RNP accumulates in the nucleoplasm upon ribosomal stress and it was suggested that any proteins found to affect 5S RNP formation, localisation or integration into the ribosome may have a significant role in p53 regulation via the 5S RNP (Sloan et al., 2013a).

Several proteins have been shown to interact with either RPL5 or RPL11 and affect their ability to induce p53, but it is not yet understood how this interplays with the fact that the whole 5S RNP is required to activate p53 (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a). Two proteins have been shown to inhibit p53 signalling via RPL11, PICT-1 (also known as GLTSRC2- Glioma tumour suppressor candidate region gene) and PRAS40 (the proline-rich Akt Substrate of 40kDa) whilst SRSF1 (Serine-Arginine Rich Splicing Factor 1) has been demonstrated to be required for p53 activation via RPL5.

# 1.5.1 PICT-1

One of the potential candidates for regulating the p53 response to ribosomal stress is PICT-1. PICT-1 is the human homologue of the yeast protein, Nop53 which is a 60S ribosome biogenesis factor (Thomson and Tollervey, 2005). Furthermore, PICT-1 is a nucleolar protein that regulates the phosphorylation and stability of Phosphatase and Tensin Homologue (PTEN) (Okahara et al., 2004). PTEN, like p53, is a tumour suppressor that is frequently altered in cancer and, when depleted in cells, promotes p53 activation (Song et al., 2012). PICT-1 itself has been linked to many different cancers such as glioblastoma (Kim et al., 2008), skin carcinomas (Kim et al., 2013), lung cancer (Okamura et al., 2014) and breast cancer (Moon et al., 2013).

Over-expression of PICT-1 has been demonstrated to induce apoptosis in a caspase and mitochondrial independent manner (Yim et al., 2007). PICT-1 is frequently located in the nucleolus but moves into the nucleoplasm in ribosomal stress situations where it is proposed to stabilise p53. PICT-1 achieves this by binding p53 but, crucially, in an ARF-independent manner (Lee et al., 2012). As ARF is often down-regulated in cancers, this could be an alternative pathway for p53 activation in tumour cells.





In contrast, Sasaki et al. (2011) showed that PICT-1 depletion in cells activated p53.

PICT-1 was shown to interact with RPL5 and RPL11 but that only RPL11 depletion was

able to counter-act the p53 induction after PICT-1 depletion. This suggested that PICT-1 and RPL11 interaction was important for p53 signalling. PICT-1 depletion also caused loss of RPL11 nucleolar localisation, suggesting that PICT-1 sequesters RPL11 to the nucleolus as summarised in Figure 1.13. Furthermore, (Uchi et al., 2013) found that PICT-1 depletion in a gastric cancer cell line caused p53 activation by preventing p53 ubiquitination. Cells depleted of PICT-1 were found to arrest in the cell cycle at G1 and showed decreased cell growth and an increase in apoptosis markers, all correlating with p53 induction.

As described in Section 1.2.5, it has recently been shown that PICT-1 directly binds to the 5S rRNA and facilitates 5S RNP integration into the ribosome (Sloan et al., 2013a, Donati et al., 2013). Interestingly, Sloan et al. (2013a) also demonstrated that PICT-1 was an essential ribosome biogenesis factor. This, combined with the role of PICT-1 in integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome may offer an explanation as to why PICT-1 was previously shown to retain RPL11 in the nucleolus.

### 1.5.2 SRSF1

SRSF1 (also Alternative Splicing Factor- ASF) is a 28kDa member of the SR protein family of splicing factors which are involved in constitutive and alternative splicing as well as being involved in mRNA nuclear export, mRNA translation and nonsense mediated decay, an RNA surveillance pathway to eliminate mRNAs containing premature stop codons (Long and Caceres, 2009).

SRSF1 was shown to interact with translating ribosomes when SRSF1 is hypophosphorylated in the RS domain (Sanford et al., 2004, Sanford et al., 2005) and it has since been shown that SRSF1 can enhance translation via the mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) signalling. Michlewski et al. (2008) demonstrated that SRSF1 interacts with mTOR and Protein Phosphatase 2 (PP2A), two regulators of the Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein (4E-BP). 4E-BP is a competitive inhibitor of cap-dependent translation (Pause et al., 1994) and thus suppression by SRSF1 via mTOR and PP2A results in increased translation. Furthermore, SRSF1 regulates alternative splicing of the ribosomal protein S6 kinase (S6K). The alternative splicing of S6K produces short isoforms which bind to mTORC1 and enhance 4E-BP phosphorylation, increasing translation initiation (Karni et al., 2007, Ben-Hur et al., 2013). Finally, SRSF1 is able to interact with the mTORC1 complex, increasing the phosphorylation of S6K and 4E-BP to enhance translation efficiency (Michlewski et al., 2008).

SRSF1 is upregulated in many cancers such as breast cancer (Anczukow et al., 2012) which could possibly be attributed to its ability to be upregulated by c-Myc (Das et al., 2012). As c-Myc is often up-regulated in cancers and may lead to apoptosis, it could potentially do this through interaction with SRSF1. Interestingly, c-Myc is also involved in up-regulating ribosome biogenesis by targeting many of the factors involved in ribosome biogenesis (Ruggero and Pandolfi, 2003).

Fregoso et al. (2013) demonstrated a role for SRSF1 in p53 signalling via RPL5. Interactions were shown between RPL5 and SRSF1, whereas there was no evidence of the involvement of RPL11 or the 5S rRNA. SRSF1 was also found to bind to MDM2 and thus it was suggested that RPL5, MDM2 and SRSF1 form a complex to activate p53.

Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that SRSF1 depletion was able to counteract the p53 induction from ActD treatment Fregoso et al. (2013). ActD, at concentrations below 10nM is able to stimulate p53 in a specifically 5S-RNP dependent manner and thus this suggested that SRSF1 was important for p53 induction via ActD. In addition, it was shown that when SRSF1 was over-expressed in human foreskin BJ-TT cells, p53 was induced in an RPL5 dependent manner. This p53 response resulted in senescence.

Donati et al. (2013) and Sloan et al. (2013a) both demonstrated that RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S RNP were all required for p53 activation in response to ribosomal stress, this raises the question as to how SRSF1 is involved. It is possible that the SRSF1/RPL5/MDM2 complex forms a distinct complex free from RPL11 and the 5S rRNA, as suggested by Fregoso et al. (2013), or that SRSF1 forms a part of the 5S-RNP mediated p53 regulation pathway. Further investigation into the role of SRSF1 is required to answer this question.

#### 1.5.3 PRAS40

PRAS40 (also known as AKT1S1) is a protein that was first identified as an Akt substrate that, when phosphorylated by Akt, is able bind to the scaffold protein 14-3-3 to activate mTORC1 (Kovacina et al., 2003). PRAS40 is involved in signalling elicited by the presence of growth factors, as summarised in Figure 1.14.

One of the major pathways that PRAS40 is important for is the regulation of mTORC1. mTORC1 is a complex of mTOR, Raptor and Mammalian lethal with SEC13 protein 8 (mLST8) that promotes cell growth in response to growth signals (Kim et al., 2003, Kim et al., 2002, Fonseca et al., 2007). As cell growth is an important process in cells, regulation of pathways responding to growth factors is extremely important. One way that mTORC1 is regulated is via Rheb, a small GTPase that enables mTORC1 to be in the active configuration (Avruch et al., 2006). Akt promotes mTORC1 by inhibiting TSC2, a GTPase activating protein that regulates Rheb (Huang and Manning, 2009). This inhibition of TSC2 allows Rheb to remain GTP bound and activate mTORC1. mTORC1 activates many downstream pathways including translation by inhibiting the translation inhibitor 4E-BP and activating S6K (Burnett et al., 1998).





Another regulator of mTOR via Akt is through PRAS40. Non-phosphorylated PRAS40 binds to Raptor, a component of mTORC1, and inhibits the kinase activity of mTORC1. When growth factors are present, PRAS40 is phosphorylated by mTORC1 and Akt. This phosphorylation leads to PRAS40 dissociating from raptor and binding to the scaffold protein, 14-3-3 (Thedieck et al., 2007, Fonseca et al., 2007). This then allows for mTOR signalling to occur (Figure 1.14).

Havel et al. (2015) demonstrated, using immunoprecipitations, that nuclear PRAS40 was able to bind RPL11 and that this binding was dependent upon the phosphorylation of PRAS40 via mTORC1 and AKT at residues S221 and T246. Due to the nuclear nature of this binding, it was suggested that PRAS40-RPL11 complex does not occur within ribosomes.

Further to this, it was shown that PRAS40 depletion in the human osteosarcoma cell line, U2OS, resulted in an increase in p53 protein levels as well as an increase in its downstream targets p21 and BAX. This p53 induction upon PRAS40 depletion was RPL11 dependent. When ActD was used at levels that increase p53 via the 5S-RNP pathway in conjunction with PRAS40 depletion, PRAS40 knockdown was found to have an additive effect suggesting that the two pathways were linked. It was hypothesised that PRAS40 may inhbit RPL11-mediated p53 signalling (Figure 1.14) by blocking RPL11 translocation from the nucleoli to the nucleoplasm and thus prevents its interaction with MDM2 (Havel et al., 2014), similar to what was hypothesised for PICT-1 (Sasaki et al., 2011).

Interestingly, the complex containing RPL11 and PRAS40 was found to have a high molecular weight of between 300-700kDa and thus it was hypothesised that this could contain other unidentified proteins. Questions, therefore, arise as to whether these proteins could be the other 5S RNP components or, indeed, PICT-1 which appears to have a similar role.

### 1.5.4 Post-translational modifications

### 1.5.4.1 NEDDylation

Post-translational modifications are important regulators of proteins in Eukaryotic organisms. One such post-translational modification important in regulation of the 5S RNP is NEDDylation. NEDDylation is a process that is similar to ubiquitination (Liakopoulos et al., 1998), and involves the protein, NEDD8, which shares 60% of sequence similarity with ubiquitin (Kumar et al., 1993) and was found, initially, to target cullin proteins. E1, E2 and E3 ligases conjugate NEDD8 to lysine residues on target proteins (Jentsch and Pyrowolakis, 2000, Brown and Jackson, 2015). NEDDylation has been implicated in the regulation of many important cellular processes such as apoptosis, DNA damage responses and cell proliferation (Brown et al., 2015, Chairatvit and Ngamkitidechakul, 2007, Nagano et al., 2012).

In a study into finding targets of NEDD8, 36 ribosomal proteins were identified, including RPL11. It was discovered that in these ribosomal proteins, NEDDylation acts to stabilise the proteins and protect them from degradation and whilst RPL5 was identified in this study initially, it was found to show no evidence of NEDDylation (Xirodimas et al., 2008).. Interestingly, RPL5 has a greater level of stability than the other ribosomal proteins (Lam et al., 2007) and, therefore, may not require this level of protection from NEDDylation.

Further investigations showed a more crucial role in regulation of RPL11 via NEDDylation. Sundqvist et al. (2009) showed that, in addition to protecting RPL11 from destabilisation, NEDDylation was shown to control the localisation and mobility of RPL11 and that prolonged lack of NEDDylation leads to the decrease in RPL11 levels. Interestingly, MDM2 is able to promote NEDDylation of RPL11 and protects RPL11 from destabilisation. ActD treatment was found to decrease NEDDylation of RPL11 and cause relocalisation of RPL11 to allow for interaction with p53.

Further to this, Mahata et al. (2012) demonstrated that RPL11 and NEDD8 were both required for acetylation of K832 of p53, resulting in the activation of p53, upon ribosomal stress. It was demonstrated that RPL11 is recruited to promoter sites of p53 regulated genes upon ribosomal stress and that this requires NEDDylation by NEDD8.

This, together with the previous reports, indicated the importance of NEDDylation in p53 activation via the 5S RNP.

Zhang et al. (2014) showed that lack of NEDDylation of RPS14 reduced stability of the protein and caused mislocalisation, preventing it from interacting with MDM2 and activating p53. The NEDDylation of RPS14 could be inhibited by human coilin-interacting nuclear ATPase protein (hCINAP) which suggested that hCINAP regulated p53 signalling via RPS14. No such regulator has yet been discovered for the NEDDylation of RPL11, but if found it could have a profound impact on diseases caused by 5S RNP signalling defects.

### 1.5.5.2 Phosphorylation

One other important post-translational modification commonly found in cells is phosphorylation. Phosphorylation plays a key role in the regulation of p53 signalling as described in Section 1.3.4. Furthermore, MDM2 and MDMX are also phosphorylated to mediate p53 signalling. Phosphorylation of MDM2 by ATM and C-Abl inhibits p53 degradation upon DNA damage (Goldberg et al., 2002, Maya et al., 2001). Furthermore, DNA damage results in phosphorylation of MDMX via Chk1, Chk2 and ATM, activating p53 (Jin et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2005). Some ribosomal proteins such as RPS3, RPS6, RPS14 and RPL5 have been found to be phosphorylated (Ruvinsky and Meyuhas, 2006, Kim et al., 2009, Lee et al., 2010, Park and Bae, 1999, Bialik et al., 2008, Ventimiglia and Wool, 1974).

Phosphorylation of RPS6 by the ribosomal protein S6 kinase (S6K) has been shown to regulate glucose metabolism, cell size and is important for the translation of 5' terminal oligopyramidine tract (TOP) mRNAs (Ruvinsky and Meyuhas, 2006). Despite RPS6 being shown to be involved in the activation of p53 (Fumagalli et al., 2009), it has since been demonstrated that depletion of RPS6 results in 40S ribosome biogenesis defects (Fumagalli et al., 2012) and presumably this results in 5S RNP-mediated p53 activation. However, phosphorylation of RPS6 has also been shown to be present in higher levels in pancreatic cancer and mice deficient for RPS6 phosphorylation were found to have increased p53 levels (Khalaileh et al., 2013), suggesting that phosphorylation may play a role in p53 signalling via ribosomal proteins.

Several phosphorylations have been reported in RPL5 and RPL11, according to Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org). RPL5 has 17 reported phosphorylation sites whilst there are 8 reported for RPL11 (Figure 1.15). Park and Bae (1999) demonstrated that RPL5 could be phosphorylated by Casein Kinase 2 (CK2), a highly conserved serine/threonine kinase that is involved in cell cycle control and DNA repair (St-Denis and Litchfield, 2009). Using the yeast two-hybrid system, Park and Bae (1999) demonstrated that RPL5 was able to interact with the β-subunit of CK2, which is responsible for substrate binding. By expressing and purifying human RPL5 in *E.coli*, phosphorylation of RPL5 was observed upon the addition of purified CK2 protein. Further analysis revealed that the phosphorylations by CK2 were exclusively serines in the regions of amino acids 142-200 and 272-297 of the RPL5 protein. Interestingly, RPL5 that had been incubated with CK2 and ATP prior to binding to the 5S rRNA showed a reduced binding efficiency for the 5S rRNA, suggesting that these phosphorylations block the formation of the 5S RNP.



**Figure 1.15 Phosphorylation sites reported in RPL5 and RPL11. (A)** A schematic representation of the tyrosine (blue), serine (red) and threonine (black) phosphorylation sites reported in RPL5 on Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org). **(B)** As in A, showing the phosphorylation sites reported in RPL11.

RPL5 was also shown to interact with other kinases and phosphatases although their role in the regulation of RPL5 is unclear. RPL5 was demonstrated to interact with Death-associated protein kinase (DAPk) using high throughput screening from HeLa cell extracts (Bialik et al., 2008). Whilst phosphorylations occurred when DAPk and ATP were incubated with RPL5, it was concluded that RPL5 was a weak substrate and thus was not able to be studied further. Furthermore, RPL5 has also been shown to interact with a phosphatase, Protein Phosphatase Type 1 (PPI) in yeast two-hybrid screening (Hirano et al., 1995) although it remains unclear as to the importance of this interaction. As phosphorylation plays a key role in p53 signalling (Meek, 1999,

Goldberg et al., 2002, Maya et al., 2001) (Jin et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2005), it is possible that phosphorylation of RPL5 or RPL11 may play a role in p53 regulation.

# 1.6 Diseases as a result of aberrant ribosome biogenesis

Defective ribosomes and, consequently, the activation of p53, can lead to diseases known as ribosomopathies which have increased cancer risk levels. The clinical features of ribosomopathies can be variable although many patients exhibit anaemia and a predisposition to cancer.

Disease	Gene defect	Cancer risk	References
			(Cmails at al. 2000
Diamand	RPS19, RPS24, RPS17, RPL30,	0	
Diamond	RPL35A, RPL5, RPL11, RPS7,	Osteosarcoma,	Gazda et al., 2008,
Blackfan Anaemia	RPS15, RPS27A	MDS, AML	Delaporta et al., 2014)
			(Barlow et al., 2010,
5q-syndrome	RPS14	AML	Boultwood et al., 2007)
Schwachman-			(Shammas et al., 2005,
Diamond			Elghetany and Alter,
Syndrome	SBDS	MDS, AML	2002)
Dyskeratosis		AML, Head and	
Congenita	DKC1	neck tumours	(Zhang et al., 2012)
Treacher Collins			(Wise et al., 1997,
syndrome	TCOF1	None reported	Jones et al., 2008)
			(Klauck et al., 2006,
			Chiocchetti et al., 2011,
Autism	RPL10	None reported	Gong et al., 2009)
Hereditary			
Hypotrichosis			
simplex	RPL21	None reported	(Zhou et al., 2011)
X-linked			
microcephaly	RPL10	None reported	(Brooks et al., 2014)
X-linked			
syndromic			
intellectual			
disability	RPL10	None-reported	(Thevenon et al., 2015)

### Table 1.1 Diseases of ribosome biogenesis dysfunction

Some examples of well-characterised ribosomopathies include Diamond Blackfan Anaemia, 5q-syndrome and Treacher Collins Syndrome but ribosomal defects not resulting in ribosomopathies have also been implicated in cancer such as acute myeloid leukaemia (AML).

### 1.6.1 Diamond Blackfan Anaemia

Diamond Blackfan Anaemia (DBA) is characterized by a severe reduction in erythroid precursor cells due to apoptosis or a failure to differentiate (Quarello et al., 2010b). These patients are also predisposed to cancers such as leukaemia, osteogenic sarcoma and myelodysplastic syndrome (Lipton et al., 2001). 40% of DBA patients also present with growth defects and congenital abnormalities and solid tumours (Lipton et al., 2006).

Many of the mutations found in patients with DBA have been in the genes encoding ribosomal proteins, including the ribosomal proteins RPS7, RPS19, RPS27, RPS26, RPL27, RPL5, RPL11 (Smetanina et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2015, Mirabello et al., 2014, Konno et al., 2010). 50-70% of all DBA patients present with a mutation in ribosomal proteins and 25% of all cases have mutations in RPS19 (Horos and von Lindern, 2012, Pereboom et al., 2014).

As the most common ribosomal protein defect found in DBA patients, RPS19 has been studied in detail. RPS19 knockdowns lead to a block in ribosome biogenesis and activation of p53 through the 5S RNP (Choesmel et al., 2007, Flygare et al., 2007). It has also been demonstrated that disruption of ribosomal proteins is associated with decreased translation in many different cell types (Gazda et al., 2006, Avondo et al., 2009), which may account for why the symptoms of the disease can be so variable.

Mutations in RPL5 and RPL11 are associated with distinct symptoms in DBA (Gazda et al., 2008, Quarello et al., 2010b). RPL5 mutations have been linked to cleft palate whilst RPL11 has been linked to thumb abnormalities (Gazda et al., 2008). In one study, half of all of the patients with RPL5 mutations were found to have multiple severe abnormalities, whereas patients with RPL11 or RPS19 mutations were rarely found to have such severe symptoms (Gazda et al., 2008).

The pathogenesis of DBA was originally thought to be due to the fact that red blood cell precursors proliferate rapidly (Lajtha and Oliver, 1961) and thus require rapid production of ribosomes during their proliferation and differentiation. Therefore, if there is a reduction in ribosome synthesis, this will affect the erythroid precursors quite drastically (Zhang et al., 2011). However, since defects in ribosomal proteins or ribosome biogenesis factors result in p53 activation (Sloan et al., 2013a), it has also been proposed that these defects are due to accumulation of p53 and thus cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in these erythroid cells (Dai and Lu, 2004, Danilova et al., 2014). Interestingly, Kummalue et al. (2015) found that RPL11 expression in erythroleukaemic cells caused activation of STAT5 and resulted in the cells being able to proliferate in the absence of erythropoietin, a growth factor involved in red blood cell development (Ridley et al., 1994). Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 5 (STAT5) is part of the STAT family of proteins and acts as promoter of angiogenesis (Yang and Friedl, 2015) and, subsequently, is associated with a range of cancers (Tan and Nevalainen, 2008). This suggested that RPL11 is able to increase erythroid cell proliferation and may give some explanation as to why deficiencies in ribosomal proteins often result in blood disorders.

There is need for a greater understanding of the pathogenesis of DBA as there are few effective treatments available apart from blood transfusions and bone marrow transplants. One current treatment for DBA is treatment with glucocorticoids (Vlachos et al., 2008). Loss of the glucocorticoid receptor in mice resulted in anaemia (Bauer et al., 1999) and p53 was able to block glucocorticoid-induced proliferation in erythroid precursors, hinting that p53 may play a pivotal role in the effectiveness of this treatment in DBA patients. Recently, Sjogren et al. (2015) showed that in RPS19 deficient mice, glucocorticoid treatment counteracted p53 activation and supported the idea that glucocorticoids act in DBA to dampen down the p53 response and promote proliferation in erythroid cells.

One other promising treatment of DBA is treatment with L-leucine. As DBA results in translational defects (Cmejlova et al., 2006) and L-leucine has been shown to regulate translation through mTOR (Kimball and Jefferson, 2006), L-Leucine was trialled as a potential therapeutic for DBA. Initial tests in zebrafish and mouse models of DBA show improvement in their anaemia upon L-leucine treatment (Boultwood et al., 2013, Jaako et al., 2012, Payne et al., 2012). Furthermore, it was shown in a mouse model for DBA that L-leucine treatment reduced p53 levels (Jaako et al., 2012). In patient trials, it appeared to be an effective treatment and within 6 months the patient tested became transfusion independent and showed increased erythroid differentiation (Pospisilova et al., 2007). This is interesting as leucine is known to trigger the mTOR pathway which has recently been closely linked to the 5S RNP via PRAS40 (Havel et al., 2014).

Investigation of this link may further the understanding of the regulation of the 5S RNP and make treatment of DBA more effective.

### **1.6.2 5q-syndrome**

5q-syndrome is a myelodysplastic syndrome that shares many similarities with DBA such as anaemia, decreased erythroid precursors and a predisposition to AML (Vardiman et al., 2002). Like DBA, 5q syndrome has also been linked with ribosome defects as cells from the bone marrow of patients with 5q syndrome showed rRNA processing defects (Ebert et al., 2008).

5q-syndrome is a very distinct form of myelodysplastic syndrome characterised by deletion of the long arm of chromosome 5 (Van den Berghe et al., 1974). One of the proteins affected by this deletion is RPS14. Boultwood et al. (2007) detected haploinsufficiency of RPS14 in a group of patients with 5q syndrome using micro-array based gene expression profiling of CD34+ bone marrow cells from 5q syndrome patients compared to healthy individuals. This suggested that RPS14 may be an important gene in the pathogenesis of 5q syndrome. Subsequently, depletion of RPS14 in CD34++ haematopoietic stem cells was shown to mirror the defects seen in 5q-syndrome, which could be rescued by over-expression of RPS14 (Ebert et al., 2008). This was supported by the evidence of a mouse model for the disease, whereby RPS14 is disrupted (Barlow et al., 2010).

An effective treatment for 5q-syndrome is the drug Lenalidomide (Messingerova et al., 2015, Wei et al., 2013). Lenalidomide is commonly used as a treatment for multiple myeloma and is known to promote erythroid differentiation (Narla et al., 2011) as well as promoting degradation of p53 (Wei et al., 2013). Lenalidomide has been shown to inhibit two phosphatases involved in G2-M checkpoint control, Protein Phosphatase 2A catalytic subunit  $\alpha$  (PP2Ac $\alpha$ ) and Cell division cycle 25 (CDC25C), which are located on 5q and deleted in many patients with 5q-syndrome (Wei et al., 2009). The ability of Lenalidomide to suppress p53 and specifically target phosphatases already downregulated in 5q syndrome (PP2Ac $\alpha$  and CDC25C) explains the selective toxicity seen in just the 5q deleted cells. However, Tehranchi et al. (2010) reviewed 7 patients with 5q syndrome that had responded well to Lenalidomide treatment and found that most patients developed Lenalidomide resistance over time and relapsed. This suggested that new therapies or a combination of therapies were needed.

Similar to Diamond Blackfan Anaemia, treatment with L-leucine has had some promising results in the treatment of 5q-syndrome. In CD34+ cells with RPS14 depletion and cells from 5q syndrome patients, L-leucine treatment resulted in increased differentiation and proliferation of the cells (Yip et al., 2012). Furthermore, zebrafish models of 5q syndrome showed improvement in red blood cell count after treatment with L-leucine (Payne et al., 2012). However, whilst L-leucine treatment has initially proven to be successful in DBA patient trials, its efficacy in treating 5q syndrome in human trials seems less successful. Steensma and Ebert (2013) treated three 5q syndrome patients with L-leucine for 3 months and found that whilst there were no adverse effects, their symptoms were not alleviated. In fact, two of the patients only found relief from blood transfusions after Lenalidomide treatment. Lenalidomide, as previously explained, has some adverse effects and patients taking the drug often relapse. Therefore, it is important that the role of the 5S RNP-signalling, which may provide the crucial link between L-leucine and ribosomopathies, is better understood.

### **1.6.3 Treacher Collins Syndrome**

Treacher Collins syndrome (TCS) is a rare autosomal dominant disease, affecting around 1 in 50,000 births (Fazen et al., 1967, Rovin et al., 1964), which is characterised by aberrant neural crest cell development (Ross and Zarbalis, 2014) resulting in craniofacial defects. Neural crest cells are the cells that give rise to cartilage, nose, and connective tissue in the face and head. They are almost stem-cell like in nature due to their ability to differentiate into a range of different cell types and their self-renewal properties (Ross and Zarbalis, 2014). There are a wide range of developmental abnormalities seen in TCS patients, including alterations to the size, shape and position of the external ears, dental malocclusion, cleft palate and ophthalmic abnormalities (Trainor et al., 2009).

The most common defect found in TCS patients is in the gene Treacher-Collins-Franceschetti syndrome 1 (TCOF1) which encodes for a protein called treacle (Wise et al., 1997). Treacle is a nucleolar phosphoprotein that is involved in rRNA transcription through interactions with the upstream binding factor, UBF and RNA polymerase I (Valdez et al., 2004). Mutations in TCOF1 have been shown to lead to ribosome biogenesis defects, p53 stabilisation and thus cell cycle arrest at G1 (Jones et al., 2008). Interestingly, mutations have also been found in genes that encode for subunits of the RNA polymerases I and III. Dauwerse et al. (2011) found that patients deficient for TCOF1 mutations often had mutations in the *POLR1D* gene that encodes for a subunit for RNA polymerases I and III. The 5S rRNA is transcribed by RNA polymerase III and the other rRNAs are transcribed as a single precursor by RNA polymerase I, suggesting that all rRNA synthesis is affected in these patients and not just the 28S, 5.8S and 18S as with TCOF1 mutations.

Unlike DBA and 5q syndrome, Treacher Collins syndrome does not present with blood related symptoms or cancer predisposition. The main treatments for TCS have been surgical in order to reconstruct the facial abnormalities (Trainor et al., 2009) and may result in several surgeries throughout the patient's life. A greater understanding of the pathogenesis of ribosomopathies in general may help to lead to more treatment options in the future.

### 1.6.4 Cancers

As ribosome biogenesis defects result in aberrant p53 signalling, it is not surprising that ribosome biogenesis defects have been linked to cancer as p53 is mutated or lost in around half of cancers (Vogelstein et al., 2000).

Both Diamond Blackfan Anaemia and 5q-syndrome result in a predisposition to cancers such as leukaemia (Khanna-Gupta, 2013). Furthermore, mutations in both RPL5 and RPL10 were described in patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (T-ALL). Keersmaecker et al. (2013) described a common mutation, R98S, in RPL10 in five patients. Expressing these mutants in yeast resulted in ribosome biogenesis defects and a decrease in proliferation, suggesting a role for RPL10 in ribosome biogenesis. This raised the question as to why this mutation that decreases cellular proliferation could result in cancer which is characterised by an overgrowth of cells. Further investigation into this mutation revealed that the mutation resulted in a late-stage 60S ribosome biogenesis defect resulting in a decrease in proliferation, especially in rapidly dividing cells such as blood cell precursors (Sulima et al., 2014). However, after time, it was seen that the cells were subjected to selective pressure, favouring cells that harboured mutations in proteins involved in ribosome guality control. This resulted in the rapid proliferation of cells with defective ribosomes without quality control mechanisms in place. This research was pivotal in understanding how ribosomopathies

result in cancer and may lead to prevention of cancer in ribosomopathy patients in the future.

Interestingly, mutations in RPL22 have also been described in T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (T-ALL) (Rao et al., 2012). Loss of RPL22 was shown to accelerate the development of lymphoma in a mouse model, suggesting a link between RPL22 and transformation of cells. However, the emergence of a role of ribosomal proteins in cancer is fairly recent and thus very little is currently known about whether targeting these proteins could act as a potential therapeutic.

# 1.6.4.1 The nucleolus and cancer

Large and abnormal nucleoli were observed very early on in cancer cells by the Italian pathologist Giuseppe Pianese (Pianese, 1896) and since then a strong correlation has been made between nucleolar morphology and cancer (Figure 1.16). In some cases, nucleolar size is used as a marker for clinical outcome- with larger nucleoli indicating a poor prognosis (Derenzini et al., 1986, Derenzini et al., 1989). Furthermore, changes in nucleolar morphology help to indicate a patient's response to chemotherapeutic drugs (Derenzini et al., 1998).



**Figure 1.16 Nuclear morphology in cancer.** Electron micrographs showing changes in nucleolar morphology in wild type mouse prostate cells **(A)** or in a mouse model for prostate cancer **(B)**. Arrows indicate the nucleoli. Adapted from (Koh et al., 2011).

One nucleolar protein, NPM (nucleophosmin/B23, encoded by the gene *NPM1*) is mutated in several different cancers, including gastric, colon, ovarian and prostate carcinomas (Tanaka et al., 1992, Nozawa et al., 1996, Shields et al., 1997, Subong et al., 1999), Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase (ALK)+ Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma (ALCL), (Morris et al., 1995) and AML (Falini et al., 2005). NPM has been shown to be involved in ribosome biogenesis, the nucleolar export of the RPL5/5S rRNA complex, protein chaperoning and centrosome duplications (Yu et al., 2006, Feuerstein et al., 1988, Kondo et al., 1997, Okuda et al., 2000, Okuwaki et al., 2001). Furthermore, NPM is involved in p53 signalling. ARF and NPM co-localise to the nucleolus (Gallagher et al., 2006) where NPM protects ARF from degradation (Colombo et al., 2005) and maintains basal ARF levels in the nucleolus (Sherr, 2006). Under cellular stress conditions, NPM and ARF exit the nucleoli and MDM2 and NPM compete for ARF binding. The formation of ARF-MDM2 and NPM-MDM2 results in the activation of p53 (Lee et al., 2005, Kurki et al., 2004). In addition, NPM is able to directly bind to p53 to promote p53 stabilisation and activation (Colombo et al., 2002).

*NPM1* mutations exist in around 30% of adult AML cases leading to an increase in mutant cytoplasmic NPM (Falini et al., 2005, Falini et al., 2007b). In a mouse model, overexpression of cytoplasmic mutant NPM resulted in a proliferative advantage of myeloid lineage cells (Cheng et al., 2010), whereas in *D. rerio*, expression of the cytoplasmic mutant NPM resulted in the expansion of hematopoietic cells (Bolli et al., 2010), suggesting that, in AML, *NPM1* mutations contribute to the pathogenesis of the disorder. In 85% of ALK+ ALCL cases, a translocation exists between the *ALK* and *NPM1* genes causing constitutive expression of a the NPM-ALK fusion kinase (Falini et al., 2007a, Morris et al., 1995).

One other nucleolar protein thought to be involved in the activation of p53 is Mybbinding protein 1a (MYBBP1A), a predominantly nucleolar transcription factor involved in p53 acetylation and stabilisation (Kumazawa et al., 2015, Ono et al., 2014). MYBBP1A translocates to the nucleoplasm during ribosomal stress to activate p53 in an RPL5 and RPL11 dependent manner (Kuroda et al., 2011, Ono et al., 2014). This, therefore, suggests a link between the 5S RNP and MYBBP1A.

#### **1.6.5** Other diseases as a result of aberrant ribosome biogenesis

Ribosomal proteins have also been implicated in other diseases such as Schwachman-Diamond Syndrome, Dyskeratosis congenita (DC), Parkinson's disease, Autism spectrum disorder, X linked microcephaly, X-linked syndromic intellectual disability and hereditary hypotrichosis simplex. Schwachman-Diamond Syndrome is a rare disorder characterised by haematological abnormalities, exocrine pancreatic insufficiency, decreased neutrophils in the blood, and an increased cancer risk (Myers et al., 2013). Approximately 90% of Schwachman-Diamond Syndrome patients have mutations in the Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond syndrome (SBDS) gene. The SBDS protein, which binds to NPM, has been implicated in ribosome biogenesis (Austin et al., 2005, Ganapathi et al., 2007, Finch et al., 2011), suggesting that ribosome biogenesis plays a role in the pathogenesis of the disease. Furthermore, aberrant p53 expression has been demonstrated in Schwachman-Diamond Syndrome patients (Elghetany and Alter, 2002) although no links to the 5S RNP have yet been made.

One other ribosomopathy is DC which is a highly heterogeneous disease characterised by bone marrow failure, predispositions to cancer, reticular skin pigmentation and immune deficiencies (Alter et al., 2009, Mason and Bessler, 2011). There are many different modes of inheritance of DC, the X-linked form of DC is linked to rRNA processing defects and arises from mutations in the DKC1 gene (Heiss et al., 1998, Knight et al., 1998) whilst autosomal dominant DC is linked to defects in the telomerase, TERT (Vulliamy et al., 2001, Basel-Vanagaite et al., 2008). The DKC1 gene encodes dyskerin, a component of the telomerase complex (Brault et al., 2013) and part of the H/ACA snoRNP complex involved in pseudouridylation. The p53 status in DC remains unclear. Mouse models for DC have shown reductions in p53 levels (Bellodi et al., 2010), whereas studies in *D. rerio* have shown that p53 is activated when dyskerin levels are reduced (Ying Zhang et al., 2012). There is much debate about the pathogenesis of DC and it remains unclear whether DC is caused by defects in telomere maintenance or ribosome biogenesis due to the different complexes that dyskerin is involved in. However, due to the phenotypic similarities between DC and ribosomopathies such as DBA and 5q-syndrome, it is likely that ribosome biogenesis defects play a role in the pathogenesis of DC.

Although no ribosome defects have not been reported in Parkinson's disease directly, altered RPS6 expression has been reported in brains of patients with Parkinson's disease (Papapetropoulos et al., 2006). Furthermore, it was shown that the bacterial homologue of the parkinsonism-associated protein DJ-1 was related to translation

defects and resulted in the aggregation of many ribosomal proteins (Kthiri et al., 2010), suggesting a link between ribosomes and Parkinson's disease.

Finally, mutations in the large subunit ribosomal protein, RPL10, have been linked to several neuronal diseases such as autism (Klauck et al., 2006, Chiocchetti et al., 2011, Gong et al., 2009), X-linked microcephaly (Brooks et al., 2014), and X-linked syndromic Intellectual Disability (Thevenon et al., 2015). Furthermore, RPL21 mutations have been reported in hereditary hypotrichosis simplex (Zhou et al., 2011). However, the link to p53 in these diseases has not been characterised.

# 1.7 Project aims and objectives

The links between the ribosomal proteins and MDM2 have been established for some time. However, it is only recently that it has been elucidated that the 5S RNP-MDM2 interaction is crucial for p53 activation when ribosome biogenesis is disrupted (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a). Furthermore, it has been shown that the 5S RNP is involved in maintaining normal p53 homeostasis (Sloan et al., 2013a). Ribosome biogenesis defects and subsequent p53 activation has been implicated in a number of diseases known as ribosomopathies (Fumagalli and Thomas, 2011) and, therefore, understanding how the 5S RNP signalling pathway is regulated may lead to novel treatments for these diseases.

As only non-ribosomal 5S RNP can activate p53, integration into the ribosome is a crucial step in the regulation of the 5S RNP. In yeast it is known that Rrs1 and Rpf2 are required for integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome (Kharde et al., 2015, Morita et al., 2002, Zhang et al., 2007). It has been shown that the 5S RNP docks onto the 25S/28S rRNA and is subsequently rotated 180° in order to form the central protuberance (Leidig et al., 2014). However, it has been recently demonstrated that 5S RNP recruitment may differ in human ribosomes as the human Rpf2/Rrs1 homologues BXDC1/RRS1 do not interact with the 5S RNP outside of pre-ribosomes and were shown to be less important in 5S RNP recruitment (Sloan et al., 2013a). Therefore, it is important to further explore the factors involved in 5S RNP recruitment as it appears to differ between humans and yeast.

One way that the 5S RNP recruitment may be regulated is through post-translational modifications. Post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination, acetylation and

phosphorylation are common in p53 signalling and thus it follows that the 5S RNP may be modified in a similar way. Indeed, RPL11 has been shown to be NEDDylated by MDM2 to protect it from degradation. Furthermore, RPL11 and RPL5 both have multiple phosphorylation sites which may affect 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling by blocking 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome.

Finally, two proteins, SRSF1 and PRAS40, were shown to interact with the 5S RNP components to regulate p53 signalling. In light of the recent findings that the 5S RNP is required to activate p53 (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a), it is possible that these proteins regulate the 5S RNP-mediated p53 pathway. Interestingly, SRSF1 and PRAS40 are both involved with the regulation of the mTOR signalling pathway. One of the successful treatments for the DBA, has been leucine treatment which activates mTOR and thus investigation of SRSF1 and PRAS40 may help to uncover the mechanism by which leucine treatment is successful.

Therefore, this project aimed to:

- Further elucidate the factors involved in 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome in human cells.
- Determine the role of RPL5 phosphorylation in 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling.
- Evaluate the role of SRSF1 and PRAS40 in the regulation of p53 signalling via the 5S RNP.
## **CHAPTER TWO: METHODS**

## 2.1 Reagents

All reagents for buffers were purchased from Sigma Aldrich unless stated otherwise.

## 2.2 DNA methods

#### 2.2.1 Plasmid purification

Minipreps were carried out using the Promega Wizard<sup>®</sup> Plus SV Minipreps DNA Purification System according to the manufacturer's instructions and eluted in  $50 \mu l H_2O$ .

#### 2.2.2 PCR

#### 2.2.2.1 PCR and cloning

PCR reactions were used to amplify target sequences from vectors or cDNA. All PCR reactions were carried out using Phusion Polymerase (New England Biolabs) to create blunt-ended PCR products.

Gene	Direction	Restriction site	Sequence
	Forward	BamHI	GATCGGATCCATGGCGTCGGGGGCGCCCCGAGG
PRAS40	Reverse	Xhol	GATCCTCGAGTCAATATTTCCGCTTCAGCTTCTGG
	Forward	BamHI	GATCGGATCCATGTCGGGAGGTGGTGTGATTCGTGG
SRSF1	Reverse	Xhol	GATCCTCGAGTTATGTACGAGAGCGAGATCTGC

Table 2.1 Primers used for cloning.

Reactions were carried out using the primers in Table 2.1 using the explained reaction conditions (Table 2.2) using the detailed thermal cycling conditions as per the manufacturer's protocol.

Volume	Component
10 µl	5X Phusion HF Buffer
1 μl	10 mM dNTPs
0.5 μΙ	100 $\mu$ M Forward Primer
0.5 μΙ	100 µM Reverse Primer
1 μl	200 ng/µl Template
0.5 μΙ	Phusion Polymerase
36.5 μl	Nuclease free water

Table 2.2. The PCR conditions used for cloning.

The PCR products were then cloned into the CloneJET PCR Cloning Kit (Life Technologies) followed by restriction digests to extract the clone of interest for further cloning into the desired vectors.

#### 2.2.2.2 RT-PCR

RNA was treated with Turbo DNAse (Life technologies) for 1 hour at  $37^{\circ}$ C using the appropriate buffer. 10 pg -500 ng RNA was added to  $200\mu$ M dNTPs, 2nM of oligo dT primer in order to extend all of the poly-A tailed mRNA sequences. This reaction was heated to  $65^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes to anneal the primer (Table 2.3) before placing on ice.

Gene	Primer direction	Sequence		
	Forward	GGTTCCTGCTGTGCCAGAAAC		
RPL7	Reverse	CCTCAGCATGTTAATCGAAGCC		
	Forward	CAAGCCGTACCCAAAGTCTCG		
RPL10	Reverse	CTCCTTGTTCTGCAGCTTGGTG		
	Forward	GGAAAGAGGAGAGGCACCCG		
RPL21	Reverse	GCTGGCGCTTTAGTTGAACC		
	Forward	CTACCTGAGGCTGTTGGTCAAG		
RPL18	Reverse	CGAAATGCCGGTACACCTCTC		

Table 2.3 List of primers used for RT-PCR

The extension of the primer was then performed by adding a final concentration of: 1X First strand buffer (Life technologies), 5mM DTT, 200U SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Life Technologies) and 30U Recombinant RNasin ribonuclease inhibitor (Promega). The reaction was incubated at 55°C for 1 hour followed by 70°C for 15 minutes to inactivate the enzymes. The PCR reactions were carried out using Go Taq G2 (Promega) with the conditions outlined in the manufacturers protocol using the thermal cycling conditions detailed in Table 2.4.

Step	Temperature (°c)	Time
Initial Denaturation	95	5 minutes
25-35 cycles	95	1 minute
	58-70	1 minute
	72	1 minute per kb
Final Extension	72	5 minutes
Hold	4	

Table 2.4. The PCR thermal cycling conditions for Go Taq G2 polymerase.

#### 2.2.2.3 Site directed mutagenesis

Stratagene Quikchange site directed mutagenesis kit was utilised to mutate sites in plasmids. The reactions were set up as follows: 1X Pfu buffer, 200 ng DNA, 100 ng of

each primer, 200 nM dNTPs and 2.5U PFU Turbo (Stratagene) made up to 100  $\mu$ l with water. The PCR reactions conditions were as per the manufacturer's protocol. The resultant PCR products were digested with 1U DpnI (New England Biosciences) for 1 hour at 37°C to digest the parental strand as DpnI digests only methylated DNA. 5  $\mu$ l was then transformed into DH5 $\alpha$  competent cells. The list of primers used is shown in Table 2.5.

Gene	Mutation desired	Primer direction	Sequence
	V30F	Forward	CGAGAGGGTAAAACTGATTTTTTTGCTCGGAAACGCTTGG
	Y31F	Reverse	CCAAGCGTTTCCGAGCAAAAAAATCAGTTTTACCCTCTCG
		Forward	CGAGAGGGTAAAACTGATTATTTTGCTCGGAAACGCTTGG
	Y31F	Reverse	CCAAGCGTTTCCGAGCAAAATAATCAGTTTTACCCTCTCG
		Forward	CGAGAGGGTAAAACTGATTTTTATGCTCGGAAACGCTTGG
RPI 5	Y30F	Reverse	CCAAGCGTTTCCGAGCATAAAAATCAGTTTTACCCTCTCG
	<b>Forward</b> C		CGAGAGGGTAAAACTGATGAGTATGCTCGGAAACGCTTGG
	Y30E	Reverse	CCAAGCGTTTCCGAGCATACTCATCAGTTTTACCCTCTCG
		Forward	GGTGATACAAGATAAAAATAAATTCAACACACCCAAATACAGG
	Y44F	Reverse	CCTGTATTTGGGTGTGTTGAATTTATTTTTATCTTGTATCACC
		Forward	GGTGATACAAGATAAAAATAAAGAGAACACACCCAAATACAGG
	Y44E	Reverse	CCTGTATTTGGGTGTGTTCTCTTTATTTTTATCTTGTATCACC

Table 2.5 List of primers used in mutagenesis PCR

#### 2.2.3 Sequencing

To ensure that the site directed mutagenesis and cloning had been successful, restriction digests and agarose gel electrophoresis were used to check size of inserts. This was followed by sequencing by GATC biotech using the appropriate primers to check for correct sequences

#### 2.2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Samples were diluted in 6X DNA loading dye (0.4 % orange G, 0.03 % bromophenol blue, 0.03 % xylene cyanol FF, 15 % Ficoll400, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 50 mM EDTA pH 8.0)) to a final 1X concentration. Typically, 2% agarose (w/v)-TBE (TRIS/Borate/EDTA: 90 mM Tris-HCl, 90 mM Boric acid, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) gels were combined with 1X SYBRSafe (Invitrogen) and run in 1 X TBE buffer at 125v for 30 minutes. Gels were visualised using the SYBRSafe fluorescence setting on the Typhoon FLA 7000 (GE healthcare) or with U.V on the Biorad 1000 transilluminator.

#### 2.2.5 Restriction digests

0.5-2  $\mu$ g DNA was digested with the 10U of enzymes (Promega) and the manufacturers recommended buffer to a final volume of 20  $\mu$ l for 1hr at 37°C.

#### 2.2.6 Ligation

PCR products were digested with the appropriate restriction enzymes before the addition of the vector in a 5:1 molar ratio. 0.3U T4 DNA ligase (Promega) and 1X T4 DNA ligase buffer (Promega) were added to a final volume of 10  $\mu$ l. The reactions were carried out at 18°C for 16 hours.

#### 2.2.7 Transformation into E.coli

For the pcDNA5 constructs and cloning, competent DH5α cells were used. RPL5 and RPL11 pGEXgp1 plasmids were kindly provided by Katherine Sloan (Watkins Lab). 50 ng plasmid DNA or 5 μl ligation mixture was added to 50 μl competent cells and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The mixture was then heat shocked at 42°C for 1 minute before being immediately placed back on ice for 5 minutes. 1 ml Lysogeny Broth (LB) was added and the cells incubated at 37°C for 1hr 30 with gentle agitation. The bacteria was then plated on LB-agar plates containing the relevant selection antibiotic and grown at 37°C overnight. Single colonies were selected and added to 5 ml LB with the relevant antibiotics and rotated overnight ready for plasmid purification.

For the *E.coli* expression vectors, BL21 PlysS cells were utilised to allow high efficiency gene expression whilst maintaining a low level of basal expression. The BL21 PlysS cells were grown overnight on antibiotic-free agar plates. 2-4 colonies of BL21 PlysS cells were resuspended in 120  $\mu$ l 50mM sterile CaCl<sub>2</sub> before the addition of 1  $\mu$ g of the plasmid and incubation on ice for 15 minutes. The cells were heat shocked at 42°C for 90 seconds before placing back on ice. 120  $\mu$ l LB was added and incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes with gentle agitation before plating on selective plates.

### 2.3 RNA methods

#### 2.3.1 RNA extractions

#### 2.3.1.1 Phenol-Chloroform extractions

Phenol:chloroform:isoamylalcohol (25:24:1) solution was added to at a 1:1 ratio with the sample and then vortexed for 1 minute before centrifugation for 5 minutes at 13,000rpm. The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube and combined

with NaOAc pH 5.3 was added to a final concentration of 150 mM along with 1 ml ethanol. 50  $\mu$ g/ml glycogen blue (Ambion) was added to help with the precipitation of the RNA before storage at 20°C overnight. The ethanol was removed by centrifugation for 20 minutes at 13,000 rpm and removing the liquid. The pellet was air-dried and resuspended in 10  $\mu$ l H<sub>2</sub>O.

#### 2.3.1.2 TRI-Reagent extractions

Cell pellets were resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l TRI-reagent and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. 100  $\mu$ l chloroform was added before shaking vigorously for 15 seconds and then incubated for 2 minutes at room temperature and centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 15 minutes. The upper aqueous phase was separated and combined with 250  $\mu$ l isopropanol and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature before centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes to pellet the RNA. The RNA pellets were washed in 500  $\mu$ l 75% ethanol (v/v) and centrifuged as before for 5 minutes. The ethanol was then removed and the pellet resuspended in 10  $\mu$ l H<sub>2</sub>O prior to being heated for 10 minutes at 55°C.

#### 2.3.2 Northern blot methods and probes

#### 2.3.2.1 Acrylamide Gels for 5S and 5.8S rRNAs

Samples were combined with 2x RNA loading dye (80% formamide, 10 mM EDTA [pH 8.0], 1 mg/ml xylene cyanol FF, 1 mg/ml bromophenol blue) in a 1:1 ratio and separated by electrophoresis using an 8% acrylamide, 7M urea gel in 1x TBE buffer at 350V for 1-2 hours. RNAs were transferred from the gel onto Hybond N membrane (Amersham Biosciences) using a Trans-Blot <sup>®</sup> Cell (BIO-RAD) in 0.5x TBE buffer at 65V for 1.5 hours. RNA was cross-linked to the membrane using a Stratalinker UV crosslinker (Stratagene) using the auto-crosslinking setting of 120,000 microjoules/cm<sup>2</sup>.

#### 2.3.2.2 Glyoxal Gels for larger RNAs

Glyoxal Loading Buffer (61.2% DMSO (v/v), 20.4% glyoxal (v/v), 12.2% 1x BPTE buffer [30 mM Bis-Tris free acid [pH 7.0], 10 mM PIPES free acid, 1 mM EDTA], 4.8% glycerol (v/v), and 0.02 mg/ml ethidium bromide) was added to RNA samples at a 5:1 ratio. The samples were heated at 55°C for 1 hour. The samples were loaded onto a gel containing 1.2% agarose / 1x BPTE and run in 1x BPTE for 3 hr 30 at 185 volts. The bands were then visualised using a U.V transilluminator (Biorad). The gel was then washed in order to fix the RNAs with 75mM NaOH for 20 minutes followed by 2x 15 minute washes with Tris-Salt buffer (0.5 M tris pH 7.4, 1.5 M NaCl) and a 20 minute wash in 6X SSC (0.9 M NaCl, 90 mM Na<sub>3</sub>C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>O<sub>7</sub> pH 7.0).

The RNA was transferred to a Hybond N Membrane (Amersham) overnight using capillary action with 6X SSC buffer. The RNA was cross-linked to the membrane using a Stratalinker U.V crosslinker (Stratagene) as described in section **2.2.2.1**.

#### 2.3.2.3 Hybridisation and probes

Northern blot probes are made as follows. 25-50 ng (approx 1  $\mu$ l) of PCR template, 1 mM ATP, 1 mM CTP, 1 mM GTP, 0.1 mM UTP, 1U RNasin, 1  $\mu$ l T7 polymerase (Fermentas), 1x Transcription Buffer (Fermentas) and 2  $\mu$ l <sup>32</sup>P UTP in a 20  $\mu$ l reaction. Incubated reaction at 37°C for 2 hours before the addition of 1  $\mu$ l Turbo DNase (Ambion) to the reaction and a further incubation at 37°C for 30 minutes. Water was added to a final volume of 50  $\mu$ l.

Target	Sequence
ITS1	AGGGGTCTTTAAACCTCCGCGCCGGAACGCGCTAGGTAC
55	CCGAGATCAGACGAGATCGGGCGCGTTCAGGGTGGTATGG
5.8S	CAATGTGTCCTGCAATTCAC

Table 2.6 Probes used for northern blot hybridisation.

The nylon membranes were pre-hybridised for 30 minutes in 20ml SES1 (0.5 M sodium phosphate pH 7.2, 7 % SDS (w/v), 1 mM EDTA). The labelled probe (Table 2.6) was then added to the pre-hybridisation buffer and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C with rotation overnight. The membranes were then washed twice in 1 x SSC, 0.1 % SDS (w/v) before being dried and exposed to a phosphorimager screen. Signals were then detected using the Typhoon FLA-7000 (GE healthcare).

#### 2.3.3 Labelling RNAs for interaction studies

The 28S and 5S rRNA species were PCR amplified using Go Taq (Promega- see section 2.1.2) from whole-cell cDNA samples using PCR primers containing T7 sites. The PCR products were transcribed into RNA and labelled with <sup>32</sup>P UTP by the addition of T7

polymerase (Promega- see Table 2.7). This reaction was incubated at 37°C for 2 hours before the addition of 2U Turbo DNase (Life Technologies) for a further 1 hour at 37°C.

Component	Volume
Template	2 μΙ
10mM low UTP NTPs	2 μΙ
<sup>32</sup> P UTP	4.5 μl
5X T7 buffer	4 μΙ
1M DTT	2 μΙ
T7 Polymerase (20U/µl)	0.5 μΙ
Water	5 μl

Table 2.7. Conditions for *in vitro* transcription.

T4 Polynucleotide kinase was used on the commercially bought RNA species in order to label them with  $^{32}P$ - $\gamma$ -ATP (see Table 2.8). These were incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes.

Component	Volume used
10μM RNA oligo	1 μΙ
10X PNK buffer	2 μΙ
Polynucleotide kinase (1U/µl)	1 μΙ
<sup>32</sup> P ATP	4 μΙ
Water	12 μl

Table 2.8. Conditions for labelling RNAs.

After labelling, both the commercially bought RNA and the transcribed RNA were made up to a final volume of 50  $\mu$ l with water before spinning in a G50 column (GE healthcare) to remove any unbound label.

#### 2.3.4 Quantification of RNA

Protein quantification was carried out using 1  $\mu$ l of RNA sample and analysed using Nanodrop (Thermo-Fisher) at 260 nm. Quantification of northern blots was carried out using ImageQuant software (GE healthcare).

## 2.4 Human Cell Culture

#### 2.4.1 Human Cell lines

U2OS (Human Osteosarcoma), HEK 293 (Human embryonic kidney) and HeLa (cervical cancer) cells were routinely cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (D5796-Sigma Aldrich) supplemented with 10% (v/v) Foetal Bovine Serum (Sigma) and 100 units/m penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. MCF-7 (Human breast cancer) cells were routinely cultured in Gibco<sup>™</sup> DMEM/F12 media with Glutamax (10565-018- Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% (v/v) Foetal Bovine Serum (Sigma) and 100 units/m penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin. All cells were grown in a monolayer in a 37°C incubator with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. At 80% confluency, cells were detached using 1x Trypsin EDTA (Sigma Aldrich) in Phosphate Buffered Saline (Sigma Aldrich) and incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C before resuspending in DMEM and reseeding at the required density.

U2OS Flp-In<sup>™</sup> T-REX<sup>™</sup>-cell line had been obtained from Neil Perkins. This cell line contains a Flp Recombinase site contained within a stably integrated pFRT/*lac*Zeo vector site from *S. cerevisiae*. The cell line also contains a pcDNA6/TR vector to allow for Blasticidin S resistance and constitutive expression from a tet-repressor under the control of the human CMV promoter to allow for tetracycline inducible cell lines. Cells were selected using 100 µg/ml hygromycin B at each passage and with 10 µg/ml Blasticidin S every third passage.

U2OS luciferase reporter cell clones were kindly donated by George Schlossmacher. These cells contain the pGL4.38 [*luc2P*/p53 RE/Hygro] (Promega) plasmid allowing for p53-regulated luciferase expression. After transfection with the plasmid, individual colonies were selected and tested for luciferase expression. The cells were selected using 300  $\mu$ g/ml hygromycin B and routinely cultured with hygromycin B at this concentration at each passage.

All cell lines used were harvested using a swing bucket centrifuge at 900 rpm for 5 minutes to pellet the cells. The media was removed and the pellets were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C or used immediately. To make stocks, cells from an 80% confluent flask were resuspended in 2 ml freezing media (DMEM, 10% DMSO, 20% FBS) and cooling to -80°C in a freezing box to obtain gradual cooling.

58

#### 2.4.2 RNAi

Several proteins of interest were depleted using small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) targeting the specific mRNA sequences (Table 2.9). In all cases, a control siRNA targeting firefly luciferase mRNA (Elbashir et al., 2002) was used as none of the cell lines contain this mRNA.

Target Gene	siRNA Sequence	Source	Reference
GL2	CGUACGCGGAAUACUUCGA	Eurofins	(Elbashir et al., 2002)
RPL5	UACUUUAAGAGAUACCAAG	Eurofins	(Fumagalli et al., 2012)
RPL11	GGUGCGGGAGUAUGAGUUA	Eurofins	(Bursac et al., 2012)
p53	GACUCCAGUGGUAAUCUAC	Eurofins	(Gu et al., 2004)
RPL7	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	
RPL10	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	
RPL18	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	
RPL21	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	
PRAS40	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	
SRSF1	Smartpool	GE Dharmacon	

Table 2.9 siRNA sequences used

siRNAs SMARTpools (GE Dharmacon) were diluted to 20 μM in 1x annealing buffer (100 mM KOAc, 2 mM MgOAc, 20 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.4)). siRNAs purchased from Eurofins MWG Operon were resuspended in 1x Universal siRNA Buffer (Eurofins MWG Operon) to a concentration of 20 μM.

Chemical siRNA transfection into U2OS cells was performed using Lipofectamine<sup>™</sup> RNAiMAX transfection reagent (Invitrogen) using the reverse transfection method. Cells were harvested with trypsin as explained previously and resupended in antibiotic free DMEM and 1.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells in 2 ml seeded into each well. For a 6-well plate, 150pmol siRNA was combined with 500 µl Opti-MEM Reduced serum media with Lglutamine (Invitrogen) and 5 µl transfection reagent and incubated at room temperature for 10-15 minutes before addition to the cells. Cells were then usually grown for a further 48 hours before harvesting as described.

#### 2.4.3 Creation of pcDNA5 cell lines

A modified pcDNA5/FRT/TO vector containing a tetracycline regulated CMV/TetO2 promoter, a hygromycin B resistance gene with an FRT site in the 5' coding region and 2 FLAG tags was used to insert the gene of interest. The vector was co-transfected into Flp-In cells with pOG44, a plasmid encoding Flp recombination, in order to promote homologous recombination between the FRT sites and thus incorporation of the gene of interest and the Hygromycin B resistance into the host cell genome in frame. Cells with such insertions were then selected for by culturing in the presence of Hygromycin B. U2OS Flp-In cells were kindly provided by Neil Perkins.



**Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the homologous recombination between the pcDNA5 vector and Flp-In T-REX cells.** The insert within the Flp-In host cells is shown at the top. With the addition of the poG44 plasmid, the FRT sites within the pcDNA5 vector (shown in the centre) recombines with the FRT sites (dotted line) within the host cell line to produce the insert as shown at the bottom. Shown are; SV40 promoter (pSV40), start codon (ATG), Flp Recombination sites (FRT), hygromycin resistance gene (hygromycin), origin of replication (pUC ori), Ampicillin resistance gene (Amp), CMV promoter (pCMV), Tetracycline operator sequence (2X TetO2), 2X FLAG Precission protease 6X His Tag (TAG), Gene of interest (GOI), BGH polyadenylation signal (BGH pA) and fusion gene of LacZ with Zeocin resistance gene (lacZ-zeocin). Based on a figure from Invitrogen.

To generate the cell lines, the cells were grown at 37°C in growth medium in 6 well plates until 60% confluent. 9  $\mu$ l per well of FuGene6 (Promega) was mixed with 91  $\mu$ l of Opti-mem (Invitrogen) in an microfuge tube and incubated at room temperature for 5

minutes before the addition of 1.8  $\mu$ g pOG44 and 0.6  $\mu$ g pcDNA5 and a further 15 minutes of incubation. The mixture was then added to the cells in a drop-wise manner.

Cells were grown for a further 48 hours before the addition of Hygromycin B and Blasticidin S to a final concentration of 100  $\mu$ g/ml and 10  $\mu$ g/ml respectively. Colonies were allowed to form for up to a month before resuspension and testing for expression of the tagged proteins with the addition of 0-1mg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours.

### 2.4.4 Chemical treatments

Human cells were chemically treated as shown in Table 2.10 before being harvested and used for further analysis.

Drug	Concentration used	Length of treatment
ActD	5 nM	18 hours
Nutlin 3A	5 μΜ	18 hours
Deguelin	100 nM	24 hours
Arginine	10 mM	12-48 hours
L-Leucine	10 mM	12-48 hours

 Table 2.10. Final concentration of chemical treatments used in cell culture.

#### 2.4.5 Whole Cell extracts

Human cell lines were cultured as described, harvested with trypsin-EDTA and pelleted by centrifugation before snap-freezing in liquid nitrogen. For immunoprecipitation or gradient analysis, the cell pellets were resuspended in 0.5ml gradient buffer (20 mM HEPES-NaOH pH 8, 150 mM KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 5% glycerol) and sonicated for two 20 second intervals at minimum power using a Bandelin Sonopuls HD2070 ultrasonic homogeniser with a 2 mm MS72 titanium microtip. The lysate was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm at 4°c to remove insoluble material. To the lysate, Triton-X100 (0.2% (v/v) was added. For the immunoprecipitations, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> was also added and the glycerol concentration increased to 10% (v/v).

#### 2.4.6 Immunofluorescence

HEK293 or U2OS cell lines were grown on 10 mm round coverslips for 48 hours to achieve around 80% confluence prior to immunofluorescence. For the pcDNA5 transfected cell lines, cells were standardly treated with tetracycline for 48 hours prior to immunofluorescence. If RNAi was also required, cells were treated with tetracycline for 24 hours. Coverslips were washed with PBS before incubation with PBS/4% Paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes at room temperature to fix the cells. Coverslips are then washed with PBS and incubated in PBS/0.1% Triton for 15 minutes at room temperature followed by 4x PBS washes. They were then blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in PBS/10% FBS/0.1% Triton. Primary antibodies were then applied at the appropriate dilution (Table 2.11) in PBS/10%FBS (to prevent non-specific binding) /0.1% Triton for 1 hour at room temperature before 3 x quick and 3x 10 minute washes in PBS. Secondary antibodies were then applied at the appropriate dilution in PBS/10%FBS/0.1% Triton for one hour at room temperature before a repeat of the washes as per the primary antibody, with the addition of DAPI (0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, Sigma Aldrich) in the penultimate 10 minute wash.

Antibody	Raised in	Dilution for IF	Source
Alexa Fluor 555 anti-mouse	Donkey	1 in 500	Invitrogen A31570
Alexa Fluor 647 anti-rabbit	Donkey	1 in 500	Invitrogen A31573
FLAG	Rabbit	1 in 500	Sigma F7425
Fibrillarin	Mouse	1 in 50	Michael Pollard/Ger Pruijn

#### Table 2.11 Antibodies used in immunofluorescence

Coverslips were then immersed into water and ethanol before being dried and mounted using Moviol onto glass slides. Cells were analysed using a Zeiss Axiovert 200M inverted microscope with a Plan-Apochromat, 100 x / 1.40 oil DIC,  $\infty$  / 0.17 objective (Zeiss). The Zeiss filter sets used were: 02 (DAPI); 20 (Cy3); 26 (Cy5).

#### 2.4.7 Pulse labelling experiments

After the desired treatment of the cells, the media was removed and replaced with phosphate free media (Sigma-Aldrich), supplemented with 10% dialysed FBS for 1 hour. The phosphate free media was then removed and replaced with phosphate free DMEM supplemented with 10% dialysed FBS and 15µ Ci/ml <sup>32</sup>P labelled inorganic phosphate for 1 hour. The cells were washed with FBS and the media replaced with normal DMEM containing 10% FBS for 3 hours. 6 hours was used for gradient analysis for studying 5S RNA incorporation. RNA was extracted from the cells using TRI-reagent and analysed by agarose-glyoxal gel electrophoresis as previously described. The membrane is then left to expose to a phosphorimager screen. Signals were detected using a Typhoon FLA 7000 (GE healthcare).

#### 2.4.8 Glycerol Gradient analysis of 5S RNP components

Gradients were used to separate 'free' ribosomal proteins from those integrated into the ribosome. Gradients were prepared by layering 2 ml of 40% glycerol solution (40% glycerol (v/v), 0.2% Triton-X100 (v/v), 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 20 mM HEPES-NaOH [pH 7.9], 150 mM KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 1mM DTT) underneath 10% glycerol solution (10% glycerol (v/v), 0.2% Triton-X100 (v/v), 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 20 mM HEPES-NaOH [pH 7.9], 150 mM KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT) in 4ml 11x60mm Ultra-clear tubes (Beckman) and spinning at 22 rpm, 83° for 70 seconds using a Gradient Master (BioComp). Gradients were then incubated at 4°C for 1 hour. Whole cell extracts were prepared as previously described and 400µl added to the top of the gradient after the removal of 400µl gradient mix. 100µl of the whole cell extract is stored for the total. Gradients were centrifuged in a Beckman Optima L8-80 ultracentrifuge using a SW60Ti rotor for 1.5 hours at 52,000 rpm with slow acceleration and no brakes at 4°C. Gradients were fractionated into 200µl aliquots and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen.

#### 2.4.9 Cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry

Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 300g for 5 minutes before washing with PBS. The cell pellet was then resuspended in cold 70% ethanol while vortexing to ensure complete fixation of cells. Cells were either stored in ethanol at 4°C for a maximum of 48 hours or used immediately. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 300g and followed by a PBS wash and a further centrifugation at 3000g to ensure maximal cell recovery. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 50 µl 100 µg/ml RNase A followed by 200 µl Propidium Iodide (50 µg/ml). Cells were analysed for cell cycle using the FACSCanto II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

### **2.5 Protein Methods**

#### 2.5.1 SDS-PAGE

Cells were harvested and pelleted by centrifugation before being heated to 95°c for 3 minutes in protein loading dye (74 mM Tris-HCl [pH6.8], 1.25 mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 2.5% SDS, 0.125% bromophenol blue, 50mM DTT). The samples were vortexed before being loaded onto a denaturing 13% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gel with a 4% stacking gel. Gels were run for 45 minutes at 200V using the BioRad gel system in 1X Running buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3, 250 mM glycine, 0.1 % SDS (w/v)). For standard SDS-PAGE without western blot, proteins were visualised using Coomassie Blue Stain (0.1% Coomassie Blue (w/v), 40% methanol (v/v), 10% aceitic acid (v/v)) for 16 hours followed by destaining in destain (40% methanol (v/v), 10% aceitic acid (v/v)).

#### 2.5.2 Western blotting

Western blot was carried out after separation of proteins by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Protran, GE healthcare) in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM glycine, 10% methanol [pH 8.3]) using a BioRad Mini Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup>\_Cell western blotting transfer tank for 1.5 hours at 65V. The membranes were then stained using Ponceau S solution to check for the presence of proteins before blocking for one hour in blocking solution (PBS, 0.1% Triton X100 (v/v), 2% Marvel skimmed milk powder (w/v)) to prevent non-specific binding.

Antibody	Raised in	Dilution for WB	Source
FLAG	Rabbit	1 in 10,000	Sigma Aldrich- F725
Goat	Donkey	1 in 10,000	Santa Cruz- sc-2020
Karyopherin	Rabbit	1 in 500	Santa Cruz (H-300)
MDM2	Mouse	1 in 100	Cal Biochem (Ab-1) OP46
Mouse	Donkey	1 in 10,000	Santa Cruz- sc-2314
p21	Rabbit	1 in 1000	Santa Cruz- sc-397
p53	Rabbit	1 in 1000	Santa Cruz- (FL-393)
PRAS40	Rabbit	1 in 1000	Bethyl- A301-201A
Rabbit	Donkey	1 in 10,000	Santa Cruz- sc-2313
RPL10	Rabbit	1 in 100	Abcam- ab128978
RPL11	Goat	1 in 2000	Santa Cruz- sc-25931
RPL5	Rabbit	1 in 5000	Bethyl-A303-933A
RPL7	Rabbit	1 in 2000	Abcam- ab72550
SRSF1	Mouse	1 in 1000	Santa Cruz- sc-33652
α-Tubulin	Mouse	1 in 10,000	Cell Signalling (DM1A)

Table 2.12. List of antibodies used with the dilutions used in Western blotting.

Antibodies were made up in blocking solution to the desired concentration (Table 2.12) and incubated overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation. The membranes were washed (3 x 5 minutes) in wash buffer (PBS, 0.1% Triton X100 (v/v)) before the addition of the appropriate horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody diluted in blocking solution (Table 2.12). Membranes were incubated at room temperature in secondary antibody for 2-3 hours before washing (3x 5 minutes) with wash buffer. The western blots were then developed by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) solution (Pierce) and exposure to Hyperfilm (GE Healthcare) according to the

manufacturer's instructions. Quantification of western blots was carried out using ImageJ software.

#### 2.5.3 Phosphorylation gels

Phos-tag<sup>™</sup> Acrylamide (Wako) gels were made as per the manufacturers protocol with a 10% acrylamide gel for comparison. After running, the phos-tag gels were washed in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM glycine, 10% methanol [pH 8.3]) containing 1 mmol/L EDTA for 10 minutes before a second wash in standard transfer buffer without EDTA. The western blot was then treated as normal.

#### 2.5.4 Luciferase assays

Cells expressing luciferase were plated at 2x10<sup>5</sup> cells per well and incubated in growth medium at 37°C. After 48 hours the cells were harvested using the Promega luciferase assay kit per the manufacturer's specifications with Cell culture lysis buffer (Promega). The luciferase measurements were taken using a Lumat 100 luminometer (Berthold).

# 2.6 Over-expression and purification of GST-tagged proteins in *E.coli* cells

#### 2.6.1 Purification of GST-tagged proteins

GST tagged proteins were expressed in E. coli BL21 cells and used to inoculate a litre of 2X YT broth with the selective antibiotics. These cultures were grown at 37°c until an O.D<sub>600</sub> of around 0.3. A final concentration of 1mM IPTG was added and the cultures grown for a further 3-18 hours at either 37°C or 18°C. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4,000 rpm, 4°C for 30 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the pellets resuspended in GST buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 300 mM KCl, 0.1% Tween 20, 10% glycerol) before adding ½ of a protease inhibitor tablet and THP to a final concentration of 0.5 mM. The samples were sonicated on ice for 3 minutes/5 cycles/90% power to lyse the cells. The lysate was then collected by centrifugation at 18,500 rpm for 45 minutes at 4°C for 45 minutes. The pellet was discarded. 1 ml glutathione-sepharose beads were equilibrated in GST buffer before being added to the clarified lysate. These were rotated at 4°C for 2 hours. The beads were pelleted by centrifugation at 4,000 rpm at 4°C for 3 minutes before discarding the supernatant and resuspending in 50ml GST buffer and washing. After discarding the supernatant, the bead pellet was resuspended in 1.5ml GST buffer with 50 mM glutathione before

placing back on the wheel for 1hr at 4°C. The beads were pelleted by centrifugation before the supernatant containing the eluted GST-tagged proteins was taken and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen.

#### 2.6.2 Desalting

To remove glutathione from the GST-tagged proteins, the purified proteins were passed through a HiTrap desalting column (GE) on the AKTA basic (GE life sciences). The column was equilibrated using GST buffer and samples were loaded via a loop. The resulting fractions were then collected and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. To separate RNA from protein, the samples were loaded onto a 0.5ml injection loop and run through the AKTA basic using a Q-sepharose column, running a gradient from 100 mM NaCl to 1 M NaCl.

## 2.7 Interaction studies

#### 2.7.1 Glutathione-sepharose protein-RNA pull downs

Glutathione-sepharose beads were equilibrated in pull-down buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 5 mM MgCl2, 150 mM KCl, 0.1% triton, 10% glycerol, 0.5 mM DTT). Appropriate volumes of GST-tagged protein were added accordingly to the pelleted beads and the solution made up to 0.5ml with pull-down buffer. These were rotated at 4°C for 1 hour to bind the proteins. The beads were pelleted at 3,000 rpm for 3 minutes at 4°C before discarding the supernatant and washing in pull-down buffer. 0.5 ml pull-down buffer, 1  $\mu$ l tRNA and 1  $\mu$ l <sup>32</sup>P labelled RNA were added to the pelleted beads and rotated at 4°C for 1 hour. The beads were pelleted and washed before adding 0.5ml homogenisation buffer (1% SDS, 50 mM Tris HCl pH 7.6, 60 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM EDTA) to elute the bound protein-RNA complexes. A phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation were performed to extract the RNA before running on 8% or 12% acrylamide urea gels at 160V for 40 minutes. The gel was fixed in 10% aceitic acid, 40% methanol before drying using a gel drier. A phosphorimager screen was then placed over the gel and left to expose overnight before scanning on the Typhoon FLA phosphorimager (GE).

#### 2.7.2 Immunoprecipitations

10  $\mu$ l protein G-Sepharose beads or ANTI-FLAG<sup>®</sup> M2 Affinity Gel (Sigma-Aldrich A2220) per immunoprecipitation were washed thrice in IP Buffer (20 mM HEPES-NaOH pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 mM DTT, 10% glycerol (v/v), 0.1% Triton-X100 (v/v)) to equilibrate the beads. The ANTI-FLAG<sup>®</sup> M2 Affinity gel was used directly whereas the protein G-sepharose beads were resuspended in IP buffer with 5 μl mouse anti-FLAG (Sigma- F3165) antibody or a bead-only control and gently rotated on a wheel at 4°C overnight before washing thrice in IP buffer. Whole cell extracts (as previously described in section 2.2.5) were added to the prepared resins after taking a 10% total of 100μl and rotated at 4°C for 2 hours before centrifugation and washing in IP buffer to remove un-bound proteins. RNA extractions were carried out with phenol-chloroform as described previously.

For western blots, the resin was resuspended in loading buffer without DTT (74 mM Tris-HCI [pH6.8], 1.25 mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 2.5% SDS, 0.125% bromophenol blue) and heated to 95°C for 5 minutes. A final concentration of 50 mM DTT was added and western blots carried out as previously described.

## CHAPTER THREE: UNDERSTANDING THE FACTORS INVOLVED IN RECRUITING THE 5S RNP INTO THE RIBOSOME

#### **3.1 Introduction**

The ribosome is a crucial complex within both eukaryotic and prokaryotic organisms. The production of ribosomes dictates cellular proliferation (Donati et al., 2012) and requires over 200 trans-acting factors and the coordination of all three RNA polymerases (Henras et al., 2008). Ribosome biogenesis occurs in the nucleolus, a nuclear body only present within the interphase nucleus. RNA polymerase I transcribes the 5.8S, 18S and 28S rRNA in a single precursor (47S) in the nucleolus which is then processed and modified into the three separate rRNAs through multiple cleavage events whereas the 5S rRNA is transcribed by RNA polymerase III in the nucleoplasm (Leary and Huang, 2001, Nazar, 2004). The 5S rRNA forms a complex with RPL5 and RPL11 known as the 5S RNP and is the only rRNA that forms a pre-ribosomal complex with ribosomal proteins prior to integrating into the ribosome (Ciganda and Williams, 2011).

Recently, ribosome biogenesis dysfunction has been closely linked to the activation of p53. The tumour suppressor, p53, is often referred to as the 'guardian of the genome' and is deleted or inactivated in the majority of cancers. In cellular stress situations, p53 is activated and coordinates with a variety of signalling pathways that result in DNA repair, apoptosis, senescence or G1 cell cycle arrest (Ko and Prives, 1996, Timofeev et al., 2013, Sperka et al., 2012, Sugikawa et al., 1999). The main regulator of p53 is MDM2 which harbours E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, promoting the ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by targeting it to the 26S proteasome (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). In situations of cellular stress such as DNA damage or chromosomal aberrations, MDM2 is suppressed and leads to the stabilisation and activation of p53 (Michael and Oren, 2003). Many ribosomal proteins have been seen to interact with MDM2 such as RPL23, RPS7, RPL5, and RPL11 (Jin et al., 2004, Marechal et al., 1994, Lohrum et al., 2003, Chen et al., 2007) although it has been shown by two independent groups that the 5S RNP (consisting of RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S rRNA) is the critical factor in the maintenance of p53 homeostasis as well as being involved in the induction of p53

under ribosomal stress conditions (Sloan et al., 2013a, Donati et al., 2013) as summarised in Figure 3.1.

Disruptions in translation or ribosome biogenesis have been implicated in many diseases known as ribosomopathies such as DBA and 5q-syndrome. Many of these diseases have links to p53 signalling as a result of a disruption in ribosome production (Fumagalli and Thomas, 2011).



**Figure 3.1. The 5S RNP-p53 pathway.** In normal cells, p53 is targeted for proteasomal degradation by the E3 ubiquitin ligase, MDM2. The 5S RNP, consisting of RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S rRNA is incorporated into the pre-6OS subunit which then forms part of the mature 80S ribosome. When ribosome biogenesis is disrupted, the 5S RNP is not incorporated into ribosomes and is able to bind to MDM2 and activate p53. p53 signals to various pathways inducing those involved in senescence, DNA repair or apoptosis.

DBA and 5q-syndrome share many of the same symptoms such as anaemia, decreased erythroid precursors and a predisposition to cancers such as leukaemia (Quarello et al., 2010b, Vardiman et al., 2002). Almost half of all DBA patients have mutations in genes encoding ribosomal proteins, including RPL11 and RPL5, and the pathogenesis of DBA is partly attributed to the rapid proliferation of red blood cell precursors requiring a high rate of ribosome production (Zhang et al., 2011). Furthermore, defects in ribosomal proteins may lead to accumulation of p53 and thus cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in these erythroid cells (Dai and Lu, 2004). 5q-syndrome is a myelodysplastic syndrome characterised by the deletion of the long arm of chromosome 5 (Van den Berghe et al., 1974). This deleted region contains the gene encoding the ribosomal protein RPS14, a small subunit ribosomal protein (Ebert et al., 2008). Haploinsufficiency of RPS14 results in ribosome biogenesis defects (Cazzola, 2008, Galili et al., 2009) and activation of p53 (Barlow et al., 2010). Based on more recent findings that the 5S RNP regulates p53 upon disruption of ribosome biogenesis (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a), it is presumed that the 5S RNP contributes to the p53 activation in 5q-syndrome.

The regulation of the 5S RNP is therefore crucial to understanding the pathogenesis of these diseases and for the invention of novel treatment therapies. Sloan et al. (2013a) proposed that any proteins involved in the regulation of 5S RNP formation, localisation or integration were central in regulating MDM2 activity and, thus, p53 levels in the cell. However, the factors involved in 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome are not fully understood. In yeast, RPL5 and RPL11 are delivered to the nucleus and probably assembled onto the 5S rRNA by Syo1, forming the 5S RNP. Rpf2 and Rrs1 form a complex with the 5S RNP and are crucial for the recruitment of the 5S RNP into the 90S pre-ribosomes (Zhang et al., 2007, Morita et al., 2002). Upon joining the pre-ribosome, the 5S RNP docks onto helix 84 of the 25S rRNA (Rhodin et al., 2011) and is locked into conformation by the C-terminal tail of Rpf2, Rsa4 and Nsa2 to prevent any rotation (Kharde et al., 2015, Bassler et al., 2015). Rsa4 is then released from the 5S RNP by Rea1 and the 5S RNP structure is rotated by 180° in order to form the central protuberance (Bassler et al., 2015, Leidig et al., 2014).

The human homologues of Rrs1 and Rpf2, RRS1 and BXDC1, are not as crucial for 5S RNP integration, however, depletion of both proteins increased the nucleoplasmic localisation of RPL5 and RPL11 (Sloan et al., 2013a) and thus it was suggested that in humans, these proteins were involved in localisation of the 5S RNP. Interestingly, it was also found that the nucleolar protein, PICT-1, directly contacted the 5S rRNA and depletion of PICT-1 had a more profound effect on than depletion of RRS1 or BXDC1 on 5S rRNA ribosomal recruitment. This suggested that PICT-1 is a crucial factor for the 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome in human cells. The differences between yeast and human 5S RNP ribosomal integration means that there could be many more factors involved in humans that have not yet been identified.

The eukaryotic *T. thermophila* structure of the large subunit of the ribosome (Klinge et al., 2011) showed that several ribosomal proteins surround the 5S RNP within the ribosome (Figure 3.2A and B). These proteins were RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 and, as they appeared to form a 'binding pocket' for the 5S RNP, may be involved in the recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome.



**Figure 3.2. The 5S RNP 'binding pocket'**. An image of the top of the *T. thermophila* crystal structure of the large ribosomal subunit (Klinge et al., 2011) showing the position of the RPL7 (green), RPL18 (brown), RPL10 (orange), RPL21 (blue) with (A) and without (B) the 5S RNP *in situ*. The grey represents the rRNA and other ribosomal proteins. The proteins surround the 5S RNP and form a 'pocket' that may be important for the recruitment of the 5S RNP.

Interestingly, two of these proteins, RPL10 and RPL21 have been shown to mutated in disease. Mutations in RPL10 have been described in patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (T-ALL) (Keersmaecker et al., 2013). Interestingly, the RPL10 mutation found in T-ALL patients, Arg98Ser, appeared to cause ribosome biogenesis and proliferation defects in mammalian lymphoid cells. RPL10 mutations have also been linked to several neuronal diseases such as autism (Klauck et al., 2006, Chiocchetti et al., 2011, Gong et al., 2009), X-linked microcephaly (Brooks et al., 2014), and X-linked syndromic Intellectual Disability (Thevenon et al., 2015). RPL21 mutations have been reported in hereditary hypotrichosis simplex (Zhou et al., 2011). However, the link to p53 in these diseases has not been characterised.

Currently, ways to combat ribosomopathies are limited, a more in-depth understanding of 5S RNP-p53 signalling and how the 5S RNP is integrated into the ribosome could unlock new targeted ways to treat patients. This chapter aimed to identify factors that may affect integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome and thus p53 signalling through studying interactions between ribosomal proteins, rRNA and the 5S RNP.

#### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Depletion of RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 in U2OS cells

As RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 appeared to form a binding pocket for the 5S RNP based on the *T. thermophila* crystal structure (Klinge et al., 2011) it was important to investigate whether depletion of these proteins would result in a block in 5S RNP recruitment. It was necessary to first establish that siRNA transfection was successful at reducing mRNA and protein levels in cells. Therefore, U2OS cells were cultured in growth medium at 37°C post-transfection with siRNA duplexes targeting the four protein's mRNA sequences (20 μM RPL7 and RPL10 and 2 μM RPL18 and RPL21), or a control luciferase siRNA (20 μM GL2) for 48 hours.



Figure 3.3. Treatment of cells with siRNAs for RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 results in a reduction of the relevant mRNA and protein levels. (A) U2OS cells were incubated at 37°C in growth medium post-transfection with siRNA duplexes targeting RPL7, RPL10 (20  $\mu$ M), RPL18 and RPL21 (2  $\mu$ M) for 48 hours prior to harvesting, RNA extraction and RT-PCR using primers specific to the 4 ribosomal proteins and a housekeeping gene, GAPDH. The resultant PCR products were separated via agarose gel electrophoresis containing DNA stain and the cDNA signals visualised using the fluorescence setting on a Typhoon FLA imager. The signals were quantified using ImageQuant and the levels of each cDNA in both the control and the knockdowns was normalised to the GAPDH. (B+C) U2OS cells were depleted of RPL7 and RPL10 as in A. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting using RPL7 and RPL10 antibodies alongside karyopherin as a loading control. Bars in A represent the mean ± the standard deviation of the mean, n=3. Statistical analysis determined by paired t-test. NS= non-significant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p ≤ 0.001.

The RNA was extracted from the cells and reverse transcribed followed by PCR amplification using primers annealing to RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 or RPL21. GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase) primers were used as a control. The mRNA of each protein was reduced in the knockdowns compared to the control (Figure 3.3A), suggesting that the knockdown had been successful. However, it should be noted that the RPL10 siRNA appeared to have less of an effect on its target mRNA levels than the other siRNAs. It was not possible to obtain antibodies for all of the proteins, however RPL7 and RPL10 antibodies were used to show the level of knockdown at the protein level. U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium at 37°C post-transfection with 20 µM siRNA duplexes targeting RPL7, RPL10 or the control GL2 for 48 hours prior to harvesting. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted using karyopherin (loading control), RPL7, or RPL10 antibodies (Figure 3.3B). The siRNA treated cells showed a reduction in signal compared to the control when using the appropriate antibodies suggesting that the knockdowns had been successful.

## 3.2.2 Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 affects integration of the 5S rRNA into the ribosome.

In order to determine the importance RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 on the recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome, the proteins were depleted using RNAi and the 5S rRNA was analysed using glycerol gradients and northern blots.

U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium at 37°C post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M siRNA duplexes targeting RPL11, RPL7 or RPL10 or 2  $\mu$ M siRNA duplexes targeting RPL18 or RPL21 for 48 hours. In order to visualise just the newly synthesised 5S rRNA, the cells were depleted of phosphate by incubating in phosphate-free medium for 1 hour and labelled using <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate-supplemented medium, followed by a 6 hour chase with normal medium. The 6 hour chase period was selected for this experiment as 5S rRNA recruitment into the ribosome is slow (Sloan et al., 2013a) and thus to visualise recruitment, a longer time is required.

After depletion of the ribosomal proteins for 48 hours and pulse-labelling, cells were lysed and applied to a 10-40% glycerol gradient in order to separate the large and small complexes. After centrifugation, 20 fractions were taken. Based upon published data, (Sloan et al., 2013a) fractions 1-7 were combined for the smaller complexes that should contain the 'free' 5S rRNA whilst fractions 9-20 were pooled for the ribosome bound 5S rRNA. RNA was extracted from the pooled fractions and separated using an 8% acrylamide-urea gel before transferring to a nylon membrane and exposing to a phosphorimager screen (Figure 3.4A).

74



**Figure 3.4. RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 depletion results in accumulation of 'free' 5S rRNA. (A)** Gradient centrifugation of siRNA treated cells followed by northern blot with a 5S rRNA probe to reveal 'free' and 'ribosome' bound 5S rRNA. U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium post-transfection with siRNA duplexes targeting RPL7, RPL10 ( $20\mu$ M), RPL18 and RPL21 ( $2\mu$ M) for 48 hours prior to phosphate starving the cells in phosphate free medium. Cells were then incubated in <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate labelled medium for 1 hour before returning the cells to normal growth medium for 6 hours at 37°C. All incubations were carried out at 37°C. Cells were harvested and RNA extracted. The RNA was separated by acrylamide gel electrophoresis before transferring to a nylon membrane and exposing to a phosphorimager screen. **(B)** Quantification of A using densitometry analysis to show the percentage of 5S from the ribosome fractions. n=1.

In control cells, 45% of the 5S rRNA was shown in the 'ribosomal' fractions. Depletion of RPL11 resulted in a decrease in ribosomal 5S rRNA to less than 20%. Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 resulted in a similar reduction in 5S rRNA integration, with around 18-20% of the 5S rRNA in the ribosome fractions (Figure 3.4B). Depletion of RPL10, however, showed no reduction in 5S rRNA in the ribosome fractions. As the effect of depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 was similar to that of RPL11, which is crucial for the 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome (Sloan et al., 2013a), this indicated that RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 may be required for integration of the 5S rRNA into the ribosome, but that potentially RPL10 is not.

## 3.2.3 RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 are crucial for ribosome biogenesis and RPL7 and RPL18 knockdowns lead to accumulation of the 36SC precursor

Depletion of proteins that affect 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome such as PICT-1 have been shown to also result in ribosome biogenesis defects (Sloan et al., 2013a). As RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 had reduced 5S rRNA incorporation into the ribosomes, the next step was to investigate whether they were also important for ribosome biogenesis. To investigate the role of these proteins in pre-rRNA processing, pulse-labelling was utilised whereby cells were phosphate starved with phosphate free medium before the addition of <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate labelled medium and a 3 hour chase period with normal phosphate medium. This method allows for the specific evaluation of newly synthesised rRNAs. The 3 hour chase period ensures that there is enough time for the rRNAs to be processed so that each precursor can be studied.

U2OS cells were incubated at 37°C for 48 hours in growth medium post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M (RPL5, RPL7, RPL10) or 2  $\mu$ M (RPL18, RPL21) siRNA duplexes. The cells were then grown in phosphate free medium for 1 hour, followed by 1 hour incubation with labelled medium. After a three hour chase with normal growth medium, RNA was extracted from the cells and separated by glyoxal-agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 3.5A- top panel) to separate the large rRNA precursors and acrylamide-urea gel electrophoresis (bottom panel) to separate the 5S and 5.8S rRNAs. The 18S rRNA from the U.V scan of the glyoxal-agarose gel (middle panel) was used as a loading control.

In agreement with previously published data (Sloan et al., 2013a), depletion of RPL5 resulted in a severe reduction in levels of the 28S rRNA. Depletion of RPL7 showed a slight reduction in 5S production but resulted in an almost complete loss of 28S as well as reductions in 32S, 47/45S and 5.8S. Similar, but more extreme, results were observed with the RPL18 and RPL21 knockdowns. The depletion of RPL18 resulted in an almost complete loss of 47/45S, 32S, 28S and 5.8S, with an additional reduction in 18S production. RPL21 depletion resulted in reduction in 28S and 5.8S and an accumulation of 32S, suggesting a defect in cleavage of the 32S precursor into the 28S and 5.8S rRNAs.

Furthermore, rRNA precursors were studied using cell extracts and northern blotting to see whether any further defects could be detected (Figure 3.5B). RNA from knockdown cells was extracted and separated via glyoxal-agarose gels before transferring to a nylon membrane. The northern blots were probed using an Internal Transcribed Spacer 1 (ITS1) probe (Figure 3.5C), which hybridises to small subunit precursors and early large subunit precursors. In all of the northern blot analysis, the 18S RNA, visible from U.V scanning of the gel prior to transfer, was used as a loading control.

76



**Figure 3.5. RPL7**, **RPL18** and **RPL21** knockdowns affect ribosome biogenesis. (A) Pulse-labelling of knockdowns. U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium containing RPL5, RPL7, RPL10 (20μM), RPL18 and RPL21 siRNA duplexes for 48 hours at 37°C before the addition of phosphate free medium for 1 hour. <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate labelled medium was then introduced into the cells for 1 hour before a 3 hour chase with normal media to allow for rRNA processing to occur. RNA was extracted and separated via Agarose-glyoxal (top panels) and acrylamide-urea (bottom panel) gels and transferred to nylon membranes. The membranes were exposed to phosphorimager screens and visualised via phopshorimaging. (B) Northern blot showing the effect of RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL10 knockdowns in U2OS cells. Cells were in treated with siRNAs for 48 hours prior to harvesting, RNA extraction and separation of the RNAs with a glyoxal-agarose gel. The RNAs were transferred to a nylon membrane via northern blotting and incubated with the ITS1 probe to look at the large subunit rRNA precursors. (C) Schematic representation of the rRNA precursors showing the location of the where the ITS1 probe hybridises. The precursors that ITS1 probe hybridises to, seen in A are shown in black. N=3

The RPL18 and RPL21 knockdowns appeared to severely affect the cells, leading to reduced cell numbers and thus it was difficult to get RNA from these cells. Taking into account differences in loading, depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 resulted in accumulation of the early precursors (47/45S, 41S and 36S). Interestingly, the RPL21 knockdown showed a great increase in the 30S precursor whereas depletion of the other proteins did not. RPL7 and RPL18 depletion resulted in an accumulation of the 36SC precursor, suggesting that the 36S is not properly cleaved into the 32S in the absence of RPL7 and RPL18. These results, taken in conjunction with the pulse-labelling data, imply that these proteins are required for rRNA processing.

## 3.2.4 Knockdowns of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 but not RPL10 induce p53 via the 5S RNP

The data presented in 3.2.3 highlighted the possibility that knockdown of RPL7, RPL18, or RPL21 may prevent integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome. When the 5S RNP is not incorporated into ribosomes, it is free to contact MDM2 and thus stabilise p53, therefore the effect of knockdowns of the ribosomal proteins were investigated to determine whether they resulted in accumulation of p53 in a 5S RNP-mediated manner.

U2OS cells were transfected with GL2, RPL7, RPL10, ( $20\mu$ M) RPL18 or RPL21 ( $2\mu$ M) siRNA duplexes alone or in combination with an RPL5 siRNA duplex. The cells were harvested after 48 hours, separated via SDS-PAGE and then western blotted (Figure 3.6A). Antibodies raised against p53, p21, and MDM2 were utilised, and an  $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody was used as a loading control. The western blots revealed that depletion of RPL7, RPL18, or RPL21 increased the levels of p53 and its downstream target, p21 as well as MDM2. These inductions were abolished upon co-depletion of RPL5, suggesting that this p53 induction was 5S RNP dependent. RPL10 depletion showed little change in p53 levels.

78





Whilst the increase in p21 levels suggested an increase in p53 transcriptional activity, it was decided to analyse this further by directly measuring p53 transcriptional activity as p21 can be activated independently of p53 (Macleod et al., 1995). Therefore, U2OS cells stably expressing a p53-regulated luciferase reporter were utilised. As in Figure 3.6A, the siRNA duplexes alone or in combination with RPL5 were transfected into U2OS cells. The cells were harvested after 48 hours, lysed, and analysed for luciferase activity (Figure 3.6B). As seen with the western blots, depletion of RPL7, RPL18, or RPL21 resulted in an increase in luciferase levels, which was decreased to near-basal

levels upon knockdown of RPL5, indicating that depletion of RPL7, RPL18, or RPL21 resulted in an increase in p53 activity in an RPL5 dependent manner. RPL10 showed no significant increase in luciferase and thus did not result in an increase in p53 activity, thus suggesting that RPL10 depletion does not induce p53 via the 55 RNP.

## 3.2.5 Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 result in an accumulation of cells in G1 in an RPL5-dependent manner.

As RPL5-dependent p53 induction and activation of p21 upon knockdown of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 was observed, it was next important to establish whether this affected cell cycle progression. p21, also known as cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1, is a cell cycle regulator that, when activated, often results in G1 arrest (Deng et al., 1995, Waldman et al., 1995). RPL21 depletion resulted in too few cells for flow cytometric analysis and thus only RPL7 and RPL18 depletions were analysed.

U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M (RPL5, RPL7) or 2  $\mu$ M (RPL18) siRNA duplexes before fixing in ice cold ethanol, staining with propidium iodide and analysing by flow cytometry, gating on the live population (Figure 3.7 A-F). Unfortunately, the RPL5 depletion and the RPL5/RPL18 co-depletion were toxic to cells and thus resulted in very low cell numbers (figure 3.7B and F). However, they resulted in consistent results over 3 experiments.

The number of cells at each stage in the cell cycle were taken as a percentage and were represented in a graph (Figure 3.7G) which revealed that RPL7 and RPL18 depletion resulted in an accumulation of cells at GO/G1. Interestingly, RPL5 depletion gave a small, but significant accumulation of cells in G2 (t test, p= 0.0281). When RPL5 was co-depleted with RPL7 and RPL18, it was revealed that RPL5 depletion counteracted the GO/G1 arrest seen in the single knockdowns and, instead, resulted in a slight accumulation of cells in G2. This suggested that RPL5 was required for the accumulation of cells in G1 seen with the RPL7 and RPL18 depletions.

80



**Figure 3.7. RPL7 and RPL18 knockdowns give an RPL5 dependent accumulation of cells in G1. (A-F)** Cell cycle analysis using propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry in cells depleted of the ribosomal proteins.U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium containing  $20\mu$ M (RPL5, RPL7) or  $2\mu$ M (RPL18) siRNA duplexes at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 48 hours. The cells were harvested and fixed in ice cold ethanol before the addition of propidium iodide and RNAse before flow cytometric analysis. The forward scatter (FSC) was plotted against the side scatter (SSC) and the live population of cells was gated on as shown in blue. (G) Graphical representation of the proportion of cells at each stage of the cell cycle from E-F. Bars in G represent the means  $\pm$  the standard deviation of the means, n=3. NS= non-significant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p ≤ 0.001.

#### 3.2.6 In vitro binding assays to show RPL11/28S rRNA interactions

Integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome in yeast requires the 5S RNP to dock onto helix 84 of the 25S rRNA (28S in humans) (Rhodin et al., 2011). From investigation into the crystal structure of *T. thermophila (Klinge et al., 2011)*, it appeared that the region where RPL11 and 28S rRNA interaction occurred overlapped with the site of MDM2 and RPL11 interactions. This raised questions as to whether RPL11 binding to this region of the 28S rRNA could block interactions between RPL11 and MDM2. Therefore, recombinant RPL11 and RPL5 were expressed in purified from *E. coli* cells and 28S rRNA fragments were transcribed *in vitro* in order to test the interactions between them.

#### 3.2.6.1 Creation of rRNA fragments

There were two different rRNA species that were tested for binding to RPL5 and RPL11. As the 5S rRNA is part of the 5S RNP complex with RPL5 and RPL11, the 5S rRNA was used as a control rRNA. A full length transcript of the 5S rRNA was transcribed, using cDNA extracts from U2OS cells as a template, and labelled with <sup>32</sup>P for use in pull-down experiments.

The area of the 28S that appeared to contact RPL11 in the same region as MDM2 consisted of helices 83-85 (Figure 3.8A). In order to test binding to RPL11, two different fragments of the helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA were created (Figure 3.8B). One fragment contained helix 84, a small 20bp fragment (Figure 3.8-green), whilst the other was a larger 57bp fragment consisting of helices 83-85 (Figure 3.8- purple). Both fragments were transcribed in vitro using cDNA reverse transcribed, using U2OS cell RNA extracts as a template, and labelled with <sup>32</sup>P for use in interaction studies.



**Figure 3.8. The 28S rRNA contacts RPL11 in the ribosome. (A)** Cryo-EM structures from the human ribosome (Khatter et al., 2015) showing the helix 83-85 region of the 28S rRNA in contact with the 5S RNP. The two 28S fragments, 28S-1 and 28S-2 are denoted in green and purple, respectively. **(B)** A diagrammatic representation of the 28S rRNA secondary structure denoting the 28S region of interest.

*3.2.6.2 Purification of RPL5 and RPL11 proteins to use in pull-down experiments E. coli* cells were transfected with pGEX6p1 plasmids encoding GST-tagged RPL5 and RPL11 and grown in 2X YT broth at 37°C until an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.3. After the cells had grown to the desired density, a final concentration of 1mM IPTG was added for 18 hours at 18°C. The cells were harvested, lysed and then purified using glutathione-sepharose beads. It was consistently found that RPL5 was more difficult to purify and generally gave a much less concentrated protein than RPL11 (Figure 3.9A). A much larger volume of culture was therefore required to purify usable amounts of RPL5 than RPL11.

Anion-exchange chromatography was used to further purify the two proteins. Both proteins did not bind to the resin and were found in the flow-through as shown for RPL5 (Figure 3.9B) as the first peak. For RPL5, a second peak was seen, eluting at approximately 500 mM NaCl. As the 260nm level was greater than the 280nm level, it was presumed that this peak was RNA and suggested that RPL5 purified bound to *E. coli* RNA. RPL5 could not be suitably purified using this approach and was found to be unstable after being run through the anion exchange column (Figure 3.9D). It was previously reported that little or no RNA co-purified with *X. laevis* RPL5 over-expressed in *E. coli* when a much shorter induction time was used (Scripture and Huber, 1995). Therefore, *E. coli* cells expressing RPL5 were induced for 3 hours at 37°C before harvesting and purifying proteins. Anion exchange chromatography of the purified proteins revealed that RPL5 not retained on the column and eluted as the first peak.



**Figure 3.9. Protein purifications of RPL5 and RPL11. (A)** *E.coli* BL21 cells transformed with plasmids for GST-tagged RPL5 and RPL11 were induced with 1 mM IPTG for 18 hours at 18°c before harvesting the cells. The cells were lysed and the lysates incubated with glutathione sepharose to purify the GST-tagged proteins. Samples were taken pre- and post-IPTG induction and run on a 13% SDS-PAGE gel together with the final, purified protein. (B) The chromatograph (254nm) of RPL5 from an anion exchange column. *E. coli* cells were grown and the proteins purified as in (A). The purified protein samples were applied to an anion exchange column. A large RNA peak can be seen with a fairly small protein peak. (C) As in B but the *E. coli* cells were grown for 3 hours at 37°c post-induction with IPTG. (D) Analysis of protein containing fractions from D on a coomassie stained SDS-PAGE gel. Fractions A2-A4 represent the first peak whilst B11-B7 represent the second. (E) The final purified products of RPL5 and RPL11 for use in interaction studies after anion exchange and then applying the sample to a desalting column.

Furthermore, the second peak, eluting at approximately 500 mM NaCl was significantly reduced, (Figure 3.9C). This implied that significantly less RNA co-purified with RPL5 and that this was a better approach for obtaining RNA-free RPL5. Therefore, these methods were employed for purification of GST-RPL5 for further experimentation. The final resultant purified GST-RPL5 and GST-RPL11 can be seen in Figure 3.9E.

# 3.2.7 RPL11 directly binds helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA but not the 5S rRNA

In order to investigate whether RPL11 was able to directly bind the 5S rRNA, equal amounts of the purified GST-tagged RPL5 or RPL11 were bound to glutathione-sepharose beads before the addition of the <sup>32</sup>P labelled 5S rRNA, 28S-1 (helix 84) or 28S-2 (helix 83-85) fragments.



**Figure 3.10. RPL11 directly binds to helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA.** Protein-RNA interaction study using recombinant human proteins purified from *E. coli*. Tip49, RPL5 or RPL11-GST plasmids were transfected into E. coli BL21 cells. The cells were grown and induced with IPTG to induce expression of the GST-tagged proteins. After lysis, glutathione sepharose was incubated with the lysate to bind the GST-tagged proteins. The proteins underwent further purification via anion exchange and desalting. The purified proteins were bound to glutathione-sepharose. Three rRNA species (55, 28S-1 and 28S-2) were transcribed *in vitro* and labelled with <sup>32</sup>P before incubating with the bead and protein mixture. Any unbound RNA was washed off before eluting the bound protein/RNA followed by RNA extraction. Denaturing acrylamide-urea gels were utilised to separate the proteins before drying the gels and exposing to phosphorimager screens.

TATA binding protein-interacting protein of 49kDa (Tip49) protein extracts were provided by Dr. Katherine Sloan and used as a control protein as Tip49 was previously demonstrated to not bind RNA (McKeegan et al., 2009). Bound RNAs were isolated and then analysed by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (8% acrylamide-urea gels (28S-2 and 5S) or 12% acrylamide-urea gels (28S-1). The gels were fixed, dried and exposed to a phosphorimager screen.

Tip49 did not bind the 5S rRNA, suggesting specificity of binding. RPL5 consistently showed direct binding to the 5S rRNA (Figure 3.5). However, RPL11 did not bind to the 5S rRNA, suggesting that it is not able to directly bind to the 5S rRNA. This suggests

that there may be an induced fit change in the structure of the 5S rRNA upon RPL5 binding that then allows RPL11 to bind.

RPL11 was bound to the full helix 83-85 (as described in Figure. 3.8) 28S-2, the larger of the two fragments but not the smaller (helix 84) fragment (Figure 3.5). This implied that either helix 84 did not contain the region for binding to RPL11 or that the small rRNA fragment did not fold correctly for binding- although it was not clear which.

#### 3.3 Discussion

Understanding how the 5S RNP is recruited into the ribosome is vital to understanding p53 regulation. This chapter aimed to address this issue by looking at 4 ribosomal proteins and a fragment of the 28S rRNA to see how they interact with the 5S RNP and, in the case of the ribosomal proteins, how this affects p53 signalling in U2OS cells.

Based on the crystal structure of the T. thermophila ribosome, RPL7, RPL10, RPL18, and RPL21 were identified as proteins that may be involved in 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome due to their close proximity to the 5S RNP. Ribosomal proteins are known to be required for many different stages of rRNA processing (O'Donohue et al., 2010) although at present very little information is available on the roles of RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 in ribosome biogenesis. However, in S. cerevisiae, depletion of RPL7 showed a decrease in the levels of 28S with an accumulation of the 45S and 41S rRNA precursors. Furthermore, it is thought that RPL7, along with RPL8, might be necessary for the association and function of the A<sub>3</sub> assembly factors in yeast (Jakovljevic et al., 2012). Therefore, in this chapter, knockdowns of RPL7, RPL10, RPL18, and RPL21 were performed and analysed by northern blot analysis and pulse-chase labelling to determine the rRNA processing defects and whether the same defects were shown as described previously. The data showed that depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 resulted in ribosome biogenesis defects (Figure 3.5). RPL7 and RPL18 depletion resulted in the accumulation of the 36SC precursor in the RPL7 and RPL18 knockdowns (Figure 3.5B). This precursor is not usually found in cells and indicates a defect in site 2 cleavage (Sloan et al., 2013b), as shown in Figure 3.11. As site 2 in humans is thought to be equivalent to the A<sub>3</sub> cleavage site in yeast (Sloan et al., 2013b), this supports previous findings that RPL7 is required for the functioning of the  $A_3$  factors (Jakovljevic et al., 2012). Furthermore, the RPL21 knockdowns resulted in reduction in 28S and

86
5.8S but an accumulation in 32S (Figure 3.5). This could be attributed to a defect in ITS2 cleavage, resulting in a lack of cleavage between the 5.8S and 28S rRNAs (as shown in Figure 3.11). This supports recent findings in yeast that RPL7 and RPL18 are both involved early in ribosome biogenesis whilst RPL21 is a later acting factor (Gamalinda et al., 2014). Interestingly, depletion of RPL10 showed no rRNA processing defects. However, it was previously reported that the RPL10 mutation, R98S, caused ribosome biogenesis and proliferation defects in mammalian lymphoid cells (Keersmaecker et al., 2013). Therefore, further experimentation is required to fully understand the role of RPL10 in ribosome biogenesis.





These data, taken together, suggest that RPL7 and RPL18 are required for site 2 cleavage in ITS1 to separate the large and small subunit rRNAs, whilst RPL21 is required for cleavages in ITS2 to separate the 5.8S and 28S rRNAs. This data provides a novel insight into the role of these ribosomal proteins in large subunit rRNA processing, helping to unravel the complicated human rRNA processing pathway.

5S RNA incorporation into the ribosomes is an important step as disruptions to this process result in the activation of p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a). Currently it is known in yeast that Syo1 transports RPL5 and RPL11 into the nucleus and acts as an assembly platform for the 5S RNP (Calvino et al., 2015). Rpf2 and Rrs1 then chaperone the complete 5S RNP complex into the ribosome (Kharde et al., 2015, Madru et al., 2015, Morita et al., 2002, Zhang et al., 2007) where RPL11 docks onto the 25S rRNA (Rhodin et al., 2011) and the 5S RNP is locked into conformation by Rpf2, Rsa4 and Nsa2 to prevent any rotation (Kharde et al., 2015, Bassler et al., 2015). The final stage of 5S RNP incorporation relies on the removal of Rsa4 from the 5S RNP which allows for the rotation of the structure by 180° to produce the 5S RNP conformation found in mature

ribosomes (Bassler et al., 2015, Leidig et al., 2014). However, in humans the homologues of Rrs1 and Rpf2, RRS1 and BXDC1, are not associated with the 5S RNP outside of pre-ribosomes and depletion of RRS1 and BXDC1 has little effect on 5S RNP recruitment (Sloan et al., 2013a). However it was shown that depletion of the nucleolar protein, PICT-1 had a much greater effect on 5S RNP recruitment (Sloan et al., 2013a). Therefore, this suggests that the 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome differs between yeast and ribosomes and thus it was important to investigate this further. The data presented in this chapter offers the possibility that RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21, but not RPL10, are required for integration of the 5S rRNA into the ribosome (Figure 3.4). As these factors severely affect large subunit production (Figure 3.5), it was unsurprising that they resulted in a defect in 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome. However, it had been previously demonstrated that factors involved in large subunit production do not all have the same effect on 5S rRNA incorporation into the ribosome. Depletion of PICT-1, RRS1, or RPL11 had a similar effects on large subunit production but depletion of RPL11 and PICT-1 had a much stronger influence on 5S rRNA integration into the ribosome than that of RRS1 (Sloan et al., 2013a). As the data presented in this chapter showed that depletion of RPL7, RPL18, or RPL21 have a profound effect on large subunit production and have a similar effect on 5S rRNA incorporation into the ribosomes to that of RPL11, this suggests that these proteins may be affecting 5S RNP integration directly. Therefore, it is possible that the 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome requires interactions with RPL7, RPL18, RPL21 and the 28S rRNA as a binding pocket.

Depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21, but not RPL10 resulted in RPL5-dependent p53 accumulation in the cells. This suggests that accumulation of 'free' 5S RNP, as a result of the depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21, results in p53 activation. Furthermore, RPL7 and RPL18 depletion resulted in an accumulation of cells in G1/G0 which is consistent with p53 activation (Lin et al, 1992). The data in this chapter, therefore, suggests that depletion of RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21, by decreasing 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome (Figure 3.4) and affecting ribosome biogenesis (Figure 3.5), induce p53, leading to a cell cycle defect with cells accumulating in G1.

Interestingly, RPL5 depletion resulted in an accumulation of cells in G2. It was previously shown in yeast that depletion of ribosomal proteins leads to either G1 or G2

arrest (Thapa et al, 2013) whilst in mouse embryonic stem cells, haploinsufficiency of RPL5 resulted in delayed G2 progression (Singh et al., 2014). However this is conflicting with Teng et al. (2013) who demonstrated that depletion of RPL5 had no effect on cell cycle progression. The data in this study (Figure 3.7) is in agreement with Singh et al. (2014) that a reduction in RPL5 leads to delayed G2 progression, although the mechanisms behind this are, at current, unknown. Investigation of the factors involved in this G2 arrest could help to uncover new treatments for patients with mutations in RPL5 and RPL11.

Whilst depletion of RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21 all affected 5S RNP integration into the ribosome and induced p53, depletion of RPL10 did not. RPL10 has been shown to be to be a late-acting ribosome biogenesis factor that is recruited in the cytoplasm in yeast (Johnson et al., 2002, Nguyen et al., 1998, Gamalinda et al., 2014) and it was demonstrated that depletion of Rpf2/Rrs1 prevented RPL10 association with pre-ribosomes (Zhang et al., 2007) suggesting that RPL10 recruitment occurs after 5S RNP integration, which may offer an explanation for why RPL10 did not affect 5S RNP integration. Furthermore, the RPL10 knockdown (Figure 3.3) did not appear to be as efficient as the knockdown for RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21 and thus it must be taken into consideration that this may affect the downstream results. Therefore, if a more efficient knockdown could be attained and the same results were seen, this would help to support the findings in this chapter.

The human ribosome structure has been solved during the course of this project (Khatter et al, 2015) and shows some differences in the binding pocket (Figure 3.12). In human ribosomes, RPL7 makes less contact with the 5S RNP, which may explain why the RPL7 depletions had less of an impact on p53 signalling than the RPL21 or RPL18 depletions. RPL18 makes the most contact around the 5S RNP, possibly contributing to the larger impact on p53 levels. As it was also shown that, in yeast, the 5S RNP rotates upon incorporation into the ribosome (Leidig et al., 2014), this suggests that the position of the complex in the mature ribosome is not the same at the time of incorporation. However, despite this, the data presented in this chapter suggests that RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 may play a role in recruitment of the 5S RNP, therefore suggesting that the 5S RNP requires contact with RPL7, RPL18, RPL21 and the 28S rRNA for its integration into the ribosome. It would be beneficial in the future to be able to investigate whether RPL7, RPL18 or RPL21 are mutated in any diseases as this may implicate p53 in the pathogenesis of these conditions. Therefore, published array data could be analysed to detect any changes in the levels of those proteins in various conditions.



**Figure 3.12 The cryo-EM structure of the human ribosome showing the RNP and the surrounding ribosomal proteins.** Top view of the human ribosome structure showing the 4 ribosomal proteins, RPL7, RPL10, RPL18 and RPL21 with **(A)**, or without **(B)**, the 5S RNP. The 5S rRNA is shown in white, RPL5 in red and RPL11 in purple. RPL18 is brown, RPL7 is green, RPL21 is blue, RPL10 is orange and the 28S rRNA is in grey.

The second part of this chapter investigated the ability of RPL11 to bind to the 28S rRNA. As previously described, the 5S RNP docks onto helix 84 of the 25S/28S rRNA upon integration into the ribosome (Rhodin et al., 2011). By analysis of the *T*. *thermophila* ribosome crystal structure (Klinge et al., 2011) it was noted that the 28S appeared to contact RPL11 in the same region that MDM2 binds (Zhang et al., 2011). Upon investigation, it was found that helices 83-85 of the 28S rRNA (Figure 3.8) bind directly to GST-RPL11 (Figure 3.10). Helix 84 alone did not bind to GST-RPL11, implying that it is either missing the crucial binding region or that it does not fold correctly. This could be an important finding as helix 83-85 could potentially be used therapeutically to block 5S RNP-mediated p53 induction. During the course of this project, the structure of the RPL11-MDM2 complex was solved (Zheng et al., 2015) and the authors demonstrated that the binding of the 28S rRNA to RPL11 and MDM2 was mutually exclusive (Figure 3.13), further supporting the data in this body of research.



**Figure 3.13 The binding of the 28S rRNA and MDM2 to RPL11 are mutually exclusive. (A)** Interaction between the 5S RNP and MDM2. Cryo-EM structure from the human ribosome (Khatter et al., 2015) superimposed with the MDM2-RPL11 structure (Zheng et al., 2015). RPL5 is shown in red, RPL11 in purple and the 5S rRNA in white. MDM2 is shown in blue with the lighter shade representing the zinc finger domain and the dark blue the acidic domain. (B) As in A but with the 28S rRNA-5S RNP interaction in the ribosome. The 28S rRNA is shown in grey. **(C)** A combination of A+B to show overlapping regions.

An interesting observation from this study was that GST-RPL11, under the conditions used, appeared to be unable to bind the 5S rRNA. However, GST-RPL5 was shown to bind the 5S rRNA. This suggested that, as RPL5 and RPL11 are both known to bind the 5S rRNA in the RNP but not each other, RPL11 may require RPL5 binding first in order to bind the complex. This could be an important factor for the formation of the 5S RNP as there may be mechanisms in place to regulate these binding steps. Furthermore, it suggested that RPL5 may induce a conformational change in 5S upon binding that then allows for the binding of RPL11. Interestingly, it was demonstrated in *X. laevis* that the binding of RPL5 to the 5S rRNA caused structural changes in the region of the rRNA that binds RPL11 (Scripture and Huber, 2011) and thus my data may support these findings.

This work has revealed many insights into how the 5S RNP is recruited into the ribosome and has laid a foundation for future research. It was shown that the helix 83-85 of the 28S rRNA is able to bind to RPL11 and thus it would be interesting to test the hypothesis that this rRNA fragment can prevent RPL11 binding to MDM2 *in vitro*. In addition, introduction of this rRNA fragment into cells to attempt to block MDM2/RPL11 interactions could provide a novel way to prevent p53 induction in cells. Furthermore, the data presented in this chapter has shown that RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 are ribosome biogenesis factors, involved in ITS1 and ITS2 processing respectively, that are required for integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome.

### CHAPTER FOUR: INVESTIGATION INTO THE ROLE OF SRSF1 AND PRAS40 AS POTENTIAL REGULATORS OF THE 5S RNP-P53 PATHWAY

#### 4.1 Introduction

Ribosomes are essential for the translation of mRNA into proteins and the production of ribosomes dictates cell growth, proliferation and differentiation (Rudra and Warner, 2004, Warner, 1999b, Sulic et al., 2005, Thomas, 2000). As ribosomes are crucial to the survival of cells, ribosome biogenesis is tightly regulated. When ribosome biogenesis is disrupted, one mechanism the cell has to protect itself is activation of the tumour suppressor, p53. Induction of p53 triggers pathways involved in DNA damage repair, cell cycle arrest, senescence, and apoptosis (Ko and Prives, 1996, Timofeev et al., 2013, Sperka et al., 2012, Sugikawa et al., 1999). In normal, unstressed cells, MDM2 polyubiquitinates p53 and targets it for the degradation by the 26S proteasome (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). Furthermore, p53 is regulated by ARF which binds to, inactivates, and promotes degradation of MDM2 (Zhang et al., 1998), thus inducing p53.

One component of the large subunit, the 5S RNP (Figure 4.1A), has been shown to play a crucial role in the regulation of p53 in cells. The 5S RNP has been shown to activate p53 through interaction with MDM2 and ARF, the process of which is summarised in Figure 4.1B. Many ribosomal proteins have been shown to bind to MDM2 (Zhang and Lu, 2009). However, it has since been established that the 5S RNP-MDM2 interactions are crucial for p53 regulation. Depletion of any of the 3 components of the 5S RNP were able to counteract the effects on p53 as a result of Actinomycin D (ActD) treatment to cells (Bhat et al., 2004, Dai and Lu, 2004, Sloan et al., 2013a, Bursac et al., 2012, Donati et al., 2013). ActD is a drug that activates p53 by selectively inhibiting Pol I transcription, preventing transcriptional elongation (Sobell, 1985) and thus induces ribosomal stress to cells as RNA Pol I transcribes the 5.8S, 18S and 28S ribosomal RNAs but, crucially, not the 5S rRNA. As the 5S RNP components were crucial for ActDinduced p53 activation, this suggested that the 5S RNP is involved in activating p53 in ribosomal stress situations. Furthermore, it has recently been demonstrated that the 5S RNP is crucial for the normal homeostasis of p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a) as well as for the activation of p53 during ribosomal stress (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a).

In addition to activating p53 by interacting with MDM2, one other way that the 5S RNP regulates p53 signalling is through the tumour suppressor, ARF. ARF binds to and inhibits MDM2, allowing for p53 activation (Honda and Yasuda, 1999) and it has been recently shown that 5S RNP is essential for the full activity of ARF (Sloan et al., 2013a). As ARF expression inhibits ribosome biogenesis (Bertwistle et al., 2004, Itahana et al., 2003), this suggested that ARF is able to activate p53 by both directly binding to MDM2 and also by increasing the amount of non-ribosomal 5S RNP by disrupting ribosome biogenesis. All of these data taken together showed the 5S RNP to be a vital link between cell proliferation and ribosome production.



**Figure 4.1 The role of the 5S RNP in p53 signalling** (A) The surface view of the structure of the 5S RNP from the human ribosome cryo-EM structure (Khatter et al., 2015). The 5S RNP is composed of the 5S rRNA (white) with the ribosomal proteins RPL5 (red) and RPL11 (purple). (B) The current proposed pathway for the interactions between the 5S RNP and p53. Ribosome defects lead to accumulation of the 5S RNP which can bind to MDM2. MDM2 is a negative regulator of p53 but in the presence of the 5S RNP, the suppression is lost and p53 activated. ARF is a suppressor of MDM2 that can also be activated by the 5S RNP to further activate p53.

Defective ribosome production and, consequently, the activation of p53, can lead to diseases known as ribosomopathies and so a greater understanding of 5S RNP signalling may lead to potential new therapies for these diseases. One ribosomopathy is Diamond Blackfan Anaemia (DBA) which is characterized by a severe reduction in erythroid precursor cells due to apoptosis or a failure to differentiate (Quarello et al., 2010a). Almost half of all DBA patients have haploinsufficiency mutations in the ribosomal protein genes of which some of these are in RPL11 or L5. 70% of patients

with physical malformations carry RPL5 and RPL11 mutations. Generally, RPL5 mutations are linked to very severe forms of DBA and can lead to thumb defects, cleft lip and/or palate which are not seen with other DBA mutations (Quarello et al., 2010a, Gazda et al., 2008).

One explanation for the pathogenesis of DBA is that defects in ribosomal proteins may lead to accumulation of p53 and thus cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in erythroid cells (Dai and Lu, 2004). However, the mechanisms behind the pathogenesis of DBA with patients harbouring RPL5 and RPL11 mutations is less understood. It has been demonstrated that RPL11 expression in erythroleukaemic cells caused activation of STAT5 which acts as a promoter of angiogenesis (Kummalue et al., 2015). This suggested that RPL11 may be involved in the regulation of erythroid cell proliferation. However there is a need for a greater understanding of the pathogenesis of DBA as there are few effective treatments available apart from blood transfusions and bone marrow transplants.

One further treatment of DBA is with L-leucine. L-leucine was suggested due to the links with ribosome production defects and translational inefficacy in DBA patients as amino acids have been shown to regulate translation through mTOR signalling (Kimball and Jefferson, 2006). Initial tests in zebrafish and mice models of DBA resulted in an improvement in their anaemia upon L-leucine treatment (Boultwood et al., 2013, Jaako et al., 2012, Payne et al., 2012). In patient trials within 6 months the patients became transfusion independent and showed increased erythroid differentiation (Pospisilova et al., 2007). L-leucine is able to trigger the mTOR pathway (Lynch, 2001, Gran and Cameron-Smith, 2011) which has recently been closely linked to the 5S RNP via the proline-rich AKT Substrate of 40kDa (PRAS40) (Havel et al., 2014). Investigation of this link may further the understanding of the regulation of the 5S RNP and make treatment of DBA more effective.

PRAS40, also known as AKT1S1, is a protein that was first identified as AKT substrate that, when phosphorylated by AKT, is able bind to the scaffold protein, 14-3-3 (Kovacina et al., 2003). One of the major pathways that PRAS40 is important for is the regulation of mTORC1. mTORC1 is a complex of the mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR), Raptor and mammalian lethal with SEC13 protein 8 (mLST8) that promotes cell growth in response to growth signals (Kim et al., 2003, Kim et al., 2002, Fonseca et al., 2007). One way that mTORC1 is regulated via AKT is through PRAS40. When PRAS40 is non-phosphorylated, it binds to Raptor and inhibits mTORC1s kinase activity. In the presence of growth factors, PRAS40 is phosphorylated by mTORC1 and AKT, dissociates from Raptor and results in the activation of mTORC1 (Thedieck et al., 2007, Fonseca et al., 2007).



**Figure 4.2 Summary of the current knowledge of the involvement of PRAS40 and SRSF1 in p53 signalling.** PRAS40 is known to interact with RPL11, preventing its interaction with MDM2. MDM2 polyubiquitinates p53 and targets it for proteasomal degradation, thus inactivating p53. SRSF1 interacts with RPL5 and MDM2 to block the ubiquitin ligase activity of MDM2, thus activating p53 and triggering senescence.

Havel et al. (2014) demonstrated, by immunoprecipitation, that nuclear PRAS40 was able to bind RPL11 and that this binding was dependent upon the phosphorylation of PRAS40 via mTORC1 and AKT at residues S221 and T246. Due to the nuclear nature of this binding, it was suggested that PRAS40-RPL11 complex does not occur within ribosomes. Further to this, it was shown that PRAS40 depletion in U2OS cells lead to an increase in p53 protein levels in an RPL11 dependent manner. When ActD was used at levels that increase p53 via the 5S-RNP pathway in conjunction with PRAS40 depletion, PRAS40 knockdown was found to have an additive effect suggesting that the two pathways were linked. It was hypothesised that PRAS40 may block RPL11 translocation from the nucleoli to the nucleoplasm and thus prevents its interaction with MDM2 as summarised in Figure 4.2. Interestingly, the complex containing RPL11 and PRAS40 was found to have a high molecular weight of between 300-700kDa and thus it was hypothesised that this could contain other unidentified proteins. Questions, therefore, arise as to whether these proteins could be the other 5S RNP components.



**Figure 4.3 The role of PRAS40 and SRSF1 in the regulation of translation via mTORC1.** Schematic representation of the two pathways SRSF1 regulates translation. The first pathway is indicated by black arrows. SRSF1 interacts with mTORC1 and results in phosphorylation of S6K and 4E-BP. Phosphorylation of S6K promotes ribosome biogenesis whilst phosphorylation of 4E-BP results in enhanced translation. The second pathway is indicated by green arrows. SRSF1 results in the generation of an alternatively spliced S6K variant that is able to upregulate mTOR and increase translation through the inhibition of 4E-BP. PRAS40 binds to and inhibits mTORC1, resulting in decreased ribosome biogenesis and translation.

Whilst PRAS40 may be suppressing the 5S RNP pathway, a potential activator of the pathway has also been identified. Serine/Arginine rich Splicing Factor 1 (SRSF1, also known as Alternative Splicing Factor- ASF) was shown to interact with RPL5 and induce p53. SRSF1 is an alternative splicing factor involved in a variety of different cellular processes such as chromatin remodelling (Loomis et al., 2009), translation (Michlewski et al., 2008), and mRNA surveillance (Zhang and Krainer, 2004). SRSF1 is upregulated in cancers such as breast cancer and over-expression of SRSF1 is able to trigger oncogenic transformation in mouse and human cells (Anczukow et al., 2012). Furthermore, SRSF1 interacts with translating ribosomes (Sanford et al., 2005, Sanford et al., 2004). SRSF1 regulates alternative splicing of the ribosomal protein S6 kinase (S6K), producing S6K short isoforms which bind to mTORC1 and enhance 4E-BP phosphorylation, increasing translation initiation (Karni et al., 2007, Ben-Hur et al., 2013). Like PRAS40, SRSF1 is also able to interact with mTORC1 and increases the phosphorylation of S6K and 4E-BP, enhancing translation efficiency (Michlewski et al., 2008) as summarised in Figure 4.3.

Fregoso et al. (2013) demonstrated a role for SRSF1 in p53 signalling via RPL5. Interactions were identified between RPL5 and SRSF1, whereas there was no evidence of the involvement of RPL11 or the 5S rRNA. SRSF1 depletion was able to counteract the p53 induction from ActD treatment. As Act D, at concentrations below 10ng/ml, is able to stimulate p53 in a specifically 5S-RNP dependent manner, this suggested that SRSF1 was important for p53 induction via Actinomycin D. In addition, it was shown that when SRSF1 was over-expressed in BJ-TT cells, p53 was induced in an RPL5 dependent manner. This p53 response resulted in senescence. SRSF1 was also found to bind to MDM2 and thus it was suggested that RPL5, MDM2 and SRSF1 form a distinct complex as summarised in Figure 4.2. This contradicts the findings that all 3 components of the 5S RNP are required to activate p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a, Donati et al., 2013) and so it is currently unclear as to whether the 5S RNP is involved or whether RPL5 is acting independently.

SRSF1 was shown to assist in RPL5-dependent p53 activation, whilst PRAS40 was demonstrated as an inhibitor of RPL11-dependent p53 activation. Furthermore, as SRSF1 enhances mTOR activity whilst PRAS40 negatively regulates the pathway (Figure 4.3), these data together suggest that the SRSF1 and PRAS40 may antagonise one another. As mTOR is activated by L-leucine, this could be an important step to understanding the role of L-leucine treatment in patients with DBA.

The aims of this chapter were to establish whether SRSF1 and PRAS40 interact with the 5S RNP as a whole and investigate how this affects ribosome biogenesis and 5S RNPp53 signalling in U2OS cells. During this chapter I investigated the effect of both overexpression and depletion of SRSF1 and PRAS40 on the 5S RNP signalling pathway through investigating the 5S RNP integration into the ribosome, p53 signalling, localisation of RPL5 and RPL11, and cell cycle progression.

98

#### 4.2 Results

## 4.2.1 Creation of inducible cell lines expressing FLAG-SRSF1 and FLAG-PRAS40

In order to study over-expression of SRSF1 and PRAS40 in cells, cell lines were created expressing FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40. Furthermore, the effect of depletion of SRSF1 and PRAS40 was investigated. As previous experiments into SRSF1 and PRAS40 interacting with the 5S RNP had been carried out in different cell lines (Fregoso et al., 2013, Havel et al., 2014), it was necessary to establish that endogenous PRAS40 and SRSF1 could be detected in U2OS cells. Therefore, SRSF1 and PRAS40 protein levels were investigated in a panel of human cell lines; HEK293, HeLa, MCF-7 and U2OS.

The cells were grown at 37°C in growth medium until 80% confluent before harvesting, separating whole cell extracts via SDS-PAGE and western blotting. Anti-PRAS40 and anti-SRSF1 antibodies were used with an  $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody as a loading control (Figure 4.4A-B). In Figure 4.3A, it was noted that the PRAS40 antibody gave an additional signal of a higher molecular weight which was presumably cross reactivity or an isoform of PRAS40 with a higher molecular weight. Depletion of PRAS40 (shown later in Section 4.2.6) resulted in a decrease in the lower molecular weight signal, identifying this as PRAS40. SRSF1 and PRAS40 could be detected in all 4 cell lines (Figure 4.4A-B). As the cell lines expressed endogenous PRAS40 and SRSF1, it was therefore possible to study the effect of depletion of the proteins in these cell lines.

In order to create cells expressing FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40, U2OS Flp-In cells were co-transfected with pcDNA5 plasmids containing either the PRAS40 or SRSF1 coding sequences. The pcDNA5 plasmid contains a tetracycline inducible promoter and thus the expression of the protein can be controlled. The cells containing the insert were selected using hygromycin B and selection was maintained throughout culture.

The selected cells were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C with media supplemented with 0-1 µg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours before harvesting and separating whole cell lysates via SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis (Figure 4.4C-D) showed that both proteins were induced, as indicated by an additional signal from the anti-SRSF1 and anti-PRAS40 antibodies and a signal from the anti-FLAG which is not present in the un-induced cells. A higher molecular weight signal was seen using the PRAS40 antibody without the addition of

tetracycline. As this was not detected with the anti-FLAG antibody, it is possible that this a cross-reactive band as seen in Figure 4.4A.



Figure 4.4. SRSF1 and PRAS40 expression in cell lines. (A) and (B) Endogenous PRAS40 and SRSF1 expression across different cell lines. Cells harvested from HeLa, HEK 293, MCF-7 and U2OS cells were grown until 80% confluent before whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis was performed using anti-PRAS40 and anti-SRSF1 antibodies to show endogenous expression. \* indicates cross reactivity. (C) and (D) Western blots to show expression of the FLAG-tagged proteins. U2OS cells containing FLAG-tagged PRAS40 or SRSF1 were induced with 0-1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline, to induce expression, for 48 hours before harvesting. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting using antibodies raised against FLAG, PRAS40, SRSF1, or Karyopherin.

This data as a whole suggested that the proteins were being expressed in U2OS cells and that  $1 \mu g/ml$  was an appropriate concentration of tetracycline to use for future experiments using the FLAG-SRSF1 and FLAG-PRAS40 stable cell lines as this showed a high level of expression.

#### 4.2.2 Localisation of FLAG-SRSF1 and PRAS40

In order to ensure that FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40 were being localised as expected, immunofluorescence was utilised. SRSF1 is normally localised in the nucleus in nuclear speckles (Koizumi et al., 1999, Caceres et al., 1997) whilst PRAS40 shuttles between the nucleus and the cytoplasm and has been shown to co-localise with RPL11 in the nucleoli in U2OS cells (Havel et al., 2014). U2OS SRSF1 or PRAS40 expressing cells were grown on cover slips and incubated for 48 hours at 37°C in media supplemented with 1 µg/ml tetracycline. The cells were then used in immunofluorescence with anti-FLAG (to target the FLAG-tagged SRSF1 or PRAS40), anti-fibrillarin (to show nucleolar localisation) and DAPI (to stain the nucleus) (figure 4.5). The anti-FLAG antibody gave signal mostly in the nucleus with the expression of FLAG-SRSF1, as shown by co-localisation with DAPI. There was no evidence of any enrichment in the nucleoli as the signal was evenly distributed throughout the nuclei and did not have any stronger signal coinciding with the fibrillarin signal. There was very little SRSF1 detected in the cytoplasm.



Figure 4.5. Localisation of FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40. U2OS cells stably expressing tetracyclineinducible FLAG-SRSF1 or FLAG-PRAS40 were grown at 37°C on cover slips for 48 hours in medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline to induce protein expression. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and incubated with anti-FLAG (red) anti-fibrilliarin to indicate the nucleoli (green) and DAPI to stain the nuclei (blue). Examples of nucleoli are shown with white arrows. Scale bar represents 1  $\mu$ m.

In the cells expressing FLAG-PRAS40, the anti-FLAG antibody was detected most strongly in the cytoplasm. There was little co-localisation of the FLAG antibody with the DAPI staining, suggesting that FLAG-PRAS40 is not found in the nucleus. Similarly to the FLAG-SRSF1 cells, there was no enrichment of FLAG-PRAS40 in the nucleoli as demonstrated by no co-localisation of the FLAG antibody signal with that of the fibrillarin antibody. This suggests the possbility that the FLAG-PRAS40 used in this project is not normally localised in the nucleoli of U2OS cells, in contrast to what was previously found using a different FLAG-PRAS40 expression system (Havel et al., 2014).

# 4.2.3 Expression of FLAG-tagged SRSF1 and PRAS40 increase p53 levels in U2OS cells

SRSF1 over-expression was shown to induce p53 in BJ-TT cells, however, the effect of PRAS40 over-expression on p53 had not been reported, therefore SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression studies were carried out to see whether this could be replicated in U2OS cells. U2OS Flp-In cells expressing either PRAS40 or SRSF1 were incubated in growth medium supplemented with 0-1µg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting (Figure 4.6). Karyopherin was used as a loading control.



```
Figure 4.6. The effect of SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression on p53. (A+B) Representative western blots to show the effect of over-expression of SRSF1 and PRAS40 on p53 levels. U2OS cells expressing FLAG-SRSF1 or FLAG-PRAS40 were induced with 1-1000 ng/ml tetracycline as indicated for 48 hours prior to harvesting. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted using antibodies against the endogenous proteins, p53, and karyopherin as indicated on the right. Karyopherin was used as a loading control. (C) Densitometry analysis of A+B. Each bar in C represent the mean \pm the standard deviations of the means, n=3. Statistical analysis was determined by paired t test. NS= non-significant, *= P ≤ 0.05, **= p≤ 0.01, ***= p≤ 0.001.
```

In agreement with previous findings (Fregoso et al., 2013), expression of FLAG-tagged SRSF1 (Figure 4.6A) resulted in an increase in p53 protein levels, suggesting that expression of SRSF1 induces p53. When analysed by densitometry analysis (Figure 4.6C), this expression gave, on average, a 5.5 fold increase in the levels of p53. Interestingly, expression of the FLAG-tagged PRAS40 (Figure 4.6B) also resulted in an increase in p53 protein levels. When analysed by densitometry analysis (Figure 5.6C), the expression of PRAS40 resulted in, on average, a 3 fold increase in the levels of p53. This suggests that, in U2OS cells, expression of FLAG-tagged PRAS40 or SRSF1 results in an increase in p53 levels.

Previously it was shown that over-expression of PRAS40 combined with overexpression of RPL11 resulted in reduced p53 protein levels compared to expression of RPL11 alone (Havel et al., 2014). However, the effect of PRAS40 over-expression alone on p53 levels was not reported and thus cannot be compared to the results shown here.

# 4.2.4 SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression does not affect cell cycle progression

As the data suggested that FLAG-PRAS40 and FLAG-SRSF1 expression in U2OS cells appeared to result in increases in p53 protein levels, it was important to investigate the effects on cell cycle progression as p53 is a regulator of the cell cycle through its downstream effectors such as p21, GADD45 and 14-3-3 (Waldman et al., 1995, Carrier et al., 1994, Hermeking et al., 1997).

U2OS cells were induced for 48 hours with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline and fixed in ice cold ethanol before propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry analysis. Figure 4.7A depicts the representative dot plots and histograms produced whilst Figure 4.7B is a graphical representation of the percentage of cells at each stage in the cell cycle.

The control cells, on average, had 54% of cells in G1/G0, 25% of cells in S phase and 21% of cells in G2/M phase. There was no significant change in the cells expressing FLAG-tagged SRSF1 or PRAS40. When analysed using a paired t-test, the p value for the percentage of cells in G2/M for SRSF1 compared to the control was 0.89 and thus not significant. The p value for the G2/M for PRAS40 compared to the control was 0.2031, also considered to be not significant. This suggests that PRAS40 and SRSF1 over-expression had no effect on cell cycle progression in U2OS cells, despite increases in p53 protein levels, possibly suggesting that they do not increase p53 activity.



Figure 4.7. Cell cycle analysis of SRSF1 and PRAS40 over-expression. (A) Control, SRSF1 or PRAS40 expressing U2OS cells were induced with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours before harvesting, fixing in ethanol and propidium iodide staining before flow cytometric analysis. The forward scatter (FSC) was plotted against the side scatter (SSC) and the live population of cells was gated on as shown in blue. The different stages of the cell cycle were then selected from the histograms. (B) Graphical representation of the percentage of cells at each stage in the cell cycle. Each bar in B represents the means ± the standard deviations of the means, n=3.

#### 4.2.5 SRSF1, but not PRAS40, co-purifies with the 5S rRNA.

In order to investigate how SRSF1 and PRAS40 are involved in the 5S RNP pathway, immunoprecipitations were utilised to study the association of SRSF1 and PRAS40 with the 5S rRNA. The experiment was carried out in the presence or absence of ActD as the ability of these proteins to bind the 5S RNP could be dependent upon ribosomal stress. Cells expressing either control, SRSF1 or PRAS40 flag-tagged proteins were induced for 48 hours with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline followed by 5 ng/ml ActD treatment for 16 hours. The cells were incubated with anti-FLAG agarose for 2 hours before RNA extraction and northern blotting using <sup>32</sup>P labelled probes that anneal to the 5S and 5.8S rRNAs

(Figure 4.8A). The northern blot was exposed to a phosphorimager screen and scanned to visualise the rRNAs. The FLAG-tag alone from the control cells expressing an empty pcDNA5 vector, did not show any interaction with the 5S or 5.8S rRNAs, suggesting that any binding seen was specific.

The 5S rRNA or the 5.8S rRNA did not co-purify with FLAG-PRAS40 in control or ActD treated cells, suggesting that it PRAS40 not found in a complex with the 5S RNP in normal cells or those experiencing ribosomal stress. FLAG-SRSF1 co-purified with both the 5.8S and the 5S rRNA. SRSF1 interacts with translating ribosomes (Sanford et al., 2005, Sanford et al., 2004) and thus interaction with the ribosomal proteins would be expected. However, when densitometry analysis was utilised (Figure 4.8B), it revealed that SRSF1 interacted with a higher percentage of the 5S rRNA than the 5.8S rRNA. As there 5.8S rRNA is mostly found in ribosomes whilst a high proportion of the 5S rRNA is non-ribosomal (Sloan et al., 2013a), this implies that SRSF1 may be interacting with free 5S rRNA as well as ribosome bound. Upon ActD treatment, the percentage of the total 5S rRNA and 5.8S rRNA bound by SRSF1 decreased suggesting that when the cells are undergoing ribosomal stress, SRSF1 interaction with ribosomes and/or the 5S RNP is decreased.

As PRAS40 did not co-immunoprecipitate with the 5S rRNA, it was decided to look for interactions between PRAS40 and RPL5 and RPL11 as it had been previously reported that RPL11 and PRAS40 interacted (Havel et al., 2014). Control, RPL5 and RPL11 Flp-In cells were induced for 48 hours with media containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline. The cells were lysed and incubated with anti-FLAG agarose for 2 hours prior to washing, elution, separation of the proteins by SDS-PAGE and western blotting (Figure 4.8C). MDM2 and PRAS40 antibodies were utilised as MDM2 is known to interact with RPL5 and RPL11 (Marechal et al., 1994, Lohrum et al., 2003) and thus acts as a control. The FLAG-only control did not show any interaction with MDM2 whilst RPL5 and RPL11 showed interactions with MDM2.

As with MDM2, PRAS40 did not co-purify with the FLAG-only control (Figure 4.8C). PRAS40 also did not co-purify with RPL5, suggesting that PRAS40 does not interact with RPL5. However, PRAS40 co-purified with the FLAG-RPL11, suggesting that PRAS40 is found in complexes with RPL11 exclusively and not RPL5 or the 5S rRNA. This further supports the evidence that PRAS40 may not interact with the 5S RNP.



**Figure 4.8. SRSF1 interacts with the 5S RNP whilst PRAS40 only interacts with RPL11. (A)** Representative northern blot of three repeats to show co-purification of PRAS40 and SRSF1 with the 5S and 5.8S rRNAs. U2OS cells expressing empty vector, FLAG-SRSF1 or FLAG-PRAS40 were induced for 48 hours with 1 µg/ml tetracycline before treatment with 5ng/ml ActD in half of the samples for the final 16 hours. Cells were harvested and lysed before being incubated with anti-FLAG agarose for 2 hours before washing. The bound complexes were eluted and RNA extracted before separating with acrylamide gel electrophoresis and northern blotting using <sup>32</sup>P ATP labelled probes that hybridise to the 5S and 5.8S rRNAs. T denotes the 5% total loaded. (B) Densitometry analysis of A. The percentage of 5S and 5.8S bound from the total is shown. (C) Western blot to show immunoprecipitation using control, FLAG-RPL5 or FLAG-RPL11 U2OS cells. The cells were grown for 48 hours in media supplemented with 1 µg/ml tetracycline to induce the expression of the FLAGtagged proteins. Cells were harvested and the lysates incubated with anti-FLAG agarose for 2 hours. The bound complexes were eluted and separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting using antibodies raised against MDM2 and PRAS40. Each bar in B represents the means ± the standard deviations of the means, n=2.

# 4.2.6 Depletion of PRAS40 increases p53 activity whilst depletion of SRSF1 reduces p53 activity.

In order to investigate the role of SRSF1 and PRAS40 in p53 signalling, PRAS40 or SRSF1 were depleted in U2OS and MCF-7 cells. Both U2OS cells and MCF-7 cells have wild type p53 and so act as a good comparison. U2OS or MCF-7 cells were incubated in growth medium post-transfection with 20 µM siRNA duplexes targeting control, SRSF1 or PRAS40 for 48 hours prior to harvesting. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS PAGE and analysed by western blot using antibodies raised against SRSF1 and PRAS40 (Figure 4.9A-B) and p53 and p21 (Figure 4.9C). Karyopherin was used as a loading control. Treatment of U2OS or MCF-7 cells with siRNAs targeting PRAS40 and SRSF1 achieved a good level of knockdown of PRAS40 (Figure 4.9A) and SRSF1 (Figure 4.9B).



**Figure 4.9. PRAS40 and SRSF1 depletion affects p53 and p21 levels. (A+B)** Representative western blots to show the depletion of PRAS40 and SRSF1 in U2OS and MCF-7 cells. U2OS cells or MCF-7 cells were incubated with control, PRAS40 or SRSF1 siRNAs for 48 hours. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS PAGE and western blotted for SRSF1 or PRAS40. **(C)** Representative western blot to show the effect of PRAS40 and SRSF1 depletion on p53 and p21 protein levels. U2OS or MCF-7 cells were treated with control, SRSF1 or PRAS40 siRNAs for 48 hours prior to harvesting. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted using antibodies against p53 and p21. Karyopherin was used as a loading control. **(D)** Densitometry analysis of C. Each bar in D represents the means  $\pm$  the standard deviation of the means, n=3. Statistical analysis was determined by paired t test. NS= nonsignificant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p ≤ 0.001.

In U2OS cells SRSF1 depletion did not affect p53 levels or p21 levels (Figure 4.9C). This suggested that SRSF1 depletion in U2OS cells does not induce p53. PRAS40 depletion caused, on average, a 2.5 fold increase in p53 levels (Figure 4.9D). There was also an increase in the p53 downstream effector, p21, suggesting that p53 levels and the activity of p53 were both increased.

In MCF-7 cells, SRSF1 depletion resulted in the p53 protein levels reducing by half (Figure 4.9D). There was also a decrease in p21 levels. In contrast to the situation in U2OS cells, depletion of PRAS40 in MCF-7 cells had no noticeable impact on p53 or p21 protein levels. This data shows that SRSF1 depletion results in a decrease in p53 activity in MCF-7 cells and whereas PRAS40 depletion results in an increase in p53 levels and activity in U2OS cells. This could be due to differences between the cell lines as later discussed.

#### 4.2.7 SRSF1 and PRAS40 have opposing effects on ActD treatment

It was previously demonstrated that SRSF1 depletion could counteract the p53 response following ActD treatment whilst PRAS40 depletion had the opposite effect, resulting in increased p53 levels (Fregoso et al., 2013, Havel et al., 2015) however this had not been shown in the same cell lines and so it was decided to repeat these experiments in U2OS cells. U2OS cells were incubated in growth medium for 48 hours post-transfection with 20 µM SRSF1 or PRAS40 siRNA duplexes, followed by 5 ng/ml ActD treatment for the final 18 hours. Western blot analysis was carried out using antibodies raised against p53 along with a karyopherin antibody for a loading control (Figure 4.10A).

In cells treated with the control siRNA, ActD treatment resulted in increased p53 levels compared to the untreated. However, in the SRSF1 depleted cells, the drug had a much milder effect with p53 protein levels reduced by half (Figure 4.10A+B). Interestingly, PRAS40 depletion had the opposite effect and resulted in a 2 fold increase in p53 in ActD treated cells (Figure 4.10A+B). In both cases, these results were found to be not quite significant by statistical analysis, although a general trend can be seen to support the previously published data and suggests that SRSF1 and PRAS40 may be acting antagonistically in the 5S-RNP pathway.

In order to determine whether the activity of p53 was affected, U2OS cells stably expressing a p53-regulated luciferase reporter under the control of p53 were incubated post-transfection with 20 μM siRNA duplexes targeting SRSF1 or PRAS40 for 48 hours. In the final 18 hours, 5 ng/ml ActD was added to simulate ribosomal stress. As seen in Figure 4.10C, ActD treatment resulted in, on average, a 7 fold increase in luciferase levels above the control, suggesting p53 activation.



Figure 4.10. SRSF1 and PRAS40 have opposite effects upon ActD treatment. (A) Western blot to show p53 signalling after ActD treatment. U2OS cells were incubated at 37°C post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M control, SRSF1 or PRAS40 siRNA duplexes for 48 hours. In the final 18 hours, 5 ng/ml ActD or an ethanol control was added. Cells were harvested and whole cell extracts separated by SDS-PAGE. Levels of p53 were analysed by western blot with karyopherin as a loading control. (B) Densitometry analysis was carried out on A using Image J software and the levels of induction normalised to the loading control. (C) U2OS cells stably expressing a p53-regulated luciferase reporter were depleted of SRSF1 or PRAS40 for 48 hours, followed by 5 ng/ml ActD treatment for the final 18 hours, as in A. Luciferase assays were used to determine firefly luciferase levels. A Bradford assay was used to normalise Luciferase levels to protein levels. Each bar in B+C represents the mean ± the standard deviation of the mean, n=3. Statistical analysis was determined by paired t test. NS= non-significant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p ≤ 0.001.

Depletion of PRAS40, however, showed a slight, but non-significant, reduction in this level whilst SRSF1 depletion shows a significant reduction in luciferase levels. This suggests that SRSF1 is required for both the increase in p53 levels and activity whilst PRAS40 depletion increases p53 levels, although not significantly, but does not significantly impact upon p53 activity. Interestingly, in the untreated cells, depletion of PRAS40 did not illicit increased p53 activity. As it has been previously seen that PRAS40 depletion results in an increase in p53 protein levels, this suggests that PRAS40 depletion is able to increase p53 protein levels but does not affect p53 activity above that of ActD treatment alone. This could be the result of saturation whereby an increase in p53 levels can no longer result in an increase in p53 activity.

## 4.2.8 Depletion of SRSF1 and PRAS40 counteract the p53 response from RPL5 and RPL11 over-expression.

It was shown previously that RPL5 knockdown was able to counteract the p53 response from SRSF1 over-expression (Fregoso et al., 2013). In order to determine whether SRSF1 had an effect on RPL11-mediated p53 signalling as well as RPL5-mediated p53 signalling, the effect of depletion of SRSF1 on the p53 response from RPL5 or RPL11 expression was investigated.

U2OS cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL11 and RPL5 U2OS cells (Figure 4.11A) were incubated in growth medium for 48 hours post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M SRSF1 siRNA duplexes at 37°C. For the final 36 hours, 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline was added to the medium to induce the expression of the FLAG-tagged proteins. It was important to ensure that the knockdown had occurred before the expression of the FLAG-tagged proteins. After harvesting the cells and separating whole cell lysates by SDS-PAGE, a western blot was carried out with anti-p53, using anti-karyopherin as a loading control (Figure 4.11B).

When densitometry analysis was applied to the blots (Figure 4.11C), it was observed that when SRSF1 was depleted, the p53 response was decreased in the RPL5 cells. A greater reduction in p53 protein levels was seen in the RPL11 cells, which is interesting because RPL11 was suggested to not be involved in the SRSF1-RPL5 mediated p53 response.

Furthermore, to investigate the role of PRAS40 on p53 signalling via the 5S RNP the effect of PRAS40 depletion on p53 protein levels as a result of SRSF1, RPL5, or RPL11 expression was studied. U2OS cells over-expressing RPL5, RPL11, or SRSF1 were transfected with 20  $\mu$ M SRSF1 (RPL5 and RPL11 only) or PRAS40 siRNA duplexes. In the final 36 hours, 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline was added to the medium to induce the expression of RPL5, RPL11, (Figure 4.11D) or SRSF1 (Figure 4.11E). Western blots (Figure 4.11F) were carried out as previously described.

110



Figure 4.11 Depletion of SRSF1 or PRAS40 counteracts the p53 response from RPL5 and RPL11 over-expression. (A) Western blot analysis of RPL5 and RPL11 expression in U2OS cells. Cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 or RPL11 were incubated in growth medium supplemented with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce the expression of the proteins. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted using an anti-FLAG antibody. Karyopherin was used as a loading control. (B) Western blot analysis of the effect of SRSF1 depletion in U2OS cells expressing RPL5 and RPL11. U2OS cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 or RPL11 were incubated with growth medium post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M SRSF1 siRNA for 48 hours. In the final 36 hours, 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline was added to the medium to induce expression of the FLAG-tagged proteins. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted using an anti-p53 antibody with antikaryopherin as a loading control. (C) Densitometry analysis of B. Bars represent the mean ± the standard deviation of the mean, n=3. NS= non-significant, \*=  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\*=  $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*=  $p \le 0.001$ . (D) Western blot to show the effect of SRSF1 and PRAS40 depletion on the p53 induction after RPL5 and RPL11 expression. Inducible U2OS cells expressing empty vector, FLAG-RPL11 or FLAG-RPL5 were treated with siRNA against SRSF1 for 48 hours followed by induction of RPL5 or RPL11 with 1µg/ml tetracycline for the final 36 hours. Cells were harvested and whole cell extracts separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting for p53. Karyopherin was used as a loading control. (E) As in A, using FLAG-SRSF1 cells with a depletion of PRAS40. (F) Densitometry analysis of A+B showing the effect of PRAS40 depletion on p53 levels after expression of RPL11, RPL5, or RPL11, n=1.

As previously demonstrated in Figure 4.11B, RPL5 and RPL11 expression resulted in increased p53 in an SRSF1-dependent manner. In Figure 4.11D and 4.11F, PRAS40 depletion resulted in a similar decrease in p53. This suggests that PRAS40 and SRSF1 may both required for p53 induction upon the expression of RPL5 and RPL11. Furthermore, the effect of SRSF1 over-expression combined with depletion of PRAS40 was studied. If SRSF1 and PRAS40 were acting antagonistically, an additive effect would be expected. However, these results show that SRSF1 over-expression induces p53 in a PRAS40-dependent manner (Figure 4.11E-F). All of this data taken together suggest that SRSF1 and PRAS40 are required for p53 activation via the 5S RNP. This is in contrast to the previous findings that depletion of SRSF1, RPL5 or RPL11 counteracts the p53 response after ActD treatment but PRAS40 depletion does not.

# 4.2.9 Knockdown of SRSF1 and PRAS40 have effects the localisation of 5S RNP components.

Havel et al. (2014) hypothesised that PRAS40 sequesters RPL11 to the nucleolus to prevent interactions between RPL11 and MDM2, however the effect of SRSF1 on RPL5 or RPL11 localisation had not been studied. In order to investigate this, PRAS40 or SRSF1 were depleted in cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 and RPL11 and, using immunofluorescence, localisation of the FLAG-tagged proteins was studied. U2OS expressing FLAG-RPL5 or FLAG-RPL11 were transfected with siRNAs targeting SRSF1 or PRAS40 and grown on coverslips in growth medium 48 hours with the addition of 1 µg/ml tetracycline, to induce the RPL5 or RPL11 expression, for the final 24 hours. Cells were then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and used in immunofluorescence with anti-FLAG antibody and DAPI staining to show the location of the nucleus (figure 4.12).

In control cells, RPL11 was strongly localised in the nucleoli with the FLAG-antibody showing even distribution of RPL11 throughout the nucleus and cytoplasm. However, SRSF1 depletion resulted in a reduction of cytoplasmic staining in the cells. PRAS40 depletion resulted in an enrichment of cytoplasmic RPL11 and some loss of nucleolar staining suggesting that PRAS40 may play a role in the cytoplasmic and nucleolar localisation of RPL11.

112



Figure 4.12. SRSF1 and PRAS40 depletion affects localisation of RPL5 and RPL11. U2OS cells containing a tetracycline-inducible FLAG-tagged RPL5 or RPL11 were grown for 48 hours in the presence of SRSF1, PRAS40 or control siRNAs. In the final 24 hours,  $1\mu g/ml$  tetracycline was added to induce the expression of RPL5 or RPL11. The cells were fixed in paraformaldehyde and used in immunofluorescence with anti-FLAG antibody (red). DAPI (blue) was used to stain the nucleus. Scale bar represents  $1 \mu m$ .

The control RPL5 cells showed the strongest anti-FLAG signals in the nucleoli and the nucleus and with almost no cytoplasmic signals. In the SRSF1 depleted cells, the enrichment of nucleolar FLAG signal was reduced, suggesting that SRSF1 may be required for nucleolar localisation of RPL5. In the PRAS40 depleted cells, RPL5 showed a very similar localisation to the control cells, with strong nucleolar and nuclear signals. This suggests that whilst PRAS40 had an effect on RPL11 localisation, it is not involved in RPL5 localisation. SRSF1 depletion affected the localisation of both RPL5 and RPL11 thus supporting the hypothesis that SRSF1 interacts with the 5S RNP but, as PRAS40 only affected RPL11 localisation, this may support previous findings that PRAS40 only interacts with RPL11.

# 4.2.10 Depletion of SRSF1 affects integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome

As SRSF1 depletion had an impact on the localisation of both RPL5 and RPL11 it was possible that this may impact upon the ability of RPL5 and RPL11 to be incorporated into ribosomes. Therefore, cell lysates from cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 and RPL11 with control or SRSF1 siRNA treatment were applied to a glycerol gradient to identify the proportion of the protein in small, free complexes as opposed to large,

ribosome complexes.





To do this, U2OS cells expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 or RPL11 were depleted of SRSF1 and induced by incubating in medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours at 37°C. The cells were harvested and lysates applied to a 10-40% glycerol gradient and subjected to ultra-centrifugation. The gradient was fractionated and used separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting with an anti-FLAG antibody to detect the FLAGtagged proteins in different gradient fractions (Figure 4.13A). Densitometry analysis was utilised to quantify the percentage of the protein (Figure 4.13B) in either the 'free' (Figure 4.13A fractions 1-8) or 'ribosomal' fractions (Figure 4.13A fractions 9-17).

In the control cells, 90% of the FLAG-tagged RPL11 protein was detected in the ribosome fractions, however only 60% of the FLAG-tagged RPL5 was detected in the ribosome fractions. This is in agreement with previous findings that there is more non-ribosomal RPL5 in the cells than RPL11 (Sloan et al., 2013a). When SRSF1 was depleted, the percentage of FLAG-RPL11 and FLAG-RPL5 incorporated into ribosomes significantly reduced to 48% and 45% respectively. This indicated that SRSF1 may be required for efficient integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome or that SRSF1 is required for ribosome production.

### 4.2.11 Knockdowns of SRSF1 and PRAS40 have no significant effect on rRNA processing in pulse-labelling experiments

As SRSF1 had an impact on both localisation of RPL5 and RPL11 and their integration into the ribosome and PRAS40 depletion affected RPL11 localisation, it was important to study the impact of SRSF1 depletion on ribosome biogenesis as many ribosome biogenesis factors affect localisation and ribosomal integration of the 5S RNP (Sloan et al., 2013a). In order to do this, cells were phosphate starved with phosphate free medium before the addition of <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate medium and a chase period with standard medium. This method allows for the specific evaluation of newly synthesised rRNAs that have incorporated labelled phosphate.

U2OS cells were depleted of SRSF1 or PRAS40 along with RPL5, as a control for the disruption of ribosome production, for 48 hours prior to the pulse-labelling experiment. After the three hour chase with normal medium, RNA was extracted from the cells and separated using a glyoxal-agarose gel (Figure 4.14A- top panel) to separate the rRNA species. The U.V scanned 18S rRNA was used as a loading control. RPL5 depletion resulted in an almost complete loss of the labelled 28S rRNA with an accumulation of the 47/45S and 32S rRNA precursors, in agreement with previously published data (Sloan et al., 2013a). In the cells depleted of SRSF1, there was a slight 32S pre-rRNA increase. In the cells depleted of PRAS40 there was a slight increase in the 47/45S pre-rRNAs and a slight decrease in 32S pre-rRNA. However, when analysed with a paired t-test all p-values were greater than 0.5, thus suggesting that depletion of SRSF1 or PRAS40 has no significant effect on ribosome biogenesis. This suggests that

the effects seen on localisation and integration are more likely to be direct rather than due to defects in ribosome biogenesis.



**Figure 4.14. Analysis of the effect of depletion of SRSF1 or PRAS40 on rRNA processing. (A)** Pulselabelling experiment with <sup>32</sup>P orthophosphate to show the newly synthesised rRNA precursors. U2OS cells were transfected with siRNAs targeting control, RPL5, SRSF1 or PRAS40 siRNAs for 48 hours prior to 1 hour labelling with a 3 hour chase period with standard media. RNA was extracted and separated by acrylamide gel electrophoresis, transferred to a nylon membrane and exposed to a phosphorimager screen. **(B)** Schematic representation of the rRNA processing events in humans. The precursors visible in A are shown in black. **(C)** Densitometry analysis of A analysed using ImageQuant<sup>TM</sup>. Each bar represents the means  $\pm$  the standard deviation of the means, n=3. Statistical analysis determined by paired t test. NS= non-significant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p ≤ 0.001.

#### 4.2.12 p53 induction from Deguelin treatment is RPL5-dependent.

Finally, the effect of drug treatments on p53 that were linked to SRSF1 and PRAS40 were investigated. Deguelin is an AKT inhibitor (Chun et al., 2003, Baba et al., 2015) which results in mTORC1 inhibition (Jin et al., 2007) and thus would be expected to trigger 5S RNP mediated p53 signalling via PRAS40. AKT is an activator of mTORC1 (Sengupta et al., 2010, Rosen and She, 2006, Manning and Cantley, 2007) which, in turn, activates PRAS40 and results in p53 inhibition via RPL11 (Havel et al., 2014). However, previous reports have shown that deguelin treatment was able to counteract

the p53 response after ActD treatment (Chen et al., 2014) and, therefore, the role of the 5S RNP-signalling after deguelin treatment was investigated.



**Figure 4.15 The effect of deguelin, L-leucine and arginine treatment in U2OS cells. (A)** U2OS cells containing a p53 regulated luciferase reporter were incubated at 37°C post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M control or RPL5 siRNA duplexes in growth medium for 48 hours. For the final 24 hours, 100nM deguelin was added, or for the final 16 hours 5 nM ActD, or 5  $\mu$ M Nutlin 3A. Cells were harvested and assayed for luciferase compared to untreated cells (Untr.). **(B)** U2OS cells containing a p53 regulated luciferase reporter were incubated in growth medium at 37°C for 48 hours. After 24 hours, 100 nM deguelin was added to the medium followed by 5 nM ActD for the final 16 hours. Cells were harvested and assayed for luciferase compared to untreated cells (Untr.). **(C)** U2OS cells were incubated at 37°C in growth medium with the addition of 10 mM L-leucine (L), arginine (A) or both (B) for 12, 24 or 48 hours as indicated. C denotes the control. For the final 18 hours, 5 nM ActD was added. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted using antibodies raised against karyopherin, p53 or p21. Each bar in A and B represents the means ± the standard deviation of the means, n=3. Statistical analysis was carried out using a paired t-test. NS= non-significant, \*= P  $\leq 0.05$ , \*\*= p $\leq 0.01$ , \*\*\*= p $\leq 0.001$ .

U2OS cells stably expressing a p53 luciferase reporter were incubated with  $20\mu$ M control or RPL5 siRNA in growth medium for 48 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C. For the final 24 hours, 100 nM deguelin was added. As a control, cells were treated with 5 nM ActD or 5  $\mu$ M Nutlin 3A for 16 hours. ActD and Nutlin 3A were chosen as controls as ActD activates p53 through the 5S RNP whilst Nutlin 3A activates p53 independent of the 5S RNP

(Lindstrom and Nister, 2010, Bursac et al., 2012). After harvesting, the cells were lysed and assayed for luciferase activity (Figure 4.15A).

All three drugs resulted in an increase in luciferase levels, suggesting an increase in p53 activity. In agreement with previous findings, RPL5 depletion resulted in a significant decrease in luciferase levels after ActD treatment, but not after Nutlin 3A treatment (Lindstrom and Nister, 2010, Sloan et al., 2013a, Bursac et al., 2012). RPL5 depletion also resulted in a significant decrease in luciferase levels after deguelin treatment. This suggests that the p53 response from deguelin treatment is dependent upon RPL5.

Deguelin treatment was previously shown to counteract the p53 response after ActD treatment (Chen et al., 2014). However, if deguelin activates p53 via the 5S RNP as shown in Figure 4.14A, then this would not be expected.

Therefore, U2OS cells stably expressing a p53 reporter were incubated in growth medium at 37°C for 48 hours to achieve the desired cell density. After 24 hours, 100 nM deguelin was added to the medium followed by 5 nM ActD for the final 16 hours. After harvesting, the cells were lysed and assayed for luciferase activity (Figure 4.15B). The data shows that ActD treatment increased luciferase levels above the untreated cells. Furthermore, deguelin and ActD treatment have a significant additive effect over treatment with ActD alone. This supports the previous finding (Figure 4.15A) that deguelin activates p53 via the 5S RNP.

Furthermore, the ability of L-leucine or arginine treatment to counteract the p53 response after treatment of cells with ActD was investigated. Both arginine and L-leucine trigger the mTOR signalling pathway (Kong et al., 2012, Lynch, 2001) and L-leucine treatment has been shown to be a successful treatment in DBA patients (Pospisilova et al., 2007). Therefore, U2OS cells were grown in medium at 37°C with the addition of 10 mM L-leucine, arginine or both. For the final 18 hours, 5 nM ActD was added. Treatment of ActD resulted in an increase in p53 and p21 levels, as expected (Figure 4.15C). However, treatment with leucine, arginine, or a combination of both, did not decrease the p53 levels as expected suggesting that, under the conditions used, treatment of cells with leucine or arginine was not sufficient to reduce p53 levels after treatment with ActD.

118

#### 4.3 Discussion

This chapter aimed to gain a greater understanding of the role of SRSF1 and PRAS40 as regulators of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway through studying the effect over-expression and depletion of the two proteins.

The first factor studied was SRSF1, an alternative splicing factor, commonly upregulated in cancers (Anczukow et al., 2012), that has many roles within the cell such as mRNA nuclear export, mRNA translation and nonsense mediated decay (Long and Caceres, 2009). SRSF1 regulates translation through its ability to positively regulate mTOR signalling pathways (Michlewski et al., 2008). However, SRSF1 had also been linked to RPL5-mediated p53 signalling to induce senescence (Fregoso et al., 2013).

The presented in this thesis showed that FLAG-SRSF1 was localised in the nucleus similar to what had been seen by previous groups (Koizumi et al., 1999, Caceres et al., 1997). However, it also suggested that SRSF1 may affect localisation of RPL5 and RPL11. Depletion of SRSF1 resulted in a loss of cytoplasmic signal from FLAG-RPL11 and nucleolar localisation of RPL5. Therefore, it is possible that SRSF1 is required for the localisation of RPL11 in the cytoplasm and RPL5 into the nucleolus. However, it is not clear whether this is direct or indirect as SRSF1 has many roles in the cell such as splicing and translation and thus could be affecting a number of other factors with these effects. However, as SRSF1, whether directly or indirectly, affected localisation of the 5S RNP components, this led to the question as to whether SRSF1 played a role in 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome.

In yeast, Rrs1 and Rpf2 form a complex with the 5S RNP and are responsible for the integration of the 5S RNP into 90S pre-ribosomes containing the 35S pre-rRNA (Zhang et al., 2007, Morita et al., 2002, Kharde et al., 2015, Madru et al., 2015). However, in human ribosome biogenesis, the 5S RNP recruitment relies more upon the nucleolar protein, PICT-1 than the Rpf2/Rrs1 homologues (Sloan et al., 2013a). This suggesting that human 5S RNP incorporation may vary to yeast. Indeed, depletion of SRSF1 resulted in an accumulation of free, non-ribosome bound, FLAG-RPL5 and FLAG-RPL11 in U2OS cells compared to the control (Figure 4.13). This suggested that SRSF1 was required for the integration of RPL5 and RPL11 into ribosomes. One caveat with this

experiment is that the RPL5 and RPL11 proteins investigated are not the endogenous proteins. However, studying the endogenous proteins would be more problematic as the majority of the protein would already be incorporated into ribosomes and thus the ability to see changes in integration would be determined by ribosome turnover rates. A way to counteract this would be to investigate the integration of the 5S rRNA using pulse-labelled cells. This would allow for visualisation of the newly-synthesised 5S rRNA and would help to determine the integration of the endogenous 5S RNP.

As the data presented in this chapter implies that SRSF1 depletion results in the 5S RNP not being incorporated into ribosomes, this would imply that SRSF1 depletion should activate p53 by an accumulation of non-ribosomal 5S RNP, unless it was part of the complex involved in activating p53. It was demonstrated that depletion of SRSF1 in MCF-7 cells resulted in a decrease in p53 and p21 protein levels (Figure 4.9). This suggested that SRSF1 may form part of the 5S RNP complex that activates p53 and, along with the 5S RNP (Sloan et al., 2013a), is involved in maintaining p53 homeostasis. Interestingly, Fregoso et al. (2013) demonstrated that SRSF1 inductions in BJ-TT cells caused an increase in p53 levels. In this study, expression of FLAG-SRSF1 for 48 hours in U2OS cells showed a slight increase in p53 and p21 protein levels when analysed by western blot (Figure 4.6) however the previous observations in BJ-TT cells showed a much greater induction of p53. Whilst Fregoso et al. (2013) showed that SRSF1 expression led to senescence, they did not study the cell cycle progression. p53 induction can result in an accumulation of cells in G1 or G2 (Agarwal et al., 1995, Waldman et al., 1995), however the cells expressing SRSF1 showed no cell cycle defects (Figure 4.7), further supporting the fact that SRSF1 expression has only a small effect on p53 in U2OS cells. BJ-TT cells are primary cells and so the signalling pathways will be more akin to normal cell signalling. Therefore, in the future, it would be beneficial to attempt to express SRSF1 in more clinically relevant cells in order to see how these cells are affected. As ribosome biogenesis defects often lead to anaemia and blood related disorders, cells from a red-blood cell lineage may be the most appropriate choice to carry the study forward.

Furthermore, the data presented in this chapter demonstrates that, in agreement with Fregoso et al. (2013), SRSF1 interacts with RPL5, but it was also determined that SRSF1 associates with the 5S rRNA, possibly outside of ribosomes (Figure 4.8). As SRSF1

120

associates with translating ribosomes (Sanford et al., 2005, Sanford et al., 2004), interaction with ribosome components would be expected. However the proportion of 5S rRNA bound was greater than 5.8S, suggesting that whilst SRSF1 is interacting with ribosomes, it is also interacting with free 5S rRNA, and thus, possibly, the 5S RNP. It was not possible to detect RPL11 interaction with SRSF1 due to poor quality antibodies. However, RPL11 requires binding of RPL5 to the 5S rRNA before it is recruited (Scripture and Huber, 2011) and thus it is possible that SRSF1 interacts with the complex before RPL11 binding. Further investigations of the interaction with SRSF1 and RPL11 are, therefore, required.

Previous studies concluded that depletion of PICT-1, a factor shown to affect 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome, resulted in a severe reduction in the 28S and the 5.8S rRNAs (Sloan et al., 2013a) and thus it is possible that SRSF1 depletion would have a similar effect. However, no significant difference in the ratios of the mature rRNAs or the rRNA precursors was seen in the control cells compared to those depleted of SRSF1, suggesting that SRSF1 is not required for rRNA processing. This was surprising as depletion of SRSF1 had such an impact on 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome and suggests that SRSF1 may be directly involved in 5S RNP recruitment instead of simply affecting ribosome biogenesis as a whole. However, it is possible that SRSF1 depletion causes subtle defects that were not detectable by pulse-labelling and thus more detailed analysis of the pre-rRNA precursors is required. Unfortunately it was not possible, due to time constraints, to investigate this any further. In order to further this investigation, the pulse-labelling could be attempted with different time points as there may be very subtle defects. It could also be possible to utilise northern blots using probes specific to different pre-rRNA precursors to look at the rRNA processing in more detail.

One important tool for studying 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling is through the use of ActD. ActD is a drug that selectively inhibits RNA polymerase I (Sobell, 1985) and activates p53 through the 5S RNP pathway exclusively (Bursac et al., 2012, Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a). SRSF1 depletion had been shown to counteract the effect of p53 induction in BJ-TT cells (Fregoso et al., 2013), and this was able to be repeated in U2OS cells (Figure 4.10). Furthermore, Fregoso et al. (2013) had demonstrated that RPL5 depletion could counteract the p53 response from SRSF1

121

over-expression in BJ-TT cells and, therefore, it was important to determine whether this could be repeated in U2OS cells to further address the role of SRSF1 in 5S RNPmediated p53 signalling. As the p53 inductions were not very strong with SRSF1 expression, RPL5 and RPL11 cells were utilised instead and it was found that SRSF1 could counteract the p53 induction from both RPL5 and RPL11 expression (Figure 4.11). These data further supported the evidence that there is a possibility that SRSF1 forms a complex with the 5S RNP to activate p53.

The 5S RNP-p53 signalling pathway appears extremely complicated but the regulation of the pathway may be a step closer to being understood. This chapter has shown that SRSF1 interacts with the 5S rRNA, possibly outside of the ribosome, and is involved in integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome and thus may be an important assembly factor. It has given evidence towards a model whereby SRSF1 is involved in integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome and aids in the activation of p53 as summarised in Figure 4.16. Whilst interaction with RPL11 has not yet been confirmed, it is probable that SRSF1 is able to interact with the entire 5S RNP in order to activate p53 as all three components of the RNP are required for p53 activation.



**Figure 4.16 A proposed model for SRSF1 in the 5S-RNP mediated activation of p53.** RPL5 and the 5S rRNA recruit RPL11 and SRSF1. In normal cells, SRSF1 is lost and the 5S RNP is incorporated into the ribosome. However, in ribosomal stress, the 5S RNP with SRSF1 binds to MDM2 and blocks its ubiquitin ligase activity, leading to p53 activation. p53 affects DNA repair, senescence and apoptosis through its role as a transcription factor.

The second factor investigated in this chapter was PRAS40. PRAS40 is a substrate of AKT (Kovacina et al., 2003) that is involved in negatively regulating mTOR signalling in cells (Thedieck et al., 2007, Fonseca et al., 2007). PRAS40 was shown to sequester
RPL11 to the nucleolus and act as a negative regulator of RPL11-mediated p53 signalling (Havel et al., 2014).

This study has shown FLAG-PRAS40 was localised in the cytoplasm and did not colocalise with the nucleolar marker, fibrillarin (Figure 4.5). This is contradictory to the findings by Havel et al. (2014) who demonstrated, in U2OS cells, that FLAG-PRAS40 colocalised with RPL11 in the nucleoli. Furthermore, investigations revealed that PRAS40 depletion reduced the nucleolar localisation of FLAG-RPL11 but not RPL5 (Figure 4.12). Havel et al. (2015) suggested that PRAS40 blocked translocation of RPL11 from the nucleoli to the nucleoplasm and so this data may support that theory, despite the fact that FLAG-PRAS40 could not be detected in the nucleoli. Therefore, it would be beneficial to investigate the localisation of the endogenous PRAS40, especially with leptomycin B treatment to affect nuclear shuttling. Further investigations could also be carried out into the effect of over-expression of PRAS40 on the localisation of RPL11 to see whether this results in an increase in nucleolar RPL11. Furthermore, the PRAS40-RPL11 complex was suggested to contain other components (Havel et al., 2014). This raised the question about the identity of the other components- the obvious candidates being RPL5 and the 5S rRNA. However, PRAS40 did not associate with the 5S rRNA, in the presence or absence of ribosomal stress (Figure 4.8). Using FLAG-RPL5 or FLAG-RPL11 expressing cells, there was also no co-purification of PRAS40 and RPL5. In agreement with Havel et al. (2014), however, PRAS40 did co-purify with RPL11 (Figure 4.8). As the data presented in this chapter in conjunction with previous findings suggests that PRAS40 is involved in nucleolar localisation of RPL11 and that PRAS40 only interacts with RPL11, this implies that the role of PRAS40 is specific to RPL11 and may sequester RPL11 away from the other components of the 5S RNP, preventing 5S RNP formation and p53 activation.

PRAS40 was shown to increase p53 protein levels further than ActD treatment alone in U2OS cells (Havel et al., 2014) and the data in this chapter was in agreement with this. However, when the activity of p53 was studied using a p53-regulated Luciferase reporter, it was found that PRAS40 had little impact on luciferase levels after ActD treatment. This suggests that PRAS40 increased p53 levels but not activity after ActD treatment. It is possible that this was the result of a plateau of p53 activity that cannot be increased any further, regardless of p53 levels in the cell. However, further

123

investigations into the role of PRAS40 on p53 activity would be beneficial to further elucidate the role of PRAS40 in p53 signalling. Expression of FLAG-PRAS40 in U2OS cells resulted in elevated p53 and p21 protein levels, although to a lesser extent than the expression of SRSF1 (Figure 4.6). It was previously demonstrated that over-expression of PRAS40 resulted in inhibition of mTORC1 (Sancak et al., 2007) and thus it is possible to hypothesise, based on the observation that over-expression of PRAS40 activates p53, that this feedback mechanism would result in decreased phosphorylation of PRAS40, release of RPL11 from PRAS40 and activation of p53. Despite increases in p53 and p21 (Figure 4.6), over-expression of PRAS40 did not result in p53-mediated cell cycle arrest (Figure 4.7). It would, therefore, be beneficial to investigate apoptosis with Annexin V and 7-AAD or  $\beta$ -galactosidase with flow cytometry as these would give an indication as to whether apoptosis or senescence was occurring.

Furthermore, PRAS40 depletion in U2OS cells resulted in increased p53 and p21 levels (Figure 4.9) which supports evidence from the previous study (Havel et al., 2014). As SRSF1 was shown to decrease p53 levels, these opposing effects may suggest that they may have antagonising roles in p53 signalling. However, the effect of SRSF1 depletion was more pronounced in the MCF-7 cells than in the U2OS where SRSF1 depletion had very little impact on p53 levels. Similarly, the depletion of PRAS40 had very little effect on p53 expression in MCF-7 cells but had a greater impact in U2OS cells. Both MCF-7 and U2OS cells have wild type p53 but are lacking ARF. U2OS cells have MDM2 overexpression (Florenes et al., 1994) and thus the p53 response may be greater in the MCF-7 cells due to less inhibition. Furthermore, MCF-7 cells express constitutively active PRAS40, phosphorylated at T246 (Huang and Porter, 2005). T246 phosphorylation was shown to be crucial for interactions between RPL11 and PRAS40 (Havel et al., 2014) and thus these cells would have a higher level of suppression of p53. It is possible that depletion of PRAS40 in these cells is not sufficient to induce p53. It would be important in the future to perform the same experiment in more clinically relevant cell lines as these would give a clearer indication of how this is affecting diseases such as a Diamond Blackfan Anaemia. Interestingly, the data indicated that PRAS40 may also be required for p53 activation via RPL5, RPL11 and SRSF1. This suggests that whilst phosphorylated PRAS40 inhibits interactions between RPL11 and MDM2, PRAS40 may also be required for activation of p53 via the 5S RNP and p53. This

124

leads to contradictory roles for PRAS40 in 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling. However, it is possible that phosphorylated PRAS40 may retain RPL11 in the nucleolus whilst PRAS40 is also required in a different capacity to activate p53 signalling via the 5S RNP complex, without direct interaction with the complex. Therefore, it is currently unclear as to the role in PRAS40 in 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling and further investigation is required to elucidate the role of PRAS40. For example, PICT-1 was initially also believed to sequester RPL11 to the nucleolus (Sasaki et al., 2011), however it has since been demonstrated to be crucial for 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome. Due to time constraints, experiments investigating the role of PRAS40 in the recruitment of the 5S RNP could not be optimised. However, this could still be studied in the future using gradients to investigate the incorporation of the 5S rRNA, RPL5, or RPL11 into the ribosome.



**Figure 4. 17. The mechanism of Deguelin activating p53 via the 5S RNP.** A Schematic representation of how AKT inhibitors such as deguelin activate p53. Deguelin inhibits AKT, preventing phosphorylation of PRAS40 via mTORC1 and AKT. Non-phosphorylated PRAS40 does not bind to RPL11 and thus RPL11 can bind to the 5S RNP to inactivate MDM2 and stabilise p53.

Finally, inhibitors of AKT were shown to activate p53 via the 5S RNP. AKT is an activator of mTORC1 which, in turn, activates PRAS40 by phosphorylation and results in p53 inhibition. It was, therefore, possible that AKT inhibition would induce p53. Inhibition of AKT with deguelin resulted in an RPL5 dependent p53 activation (Figure 4.15). Furthermore, deguelin treatment in combination with ActD treatment resulted in an increase in p53 levels compared to ActD treatment alone, similar to what was seen with a depletion of PRAS40. This suggests that inhibition of AKT results in a 5S RNP-dependent activation of p53 as summarised in Figure 4.17 and, therefore, conversely that activation of AKT may counteract 5S RNP-dependent p53 activation and thus could be a potential therapeutic for the treatment of ribosomopathies.

In this chapter, L-leucine or arginine treatment was not able to reduce the p53 response after treatment of cells with ActD. Many similar experiments have been carried out with serum starvation first (Ou et al., 2014, Singh et al., 2011) however, serum starvation abrogates ribosome biogenesis and activates p53 via RPL11 (Strezoska et al., 2000, Ahamad et al., 2015, Bhat et al., 2004). As only one concentration of leucine or arginine was tested, it would be beneficial to attempt to treat cells with different concentrations in the future without having to serum starve cells first as greater concentrations have been suggested to have an effect without prior starvation (Kitsy et al., 2014). Furthermore, addition of L-glutamine to the medium may improve the uptake of leucine (Xu et al., 2013, Nyman et al., 1983).

The role of PRAS40 is not yet clear, but the data from this study suggests that the role of PRAS40 in regulation of RPL11 is more complex than originally demonstrated (Havel et al., 2014). The data is in agreement with previously published data and showed that PRAS40 is exclusively associated with RPL11 and may prevent RPL11 from interacting with MDM2 and, presumably, the other 5S RNP components (Havel et al., 2014). This would propose a mechanism for negatively regulating the 5S RNP and, as treatments for Diamond Blackfan Anaemia appear to target this pathway, could be further assessed. This chapter identified that PRAS40 over-expression as well as depletion of PRAS40 induces p53, possibly as a result of a feedback loop with mTORC1, suggesting there may be multiple mechanisms of regulating p53 via PRAS40. Furthermore, inhibition of AKT resulted in p53 activation, presumably through abrogating the RPL11-PRAS40 interactions. However, most surprisingly, the data indicated the possibility that PRAS40 may be required for p53 activation upon RPL5, RPL11, or SRSF1 expression. These findings have led to an increased knowledge about the role of PRAS40 in suppressing 5S RNP-regulated p53 signalling but also raised new questions about why PRAS40 may be required for p53 activation via the 5S RNP.

### CHAPTER FIVE: THE ROLE OF PHOSPHORYLATION OF RPL5 IN CELL SIGNALLING VIA P53

#### 5.1 Introduction

Ribosomes are important molecular machines required for the translation of mRNA into proteins. Production of ribosomes requires large quantities of cellular energy and, as a result, impacts upon the proliferation rate of cells (Warner, 1999a). Furthermore, ribosome biogenesis defects result in the activation of p53 (Holzel et al., 2010, Donati et al., 2012). Recently, a link between recurrent mutations in ribosomal proteins and ribosome biogenesis factors and diseases has been reported, and many of these diseases have been linked to the dysregulation of p53 (Fumagalli and Thomas, 2011).

TP53 is a tumour suppressor gene that is frequently deleted or inactivated in cancers. The TP53 gene encodes the p53 protein which, when activated, coordinates with a variety of signalling pathways that result in DNA repair, apoptosis, senescence or G1 cell cycle arrest (Ko and Prives, 1996, Timofeev et al., 2013, Sperka et al., 2012, Sugikawa et al., 1999). The major repressor of p53 is Mouse Double Minute 2 (MDM2-HDM2 in humans), an ubiquitin ligase which promotes the ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by targeting it to the 26S proteasome (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). In stressed conditions, MDM2 activity is suppressed and this leads to the stabilisation and activation of p53 (Michael and Oren, 2003). One other suppressor of p53 is MDMX, an MDM2 homolog that can bind to p53 to inhibit p53 activity (Danovi et al., 2004) but lacks E3 ubiquitin ligase activity and thus cannot target p53 for degradation (Jackson and Berberich, 2000). MDMX is involved in stabilising MDM2 (Gu et al., 2002) and the interaction between MDM2 and MDMX is required for the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of MDM2 (Kawai et al., 2007). Furthermore, MDM2 is able to polyubiquitinate MDMX and target it for degradation (Pan and Chen, 2003), resulting in a feedback loop between these two proteins.

One prominent factor contributing to diseases as a result of ribosome biogenesis defects is the 5S RNP. The 5S RNP is a processing intermediate of the ribosomal large subunit, consisting of RPL5, RPL11, and the 5S rRNA. There are multiple ways that the 5S RNP is able to activate p53- through interactions with ARF and MDM2. Interestingly,

the 5S RNP is not only responsible for the regulation of p53 under ribosomal stress situations, it is also important for normal p53 homeostasis (Sloan et al., 2013a). All three components of the 5S RNP are involved with mutually dependent interactions with MDM2, thus stabilising p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a, Donati et al., 2013), as shown in Figure 5.1. Furthermore, the 5S RNP was shown to be essential for the cellular p53 response to ARF (Sloan et al., 2013a). ARF binds to and inhibits MDM2, promoting p53 stabilisation (Honda and Yasuda, 1999).



**Figure 5.1 The 5S RNP activates p53 via interactions with MDM2.** A schematic representation of the 5S RNP-p53 signalling pathway in response to ribosome biogenesis defects or over-expression of the oncogene, ARF. In unstressed cells, MDM2 polyubiquitinates p53 and targets it for proteasomal degradation via the 26S proteasome and the 5S RNP binds to MDM2 and maintains normal p53 homeostasis. When ribosome biogenesis defects occur, the integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome is blocked and more of the free 5S RNP interacts with MDM2, blocking its ubiquitin ligase activity. When ARF is over-expressed, ribosome biogenesis is disrupted and ARF interacts with the free 5S RNP to promote p53 stabilisation.

Furthermore, it has also been demonstrated that the 5S rRNA, RPL5 and RPL11 play a vital role in regulation of MDMX. The interaction between RPL11 and MDM2 was shown to be induced upon nucleolar stress, resulting in MDMX degradation and p53 activation (Gilkes et al., 2006). In contrast, the 5S rRNA was shown to associate with MDMX and protect it from degradation by MDM2 (Li and Gu, 2011). These data suggest that the 5S RNP may have different roles in the regulation of MDMX under different cellular conditions.

In addition to their interactions with p53, RPL5 and RPL11 have also been implicated in the activation of p73 (Zhou et al., 2015), a p53 homolog (Jost et al., 1997, Kaghad et al., 1997) which can transactivate many of the same gene targets as p53 (Zhu et al., 1998). These data taken together suggest a diverse role for the 5S RNP in the regulation of p53.

The mechanisms of regulating the 5S RNP-p53 pathway are not yet fully understood. Sloan et al. (2013a) proposed that any proteins involved in ribosomal integration, localisation or formation of the 5S RNP were crucial in regulating p53. One way that the 5S RNP-p53 pathway could be regulated is through post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and NEDDylation.

MDM2 promotes NEDDylation of RPL11 and protects RPL11 from destabilisation (Xirodimas et al., 2008, Sundqvist et al., 2009). ActD treatment was found to decrease NEDDylation of RPL11 and cause re-localisation of RPL11 to the nucleoplasm, where it can activate p53 (Sundqvist et al., 2009). This suggests that NEDDylation of RPL11 is a mechanism by which to prevent activation of p53 via RPL11. However, Mahata et al. (2012) found that, in cells undergoing ribosomal stress, RPL11 and NEDD8 were both crucial for the acetylation, and thus activation, of p53. The authors demonstrated that NEDDylation of RPL11 was required for the recruitment of RPL5 and RPL11 to promoter sites of p53 regulated genes in an MDM2-dependent manner. These data, when assessed in combination with the later findings that the 5S RNP is crucial for p53 activation (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a), indicate that NEDDylation is an important regulator of 5S RNP-mediated p53 activation.

Whilst only NEDDylation has been shown to regulate the 5S RNP signalling to date, phosphorylation may also be important for protein regulation. Phosphorylation is a key regulator in p53 signalling. p53 is phosphorylated at a number of different sites to regulate function, for example, p53 can be activated by phosphorylation of serine 37 by ATR and CK2 in response to chemotherapeutic drugs or U.V light (Meek, 1999). In addition, phosphorylation of p53 serine 15 has been demonstrated to be critical for stimulating transactivation at p53-responsive promoters (Loughery et al., 2014). Phosphorylation of MDM2 by the kinases ATM and C-Abl inhibits p53 degradation upon DNA damage (Goldberg et al., 2002, Maya et al., 2001). Furthermore, DNA damage results in phosphorylation of MDMX via Chk1, Chk2 and ATM, activating p53 (Jin et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2005). These data taken together show an important role for phosphorylation in the regulation of p53.



**Figure 5.2 Reported phosphorylation sites on RPL5.** Schematic representation of the RPL5 protein with the phosphorylation sites as reported on Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org). RPL5 contains 17 reported phosphorylation sites, 9 tyrosine phosphorylation sites (blue), 7 serine phosphorylation sites (red) and 1 threonine phosphorylation site (black).

Many ribosomal proteins such as RPS3 (Kim et al., 2009, Lee et al., 2010), RPS6 (Ruvinsky and Meyuhas, 2006, Khalaileh et al., 2013), and RPS14 (Ventimiglia and Wool, 1974) have been shown to be phosphorylated. Furthermore, it has been shown *in vitro* that RPL5 has the potential to be phosphorylated (Park and Bae, 1999). As RPL5 and RPL11 are crucial to 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling, phosphorylation of these proteins may play a role in the regulation of this pathway. According to Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org), RPL5 has 17 reported phosphorylation sites (Figure 5.2). Out of the 17 phosphorylations, 9 of these are tyrosine. Tyrosine phosphorylations are uncommon in cells (Cooper, 1989) and, therefore it is possible that these may play an important role in the regulation of RPL5. It is important to note that these are reported phosphorylation sites and thus may not necessarily be representative of the actual phosphorylation sites in RPL5. Interestingly, some of the mutations have been reported in multiple data sets, for example phosphorylation of Y30 was demonstrated in 14 different data sets, whilst Y31 has been reported in 3.

Currently, very little is known about RPL5 phosphorylation or the kinases and phosphatases that may be involved. RPL5 phosphorylation by CK2 at serine residues was shown to prevent binding of RPL5 to the 5S rRNA *in vitro* (Park and Bae, 1999). Thus, phosphorylation of RPL5 by CK2 could affect 5S RNP formation and, subsequently, ribosome biogenesis. RPL5 has also been shown to interact with, and potentially be phosphorylated by, one other kinase, the Death-associated protein kinase (DAPk) (Bialik et al., 2008). As 5S RNP-p53 signalling has been implicated in diseases, it is crucial that the regulation of this pathway is fully elucidated. Ribosomopathies are diseases of ribosome dysfunction and many have reported changes in p53. One such ribosomopathy is Diamond Blackfan Anaemia (DBA), which is a rare autosomal recessive condition characterised by a reduction in erythroid production and thus anaemia. 50-70% of all DBA patients present with a mutation in ribosomal proteins, including RPS7, RPS19, RPS27, RPS26, RPL27, RPL5, RPL11 (Smetanina et al., 2015, Wang et al., 2015, Mirabello et al., 2014, Konno et al., 2010). These mutations are mostly deleterious resulting in haploinsufficiency. The pathogenesis of DBA is thought to be attributed to defects in ribosome biogenesis resulting in p53 activation and apoptosis of the red blood cell precursors, which rely upon a high rate of ribosome biogenesis (Dai and Lu, 2004, Zhang et al., 2011).

Little is currently known about how phosphorylation regulates the 5S RNP. Therefore, the aim of this chapter was to characterise the role of RPL5 phosphorylation in regulating the 5S RNP-p53 pathway and ribosome biogenesis. To do this, several mutants of RPL5 were expressed in human U2OS cells and studied for their ability to activate p53, their effect on cell cycle, and their ability to integrate into the ribosome.

#### 5.2 Results

# 5.2.1 Tyrosines 30, 31 and 44 of RPL5 are located on the interaction surface with the ribosome and, thus, if phosphorylated, may block ribosomal integration.

Several tyrosine residues in RPL5 have been reported to be phosphorylated. The phosphorylation sites were mapped onto the structure (Figure 5.3A) of the human ribosome (Khatter et al., 2015) and assessed for their proximity to the 5S rRNA or the large subunit of the ribosome.

The three most interesting phosphorylation sites seen in this study were tyrosines 30, 31 and 44 (Y30, Y31 and Y44) as shown in yellow, green and orange respectively in Figure 5.3A-B. Y30, Y31 and Y44 were shown to be located on the interaction surface between the 28S rRNA and RPL5 (Figure 3.5B). This was interesting as phosphorylation at these sites could affect RPL5 being integrated into the ribosome. None of the three

phosphorylation sites appeared to be in a position to disrupt the RPL5 and 5S rRNA interaction.

Furthermore, when aligning RPL5 protein sequences across a spectrum of eukaryotic organisms, it was clear that the Y30, Y31 and Y44 sites were generally highly conserved (Figure 5.3C). However, Y31 was not conserved in two lower eukaryotes (*D. discoidium* and *T. gondii*). Furthermore, in zebrafish (*D. rerio*), Y31 is mutated to phenylalanine (F); this is interesting as phenylalanine cannot be phosphorylated and thus suggests phosphorylation of this site is species specific. These data taken together imply that it is possible that phosphorylation of Y30, Y31 and Y44 may disrupt integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome.



**Figure 5.3.** RPL5 Y30, Y31 and Y44 are located within the interaction surface with the ribosome and Y30 and Y44 are highly conserved in eukaryotes. (A) The cryo-EM structure of the 5S RNP showing the position of Y30, Y31 and Y44 of RPL5. The first image depicts the human ribosome structure (Khatter et al., 2015) of RPL5 (red), RPL11 (purple) and the 5S rRNA (white). The three potentially phosphorylated tyrosines are shown: Y30 in yellow, Y31 in green and Y44 in orange. The second and third images depicts Y30 and Y31 (yellow and green), showing their close interaction the 28S rRNA in grey (**C**) Sequence alignment showing the sequence similarity between the RPL5 in various eukaryotic organisms. Y30 and 31 are indicated with a red border and Y44 with yellow.

Therefore, it was important to validate these predicted phosphorylation sites and test whether phosphorylation of RPL5 in U2OS cells could be detected. In order to do this, Phos-Tag acrylamide gels were utilised. In Phos-Tag acrylamide gels, the phosphorylated proteins are retarded in their migration through the gel and thus phosphorylated proteins become separated from non-phosphorylated. U2OS cells expressing either an empty pcDNA5 vector or the RPL5-FLAG pcDNA5 vector were incubated in growth medium with the addition of 1 μg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours. Whole cell lysates were then separated by SDS-PAGE using 13% acrylamide gels with or without the addition of the Phos-Tag. Anti-FLAG antibody was utilised and showed FLAG-RPL5 expression in the induced cells.



**Figure 5.4. Phosphorylation of RPL5 in cells.** U2OS Flp-In cells stably transfected with an RPL5-FLAG pcDNA5 construct were incubated at 37°C in growth medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce the FLAG tagged protein. Whole cell lysates were separated via SDS-PAGE using either 13% acrylamide or 13% acylamide with PhosTag acrylamide prior to transferring to a nitrocellulose membrane via western blotting. Anti-FLAG antibody was used to probe the membranes

The PhosTag gel showed an additional signal that was not present on the control gel, suggesting the presence of phosphorylated RPL5 in U2OS cells (Figure 5.4).

## 5.2.2 Creation of inducible cell lines expressing FLAG-tagged RPL5 phosphorylation mutants

In order to study the effect of phosphorylation of RPL5, RPL5 mutants were generated that attempted to mimic phosphorylation (Y to E) or prevented phosphorylation (Y to F) of sites Y30, Y31 and Y44. U2OS cell lines were generated that would express FLAG-tagged wild type or mutant RPL5 upon induction with tetracycline. To do this, pcDNA5-FRT plasmids containing wild type RPL5 were subjected to site-directed mutagenesis using primers specific to each mutation. The resultant plasmids were then co-transfected into Flp-In U2OS cells with a vector expressing Flp recombinase (pOG44). Six of the intended cell lines were successfully created- Y30E, Y30F, Y44F, Y44E, and a double mutant of Y30F Y31F.

In order to establish their ability to express the proteins, the cells expressing the wild type or mutant RPL5 were incubated at 37°C with medium containing 1 µg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours before harvesting, separating whole cell extracts by SDS-PAGE and western blotting for RPL5 (Figure 5.5A). Upon expression of the wild type or RPL5 mutants, a larger molecular weight protein of RPL5 origin was detected using an anti-RPL5 antibody, indicating that the FLAG-RPL5 mutants were expressed as the FLAG-tag increases the size of the protein, thus affecting the migration through the gel. However, there were clear differences between the levels of induction of the proteins with the Y30F mutant exhibiting the highest induction of RPL5.



**Figure 5.5. Inductions of RPL5 and the mutants in U2OS cell lines. (A)** U2OS cell stably expressing RPL5 wild type and mutant proteins, as shown, were grown for 48 hours in the presence of 1µg/ml tetracycline before harvesting the cells. Whole cell lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and western blotted for RPL5 using Karyopherin as a loading control. The endogenous (End) and FLAG-tagged (FLAG) RPL5 are denoted on the left. (B) U2OS cells expressing RPL5 Y30F Y31F, Y31F or Y30F were induced for 48 hours with 1000 ng/ml tetracycline as indicated. The wild type RPL5 U2OS cells were similarly induced for 48 hours with a range of tetracycline concentrations from 1ng/ml-1000ng/ml tetracycline. Whole cell extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by western blotting.

As the level of protein expression for some mutants did not reach levels of wild type protein, comparable conclusions from these mutants would be inaccurate. Therefore, in order to rectify this issue, the Y30F Y31F, Y31F and Y30F mutants were incubated, as before, in normal medium containing 1000ng/ml tetracycline for 48 hours and compared to a 48 hour induction of the Wild type at varying tetracycline concentrations (Figure 5.5B). By analysing at the signal from the anti-FLAG antibody, it

was clear that the wild type protein expression did not increase proportionally with increased tetracycline levels and that it was not possible to reduce the expression of the wild type protein to the levels seen for the Y31F and Y30F/Y31F mutants. As the expression of some of the mutants was poor this meant that downstream experiments were often difficult as there was not enough expression to detect signals via western blot. Therefore, only the two highest expressing mutants, Y30E and Y30F, were carried forward for further studies.

# 5.2.3 Mutation of RPL5 tyrosine 30 does not affect the localisation of RPL5.

In addition to affecting protein-protein interactions, phosphorylation can also affect localisation of proteins (Stulke, 2010). In order to ascertain whether the mutations in RPL5 affected localisation of the protein, U2OS cells expressing either the mutant or wild type FLAG-tagged RPL5 were cultured with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline-containing medium, at 37°C, for 48 hours before fixing in 4% paraformaldehyde and analysing by immunofluorescence using antibodies raised against the FLAG tag and fibrillarin (to highlight the nucleoli). DAPI staining was used to indicate the nucleus (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6. Mutation of Y30 does not affect localisation of RPL5. U2OS cells expressing wild type, Y30E or Y30F FLAG-tagged RPL5 were grown on coverslips and induced with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours. The cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and prepared for immunofluorescence using anti-Fibrillarin (green), anti-FLAG (red) and DAPI (blue). Scale bar represents 1  $\mu$ m.

In agreement with previous studies, FLAG-RPL5 signal was enriched in the nucleolus and nucleoplasm (Sloan et al., 2013a). Very little cytoplasmic FLAG-signal was detected, due to the short induction times as 5S RNP incorporation into the ribosome is slow (Sloan et al., 2013a). As both the wild type and mutant RPL5 showed the same localisation pattern, this suggests that mimicking phosphorylation, or lack thereof, tyrosine 30 does not affect the regions in which RPL5 is localised.

### 5.2.4 Mutating Y30 to phenylalanine or glutamic acid does not affect RPL5-5S rRNA interactions.

RPL5 has been previously demonstrated to be required for the maturation of the 5S rRNA and formation of the 5S RNP is essential for ribosome production and, as all three factors of the 5S RNP are required to bind MDM2, p53 activation (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a). RPL5 association with the 5S RNA is crucial for the production of the 5S RNP, therefore it was important to establish whether RPL5 mutants could associate with the 5S rRNA.



T= Total C= Control IP= Immunoprecipitated

**Figure 5.7. Interactions between RPL5 wild type and mutants with the 5S rRNA.** Representative northern blot from three independent experiments to show association of wild type or mutant RPL5 with the 5S rRNA. U2OS cells expressing the wild type or mutant RPL5 were induced as in A for 48 hours before harvesting. Cell lysates were incubated with IgG sepharose with anti-FLAG antibody for 2 hours prior to washing, elution and RNA extraction. RNAs were separated by acrylamide gel electrophoresis and northern blotted and probed using <sup>32</sup>P labelled probes against 5S rRNA. T denotes 10% RNA totals.

U2OS cells expressing either an empty pcDNA5 vector (control), wild type, Y3OE RPL5, or Y3OF RPL5 were grown in medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline at 37°C for 48 hours before harvesting and lysing the cells. For the RNA immunoprecipitations, IgG sepharose alone (control) or in conjunction with anti-FLAG antibody (IP) were incubated with the lysates followed by RNA extractions, acrylamide gel electrophoresis, and northern blotting. The blots were incubated with <sup>32</sup>P-labelled probes specific for the 5S and 5.8S rRNAs (Figure 5.7).

The empty pcDNA5 vector control and no antibody control (denoted c) showed little– to-no signal in the IP lane, showing that the FLAG-tag or IgG sepharose alone do not associate with the 5S rRNA. Wild type RPL5 and the mutants all co-purified with 5S (Figure 5.7). This suggests that mutations of Y30 to phenylalanine or glutamic acid does not affect RPL5-5S RNA interactions and means that these mutants still have the potential to form the 5S RNP.

### 5.2.5 Expression of RPL5 Y30E results in increased levels of nonribosomal RPL5 compared the RPL5 Y30F mutant and wild type RPL5.

As the mutants interacted with the 5S rRNA, the next step was to investigate whether they were still incorporated into ribosomes. To do this, a 10-40% glycerol gradient was utilised to separate the free and ribosomal bound RPL5.

U2OS cells expressing either the wild type or Y30 mutant FLAG-tagged RPL5 were incubated for 48 hours with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline-containing media before harvesting. The cells were lysed and applied to a 10-40% glycerol gradient and separated by ultracentrifugation, before collecting 200  $\mu$ l fractions from the gradient. The fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE and used in western blot analysis using an anti-RPL5 antibody (figure 5.8A) in order to see the endogenous RPL5. The 'free' and 'ribosomal' fractions were defined as fractions 1-7 and 9-20 respectively based on previous experiments (Sloan et al., 2013a). Magnesium was omitted from the lysate during sonication in order to prevent the nucleoli staying intact as this is where most of the RPL5 is present (Figure 5.6).

The endogenous RPL5 showed the same distribution through the fractions (Figure 5.6A labelled end) upon expression of the wild type or mutant FLAG-RPL5. The wild type RPL5 gave a strong RPL5-FLAG signal in the ribosomal fractions (Figure 5.8A fractions 9-20). When densitometry analysis (Figure 5.8B) was carried out, it revealed that the wild type had, on average, 20% of the protein in the 'free' fractions (Figure 5.8A fractions 1-7). Similar results were seen with the Y30F mutant, with no significant difference between the percentages of free RPL5 present when using a paired t-test.



Figure 5.8. Mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 Y30 leads to decreased ribosomal integration of RPL5. (A) Representative western blots from three independent experiments to show incorporation of wild type or mutant RPL5 into the ribosome. U2OS cell lines expressing FLAG-tagged wild type, Y3OF, or Y3OE RPL5 were grown in the presence of 1 µg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce protein expression. The cells were harvested and lysates prepared and applied to a 10-40% glycerol gradient to separate the large and small complexes. The resultant gradient was fractionated, separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by western blot using an anti-RPL5 antibody. (B) The western blot in A was subjected to densitometry analysis and the density of the FLAG-tagged RPL5 signal was quantified using ImageJ. Each bar in B represents the means  $\pm$  the standard deviation of the means, n=3. Statistical significance was determined using a paired t-test. NS= nonsignificant, \*= P ≤ 0.05, \*\*= p≤ 0.01, \*\*\*= p≤ 0.001.

The Y30E mutant, however, showed a very different profile from the wild type and Y30F mutant. Most of the FLAG-RPL5 Y30E was in the 'free' fractions (Figure 5.8A fractions 1-7). The Y30E mutant had around 85% of protein in the 'free' fractions (Figure 5.8B) which was highly significantly different from the wild type when analysed using a paired t-test. This suggested that mimicking phosphorylation of Y30 may prevent integration of RPL5 into the ribosome, whilst preventing phosphorylation has no effect.

### 5.2.6 RPL5 shows evidence of differential phosphorylation between non-ribosomal and ribosomal RPL5

As the data suggested that phosphorylation of tyrosine 30 prevents ribosomal integration of RPL5, it was important to establish whether there was preferential

phosphorylation of free RPL5 over ribosomal RPL5. In order to investigate this, Phos-Tag acrylamide was utilised as it enables separation of phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated proteins as described in section 5.2.1. As the previous experiment (Figure 5.4) had shown a 'smear' of RPL5 phosphorylation, the gels were separated for longer using a lower percentage of acrylamide to allow for better resolution.



Figure 5.9. RPL5 is differentially phosphorylated when incorporated into ribosomes. U2OS Flp-In cells stably transfected with an RPL5-FLAG pcDNA5 construct were incubated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce the FLAG tagged protein. The cells were harvested, lysed and separated by 10-40% glycerol gradient centrifugation. Fractions were taken from the resultant gradient and fractions 1-8 were combined and denoted 'free' 5S RNP whilst fractions 9-16 were combined and denoted 'ribosomal' 5S RNP. The pooled fractions were separated via SDS-PAGE using either 7% acrylamide or 7% acylamide with PhosTag acrylamide prior to transferring to a nitrocellulose membrane via western blotting. Anti-FLAG antibody was used to probe the membranes. The signals indicating FLAG-RPL5 and the two phosphorylated RPL5 signals are indicated on the right.

U2OS cells expressing wild type FLAG-RPL5 were incubated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracyclinecontaining medium, at 37°C, for 48 hours prior to harvesting. The cells were lysed and applied to a 10-40% glycerol gradient before ultracentrifugation to separate the large and small complexes. The resultant gradient was sequentially aliquoted into 200 $\mu$ l fractions. Based on previous gradient experiments (Figure 5.8), fractions 1-7 and fractions 9-20 were pooled as the 'free' and 'ribosomal' pools of RPL5 respectively. The pooled protein fractions were separated using a 7% acrylamide gel or a 7% acrylamide gel containing 50 $\mu$ mol/L Phos-tag and 100 $\mu$ mol/L MnCl<sub>2</sub> (Figure 5.9). The proteins were transferred via western blotting to a nitrocellulose membrane and probed using an anti-FLAG antibody.

With the standard 7% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gel, there was a single signal from the anti-FLAG antibody that denoted the FLAG-RPL5 protein. However, the Phos-tag gel had multiple signals of a higher molecular weight than the FLAG-RPL5 signal (denoted P-FLAG-RPL5), suggesting the presence of phosphorylated proteins. A higher molecular weight signal was detected specifically in the total protein and the 'free' fraction that did not appear to be detected in the 'ribosomal' fraction. Furthermore, an additional higher molecular weight signal was detected in the 'ribosomal' pool but appeared not to be in the 'free' pool. This suggests that different phosphorylations may be present in the 'free' and 'ribosomal' pools of RPL5 and may support the theory that phosphorylation may regulate 5S RNP integration into the ribosome.

#### 5.2.7 FLAG-RPL5 Y30 mutants associate with MDM2 and p53

Looking at the cryo-EM structure of the human ribosome, the RPL5 Y30 residue appeared to be in close proximity to helices 83-85 of the 28S rRNA. This region has been shown to bind to RPL11 in the same region that MDM2 binds (Zheng et al., 2015), thus suggesting that phosphorylation of this site may disrupt 5S-RNP MDM2 interactions. Therefore, immunoprecipitations were utilised to look for interactions between wild type or mutant RPL5 and MDM2.

U2OS cells expressing either an empty pcDNA5 vector (control), wild type, Y3OE RPL5, or Y3OF RPL5 were grown in medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline at 37°C for 48 hours before harvesting and collection of lysates. The lysates were incubated with anti-FLAG conjugated agarose beads for 2 hours before elution of the protein, separation by SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis (Figure 5.10). The control FLAG-tag did not copurify MDM2 or p53, suggesting any interactions were specific to RPL5.



**Figure 5.10. The RPL5 mutants interact MDM2 and p53.** Representative western blot from two independent experiments to show RPL5 association with MDM2 and p53. U2OS cells expressing the wild type or mutant RPL5 were incubated in growth medium containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours before harvesting. Cell lysates were collected and incubated with FLAG-conjugated agarose for 2 hours followed by elution, separation by SDS-PAGE and western blotting. T denotes 5% total protein. HC indicates cross-reactivity with the IgG heavy chain.

MDM2 co-purified with RPL5 and both of the mutants strongly, suggesting that phosphorylation of Y30, or lack thereof, has no effect on RPL5 association with MDM2. Furthermore, the 5% total protein (denoted T) for both the MDM2 and p53 was extremely weak, suggesting that the percentage being bound by RPL5 was much higher than the 5% total loaded. This suggests that RPL5 associates with a large percentage of the MDM2 in the cell.

The p53 binding site (Chi et al., 2005) and binding sites for the 5S RNP (Zhang et al., 2011, Zheng et al., 2015) do not overlap on MDM2, suggesting that the 5S RNP and p53 may simultaneously interact with MDM2. Marechal et al. (1994) detected the presence of an RPL5-MDM2-p53 complex in cells. Therefore, it was possible that the MDM2-5S RNP complex also contained p53. Furthermore, (Bursac et al., 2012) showed that p53 co-purified with MDM2, RPL5 and RPL11 and it has also been shown that RPL11 is recruited to promoter sites of p53 regulated genes (Sundqvist et al., 2009). However, it was recently shown that p53 does not associate with RPL5 or RPL11 (Zhou et al., 2015) and thus the presence of p53 in the RP-MDM2 complex remained uncertain. Therefore, a p53 antibody was utilised in the western blots to investigate p53 association with RPL5. Interestingly, the data shows that p53 co-purified with both the wild type RPL5 and mutants (Figure 5.10). This suggests that it is possible that p53 interacts with the 5S RNP/MDM2 complex.

### 5.2.8 The wild type and mutant RPL5 all increase p53 levels but the Y30F mutation does not increase p53 activity

It has been shown that expression of RPL5 in U2OS cells causes an increase in p53 (Horn and Vousden, 2008). It has also been hypothesised that anything regulating 5S RNP integration into the ribosome would be central in regulating p53 stabilisation via MDM2 (Sloan et al., 2013a). As mimicking phosphorylation of Y30 appeared to block integration of RPL5 into the ribosome, expression of the RPL5 Y30E or the Y30F mutant was investigated to see whether it would result in a changes in p53 activation compared to wild type RPL5.

U2OS cells expressing FLAG-tagged wild type, Y30E or Y30F RPL5 were grown at 37°C in media containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce the expression of the proteins. The cells were harvested and whole cell extracts separated by SDS-PAGE and

analysed by western blot for p53 and its downstream effector, p21 (Figure 5.8A). Karyopherin was used as a loading control.



Figure 5.11. Expression of the RPL5 mutants affects p53 protein levels and activity. (A) Representative western blot from three independent experiments to show how expression of the proteins affects p53 and p21 levels. U2OS cells expressing either wild type or mutant FLAG-tagged RPL5 were induced with 1 µg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours prior to harvesting and separating the whole cell lysates by SDS-PAGE before western blotting. Karyopherin was used as a loading control. (B) Densitometry analysis of p53 and p21 levels in A relative to the control. Each bar in B represents the means ± the standard error of the means from three experiments. (C) Representative western blot from two independent experiments to show the effect of RPL5 wild type or Y30 mutant expression on MDM2 protein levels. U2OS cells expressing wild type or mutant FLAG-tagged RPL5 were expressed as in A, separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed by western blotting using anti-MDM2 and p53 antibodies with an anti- $\alpha$ -tubulin loading control. Bars represent Densitometry analysis of C. (D) Luciferase assay to determine p53 activity upon expression of the wild type or mutant FLAG-RPL5. U2OS cells expressing the proteins as in A+B were transfected with a plasmid containing Renilla luciferase under a constitutive promoter and a plasmid containing firefly luciferase under the control of p53 regulated promoters. Luciferase was measured after 48 hours and normalised against relative protein concentrations. Each bar in B, C and D represents the means ± the standard deviation of the means, n=3. Statistical analysis determined by a paired t test. NS= nonsignificant,  $*= P \le 0.05$ ,  $**= p \le 0.01$ ,  $***= p \le 0.001$ .

Both the mutants and the wild type cell lines expressed significantly more p53 protein than the control, with the Y30E mutant showing the greatest increase in p53 (Figure 5.11 A-B). Whilst the difference between the p53 levels upon expression of the Y30E mutant were significant when compared to wild type (P=0.007), the difference between p53 levels upon expression of Y30F mutant compared to wild type were not. This suggests that RPL5 Y30F expression results in a similar p53 induction to wild type but expression of RPL5 Y30E results in a greater p53 induction. Interestingly, when studying the effect of the p53 downstream effector, p21, it was noted that expression of the mutant or wild type RPL5 resulted in increased p21 levels compared to control. However, when analysed by densitometry (Figure 5.11B), it revealed that expression of the Y30F mutant resulted in a lesser p21 response compared to the wild type or Y30F mutant RPL5. This suggested that whilst p53 protein levels had increased with RPL5 Y30F expression compared to the control cells, the amount of p53 activity had not increased proportionally.

Increased p53 expression results in increased MDM2 levels due a feedback loop between p53 and MDM2 (Barak et al., 1993). However, as the main regulator of p53 activity, increased levels of MDM2 can result in suppression of p53 (Bond et al., 2004, Jones et al., 1998). Therefore, the effect of wild type or mutant RPL5 expression on MDM2 protein levels were also studied. U2OS cells expressing wild type or mutant RPL5 were expressed as previously described and whole cell lysates separated by SDS-PAGE before western blotting. The resultant western blot revealed that expression of wild type RPL5 resulted in an increase in MDM2 protein levels (Figure 5.11C). Expression of the Y30E mutant resulted in a similar increase in MDM2 levels to the wild type. However, when analysed by densitometry analysis (bars- Figure 5.11C), it appeared that the MDM2 increase upon induction of the Y30F mutant was much greater than that upon induction of the wild type or Y30E mutant.

To further explore the effect of the RPL5 mutants on p53 activity rather than protein levels, plasmids containing p53-regulated Luciferase were utilised (Figure 5.11D). Cells containing wild type or mutant RPL5-FLAG were co-transfected with the pG13-LUC plasmid, which contains 13 copies of the p53 binding consensus linked to a luciferase reporter gene (el-Deiry et al., 1993), and the control pRL-TK renilla luciferase plasmid (Promega). Twelve hours after transfection, the cells were incubated in medium supplemented with 1 μg/ml tetracycline for 48 hours to induce the FLAG-tagged proteins. The cells were then lysed and assayed for luciferase activity using the Promega Dual Luciferase kit. The results were normalised against Renilla luciferase activity to account for any differences in transfection efficiency.

The results (Figure 5.11D) show that expression of wild type RPL5 results in just under a 3-fold increase in p53 transcriptional activity whereas expression of the RPL5 Y30E mutant brings about a 6-fold increase in p53 activity. Interestingly, induction of the Y30F mutant showed only a 50% increase in p53-regulated luciferase, supporting the hypothesis that the Y30F mutant increases p53 protein levels but does not lead to as successful of an activation of p53.

These data suggest that expression of RPL5 harbouring a mutation of Y30 to glutamic acid results in increased p53 protein levels and increased activation of p53. However, expression of RPL5 harbouring a mutation of Y30 to phenylalanine results in an increase in p53 protein levels but the p53 is less active.

### 5.2.9 Expression of the wild type RPL5 and the mutants all lead to decreased cellular growth rate.

As the induction of RPL5 and the mutants increased p53 levels, it was possible that this would impact upon growth of the cells. It had been noted during the previous experiments that the mutants tended to grow much slower than the wild type, which in turn, was slower than the control cells. Therefore, it was important to study this further with growth assays.



**Figure 5.12. RPL5 expression slows the growth of U2OS cells.** Cell counting experiment to show the effect of RPL5 expression on the cell growth over a 72 hour period. U2OS cells expressing FLAG-tagged wild type, Y30E, or Y30F mutant RPL5 cells were grown in the presence of 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline. Live cell numbers were counted at the time intervals as indicated. Each point on the graph represents the mean ± the standard deviations of the means, n=3.

U2OS cells expressing the FLAG-tagged wild type or mutant RPL5 constructs were incubated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml tetracycline-containing medium, at 37°C, to induce the expression of the proteins. Cells were counted at 24, 48 and 72 hours and total cell number was plotted (Figure 5.12). Expression of the wild type RPL5 reduced cell number; however the reduction in cell number of the two mutants was more marked. As p53 is involved in cell cycle regulation through p21, and apoptosis, this suggests that expression of the two mutant RPL5 proteins may be impeding cell cycle progression, despite the evidence for differences in their ability to activate p53.

#### 5.2.10 Expression of the wild type, Y30E or Y30F mutants leads to an accumulation of cells in G1/G0 in a p53-dependent manner

Whilst the effect of altered RPL5 protein levels on p53 expression has been extensively studied, few experiments have studied the effect of altered RPL5 protein levels on cell cycle progression. Teng et al. (2013) reported that depletion of RPL5 had no effect on cell cycle progression, whilst Singh et al. (2014) demonstrated in mice that RPL5 haploinsufficiency resulted in delayed G2 progression. One study involving U2OS cells showed that RPL5 expression promoted p53-dependent cell cycle arrest (Dai and Lu, 2004). Furthermore, it has also recently been determined that RPL5 over-expression, in p53 null SAOS-2 cells, induces apoptosis (Zhou et al., 2015). Therefore, to further elucidate the role of RPL5 over-expression on cell cycle progression, flow cytometry using Propidium Iodide (PI) was utilised (Figure 5.13). U2OS cells expressing control or FLAG-tagged RPL5 wild type or the Y30 mutants were induced with 1 µg/mI tetracycline for 48 hours, harvested and fixed in cold 70% ethanol before staining with propidium iodide and analysing by flow cytometry (Figure 5.13A-B). The cell cycle analysis was gated as shown in blue (Figure 5.13A) and only includes cells with a uniform size and shape.





Expression of FLAG-RPL5, FLAG-RPL5 Y30E, or FLAG-RPL5 Y30F resulted in an accumulation of cells in G1/G0, which is consistent with p53 activation. Statistical analysis using a paired t-test showed a small, but significant, difference between the percentage of cells in G1 between the wild type and the Y30E mutant with a p-value of 0.0032. The difference between the control and the wild type RPL5 had a very significant p-value of <0.0001 whilst the wild type compared to the Y30F mutant had a non-significant p-value of 0.5155. As the Y30E mutant shows the greatest level of p53 induction, it suggests that this increased p53 induction leads to increased cell cycle arrest. In order to determine whether the G1/G0 accumulation was caused by an increase in p53 activity, the inductions were carried out 12 hours post-transfection with 20  $\mu$ M p53 siRNA duplex (Figure 5.13C). In all cases, the depletion of p53 resulted in a reduction in the number of cells in G1/G0. Statistical analysis was carried out between the single and double knockdowns and, with p-values between 0.016 and 0.045, there was a significant decrease upon p53 knockdown in all cases, suggesting that the accumulation of cells in G1/G0 was p53 dependent.

This is surprising as the Y30F mutant showed similar cell cycle defects to the wild type, despite having less of an effect on p21 levels although this could be due to other factors as discussed later.

#### 5.3 Discussion

Post-translational modifications such as ubiquitination, NEDDylation, phosphorylation and acetylation are key in the regulation of p53 signalling (Meek, 1999, Xirodimas et al., 2004, Brooks and Gu, 2006, Vogelstein et al., 2000, Kumazawa et al., 2015). As NEDDylation has been demonstrated to regulate p53 signalling via RPL11 (Mahata et al., 2012, Sundqvist et al., 2009, Xirodimas et al., 2008), in this study it was proposed that other types of post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, could be important in regulating p53 signalling via 5S RNP. p53 signalling is regulated by multiple phosphorylation events in p53, MDM2, and MDMX (Chen et al., 2005, Goldberg et al., 2002, Jin et al., 2006, Loughery et al., 2014, Maya et al., 2001, Meek, 1999) and thus it was possible that, as regulators of p53, RPL5 and RPL11 may also be phosphorylated to modulate p53 signalling. Previous *in vitro* studies identified two different kinases that interact with RPL5 (Bialik et al., 2008, Park and Bae, 1999). Furthermore, phosphorylation of RPL5 at serine residues has been shown to prevent interaction with the 5S rRNA *in vitro* (Park and Bae, 1999), however there have been no *in vivo* experiments and no phosphorylation sites have yet been characterised that affect 5S RNP integration into the ribosome and result in the activation of p53. This chapter focused on the characterisation of reported phosphorylation sites that, based on the cryo-EM structure of the human ribosome, may affect integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome.

Analysis of the cryo-EM structure indicated that Y30, Y31 and Y44 of RPL5 were in close proximity to the 28S rRNA in the human ribosome (Figure 5.3) and thus mutations were introduced that mimicked phosphorylation (Y to E) or could not be phosphorylated (Y to F). Upon expression of the mutant RPL5 proteins, it was decided that only the Y30 mutations could be reliably used for experimentation due to poor expression and survival of the cells expressing the other RPL5 mutants. The toxicity of these mutations suggested a vital role in cell survival and thus they could prove to be extremely interesting to study. It would be of interest in the future to try to improve their expression. It is possible that only a small proportion of the cells were expressing the proteins and therefore clonally selecting the cell colonies could help to rectify this problem.

Whilst mutations that attempted to mimic phosphorylation of, or lack thereof, Y30 did not appear to affect the areas in which RPL5 was localised (Figure 5.6), mimicking phosphorylation of Y30 did appear to abrogate RPL5 incorporation into the ribosome (Figure 5.8). As the Y30E mutant was expressed more strongly than the other two proteins, an excess of 'free' protein may be expected. If the rate of incorporation of the 5S RNP into ribosomes was steady between the wild type and mutants, there should have been equal amounts of each mutant incorporated into the ribosome regardless of how much additional 'free' RPL5 was present. These data taken together indicate that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 at Y30 by mutating it to glutamic acid may prevent integration of RPL5 into the ribosome. As discussed in previous chapters, this could be due to the mutations having a direct effect on ribosomal incorporation of RPL5 or it may abrogate interactions with proteins responsible for RPL5 recruitment. This could be further investigated by looking for interactions between these mutants and proteins known to be involved in 5S RNP recruitment- such as PICT-1.

148

Furthermore, glycerol gradients were utilised to determine whether it was possible detect phosphorylated RPL5 in ribosomes. The small 'free' 5S RNP fractions were directly compared to the large 'ribosomal' bound 5S RNP fractions. A higher molecular weight signal was present on a phos-tag western blot in the free pool that was not present in the 'ribosome' pool. Furthermore, there was a higher molecular weight signal present in the 'ribosome' pool that was not present in the 'free' pool, suggesting the evidence of differential phosphorylation (Figure 5.9). However, this experiment only demonstrates that phosphorylation is present in 'free' and 'ribosomal' pools, but does not reveal which residues are phosphorylated. The experiment was carried out with the expression of RPL5-FLAG cells using an anti-FLAG antibody and not the endogenous protein and, therefore, is not necessarily representative of the endogenous protein. However, the RPL5 antibodies were not specific enough to use; resulting in too many off-target signals. Another limitation of this study is that this is an artificial situation and has already induced ribosomal stress due to over-expression of ribosomal proteins resulting in p53 activation. Therefore, this is not a true representation of what would happen in a normal, unstressed cell. If a more specific RPL5 antibody were used, this may give a better result with the endogenous protein. It would also be possible to utilise an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody in an immunoprecipitation experiment followed by gradient centrifugation and western blotting for RPL5 as this would only show phosphorylated tyrosine.

As RPL5 over-expression has been shown to stabilise p53 (Horn and Vousden, 2008), it was unsurprising that expression of the wild type, Y30E, or Y30F RPL5 resulted in increased p53 levels (Figure 5.11A-B). In addition, RPL5 Y30E expression resulted in a greater increase in p53 levels compared to the wild type. This is presumably as a result of RPL5 Y30E not being incorporated into ribosomes or due to the higher levels of expression of the RPL5 Y30E mutant, although it is not yet clear which.

It has been demonstrated that MDM2 binds to the RPL11 in the same region that RPL11 binds helices 83-85 of the 28S rRNA (Zheng et al., 2015). As the Y30 residue was in very close proximity to the 28S rRNA binding site (Figure 5.3A), it was possible that mutating this site would affect RPL5-MDM2 interactions. However, the wild type, Y30E, and Y30F RPL5 mutations associated with MDM2 (Figure 5.10) thus suggesting that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 Y30 does not abrogate MDM2-RPL5 association.

Furthermore, the levels of MDM2 protein were analysed upon induction of the wild type or mutant FLAG-RPL5 proteins (Figure 5.11C) and it was found that expression of the wild type or mutant RPL5 increased MDM2 expression, possibly as a result of the MDM2-p53 feedback loop whereby p53 increases can drive MDM2 expression (Barak et al., 1993). Furthermore, whilst the interaction between the 5S RNP and p53 had previously been debated (Zhou et al., 2015, Bursac et al., 2012, Marechal et al., 1994), in this study, association between RPL5 and p53 was detected (Figure 5.10). This suggested that RPL5 associates with p53 and MDM2 and that mimicking phosphorylation of Y30 does not affect these associations. As RPL11 had been previously shown to be recruited to promoter sites of p53 regulated genes (Sundqvist et al., 2009), the data in this study may support the theory that the 5S RNP complex with p53 may be recruited to p53 promoters.

When the downstream effector of p53, p21, was analysed, expression of the Y30F mutation appeared to have a lesser impact on p21 levels compared to the wild type or Y30E expression. This was supported by the fact that expression of the RPL5 wild type or Y30E mutant in cells transfected with a p53-driven luciferase reporter resulted in an increase in luciferase levels, but expression of the Y30F mutant had no significant effect (Figure 5.11D). This may suggest that expression of RPL5 Y30F is not sufficient to increase activity of p53. This could potentially mean that the Y30 site of RPL5 is required for adequate activation of p53 as summarised in figure 5.14.

One explanation for the reduced p53 activity could be due to interactions with p73 as RPL5 and RPL11 can activate the p53 homolog, p73. RPL5 and RPL11 bind to the N-terminal transactivation domain of p73, blocking MDM2 binding to this domain and increasing p73 activity (Zhou et al., 2015). As p73 has the ability to transactivate many of the same genes involved in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis as p53 (Jost et al., 1997, Zhu et al., 1998), this may provide insight into why the RPL5 Y30F mutant does not increase p53 activity but can still affect cell cycle progression.

150



**Figure 5.14 Schematic representation of the proposed role of phosphorylation in 5S RNP signalling.** Non-phosphorylated RPL5 is incorporated as part of the 5S RNP complex into the ribosome. If RPL5 is phosphorylated, the 5S RNP is not incorporated into ribosomes and can interact with MDM2 and p53 to promote p53 stabilisation and activation.

It was previously demonstrated, using the pG13 luciferase reporter, that p73 induction results in a small increase in luciferase levels compared to p53. However, when p53 and p71 were both expressed, the luciferase levels remained similar to that of p73 induction alone (Vikhanskaya et al., 2000). Therefore, one possible explanation for the reduced luciferase levels upon induction of RPL5 Y30F compared to the control is that expression of RPL5 Y30F may lead to an increase in p73 levels and thus cause only a small luciferase increase, despite p53 increases.

Another explanation for the lack of p53 activity in the Y30F mutation could be explained by interactions with MDMX. Unlike MDM2, MDMX does not have E3 ligase activity and instead inhibits p53 by binding to its transactivation domain (Danovi et al., 2004, Jackson and Berberich, 2000). This means that MDMX inhibits p53 without affecting p53 levels. Recently, the 5S rRNA was shown to be involved in the stability of MDMX (Li and Gu, 2011) whilst RPL11-MDM2 interactions were shown to be involved in the degradation of MDMX under ribosomal stress conditions (Gilkes et al., 2006). Although, currently it is believed that RPL5 and RPL11 do not interact with MDMX (Gilkes et al., 2006), given that the 5S rRNA is often found in a complex with RPL5 and/or RPL11, it is possible that RPL5 Y30F, in conjunction with the 5S rRNA and/or RPL11 results in increased stability of MDMX and thus p53 activity but not levels are affected as shown in Figure 5.15. Furthermore, as MDMX regulates the stability of MDM2 (Gu et al., 2002), this may explain the higher MDM2 protein levels seen upon expression of the RPL5 Y30F mutant. In order to further test these theories, it would be beneficial in the future to assess the mutants for their ability to increase p73 activity or their interactions with MDMX in order to understand the mechanisms behind the differences in p53 activity between the mutants.



**Figure 5.15. Proposed model for phosphorylation in the regulation of p53 via MDMX.** In normal cells, RPL5 (unphosphorylated at Y30) with RPL11 and the 5S rRNA bind to MDMX and inactivate p53. Upon nucleolar stress, RPL5 (phosphorylated at Y30) with RPL11 and the 5S rRNA bind to MDM2 to promote ubiquitination of MDMX and activate p53.

In this chapter, it was shown that expression of RPL5, whether wild type or mutant, in U2OS cells resulted in a decreased total cell number compared to the control (Figure 5.12) and caused cells to accumulate in G1/G0 in a p53-dependent manner (Figure 5.13). This is in agreement with results from several groups (Hiebert et al., 1995, Agarwal et al., 1995, Kastan et al., 1991) who have shown that p53 activation causes G1 cell cycle arrest in a range of cell types. The Y30E mutant showed a small but significantly higher proportion of cells in G1/G0 than the wild type expression. This correlates with the higher p53 levels seen in these cells, whereas the Y30F mutation had a similar profile to the wild type. The gating used for the cell cycle analysis is only focused upon regularly shaped cells and specifically excludes dead cells and debris. To further explore the effect of these mutations on cell death, Annexin V and 7-AAD staining could be used to look for signs of apoptosis (Zembruski et al., 2012).

One limitation of this chapter as a whole is that phosphorylation mimics are not always an accurate representation of phosphorylation in the cell. Phosphorylated tyrosine is a difficult amino acid to mimic; glutamic acid makes a good mimic for phosphoserine (Maciejewski et al., 1995) as they have similar structures. However, there is no natural amino acid that is similar to phosphotyrosine. However, if the kinase or phosphatase could be identified, this would allow the phosphorylation to be up-regulated or downregulated by manipulating the kinase or phosphatase levels in cells. Whilst no kinases have yet been identified, investigation into the possible kinases involved through the use of the Group based predicition system, GPS (Xue et al., 2008), identified several kinases with the potential to phosphorylate tyrosine 30 of RPL5- Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (Alk), the Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase MER, Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 kinase, Janus kinase 3 (JAK3), the insulin receptor tyrosine kinases and the tyrosine-protein kinase HCK. Further investigation into these tyrosine kinases may reveal an insight into whether this phosphorylation of RPL5 does, indeed, exist in cells.

In this chapter, the possibility that phosphorylation may be an important regulator involved in 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling was highlighted. Mimicking phosphorylation of tyrosine 30 of RPL5 by mutating it to glutamic acid appears to prevent the integration of RPL5 into the ribosome and enhances p53 signalling. Interestingly, mimicking phosphorylation of tyrosine 30 also appears to be important for activation of p53, suggesting that it is an important regulation step in the pathway. As the 5S RNP has been implicated in diseases such as Diamond Blackfan Anaemia, a greater understanding of the regulation of the pathway could be crucial to the discovery of novel treatments for DBA. This chapter has highlighted the possibility that phosphorylation of RPL5 may be important for the activation of p53 and thus the kinases involved, if specific to RPL5, could be manipulated to affect 5S RNP-mediated p53 activation. However, at present, the specific Y30 phosphorylation has not been confirmed in cells and no tyrosine kinases have been identified that interact with RPL5 and therefore it remains unclear which kinases could be responsible for the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in RPL5.

#### **CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION**

#### **6.1 Introduction**

The aim of this project was to investigate the factors contributing to the regulation of the 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling pathway. Ribosomes are crucial cellular machines that catalyse the translation of mRNA into proteins. Ribosome biogenesis is an extremely complex process and thus has to be tightly regulated. When ribosome biogenesis is disrupted, the 5S RNP, a component of the large ribosomal subunit, is free to bind to MDM2, the major suppressor of p53, and activate p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a, Donati et al., 2013). However, the regulation of this pathway is not yet fully understood.

In this thesis, I investigated factors involved in 5S RNP integration into the ribosome and post-translational modifications of RPL5. One primary mechanism of 5S RNPmediated regulation of p53 is through control of the integration of 5S RNP into the ribosome. This project has shown that the large subunit ribosomal proteins, RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21, are ribosome biogenesis factors that appear to be required for the 5S RNP integration into the ribosome. Furthermore, this project has demonstrated *in vitro* that RPL11 can bind to a small fragment of the 28S rRNA that could possibly be used prevent interactions between the 5S RNP and MDM2.

Phosphorylation of p53 and its regulators plays a vital role in the regulation of p53 signalling pathways (Goldberg et al., 2002, Maya et al., 2001, Jin et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2005, Meek, 1999). I wanted to investigate the role of phosphorylation in regulating the 5S RNP to elucidate if phosphorylation of RPL5 could activate p53 signalling. I found that expression of a mutated RPL5 mimicking RPL5 phosphorylation (RPL5 Y30E) resulted RPL5 ribosomal integration defects coupled with p53 activation.

In this project I have also expanded on previous data showing that SRSF1 and PRAS40 interact with components of the 5S RNP to regulate p53 signalling (Fregoso et al., 2013, Havel et al., 2014). SRSF1 was demonstrated to associate with RPL5 and MDM2 to activate p53 (Fregoso et al., 2013), whilst PRAS40 was shown to associate with RPL11 and sequester it to the nucleoli, preventing it from binding to MDM2. However, studies have since shown that 5S RNA, RPL5 and RPL11 are all required for p53 activation (Donati et al., 2013, Sloan et al., 2013a) and thus I questioned whether these proteins interacted with the 5S RNP. I have shown that SRSF1 interacts with the 5S rRNA and is required for the integration of RPL5 and RPL11 into the ribosome. Furthermore, I have demonstrated that both SRSF1 and PRAS40 are required for activation of p53 via the 5S RNP.

#### 6.2 rRNA processing in humans

In eukaryotic organisms, three of the four rRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase I as a single 47S (35S in yeast) polycistronic precursor in the nucleolus (Nazar, 2004). This precursor then undergoes a series of processing steps in order to produce the mature 28S (25S in yeast), 18S and 5.8S rRNAs. It is known that ribosomal proteins are required throughout the ribosome biogenesis pathway (O'Donohue et al., 2010) however, most of the current understanding of rRNA processing has been from studies in yeast, and human rRNA processing is less understood.

In both yeast and humans, processing of the internal spacer region, ITS1, is an important step as it separates the large and small subunit rRNAs. In humans, there are two pathways involved in ITS1 processing. The major pathway involves cleavage at site 2 followed by processing by exonucleases, whereas the minor pathway involves cleavage at site 2a and acts to compensate for a block in site 2 cleavage (Sloan et al., 2013b). I demonstrated that depletion of RPL7 or RPL18 resulted in accumulation of the 36SC processing intermediate, suggesting a defect in site 2 cleavage. Site 2 is located within the internal transcribed space region 1 (ITS1), and is thought to be equivalent to A<sub>3</sub> cleavage in yeast (Sloan et al., 2013a) and thus responsible for the separation of the small and large subunit precursor rRNAs. It was previously demonstrated that the 36SC precursor accumulated upon depletion of RBM28 or BOP1 and could be rescued by depletion of the exonuclease responsible for processing the 36S precursor to the 32S precursor, XRN2 (Sloan et al., 2013a). Therefore, this suggests that, like RBM28 and BOP1, RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21 are also required for site 2 cleavage, furthering the current understanding of site 2 cleavage in humans. Interestingly, it was recently demonstrated that RPL7, along with RPL8, might be necessary for the association and function of the A<sub>3</sub> assembly factors in yeast (Jakovljevic et al., 2012), suggesting that RPL7 is involved in A<sub>3</sub>/site 2 cleavage in both humans and yeast.

156

Further processing of the pre-rRNAs occurs within a second internal transcribed spacer region, ITS2. ITS2 contains two cleavage sites known as 3' and 4a and separates the 5.8S rRNA from the 28S rRNA. Cleavage at the 3'-region of ITS2 results in the generation of the 12S pre-rRNA (Hadjiolova et al., 1993) and further cleavage at site 4a results in a 7S pre-rRNA (Farrar et al., 2008). In eukaryotes, ITS2 excision is required for the formation of an evolutionarily conserved helix joining of the 3' end of the 5'8S rRNA and the 5' end of the 28S rRNA in mature ribosomes (Peculis and Greer, 1998) and thus is a crucial step in ribosome biogenesis. My data suggested that RPL21 depletion resulted in inefficient cleavage of the 32S rRNA, therefore presenting a role for RPL21 in ITS2 processing in humans.

Furthermore, I investigated the role of SRSF1 and PRAS40 in rRNA processing with pulse-labelling experiments. I found that neither depletion of SRSF1 nor PRAS40 showed any significant differences in the production of the 28S or 18S rRNAs over 3 experiments. However, SRSF1 depletion resulted in a slight increase in 32S with a slight decrease in 28S, suggesting that there could be very subtle large subunit processing defects, possibly in ITS2. Furthermore, PRAS40 depletion resulted in a slight increase in 47S with a slight decrease in 32S suggesting that PRAS40 may have subtle effects on ITS1 processing. However, as there was no significant differences, it would be of interest to investigate the effect of SRSF1 or PRAS40 using specific probes to ITS1 and ITS2 to reveal more subtle defects.

Therefore, these data taken together suggest a role for the ribosomal proteins, RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21, and possibly SRSF1 and PRAS40 in large subunit biogenesis, helping to unravel the complexity of human ITS1 and ITS2 processing.

#### 6.3 The recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome

There are several factors involved in regulating p53 via the 5S RNP. It has been suggested that any factors that affect the formation, localisation or ribosomal integration of the 5S RNP will have an impact on p53 signalling (Sloan et al., 2013a). Therefore, understanding factors involved in the recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome is crucial to understanding p53 activation via the 5S RNP. However, this process is not yet fully elucidated in humans. In yeast, the recruitment of the 5S RNP into the some is known to require Rrs1 and Rpf2. Rrs1 and Rpf2 form a complex

with the 5S RNP and are responsible for the integration of the 5S RNP into 90S preribosomes containing the 35S pre-rRNA (Zhang et al., 2007, Morita et al., 2002). Recently, the crystal structure of Rrs1 and Rpf2 complex has been solved in *Aspergillus nidulans* (Asano et al., 2014, Kharde et al., 2015) and yeast (Madru et al., 2015) leading to a greater understanding of the role of the Rpf2/Rrs1 complex in 5S RNP recruitment in these organisms. RPL5 and RPL11 are delivered to the nucleus and probably assembled onto the 5S rRNA by the symportin, Syo1 (Calvino et al., 2015) to form the 5S RNP. When the 5S RNP is recruited into the ribosome, it is locked into conformation by the C-terminal tail of Rpf2, Rsa4 and Nsa2 to prevent any rotation (Kharde et al., 2015, Bassler et al., 2015) and docks onto helix 84 of the 25S rRNA (Rhodin et al., 2011). Rea1, a dynein-related nuclear AAA-ATPase, releases Rsa4 from the 5S RNP and rotates the structure by 180° to form the correct conformation for the formation of the central protuberance (Bassler et al., 2015, Leidig et al., 2014).

Based on the *T. thermophila* crystal structure, I originally hypothesised that four ribosomal proteins, RPL7, RPL10, RPL18, and RPL21, formed a binding pocket for the 5S RNP in the ribosome. In light of the recent findings about the rotation of the 5S RNP, this may suggest that these proteins may not directly contact the 5S RNP in preribosomes. However, I demonstrated that depletion of the ribosomal proteins RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21 affected ribosomal integration of the 5S RNP. However, it still remains unclear as to whether the defects in 5S RNP ribosomal integration are caused purely by ribosome biogenesis defects or whether these proteins play a direct role in 5S RNP recruitment, although the latter seems more likely as it was previously demonstrated that depletion of ribosome biogenesis factors reduced 5S rRNA recruitment into the ribosome, but that depletion of the factors involved in direct recruitment of the 5S RNP (RPL11, PICT-1, BOP1, and NOP2) had a stronger effect (Sloan et al., 2013a). At present, it appears that the RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 depletions had a similar effect on 5S rRNA recruitment to RPL11, suggesting that they have a role in 5S RNP recruitment and are not just ribosome biogenesis factors. This suggests that the 5S RNP may not only contact the 28S rRNA upon binding, but may also require interaction with the surrounding ribosomal proteins. Interestingly, RPL10 depletion had no effect on the ribosomal integration of the 5S RNP. However, in yeast, RPL10

158
integration is affected by Rrs1 and Rpf2 depletion (Zhang et al., 2007), thus suggesting that, like in yeast, RPL10 is recruited after 5S RNP integration.

In human ribosomes, 5S RNP integration appears to be somewhat different to yeast. The human homologues of Rrs1 and Rpf2, RRS1 and BXDC1 have been shown to be involved in localisation of the 5S RNP but do not play a crucial role in ribosomal recruitment (Sloan et al., 2013a). Furthermore the nucleolar protein, PICT-1 (also known as Glioma tumour suppressor candidate region gene- GLTSRC2), directly contacts the 5S rRNA and has a more profound effect on 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome than BXDC1 or RRS1. The data presented within this project may suggest that SRSF1 is also required for ribosomal recruitment of the 5S RNP. However, it is not clear whether SRSF1 is directly involved in the integration of the 5S RNP or whether it is involved in earlier steps such as formation of the 5S RNP particle. Previous reports demonstrated that depletion of the 5S RNP components, or PICT-1, resulted in rRNA processing defects (Sloan et al., 2013a), however the data in this study suggested that SRSF1 depletion did not. This may suggest that whilst SRSF1 and PICT-1 are both required for the ribosomal recruitment of the 5S RNP, they differ in the fact that PICT-1 is required for rRNA processing, but SRSF1 is not. This may show that SRSF1 has a more direct role in 5S RNP recruitment rather than affecting ribosome biogenesis as a whole, however, to fully explore this possibility, northern blot analysis of the pre-rRNA precursors upon depletion of SRSF1 is required.

Furthermore, I investigated the possibility that phosphorylation of RPL5 may affect integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome. My data suggests that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 at Y30 prevents integration of RPL5 into the ribosome. The phosphorylation of serine residues on RPL5 was previously demonstrated to prevent interaction between RPL5 and the 5S rRNA *in vitro* (Park and Bae, 1999). This, together with the data presented in this thesis, would suggest that phosphorylation of RPL5 may play roles in both 5S RNP formation and 5S RNP integration into the ribosome. Interestingly, my data also showed evidence of phosphorylation present in ribosomal RPL5 that was not present in 'free' RPL5, suggesting that some phosphorylation sites may in fact be required for 5S RNP recruitment. In addition to Y30 there are many other phosphorylation sites in RPL5 and therefore investigating these other sites may provide greater insight into the role of phosphorylation in RPL5 regulation.

Furthermore, Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org) also lists multiple phosphorylation sites for RPL11. Initial work in the Watkins lab by Zhao Zhao has revealed that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL11 may also have similar effects to that seen in this project (Wakins lab- unpublished data) and thus may be a mechanism for regulation of 5S RNP integration.



**Figure 6.1 Proposed 5S RNP ribosomal integration pathway.** Schematic representation of our proposed model of 5S RNP recruitment into the ribosome. Free pools of the 5S RNP contain phosphorylated RPL5. We propose that this phosphate group is removed by an unknown phosphatase before the 5S RNP is incorporated into the ribosome, although different sites may be phosphorylated at this stage. Incorporation of the 5S RNP into the ribosome requires PICT-1 and SRSF1 and also requires interactions with the 28S rRNA, RPL7, RPL18 and RPL21 in the pre-ribosome.

As I have also shown that SRSF1 is important for integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome, it would be interesting to evaluate whether phosphorylation of RPL5 affects interactions between SRSF1 and RPL5. Similarly, SRSF1 phosphorylation is important for regulation of the localisation and function of SRSF1 (Hagopian et al., 2008, Lai et al., 2001, Ngo et al., 2005) and thus it is possible that phosphorylation of SRSF1 may affect its ability to interact with the 5S RNP. Therefore, studies into the effect of phosphorylation on SRSF1 and RPL5 interactions could further elucidate the role of SRSF1 in 5S RNP-mediated p53 signalling.

The data presented in this project has helped to further understand the factors involved in recruitment of the 5S RNP into the ribosome as summarised in Figure 6.1.

# 6.4 Regulation of the 5S RNP pathway

In this project, we also wanted to investigate factors that directly regulate p53 signalling via the 5S RNP. SRSF1 and PRAS40 had been previously demonstrated to be involved in p53 signalling via the 5S RNP and, therefore, we wanted to further elucidate these roles. Furthermore, as phosphorylation is a key regulator in p53

signalling pathways, we wanted to investigate whether phosphorylation of RPL5 affected the 5S RNPs ability to bind to MDM2 and activate p53.

#### 6.4.1 PRAS40 and SRSF1

As previously described, one of the potential candidates for regulating the p53 response to ribosomal stress is PICT-1. PICT-1 interacts with RPL5 and RPL11 and it was suggested that PICT-1 sequesters RPL11 to the nucleolus (Sasaki et al., 2011) to prevent interactions between the 5S RNP and MDM2. The proline-rich Akt Substrate of 40kDa (PRAS40, also known as AKT1S1), was suggested to have a similar role to PICT-1 in sequestering RPL11 to the nucleolus to suppress p53 activation (Havel et al., 2014). Havel et al. (2014) demonstrated that nuclear PRAS40 was able to bind RPL11 and prevent activation of p53 via ActD treatment. Furthermore, this binding was dependent upon the phosphorylation of PRAS40 via mTORC1 and AKT at residues S221 and T246. Interestingly, the complex containing RPL11 and PRAS40 was found to have a high molecular weight and it was hypothesised that this could contain other unidentified proteins (Havel et al., 2014). However, my data suggests that these proteins are not the other 5S RNP components as PRAS40 did not coimmunoprecipitate with the 5S rRNA or RPL5. Therefore, we hypothesised that PRAS40 was involved in negative regulation of the 5S RNP pathway by sequestering RPL11 to the nucleolus. However, my data also presented some new observations regarding PRAS40 activity. PRAS40 appeared to be required for activation of p53 via SRSF1, RPL5, and RPL11, contradicting the previous findings that PRAS40 prevents p53 activation via RPL11 (Havel et al., 2014). However, unlike RPL5, RPL11 or SRSF1 depletion, PRAS40 depletion did not abrogate the p53 response after ActD treatment, suggesting that it is not essential for p53 activation upon ribosomal stress. This may present differing roles for PRAS40 in the regulation of the 5S RNP whereby it is both able to negatively and positively regulate p53 signalling. Phosphorylation of PRAS40 is essential for its interaction with RPL11, resulting in MDM2-mediated degradation of p53 (Havel et al., 2014). Therefore, it may be possible that altering the phosphorylation state of PRAS40 affects its role in 5S RNP signalling. Therefore, further investigation into PRAS40 signalling could focus on using PRAS40 phosphorylation mutants to evaluate the impact on p53 signalling.

One other factor shown to regulate p53 signalling upon ribosomal stress was Serine-Arginine Rich Splicing Factor 1 (SRSF1- also Alternative Splicing Factor- ASF). SRSF1 is a 28kDa member of the SR protein family of splicing factors which are involved in constitutive and alternative splicing as well as being involved in mRNA nuclear export, mRNA translation and nonsense mediated decay (Long and Caceres, 2009). Fregoso et al. (2013) demonstrated a role for SRSF1 in p53 signalling via RPL5. It was suggested that RPL5, MDM2 and SRSF1 form a complex to stabilise p53 and induce senescence. However, as Donati et al. (2013) and Sloan et al. (2013a) both demonstrated that RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S RNP were all required for p53 activation in response to ribosomal stress I questioned whether SRSF1 interacted with the 5S RNP as a complex. Indeed, my data also shows that SRSF1 interacts with the 5S rRNA, although it was not possible to show interactions with RPL11 due to problems with antibodies. Recent studies in the Watkins lab have, however, demonstrated that SRSF1 is able to interact with RPL11 *in vitro* and thus may strengthen the hypothesis that SRSF1 interacts with the entire 5S RNP (Watkins lab-unpublished data). Furthermore, my data suggests that SRSF1 may form part of the 5S RNP complex involved in activating p53 upon ribosomal stress and maintaining normal p53 homeostasis.

I have also shown that SRSF1 depletion resulted in a reduction in nucleolar RPL5 as well as a reduction in cytoplasmic RPL11. Indeed, it was previously demonstrated that depletion of any factors crucial for large subunit ribosome production resulted in an increased re-localisation of cytoplasmic RPL11 to the nucleoplasm (Sloan et al., 2013a). As RPL5, RPL11 and the 5S rRNA are integrated into the ribosome as a complex (Calvino et al., 2015, Kharde et al., 2015, Leidig et al., 2014, Madru et al., 2015), it follows that depletion SRSF1 will also affect 5S rRNA integration, however this should be followed up in future experiments by investigating 5S rRNA integration into the ribosome.

The data presented in this thesis provides a foundation for future studies into the potential therapeutic targets for ribosomopathies such as DBA and 5q-syndrome. As localisation and ribosomal integration of the 5S RNP are crucial factors in the regulation of the 5S RNPs ability to activate p53, it follows that targeting factors that affect localisation or integration of the 5S RNP may be a viable treatment option for patients with ribosomopathies. Furthermore, the data presented in this project reveals

that the 5S RNP complex may be more complex than previously suggested, as my data suggests that the 5S RNP complex also contains SRSF1.

#### 6.4.2 Phosphorylation of RPL5

One further way that proteins are regulated is via post-translational modifications. Indeed, RPL11 has been demonstrated to be NEDDylated to regulate its stability and ability to activate p53 (Bursac et al., 2012, Mahata et al., 2012, Sundqvist et al., 2009, Xirodimas et al., 2008). However, the role of phosphorylation in 5S RNP regulation has yet to be reported in the literature. Phosphorylation of p53 is a key post-translational modification that regulates p53 signalling. p53 is phosphorylated at many different sites to regulate its function (Meek, 1999). In addition, phosphorylation of the p53 regulators, MDM2 and MDMX also regulates their ability to suppress p53 (Goldberg et al., 2002, Maya et al., 2001, Jin et al., 2006, Chen et al., 2005).

Therefore, I hypothesised that, as regulators of p53, the 5S RNP components may also be differentially phosphorylated to regulate p53 signalling. As a previous study demonstrated that RPL5 can undergo phosphorylation *in vitro* (Park and Bae, 1999), I focused my studies on RPL5.

At present, very little is known about phosphorylation of RPL5. Several phosphorylation sites have been reported on Phosphosite (http://www.phosphosite.org), but the relevance of these has not been investigated.

I have shown that the RPL5 Y30F mutation, to prevent Y30 phosphorylation, reduces the p53 response from RPL5 expression and that mutation to glutamic acid in an attempt to mimick phosphorylation affects RPL5 recruitment into the ribosome. This suggests that phosphorylation could be a key mechanism for controlling whether the 5S RNP is incorporated into the ribosome, and if it is not, how it affects p53 signalling. Unfortunately, there was not time within this project to identify the kinase responsible for the phosphorylation of RPL5 and to further investigate its existence in cells. RPL5 has been shown to interact with two different kinases (Park and Bae, 1999, Bialik et al., 2008), but neither are able to phosphorylate tyrosine residues. This should be investigated further, using a kinome screening technique, to reveal kinases and phosphatases involved in regulating the 5S RNP pathway.



binding which can be blocked by the activation of PRAS40. After 5S RNP formation, we propose that SRSF1 is recruited. If RPL5 is de-phosphorylated, SRSF1 is required to integratte the 5S RNP into the ribosome, this process also requires PICT-1. If RPL5 remains phosphorylated, the 5S RNP is not incorporated into ribosomes, it can bind to Figure 6.2 The proposed model for 5S RNP-p53 signalling via SRSF1 and PRAS40. The 5S RNP is formed by the binding of RPL5 to the 5S rRNA and subsequent RPL11 MDM2 and p53 to mediate p53 stabilisattion and activation. PRAS40 is required for p53 activation although its role is not yet clear. Interestingly, according to Phosphosite, T73 and Y119 are potential phosphorylation sites of RPL11 and these residues fall within the binding site of MDM2 (Zhang et al., 2011, Zheng et al., 2015). This could be a further mechanism for blocking RPL11-MDM2 interactions. Therefore, it would be beneficial to further investigate how these phosphorylations are regulated.

#### 6.4.3 Summary

In summary (Figure 6.2), my data in combination with previous observations in the lab suggests that SRSF1 interacts with the 5S RNP to facilitate in the activation of p53. Furthermore, PRAS40 associates with RPL11 and possibly sequesters it to the nucleolus but, in direct contrast to the literature, also may be involved in the activation of p53.

Furthermore, my data suggests that phosphorylation of RPL5 at Y30 may be a requirement for p53 activation and thus it is possible that the phosphorylation of RPL5 may also regulate interactions between SRSF1 and the 5S RNP. Therefore, it would be beneficial to test association between SRSF1 and the RPL5 phosphorylation mutants to further understand this regulation pathway.

### 6.5 Future treatments for disease

This project has revealed many avenues that could be explored to aid in finding new therapeutics for ribosomopathies, such as DBA and 5q-syndrome. I have mainly focused my investigation on DBA as the role of the 5S RNP signalling in this disease has been well studied.

The interaction with SRSF1 and PRAS40 with the 5S RNP is extremely interesting as one of the most promising treatments for DBA currently available is leucine treatment (Jaako et al., 2012, Payne et al., 2012, Pospisilova et al., 2007). However, despite its efficiency at treating DBA, it has little effect in 5q-syndrome patients (Yip et al., 2012, Steensma and Ebert, 2013). Leucine is an activator of the mTOR pathway (Lynch, 2001). Interestingly, mTORC1 is able to phosphorylate PRAS40 at S221 and this phosphorylation was thought to be essential for RPL11-PRAS40 interactions (Havel et al., 2014). Therefore, it follows that leucine treatment is an effective therapy as it activates mTORC1 leading to phosphorylation of PRAS40 and thus RPL11 is sequestered to the nucleolus and can no longer interact with MDM2 to activate p53. Furthermore, SRSF1 is able to activate mTORC1 (Michlewski et al., 2008, Ben-Hur et al.,

2013, Karni et al., 2007), suggesting that SRSF1 and PRAS40 may work in a conjunction to maintain p53 levels within the cell via the 5S RNP. In this project, I was not able to demonstrate leucine treatment reducing p53 levels upon ribosomal stress. However, future experiments altering the dosage of leucine or the effectiveness of leucine uptake would be required to fully understand this pathway. Furthermore, leucine treatment in conjunction with PRAS40 activation could be a more effective treatment than either treatment alone and thus future experiments could be carried out to this effect.

In addition to leucine treatment, drugs that activate mTORC1 may be useful in treating ribosomopathy patients of whom have increased 5S RNP-mediated p53 levels. One of the main activators of mTORC1 in the cell is AKT (Huang and Manning, 2009) and my data shows that inhibition of AKT activates p53 via RPL5. Therefore, I hypothesise that activation of AKT could potentially block p53 accumulation through the 5S RNP. One activator that would be worth testing as a potential therapeutic for DBA and 5q-syndrome would therefore be SC-79 which activates AKT (Jo et al., 2012).

During the course of this project it was demonstrated that mimicking phosphorylation of RPL5 at Y30 prevented integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome. Based on the data in Chapter 5 that mimicking phosphorylation of Y30 results in inefficient RPL5 incorporation into the ribosome, it is possible that blocking the kinase would potentially prevent accumulation of 'free' 5S RNP and prevent activation of p53. Therefore, if the kinase involved in this phosphorylation could be identified, this would present a potential therapeutic target for ribosomopathy patients.

This project also demonstrated that a small fragment of the 28S rRNA (helix 83-85) can bind to RPL11 *in vitro*. This fragment of the 28S rRNA has been shown to bind to RPL11 in the same region as MDM2 (Zheng et al., 2015). Therefore, it would be beneficial in the future to attempt to introduce the rRNA fragment into human cell lines to see whether it has the ability to block RPL11-MDM2 interactions. This could be an interesting therapeutic as, if it could be targeted specifically to the nucleoplasm, it would promote MDM2-mediated p53 degradation in patients with ribosomopathies without affecting ribosome production.

Furthermore, despite the fact that RPL5 and RPL11 depletion does not activate p53 (Sloan et al., 2013a), severe truncations of RPL5 and RPL11 (resulting in haploinsufficiency) have been reported in patients with DBA (Singh et al., 2014, Cmejla et al., 2009, Delaporta et al., 2014). In this project, RPL5 depletion was shown to induce cell cycle defects, with cells accumulating in G2/M. This was in agreement with previous studies that haploinsufficiency of RPL5 results in a G2/M arrest (Singh et al., 2014). This suggests that the mechanism of DBA pathogenesis in patients with RPL5, and presumably RPL11, mutations differ from that of the other ribosomal proteins. Therefore, patients harbouring these mutations would not benefit from targeting of p53. This is similar to what is seen in cancer as p53 is lost or mutated in a large proportion of cancers (Muller and Vousden, 2013), upregulation of p53 signalling in cancer patients may not be an effective treatment. Several of the ribosomopathies have a predisposition to cancer and RPL10 and RPL5 mutations have been described in patients with AML. Therefore, a greater understanding of the pathogenesis of these diseases and 5S RNP signalling could help to provide novel treatments for cancer. Further investigation into the mechanism behind the G2/M arrest upon RPL5 depletion would help to discover novel therapeutic targets. This could be performed using a gene expression array in conjunction with depletion of RPL5 or RPL11 to identify changes in the expression of cell cycle regulators.

## 6.6 Conclusions

This work has shown the complex nature of regulation of the 5S RNP in p53 signalling. It was shown that helices 83-85 of the 28S rRNA could bind *in vitro* to RPL11 and could be potentially used to prevent RPL11-MDM2 interactions. Three ribosomal proteins were identified: RPL7, RPL18, and RPL21, which appear to be required for the integration of the 5S RNP into the ribosome and, if depleted, cause 5S RNP-dependent p53 induction and cell cycle arrest. These findings also demonstrate a role for SRSF1 as a potential regulator of the 5S RNP-p53 pathway and show that, whilst PRAS40 is potentially required for the p53 response from RPL5 and RPL11 expression, it does not interact with the intact 5S RNP. Furthermore, phosphorylation of the RPL5 has been identified as a potential key regulator of the 5S RNP into the ribosome but it was also shown that phosphorylation of RPL5 may be required for p53 activation. Further analysis will be required to fully understand the regulation of the 5S RNP via SRSF1, PRAS40 and post-translational modifications.

### REFERENCES

- ACEHAN, D., JIANG, X., MORGAN, D. G., HEUSER, J. E., WANG, X. & AKEY, C. W. 2002. Three-dimensional structure of the apoptosome: implications for assembly, procaspase-9 binding, and activation. *Mol Cell*, 9, 423-32.
- AGARWAL, M. L., AGARWAL, A., TAYLOR, W. R. & STARK, G. R. 1995. p53 controls both the G2/M and the G1 cell cycle checkpoints and mediates reversible growth arrest in human fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 8493-7.
- AHAMAD, J., OJHA, S., SRIVASTAVA, A., BHATTACHARYA, A. & BHATTACHARYA, S.
   2015. Post-transcriptional regulation of ribosomal protein genes during serum starvation in Entamoeba histolytica. *Mol Biochem Parasitol*, 201, 146-52.
- ALLISON, L. A., ROMANIUK, P. J. & BAKKEN, A. H. 1991. RNA-protein interactions of stored 5S RNA with TFIIIA and ribosomal protein L5 during Xenopus oogenesis. *Dev Biol*, 144, 129-44.
- ALLMANG, C., MITCHELL, P., PETFALSKI, E. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2000. Degradation of ribosomal RNA precursors by the exosome. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 28, 1684-91.
- ALTER, B. P., GIRI, N., SAVAGE, S. A. & ROSENBERG, P. S. 2009. Cancer in dyskeratosis congenita. *Blood*, 113, 6549-57.
- ANCZUKOW, O., ROSENBERG, A. Z., AKERMAN, M., DAS, S., ZHAN, L., KARNI, R., MUTHUSWAMY, S. K. & KRAINER, A. R. 2012. The splicing factor SRSF1 regulates apoptosis and proliferation to promote mammary epithelial cell transformation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 19, 220-8.
- ASANO, N., NAKAMURA, A., KOMODA, K., KATO, K., TANAKA, I. & YAO, M. 2014. Crystallization and preliminary X-ray crystallographic analysis of ribosome assembly factors: the Rpf2-Rrs1 complex. *Acta Crystallogr F Struct Biol Commun*, 70, 1649-52.
- AUSTIN, K. M., LEARY, R. J. & SHIMAMURA, A. 2005. The Shwachman-Diamond SBDS protein localizes to the nucleolus. *Blood*, 106, 1253-8.
- AVONDO, F., RONCAGLIA, P., CRESCENZIO, N., KRMAC, H., GARELLI, E., ARMIRAGLIO, M., CASTAGNOLI, C., CAMPAGNOLI, M. F., RAMENGHI, U., GUSTINCICH, S., SANTORO, C. & DIANZANI, I. 2009. Fibroblasts from patients with Diamond-Blackfan anaemia show abnormal expression of genes involved in protein synthesis, amino acid metabolism and cancer. *BMC Genomics*, 10, 442.
- AVRUCH, J., HARA, K., LIN, Y., LIU, M., LONG, X., ORTIZ-VEGA, S. & YONEZAWA, K. 2006. Insulin and amino-acid regulation of mTOR signaling and kinase activity through the Rheb GTPase. *Oncogene*, 25, 6361-72.
- BABA, Y., FUJII, M., MAEDA, T., SUZUKI, A., YUZAWA, S. & KATO, Y. 2015. Deguelin induces apoptosis by targeting both EGFR-Akt and IGF1R-Akt pathways in head and neck squamous cell cancer cell lines. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 657179.
- BAKER, S. J., FEARON, E. R., NIGRO, J. M., HAMILTON, S. R., PREISINGER, A. C., JESSUP, J. M., VANTUINEN, P., LEDBETTER, D. H., BARKER, D. F., NAKAMURA, Y., WHITE, R. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1989. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science*, 244, 217-21.
- BARAK, Y., JUVEN, T., HAFFNER, R. & OREN, M. 1993. mdm2 expression is induced by wild type p53 activity. *EMBO J*, 12, 461-8.
- BARLOW, J. L., DRYNAN, L. F., HEWETT, D. R., HOLMES, L. R., LORENZO-ABALDE, S., LANE, A. L., JOLIN, H. E., PANNELL, R., MIDDLETON, A. J., WONG, S. H., WARREN, A. J., WAINSCOAT, J. S., BOULTWOOD, J. & MCKENZIE, A. N. 2010. A

p53-dependent mechanism underlies macrocytic anemia in a mouse model of human 5q- syndrome. *Nat Med*, 16, 59-66.

- BASEL-VANAGAITE, L., DOKAL, I., TAMARY, H., AVIGDOR, A., GARTY, B. Z., VOLKOV, A.
   & VULLIAMY, T. 2008. Expanding the clinical phenotype of autosomal dominant dyskeratosis congenita caused by TERT mutations. *Haematologica*, 93, 943-4.
- BASSLER, J., KALLAS, M., PERTSCHY, B., ULBRICH, C., THOMS, M. & HURT, E. 2010. The AAA-ATPase Rea1 drives removal of biogenesis factors during multiple stages of 60S ribosome assembly. *Mol Cell*, 38, 712-21.
- BASSLER, J., KLEIN, I., SCHMIDT, C., KALLAS, M., THOMSON, E., WAGNER, M. A.,
  BRADATSCH, B., RECHBERGER, G., STROHMAIER, H., HURT, E. & BERGLER, H.
  2012. The conserved Bud20 zinc finger protein is a new component of the ribosomal 60S subunit export machinery. *Mol Cell Biol*, 32, 4898-912.
- BASSLER, J., PATERNOGA, H., HOLDERMANN, I., THOMS, M., GRANNEMAN, S., BARRIO-GARCIA, C., NYARKO, A., LEE, W., STIER, G., CLARK, S. A., SCHRAIVOGEL, D., KALLAS, M., BECKMANN, R., TOLLERVEY, D., BARBAR, E., SINNING, I. & HURT, E. 2015. A network of assembly factors is involved in remodeling rRNA elements during preribosome maturation. *J Cell Biol*, 210, 169-70.
- BAUDIN-BAILLIEU, A., FABRET, C., LIANG, X. H., PIEKNA-PRZYBYLSKA, D., FOURNIER, M. J. & ROUSSET, J. P. 2009. Nucleotide modifications in three functionally important regions of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae ribosome affect translation accuracy. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 37, 7665-77.
- BAUER, A., TRONCHE, F., WESSELY, O., KELLENDONK, C., REICHARDT, H. M., STEINLEIN,
   P., SCHUTZ, G. & BEUG, H. 1999. The glucocorticoid receptor is required for stress erythropoiesis. *Genes Dev*, 13, 2996-3002.
- BELLODI, C., KOPMAR, N. & RUGGERO, D. 2010. Deregulation of oncogene-induced senescence and p53 translational control in X-linked dyskeratosis congenita. *EMBO J*, 29, 1865-76.
- BEN-HUR, V., DENICHENKO, P., SIEGFRIED, Z., MAIMON, A., KRAINER, A., DAVIDSON, B.
   & KARNI, R. 2013. S6K1 alternative splicing modulates its oncogenic activity and regulates mTORC1. *Cell Rep,* 3, 103-15.
- BEN-SHEM, A., JENNER, L., YUSUPOVA, G. & YUSUPOV, M. 2010. Crystal structure of the eukaryotic ribosome. *Science*, 330, 1203-9.
- BERNSTEIN, K. A., GALLAGHER, J. E., MITCHELL, B. M., GRANNEMAN, S. & BASERGA, S. J. 2004. The small-subunit processome is a ribosome assembly intermediate. *Eukaryot Cell*, 3, 1619-26.
- BERTWISTLE, D., SUGIMOTO, M. & SHERR, C. J. 2004. Physical and functional interactions of the Arf tumor suppressor protein with nucleophosmin/B23. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 985-96.
- BHAT, K. P., ITAHANA, K., JIN, A. & ZHANG, Y. 2004. Essential role of ribosomal protein L11 in mediating growth inhibition-induced p53 activation. *EMBO J*, 23, 2402-12.
- BIALIK, S., BERISSI, H. & KIMCHI, A. 2008. A high throughput proteomics screen identifies novel substrates of death-associated protein kinase. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 7, 1089-98.
- BLEICHERT, F., GRANNEMAN, S., OSHEIM, Y. N., BEYER, A. L. & BASERGA, S. J. 2006. The PINc domain protein Utp24, a putative nuclease, is required for the early cleavage steps in 18S rRNA maturation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 9464-9.
- BOESTEN, L. S., ZADELAAR, S. M., DE CLERCQ, S., FRANCOZ, S., VAN NIEUWKOOP, A., BIESSEN, E. A., HOFMANN, F., FEIL, S., FEIL, R., JOCHEMSEN, A. G., ZURCHER, C.,

HAVEKES, L. M., VAN VLIJMEN, B. J. & MARINE, J. C. 2006. Mdm2, but not Mdm4, protects terminally differentiated smooth muscle cells from p53-mediated caspase-3-independent cell death. *Cell Death Differ*, 13, 2089-98.

- BOLLI, N., PAYNE, E. M., GRABHER, C., LEE, J. S., JOHNSTON, A. B., FALINI, B., KANKI, J.
   P. & LOOK, A. T. 2010. Expression of the cytoplasmic NPM1 mutant (NPMc+) causes the expansion of hematopoietic cells in zebrafish. *Blood*, 115, 3329-40.
- BOND, G. L., HU, W., BOND, E. E., ROBINS, H., LUTZKER, S. G., ARVA, N. C.,
  BARGONETTI, J., BARTEL, F., TAUBERT, H., WUERL, P., ONEL, K., YIP, L., HWANG,
  S. J., STRONG, L. C., LOZANO, G. & LEVINE, A. J. 2004. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the MDM2 promoter attenuates the p53 tumor suppressor pathway and accelerates tumor formation in humans. *Cell*, 119, 591-602.
- BOULTWOOD, J., PELLAGATTI, A., CATTAN, H., LAWRIE, C. H., GIAGOUNIDIS, A.,
   MALCOVATI, L., DELLA PORTA, M. G., JADERSTEN, M., KILLICK, S., FIDLER, C.,
   CAZZOLA, M., HELLSTROM-LINDBERG, E. & WAINSCOAT, J. S. 2007. Gene
   expression profiling of CD34+ cells in patients with the 5q- syndrome. Br J
   Haematol, 139, 578-89.
- BOULTWOOD, J., YIP, B. H., VUPPUSETTY, C., PELLAGATTI, A. & WAINSCOAT, J. S. 2013. Activation of the mTOR pathway by the amino acid (L)-leucine in the 5qsyndrome and other ribosomopathies. *Adv Biol Regul*, 53, 8-17.
- BOWMAN, L. H., RABIN, B. & SCHLESSINGER, D. 1981. Multiple ribosomal RNA cleavage pathways in mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 9, 4951-66.
- BOYD, S. D., TSAI, K. Y. & JACKS, T. 2000. An intact HDM2 RING-finger domain is required for nuclear exclusion of p53. *Nature Cell Biology*, 563-568.
- BRADATSCH, B., KATAHIRA, J., KOWALINSKI, E., BANGE, G., YAO, W., SEKIMOTO, T., BAUMGARTEL, V., BOESE, G., BASSLER, J., WILD, K., PETERS, R., YONEDA, Y., SINNING, I. & HURT, E. 2007. Arx1 functions as an unorthodox nuclear export receptor for the 60S preribosomal subunit. *Mol Cell*, 27, 767-79.
- BRADATSCH, B., LEIDIG, C., GRANNEMAN, S., GNADIG, M., TOLLERVEY, D., BOTTCHER,
   B., BECKMANN, R. & HURT, E. 2012. Structure of the pre-60S ribosomal subunit with nuclear export factor Arx1 bound at the exit tunnel. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 19, 1234-41.
- BRATKOVIC, T. & ROGELJ, B. 2011. Biology and applications of small nucleolar RNAs. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 68, 3843-51.
- BRATKOVIC, T. & ROGELJ, B. 2014. The many faces of small nucleolar RNAs. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1839, 438-43.
- BRAULT, M. E., LAUZON, C. & AUTEXIER, C. 2013. Dyskeratosis congenita mutations in dyskerin SUMOylation consensus sites lead to impaired telomerase RNA accumulation and telomere defects. *Hum Mol Genet*.
- BROOKS, C. L. & GU, W. 2006. p53 ubiquitination: Mdm2 and beyond. *Mol Cell*, 21, 307-15.
- BROOKS, S. S., WALL, A. L., GOLZIO, C., REID, D. W., KONDYLES, A., WILLER, J. R., BOTTI, C., NICCHITTA, C. V., KATSANIS, N. & DAVIS, E. E. 2014. A novel ribosomopathy caused by dysfunction of RPL10 disrupts neurodevelopment and causes Xlinked microcephaly in humans. *Genetics*, 198, 723-33.
- BROWN, J. S. & JACKSON, S. P. 2015. Ubiquitylation, neddylation and the DNA damage response. *Open Biol*, *5*, 150018.
- BROWN, J. S., LUKASHCHUK, N., SCZANIECKA-CLIFT, M., BRITTON, S., LE SAGE, C., CALSOU, P., BELI, P., GALANTY, Y. & JACKSON, S. P. 2015. Neddylation Promotes Ubiquitylation and Release of Ku from DNA-Damage Sites. *Cell Rep*, 11, 704-14.

- BRUGAROLAS, J., CHANDRASEKARAN, C., GORDON, J. I., BEACH, D., JACKS, T. & HANNON, G. J. 1995. Radiation-induced cell cycle arrest compromised by p21 deficiency. *Nature*, 377, 552-7.
- BURNETT, P. E., BARROW, R. K., COHEN, N. A., SNYDER, S. H. & SABATINI, D. M. 1998. RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 1432-7.
- BURSAC, S., BRDOVCAK, M. C., PFANNKUCHEN, M., ORSOLIC, I., GOLOMB, L., ZHU, Y., KATZ, C., DAFTUAR, L., GRABUSIC, K., VUKELIC, I., FILIC, V., OREN, M., PRIVES, C. & VOLAREVIC, S. 2012. Mutual protection of ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 from degradation is essential for p53 activation upon ribosomal biogenesis stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 20467-72.
- CACERES, J. F., MISTELI, T., SCREATON, G. R., SPECTOR, D. L. & KRAINER, A. R. 1997. Role of the modular domains of SR proteins in subnuclear localization and alternative splicing specificity. *J Cell Biol*, 138, 225-38.
- CALVINO, F. R., KHARDE, S., ORI, A., HENDRICKS, A., WILD, K., KRESSLER, D., BANGE, G., HURT, E., BECK, M. & SINNING, I. 2015. Symportin 1 chaperones 5S RNP assembly during ribosome biogenesis by occupying an essential rRNA-binding site. *Nat Commun*, 6, 6510.
- CARRIER, F., SMITH, M. L., BAE, I., KILPATRICK, K. E., LANSING, T. J., CHEN, C. Y., ENGELSTEIN, M., FRIEND, S. H., HENNER, W. D., GILMER, T. M. & ET AL. 1994. Characterization of human Gadd45, a p53-regulated protein. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 32672-7.
- CAZZOLA, M. 2008. Myelodysplastic syndrome with isolated 5q deletion (5qsyndrome). A clonal stem cell disorder characterized by defective ribosome biogenesis. *Haematologica*, 93, 967-72.
- CHAIRATVIT, K. & NGAMKITIDECHAKUL, C. 2007. Control of cell proliferation via elevated NEDD8 conjugation in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 306, 163-9.
- CHAN, W. M., SIU, W. Y., LAU, A. & POON, R. Y. 2004. How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer? *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 3536-51.
- CHAVEZ-REYES, A., PARANT, J. M., AMELSE, L. L., DE OCA LUNA, R. M., KORSMEYER, S. J. & LOZANO, G. 2003. Switching mechanisms of cell death in mdm2- and mdm4-null mice by deletion of p53 downstream targets. *Cancer Res*, 63, 8664-9.
- CHEN, C. S., HO, D. R., CHEN, F. Y., CHEN, C. R., KE, Y. D. & SU, J. G. 2014. AKT mediates actinomycin D-induced p53 expression. *Oncotarget*, **5**, 693-703.
- CHEN, D., ZHANG, Z., LI, M., WANG, W., LI, Y., RAYBURN, E. R., HILL, D. L., WANG, H. & ZHANG, R. 2007. Ribosomal protein S7 as a novel modulator of p53-MDM2 interaction: binding to MDM2, stabilization of p53 protein, and activation of p53 function. *Oncogene*, 26, 5029-37.
- CHEN, I. T., SMITH, M. L., O'CONNOR, P. M. & FORNACE, A. J., JR. 1995. Direct interaction of Gadd45 with PCNA and evidence for competitive interaction of Gadd45 and p21Waf1/Cip1 with PCNA. *Oncogene*, 11, 1931-7.
- CHEN, L., GILKES, D. M., PAN, Y., LANE, W. S. & CHEN, J. 2005. ATM and Chk2dependent phosphorylation of MDMX contribute to p53 activation after DNA damage. *EMBO J*, 24, 3411-22.
- CHENG, K., SPORTOLETTI, P., ITO, K., CLOHESSY, J. G., TERUYA-FELDSTEIN, J., KUTOK, J. L. & PANDOLFI, P. P. 2010. The cytoplasmic NPM mutant induces myeloproliferation in a transgenic mouse model. *Blood*, 115, 3341-5.

- CHEUTIN, T., O'DONOHUE, M. F., BEORCHIA, A., VANDELAER, M., KAPLAN, H., DEFEVER, B., PLOTON, D. & THIRY, M. 2002. Three-dimensional organization of active rRNA genes within the nucleolus. *J Cell Sci*, 115, 3297-307.
- CHI, S. W., AYED, A. & ARROWSMITH, C. H. 1999. Solution structure of a conserved Cterminal domain of p73 with structural homology to the SAM domain. *EMBO J*, 18, 4438-45.
- CHI, S. W., LEE, S. H., KIM, D. H., AHN, M. J., KIM, J. S., WOO, J. Y., TORIZAWA, T., KAINOSHO, M. & HAN, K. H. 2005. Structural details on mdm2-p53 interaction. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 38795-802.
- CHIN, Y. E., KITAGAWA, M., SU, W. C., YOU, Z. H., IWAMOTO, Y. & FU, X. Y. 1996. Cell growth arrest and induction of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 WAF1/CIP1 mediated by STAT1. *Science*, 272, 719-22.
- CHIOCCHETTI, A., PAKALAPATI, G., DUKETIS, E., WIEMANN, S., POUSTKA, A., POUSTKA, F. & KLAUCK, S. M. 2011. Mutation and expression analyses of the ribosomal protein gene RPL10 in an extended German sample of patients with autism spectrum disorder. *Am J Med Genet A*, 155A, 1472-5.
- CHOESMEL, V., BACQUEVILLE, D., ROUQUETTE, J., NOAILLAC-DEPEYRE, J., FRIBOURG,
   S., CRETIEN, A., LEBLANC, T., TCHERNIA, G., DA COSTA, L. & GLEIZES, P. E. 2007.
   Impaired ribosome biogenesis in Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Blood*, 109, 1275-83.
- CHUN, K. H., KOSMEDER, J. W., 2ND, SUN, S., PEZZUTO, J. M., LOTAN, R., HONG, W. K.
   & LEE, H. Y. 2003. Effects of deguelin on the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway and apoptosis in premalignant human bronchial epithelial cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 95, 291-302.
- CIGANDA, M. & WILLIAMS, N. 2011. Eukaryotic 5S rRNA biogenesis. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA*, 2, 523-33.
- CMEJLA, R., CMEJLOVA, J., HANDRKOVA, H., PETRAK, J., PETRTYLOVA, K., MIHAL, V., STARY, J., CERNA, Z., JABALI, Y. & POSPISILOVA, D. 2009. Identification of mutations in the ribosomal protein L5 (RPL5) and ribosomal protein L11 (RPL11) genes in Czech patients with Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Hum Mutat*, 30, 321-7.
- CMEJLOVA, J., DOLEZALOVA, L., POSPISILOVA, D., PETRTYLOVA, K., PETRAK, J. & CMEJLA, R. 2006. Translational efficiency in patients with Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Haematologica*, 91, 1456-64.
- COHEN, G. M. 1997. Caspases: the executioners of apoptosis. *Biochem J*, 326 ( Pt 1), 1-16.
- COLE, S. E., LARIVIERE, F. J., MERRIKH, C. N. & MOORE, M. J. 2009. A convergence of rRNA and mRNA quality control pathways revealed by mechanistic analysis of nonfunctional rRNA decay. *Mol Cell*, 34, 440-50.
- COLOMBO, E., BONETTI, P., LAZZERINI DENCHI, E., MARTINELLI, P., ZAMPONI, R., MARINE, J. C., HELIN, K., FALINI, B. & PELICCI, P. G. 2005. Nucleophosmin is required for DNA integrity and p19Arf protein stability. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 8874-86.
- COLOMBO, E., MARINE, J. C., DANOVI, D., FALINI, B. & PELICCI, P. G. 2002. Nucleophosmin regulates the stability and transcriptional activity of p53. *Nat Cell Biol*, 4, 529-33.
- COOPER, J. A. 1989. Related proteins are phosphorylated at tyrosine in response to mitogenic stimuli and at meiosis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 9, 3143-7.
- DAI, M. S., ARNOLD, H., SUN, X. X., SEARS, R. & LU, H. 2007. Inhibition of c-Myc activity by ribosomal protein L11. *EMBO J*, 26, 3332-45.

- DAI, M. S., CHALLAGUNDLA, K. B., SUN, X. X., PALAM, L. R., ZENG, S. X., WEK, R. C. & LU, H. 2012. Physical and functional interaction between ribosomal protein L11 and the tumor suppressor ARF. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 17120-9.
- DAI, M. S. & LU, H. 2004. Inhibition of MDM2-mediated p53 ubiquitination and degradation by ribosomal protein L5. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 44475-82.
- DANG, C. V. 2012. MYC on the path to cancer. *Cell*, 149, 22-35.
- DANILOVA, N., BIBIKOVA, E., COVEY, T. M., NATHANSON, D., DIMITROVA, E., KONTO,
   Y., LINDGREN, A., GLADER, B., RADU, C. G., SAKAMOTO, K. M. & LIN, S. 2014.
   The role of the DNA damage response in zebrafish and cellular models of
   Diamond Blackfan anemia. *Dis Model Mech*, 7, 895-905.
- DANOVI, D., MEULMEESTER, E., PASINI, D., MIGLIORINI, D., CAPRA, M., FRENK, R., DE GRAAF, P., FRANCOZ, S., GASPARINI, P., GOBBI, A., HELIN, K., PELICCI, P. G., JOCHEMSEN, A. G. & MARINE, J. C. 2004. Amplification of Mdmx (or Mdm4) directly contributes to tumor formation by inhibiting p53 tumor suppressor activity. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 5835-43.
- DAS, S., ANCZUKOW, O., AKERMAN, M. & KRAINER, A. R. 2012. Oncogenic splicing factor SRSF1 is a critical transcriptional target of MYC. *Cell Rep*, **1**, 110-7.
- DAUWERSE, J. G., DIXON, J., SELAND, S., RUIVENKAMP, C. A., VAN HAERINGEN, A., HOEFSLOOT, L. H., PETERS, D. J., BOERS, A. C., DAUMER-HAAS, C., MAIWALD, R., ZWEIER, C., KERR, B., COBO, A. M., TORAL, J. F., HOOGEBOOM, A. J., LOHMANN, D. R., HEHR, U., DIXON, M. J., BREUNING, M. H. & WIECZOREK, D. 2011. Mutations in genes encoding subunits of RNA polymerases I and III cause Treacher Collins syndrome. *Nat Genet*, 43, 20-2.
- DE LAURENZI, V., COSTANZO, A., BARCAROLI, D., TERRINONI, A., FALCO, M., ANNICCHIARICO-PETRUZZELLI, M., LEVRERO, M. & MELINO, G. 1998. Two new p73 splice variants, gamma and delta, with different transcriptional activity. *J Exp Med*, 188, 1763-8.
- DECATUR, W. A. & FOURNIER, M. J. 2002. rRNA modifications and ribosome function. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 27, 344-51.
- DECATUR, W. A. & FOURNIER, M. J. 2003. RNA-guided nucleotide modification of ribosomal and other RNAs. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 695-8.
- DELAPORTA, P., SOFOCLEOUS, C., STIAKAKI, E., POLYCHRONOPOULOU, S., ECONOMOU, M., KOSSIVA, L., KOSTARIDOU, S. & KATTAMIS, A. 2014. Clinical phenotype and genetic analysis of RPS19, RPL5, and RPL11 genes in Greek patients with Diamond Blackfan Anemia. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, 61, 2249-55.
- DELEO, A. B., JAY, G., APPELLA, E., DUBOIS, G. C., LAW, L. W. & OLD, L. J. 1979. Detection of a transformation-related antigen in chemically induced sarcomas and other transformed cells of the mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 76, 2420-4.
- DEMOINET, E., JACQUIER, A., LUTFALLA, G. & FROMONT-RACINE, M. 2007. The Hsp40 chaperone Jjj1 is required for the nucleo-cytoplasmic recycling of preribosomal factors in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *RNA*, 13, 1570-81.
- DENG, C., ZHANG, P., HARPER, J. W., ELLEDGE, S. J. & LEDER, P. 1995. Mice lacking p21CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. *Cell*, 82, 675-84.
- DERENZINI, M., BETTS, C. M., CECCARELLI, C. & EUSEBI, V. 1986. Ultrastructural organization of nucleoli in benign naevi and malignant melanomas. *Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol*, 52, 343-52.
- DERENZINI, M., NARDI, F., FARABEGOLI, F., OTTINETTI, A., RONCAROLI, F. & BUSSOLATI, G. 1989. Distribution of silver-stained interphase nucleolar

organizer regions as a parameter to distinguish neoplastic from nonneoplastic reactive cells in human effusions. *Acta Cytol*, 33, 491-8.

- DERENZINI, M., THIRY, M. & GOESSENS, G. 1990. Ultrastructural cytochemistry of the mammalian cell nucleolus. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 38, 1237-56.
- DERENZINI, M., TRERE, D., PESSION, A., MONTANARO, L., SIRRI, V. & OCHS, R. L. 1998. Nucleolar function and size in cancer cells. *Am J Pathol*, 152, 1291-7.
- DEZ, C., HOUSELEY, J. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2006. Surveillance of nuclear-restricted preribosomes within a subnucleolar region of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *EMBO J*, 25, 1534-46.
- DINMAN, J. D. 2009. The eukaryotic ribosome: current status and challenges. *J Biol Chem*, 284, 11761-5.
- DOMINGUEZ, G., GARCIA, J. M., PENA, C., SILVA, J., GARCIA, V., MARTINEZ, L.,
  MAXIMIANO, C., GOMEZ, M. E., RIVERA, J. A., GARCIA-ANDRADE, C. & BONILLA,
  F. 2006. DeltaTAp73 upregulation correlates with poor prognosis in human tumors: putative in vivo network involving p73 isoforms, p53, and E2F-1. J Clin Oncol, 24, 805-15.
- DONATI, G., MONTANARO, L. & DERENZINI, M. 2012. Ribosome biogenesis and control of cell proliferation: p53 is not alone. *Cancer Res*, 72, 1602-7.
- DONATI, G., PEDDIGARI, S., MERCER, C. A. & THOMAS, G. 2013. 5S ribosomal RNA is an essential component of a nascent ribosomal precursor complex that regulates the Hdm2-p53 checkpoint. *Cell Rep*, 4, 87-98.
- DRAGON, F., GALLAGHER, J. E., COMPAGNONE-POST, P. A., MITCHELL, B. M.,
  PORWANCHER, K. A., WEHNER, K. A., WORMSLEY, S., SETTLAGE, R. E.,
  SHABANOWITZ, J., OSHEIM, Y., BEYER, A. L., HUNT, D. F. & BASERGA, S. J. 2002.
  A large nucleolar U3 ribonucleoprotein required for 18S ribosomal RNA
  biogenesis. *Nature*, 417, 967-70.
- DULIC, V., KAUFMANN, W. K., WILSON, S. J., TLSTY, T. D., LEES, E., HARPER, J. W., ELLEDGE, S. J. & REED, S. I. 1994. p53-dependent inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase activities in human fibroblasts during radiation-induced G1 arrest. *Cell*, 76, 1013-23.
- EBERT, B. L., PRETZ, J., BOSCO, J., CHANG, C. Y., TAMAYO, P., GALILI, N., RAZA, A., ROOT, D. E., ATTAR, E., ELLIS, S. R. & GOLUB, T. R. 2008. Identification of RPS14 as a 5q- syndrome gene by RNA interference screen. *Nature*, 451, 335-9.
- EL-DEIRY, W. S. 1998. Regulation of p53 downstream genes. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 8, 345-57.
- EL-DEIRY, W. S., TOKINO, T., VELCULESCU, V. E., LEVY, D. B., PARSONS, R., TRENT, J. M., LIN, D., MERCER, W. E., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1993. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell*, 75, 817-25.
- EL-DEIRY, W. S., TOKINO, T., WALDMAN, T., OLINER, J. D., VELCULESCU, V. E., BURRELL, M., HILL, D. E., HEALY, E., REES, J. L., HAMILTON, S. R. & ET AL. 1995.
   Topological control of p21WAF1/CIP1 expression in normal and neoplastic tissues. *Cancer Res*, 55, 2910-9.
- ELBASHIR, S. M., HARBORTH, J., WEBER, K. & TUSCHL, T. 2002. Analysis of gene function in somatic mammalian cells using small interfering RNAs. *Methods*, 26, 199-213.
- ELGHETANY, M. T. & ALTER, B. P. 2002. p53 protein overexpression in bone marrow biopsies of patients with Shwachman-Diamond syndrome has a prevalence similar to that of patients with refractory anemia. *Arch Pathol Lab Med*, 126, 452-5.

- ELMORE, S. 2007. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol*, 35, 495-516.
- FABER, A. W., VAN DIJK, M., RAUE, H. A. & VOS, J. C. 2002. Ngl2p is a Ccr4p-like RNA nuclease essential for the final step in 3'-end processing of 5.8S rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *RNA*, 8, 1095-101.
- FALINI, B., MECUCCI, C., TIACCI, E., ALCALAY, M., ROSATI, R., PASQUALUCCI, L., LA STARZA, R., DIVERIO, D., COLOMBO, E., SANTUCCI, A., BIGERNA, B., PACINI, R., PUCCIARINI, A., LISO, A., VIGNETTI, M., FAZI, P., MEANI, N., PETTIROSSI, V., SAGLIO, G., MANDELLI, F., LO-COCO, F., PELICCI, P. G. & MARTELLI, M. F. 2005. Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. N Engl J Med, 352, 254-66.
- FALINI, B., NICOLETTI, I., BOLLI, N., MARTELLI, M. P., LISO, A., GORELLO, P., MANDELLI, F., MECUCCI, C. & MARTELLI, M. F. 2007a. Translocations and mutations involving the nucleophosmin (NPM1) gene in lymphomas and leukemias. *Haematologica*, 92, 519-32.
- FALINI, B., NICOLETTI, I., MARTELLI, M. F. & MECUCCI, C. 2007b. Acute myeloid leukemia carrying cytoplasmic/mutated nucleophosmin (NPMc+ AML): biologic and clinical features. *Blood*, 109, 874-85.
- FAN, T. J., HAN, L. H., CONG, R. S. & LIANG, J. 2005. Caspase family proteases and apoptosis. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai), 37, 719-27.
- FARRAR, J. E., NATER, M., CAYWOOD, E., MCDEVITT, M. A., KOWALSKI, J., TAKEMOTO, C. M., TALBOT, C. C., JR., MELTZER, P., ESPOSITO, D., BEGGS, A. H., SCHNEIDER, H. E., GRABOWSKA, A., BALL, S. E., NIEWIADOMSKA, E., SIEFF, C. A., VLACHOS, A., ATSIDAFTOS, E., ELLIS, S. R., LIPTON, J. M., GAZDA, H. T. & ARCECI, R. J. 2008. Abnormalities of the large ribosomal subunit protein, Rpl35a, in Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Blood*, 112, 1582-92.
- FATICA, A., OEFFINGER, M., TOLLERVEY, D. & BOZZONI, I. 2003. Cic1p/Nsa3p is required for synthesis and nuclear export of 60S ribosomal subunits. *Rna*, 9, 1431-6.
- FAZA, M. B., CHANG, Y., OCCHIPINTI, L., KEMMLER, S. & PANSE, V. G. 2012. Role of Mex67-Mtr2 in the nuclear export of 40S pre-ribosomes. *PLoS Genet*, 8, e1002915.
- FAZEN, L. E., ELMORE, J. & NADLER, H. L. 1967. Mandibulo-facial dysostosis. (Treacher-Collins syndrome). *Am J Dis Child*, 113, 405-10.
- FENG, Z., HU, W., DE STANCHINA, E., TERESKY, A. K., JIN, S., LOWE, S. & LEVINE, A. J. 2007. The regulation of AMPK beta1, TSC2, and PTEN expression by p53: stress, cell and tissue specificity, and the role of these gene products in modulating the IGF-1-AKT-mTOR pathways. *Cancer Res*, 67, 3043-53.
- FERREIRA-CERCA, S., POLL, G., KUHN, H., NEUEDER, A., JAKOB, S., TSCHOCHNER, H. & MILKEREIT, P. 2007. Analysis of the in vivo assembly pathway of eukaryotic 40S ribosomal proteins. *Mol Cell*, 28, 446-57.
- FEUERSTEIN, N., SPIEGEL, S. & MOND, J. J. 1988. The nuclear matrix protein, numatrin (B23), is associated with growth factor-induced mitogenesis in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts and with T lymphocyte proliferation stimulated by lectins and anti-T cell antigen receptor antibody. J Cell Biol, 107, 1629-42.
- FILLIPPOVICH, I., SOROKINA, N., GATEI, M., HAUPT, Y., HOBSON, K., MOALLEM, E., SPRING, K., MOULD, M., MCGUCKIN, M. A., LAVIN, M. F. & KHANNA, K. K. 2001. Transactivation-deficient p73alpha (p73Deltaexon2) inhibits apoptosis and competes with p53. Oncogene, 20, 514-22.

- FINCH, A. J., HILCENKO, C., BASSE, N., DRYNAN, L. F., GOYENECHEA, B., MENNE, T. F., GONZALEZ FERNANDEZ, A., SIMPSON, P., D'SANTOS, C. S., ARENDS, M. J., DONADIEU, J., BELLANNE-CHANTELOT, C., COSTANZO, M., BOONE, C., MCKENZIE, A. N., FREUND, S. M. & WARREN, A. J. 2011. Uncoupling of GTP hydrolysis from eIF6 release on the ribosome causes Shwachman-Diamond syndrome. *Genes Dev*, 25, 917-29.
- FINLAY, C. A., HINDS, P. W. & LEVINE, A. J. 1989. The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. *Cell*, 57, 1083-93.
- FLORENES, V. A., MAELANDSMO, G. M., FORUS, A., ANDREASSEN, A., MYKLEBOST, O. & FODSTAD, O. 1994. MDM2 gene amplification and transcript levels in human sarcomas: relationship to TP53 gene status. J Natl Cancer Inst, 86, 1297-302.
- FLORES-ROZAS, H., KELMAN, Z., DEAN, F. B., PAN, Z. Q., HARPER, J. W., ELLEDGE, S. J., O'DONNELL, M. & HURWITZ, J. 1994. Cdk-interacting protein 1 directly binds with proliferating cell nuclear antigen and inhibits DNA replication catalyzed by the DNA polymerase delta holoenzyme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 8655-9.
- FLYGARE, J., ASPESI, A., BAILEY, J. C., MIYAKE, K., CAFFREY, J. M., KARLSSON, S. & ELLIS, S. R. 2007. Human RPS19, the gene mutated in Diamond-Blackfan anemia, encodes a ribosomal protein required for the maturation of 40S ribosomal subunits. *Blood*, 109, 980-6.
- FONSECA, B. D., SMITH, E. M., LEE, V. H., MACKINTOSH, C. & PROUD, C. G. 2007. PRAS40 is a target for mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 and is required for signaling downstream of this complex. J Biol Chem, 282, 24514-24.
- FREGOSO, O. I., DAS, S., AKERMAN, M. & KRAINER, A. R. 2013. Splicing-factor oncoprotein SRSF1 stabilizes p53 via RPL5 and induces cellular senescence. *Mol Cell*, 50, 56-66.
- FUKUDA, M., ASANO, S., NAKAMURA, T., ADACHI, M., YOSHIDA, M., YANAGIDA, M. & NISHIDA, E. 1997. CRM1 is responsible for intracellular transport mediated by the nuclear export signal. *Nature*, 390, 308-11.
- FUMAGALLI, S., DI CARA, A., NEB-GULATI, A., NATT, F., SCHWEMBERGER, S., HALL, J., BABCOCK, G. F., BERNARDI, R., PANDOLFI, P. P. & THOMAS, G. 2009. Absence of nucleolar disruption after impairment of 40S ribosome biogenesis reveals an rpL11-translation-dependent mechanism of p53 induction. *Nat Cell Biol*, 11, 501-8.
- FUMAGALLI, S., IVANENKOV, V. V., TENG, T. & THOMAS, G. 2012. Suprainduction of p53 by disruption of 40S and 60S ribosome biogenesis leads to the activation of a novel G2/M checkpoint. *Genes Dev*, 26, 1028-40.
- FUMAGALLI, S. & THOMAS, G. 2011. The role of p53 in ribosomopathies. *Semin Hematol*, 48, 97-105.
- FURNARI, B., BLASINA, A., BODDY, M. N., MCGOWAN, C. H. & RUSSELL, P. 1999. Cdc25 inhibited in vivo and in vitro by checkpoint kinases Cds1 and Chk1. *Mol Biol Cell*, 10, 833-45.
- GALILI, N., QASIM, S. A. & RAZA, A. 2009. Defective ribosome biogenesis in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Haematologica*, 94, 1336-8.
- GALLAGHER, S. J., KEFFORD, R. F. & RIZOS, H. 2006. The ARF tumour suppressor. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 38, 1637-41.
- GAMALINDA, M., OHMAYER, U., JAKOVLJEVIC, J., KUMCUOGLU, B., WOOLFORD, J., MBOM, B., LIN, L. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2014. A hierarchical model for assembly of eukaryotic 60S ribosomal subunit domains. *Genes Dev*, 28, 198-210.

- GANAPATHI, K. A., AUSTIN, K. M., LEE, C. S., DIAS, A., MALSCH, M. M., REED, R. & SHIMAMURA, A. 2007. The human Shwachman-Diamond syndrome protein, SBDS, associates with ribosomal RNA. *Blood*, 110, 1458-65.
- GARTEL, A. L. & TYNER, A. L. 1999. Transcriptional regulation of the p21((WAF1/CIP1)) gene. *Exp Cell Res*, 246, 280-9.
- GARTMANN, M., BLAU, M., ARMACHE, J. P., MIELKE, T., TOPF, M. & BECKMANN, R.
   2010. Mechanism of eIF6-mediated inhibition of ribosomal subunit joining. J
   Biol Chem, 285, 14848-51.
- GAZDA, H. T., KHO, A. T., SANOUDOU, D., ZAUCHA, J. M., KOHANE, I. S., SIEFF, C. A. & BEGGS, A. H. 2006. Defective ribosomal protein gene expression alters transcription, translation, apoptosis, and oncogenic pathways in Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Stem Cells*, 24, 2034-44.
- GAZDA, H. T., SHEEN, M. R., VLACHOS, A., CHOESMEL, V., O'DONOHUE, M. F.,
  SCHNEIDER, H., DARRAS, N., HASMAN, C., SIEFF, C. A., NEWBURGER, P. E., BALL,
  S. E., NIEWIADOMSKA, E., MATYSIAK, M., ZAUCHA, J. M., GLADER, B.,
  NIEMEYER, C., MEERPOHL, J. J., ATSIDAFTOS, E., LIPTON, J. M., GLEIZES, P. E. &
  BEGGS, A. H. 2008. Ribosomal protein L5 and L11 mutations are associated with
  cleft palate and abnormal thumbs in Diamond-Blackfan anemia patients. *Am J Hum Genet*, 83, 769-80.
- GERBI, S. A. & BOROVJAGIN, A. 1997. U3 snoRNA may recycle through different compartments of the nucleolus. *Chromosoma*, 105, 401-6.
- GILKES, D. M., CHEN, L. & CHEN, J. 2006. MDMX regulation of p53 response to ribosomal stress. *EMBO J*, 25, 5614-25.
- GOLDBERG, Z., VOGT SIONOV, R., BERGER, M., ZWANG, Y., PERETS, R., VAN ETTEN, R.
   A., OREN, M., TAYA, Y. & HAUPT, Y. 2002. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Mdm2
   by c-Abl: implications for p53 regulation. *EMBO J*, 21, 3715-27.
- GONG, X., DELORME, R., FAUCHEREAU, F., DURAND, C. M., CHASTE, P., BETANCUR, C., GOUBRAN-BOTROS, H., NYGREN, G., ANCKARSATER, H., RASTAM, M., GILLBERG, I. C., KOPP, S., MOUREN-SIMEONI, M. C., GILLBERG, C., LEBOYER, M. & BOURGERON, T. 2009. An investigation of ribosomal protein L10 gene in autism spectrum disorders. *BMC Med Genet*, 10, 7.
- GRAN, P. & CAMERON-SMITH, D. 2011. The actions of exogenous leucine on mTOR signalling and amino acid transporters in human myotubes. *BMC Physiol*, 11, 10.
- GRANDI, P., RYBIN, V., BASSLER, J., PETFALSKI, E., STRAUSS, D., MARZIOCH, M., SCHAFER, T., KUSTER, B., TSCHOCHNER, H., TOLLERVEY, D., GAVIN, A. C. & HURT, E. 2002. 90S pre-ribosomes include the 35S pre-rRNA, the U3 snoRNP, and 40S subunit processing factors but predominantly lack 60S synthesis factors. *Mol Cell*, 10, 105-15.
- GRANNEMAN, S., PETFALSKI, E., SWIATKOWSKA, A. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2010. Cracking pre-40S ribosomal subunit structure by systematic analyses of RNA-protein cross-linking. *EMBO J*, 29, 2026-36.
- GRANNEMAN, S., PETFALSKI, E. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2011. A cluster of ribosome synthesis factors regulate pre-rRNA folding and 5.8S rRNA maturation by the Rat1 exonuclease. *EMBO J*, 30, 4006-19.
- GRIER, J. D., XIONG, S., ELIZONDO-FRAIRE, A. C., PARANT, J. M. & LOZANO, G. 2006. Tissue-specific differences of p53 inhibition by Mdm2 and Mdm4. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26, 192-8.

- GROB, T. J., NOVAK, U., MAISSE, C., BARCAROLI, D., LUTHI, A. U., PIRNIA, F., HUGLI, B.,
   GRABER, H. U., DE LAURENZI, V., FEY, M. F., MELINO, G. & TOBLER, A. 2001.
   Human delta Np73 regulates a dominant negative feedback loop for TAp73 and
   p53. *Cell Death Differ*, 8, 1213-23.
- GU, J., KAWAI, H., NIE, L., KITAO, H., WIEDERSCHAIN, D., JOCHEMSEN, A. G., PARANT, J., LOZANO, G. & YUAN, Z. M. 2002. Mutual dependence of MDM2 and MDMX in their functional inactivation of p53. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 19251-4.
- GU, J., ZHANG, L., SWISHER, S. G., LIU, J., ROTH, J. A. & FANG, B. 2004. Induction of p53-regulated genes in lung cancer cells: implications of the mechanism for adenoviral p53-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 23, 1300-7.
- GUTTLER, T. & GORLICH, D. 2011. Ran-dependent nuclear export mediators: a structural perspective. *Embo J*, 30, 3457-74.
- HACKMANN, A., GROSS, T., BAIERLEIN, C. & KREBBER, H. 2011. The mRNA export factor Npl3 mediates the nuclear export of large ribosomal subunits. *EMBO Rep*, 12, 1024-31.
- HADJIOLOVA, K. V., NICOLOSO, M., MAZAN, S., HADJIOLOV, A. A. & BACHELLERIE, J. P. 1993. Alternative pre-rRNA processing pathways in human cells and their alteration by cycloheximide inhibition of protein synthesis. *Eur J Biochem*, 212, 211-5.
- HAGOPIAN, J. C., MA, C. T., MEADE, B. R., ALBUQUERQUE, C. P., NGO, J. C., GHOSH, G., JENNINGS, P. A., FU, X. D. & ADAMS, J. A. 2008. Adaptable molecular interactions guide phosphorylation of the SR protein ASF/SF2 by SRPK1. J Mol Biol, 382, 894-909.
- HARMS, K., NOZELL, S. & CHEN, X. 2004. The common and distinct target genes of the p53 family transcription factors. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 61, 822-42.
- HAVEL, J. J., LI, Z., CHENG, D., PENG, J. & FU, H. 2015. Nuclear PRAS40 couples the Akt/mTORC1 signaling axis to the RPL11-HDM2-p53 nucleolar stress response pathway. *Oncogene*, 34, 1487-98.
- HEDGES, J., WEST, M. & JOHNSON, A. W. 2005. Release of the export adapter, Nmd3p, from the 60S ribosomal subunit requires Rpl10p and the cytoplasmic GTPase Lsg1p. *EMBO J*, 24, 567-79.
- HEISS, N. S., KNIGHT, S. W., VULLIAMY, T. J., KLAUCK, S. M., WIEMANN, S., MASON, P. J., POUSTKA, A. & DOKAL, I. 1998. X-linked dyskeratosis congenita is caused by mutations in a highly conserved gene with putative nucleolar functions. *Nat Genet*, 19, 32-8.
- HELIOT, L., KAPLAN, H., LUCAS, L., KLEIN, C., BEORCHIA, A., DOCO-FENZY, M., MENAGER, M., THIRY, M., O'DONOHUE, M. F. & PLOTON, D. 1997. Electron tomography of metaphase nucleolar organizer regions: evidence for a twistedloop organization. *Mol Biol Cell*, 8, 2199-216.
- HELM, M. 2006. Post-transcriptional nucleotide modification and alternative folding of RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 34, 721-33.
- HENRAS, A. K., SOUDET, J., GERUS, M., LEBARON, S., CAIZERGUES-FERRER, M., MOUGIN, A. & HENRY, Y. 2008. The post-transcriptional steps of eukaryotic ribosome biogenesis. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 65, 2334-59.
- HENRY, Y., WOOD, H., MORRISSEY, J. P., PETFALSKI, E., KEARSEY, S. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1994. The 5' end of yeast 5.8S rRNA is generated by exonucleases from an upstream cleavage site. *EMBO J*, 13, 2452-63.

- HERMEKING, H., LENGAUER, C., POLYAK, K., HE, T. C., ZHANG, L., THIAGALINGAM, S., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1997. 14-3-3 sigma is a p53-regulated inhibitor of G2/M progression. *Mol Cell*, 1, 3-11.
- HERNANDEZ-VERDUN, D. 2006. Nucleolus: from structure to dynamics. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 125, 127-37.
- HIEBERT, S. W., PACKHAM, G., STROM, D. K., HAFFNER, R., OREN, M., ZAMBETTI, G. & CLEVELAND, J. L. 1995. E2F-1:DP-1 induces p53 and overrides survival factors to trigger apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 15, 6864-74.
- HILL, M. M., ADRAIN, C., DURIEZ, P. J., CREAGH, E. M. & MARTIN, S. J. 2004. Analysis of the composition, assembly kinetics and activity of native Apaf-1 apoptosomes. *EMBO J*, 23, 2134-45.
- HIRANO, K., ITO, M. & HARTSHORNE, D. J. 1995. Interaction of the ribosomal protein, L5, with protein phosphatase type 1. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 19786-90.
- HO, J. H., KALLSTROM, G. & JOHNSON, A. W. 2000. Nmd3p is a Crm1p-dependent adapter protein for nuclear export of the large ribosomal subunit. *J Cell Biol*, 151, 1057-66.
- HOLZEL, M., ORBAN, M., HOCHSTATTER, J., ROHRMOSER, M., HARASIM, T., MALAMOUSSI, A., KREMMER, E., LANGST, G. & EICK, D. 2010. Defects in 18 S or 28 S rRNA processing activate the p53 pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 6364-70.
- HONDA, R., TANAKA, H. & YASUDA, H. 1997. Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. *FEBS Lett*, 420, 25-7.
- HONDA, R. & YASUDA, H. 1999. Association of p19(ARF) with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. *EMBO J*, 18, 22-7.
- HORN, D. M., MASON, S. L. & KARBSTEIN, K. 2011. Rcl1 protein, a novel nuclease for 18 S ribosomal RNA production. *J Biol Chem*, 286, 34082-7.
- HORN, H. F. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2008. Cooperation between the ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 in the p53 pathway. *Oncogene*, 27, 5774-84.
- HOROS, R. & VON LINDERN, M. 2012. Molecular mechanisms of pathology and treatment in Diamond Blackfan Anaemia. *Br J Haematol*, 159, 514-27.
- HOUSELEY, J. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2009. The many pathways of RNA degradation. *Cell*, 136, 763-76.
- HUANG, B. & PORTER, G. 2005. Expression of proline-rich Akt-substrate PRAS40 in cell survival pathway and carcinogenesis. *Acta Pharmacol Sin,* 26, 1253-8.
- HUANG, J. & MANNING, B. D. 2009. A complex interplay between Akt, TSC2 and the two mTOR complexes. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 37, 217-22.
- HUNG, N. J. & JOHNSON, A. W. 2006. Nuclear recycling of the pre-60S ribosomal subunit-associated factor Arx1 depends on Rei1 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26, 3718-27.
- INOKI, K., ZHU, T. & GUAN, K. L. 2003. TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival. *Cell*, 115, 577-90.
- ISHIMOTO, O., KAWAHARA, C., ENJO, K., OBINATA, M., NUKIWA, T. & IKAWA, S. 2002. Possible oncogenic potential of DeltaNp73: a newly identified isoform of human p73. *Cancer Res*, 62, 636-41.
- ITAHANA, K., BHAT, K. P., JIN, A., ITAHANA, Y., HAWKE, D., KOBAYASHI, R. & ZHANG, Y. 2003. Tumor suppressor ARF degrades B23, a nucleolar protein involved in ribosome biogenesis and cell proliferation. *Mol Cell*, 12, 1151-64.
- ITAHANA, K., MAO, H., JIN, A., ITAHANA, Y., CLEGG, H. V., LINDSTROM, M. S., BHAT, K. P., GODFREY, V. L., EVAN, G. I. & ZHANG, Y. 2007. Targeted inactivation of

Mdm2 RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase activity in the mouse reveals mechanistic insights into p53 regulation. *Cancer Cell*, **12**, 355-66.

- JAAKO, P., DEBNATH, S., OLSSON, K., BRYDER, D., FLYGARE, J. & KARLSSON, S. 2012. Dietary L-leucine improves the anemia in a mouse model for Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Blood*, 120, 2225-8.
- JACKSON, M. W. & BERBERICH, S. J. 2000. MdmX protects p53 from Mdm2-mediated degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 1001-7.
- JAKOVLJEVIC, J., OHMAYER, U., GAMALINDA, M., TALKISH, J., ALEXANDER, L., LINNEMANN, J., MILKEREIT, P. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2012. Ribosomal proteins L7 and L8 function in concert with six A(3) assembly factors to propagate assembly of domains I and II of 25S rRNA in yeast 60S ribosomal subunits. *RNA*, 18, 1805-22.
- JEFFERS, J. R., PARGANAS, E., LEE, Y., YANG, C., WANG, J., BRENNAN, J., MACLEAN, K. H., HAN, J., CHITTENDEN, T., IHLE, J. N., MCKINNON, P. J., CLEVELAND, J. L. & ZAMBETTI, G. P. 2003. Puma is an essential mediator of p53-dependent and independent apoptotic pathways. *Cancer Cell*, 4, 321-8.
- JENTSCH, S. & PYROWOLAKIS, G. 2000. Ubiquitin and its kin: how close are the family ties? *Trends Cell Biol*, 10, 335-42.
- JIN, A., ITAHANA, K., O'KEEFE, K. & ZHANG, Y. 2004. Inhibition of HDM2 and activation of p53 by ribosomal protein L23. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 7669-80.
- JIN, Q., FENG, L., BEHRENS, C., BEKELE, B. N., WISTUBA, II, HONG, W. K. & LEE, H. Y. 2007. Implication of AMP-activated protein kinase and Akt-regulated survivin in lung cancer chemopreventive activities of deguelin. *Cancer Res*, 67, 11630-9.
- JIN, S. & LEVINE, A. J. 2001. The p53 functional circuit. J Cell Sci, 114, 4139-40.
- JIN, Y., DAI, M. S., LU, S. Z., XU, Y., LUO, Z., ZHAO, Y. & LU, H. 2006. 14-3-3gamma binds to MDMX that is phosphorylated by UV-activated Chk1, resulting in p53 activation. *EMBO J*, 25, 1207-18.
- JO, H., MONDAL, S., TAN, D., NAGATA, E., TAKIZAWA, S., SHARMA, A. K., HOU, Q., SHANMUGASUNDARAM, K., PRASAD, A., TUNG, J. K., TEJEDA, A. O., MAN, H., RIGBY, A. C. & LUO, H. R. 2012. Small molecule-induced cytosolic activation of protein kinase Akt rescues ischemia-elicited neuronal death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 109, 10581-6.
- JOHNSON, A. W., LUND, E. & DAHLBERG, J. 2002. Nuclear export of ribosomal subunits. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 27, 580-5.
- JONES, N. C., LYNN, M. L., GAUDENZ, K., SAKAI, D., AOTO, K., REY, J. P., GLYNN, E. F., ELLINGTON, L., DU, C., DIXON, J., DIXON, M. J. & TRAINOR, P. A. 2008. Prevention of the neurocristopathy Treacher Collins syndrome through inhibition of p53 function. *Nat Med*, 14, 125-33.
- JONES, S. N., HANCOCK, A. R., VOGEL, H., DONEHOWER, L. A. & BRADLEY, A. 1998. Overexpression of Mdm2 in mice reveals a p53-independent role for Mdm2 in tumorigenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 15608-12.
- JOSEPH, T. L., MADHUMALAR, A., BROWN, C. J., LANE, D. P. & VERMA, C. S. 2010. Differential binding of p53 and nutlin to MDM2 and MDMX: computational studies. *Cell Cycle*, 9, 1167-81.
- JOST, C. A., MARIN, M. C. & KAELIN, W. G., JR. 1997. p73 is a simian [correction of human] p53-related protein that can induce apoptosis. *Nature*, 389, 191-4.
- KADAKIA, M., SLADER, C. & BERBERICH, S. J. 2001. Regulation of p63 function by Mdm2 and MdmX. *DNA Cell Biol*, 20, 321-30.

- KAGHAD, M., BONNET, H., YANG, A., CREANCIER, L., BISCAN, J. C., VALENT, A., MINTY, A., CHALON, P., LELIAS, J. M., DUMONT, X., FERRARA, P., MCKEON, F. & CAPUT, D. 1997. Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastoma and other human cancers. *Cell*, 90, 809-19.
- KAPPEL, L., LOIBL, M., ZISSER, G., KLEIN, I., FRUHMANN, G., GRUBER, C., UNTERWEGER, S., RECHBERGER, G., PERTSCHY, B. & BERGLER, H. 2012. Rlp24 activates the AAA-ATPase Drg1 to initiate cytoplasmic pre-60S maturation. *J Cell Biol*, 199, 771-82.
- KARNI, R., DE STANCHINA, E., LOWE, S. W., SINHA, R., MU, D. & KRAINER, A. R. 2007. The gene encoding the splicing factor SF2/ASF is a proto-oncogene. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 14, 185-93.
- KASTAN, M. B., ONYEKWERE, O., SIDRANSKY, D., VOGELSTEIN, B. & CRAIG, R. W. 1991. Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. *Cancer Res*, 51, 6304-11.
- KAWAI, H., LOPEZ-PAJARES, V., KIM, M. M., WIEDERSCHAIN, D. & YUAN, Z. M. 2007. RING domain-mediated interaction is a requirement for MDM2's E3 ligase activity. *Cancer Res*, 67, 6026-30.
- KEERSMAECKER, K. D., ATAK, Z. K., NING, L., VICENTE, C., PATCHETT, S., GIRARDI, T., GIANFELICI, V., GEERDENS, E., CLAPPIER, E., PORCU, M., LAHORTIGA, I., LUCA, R., YAN, J., HULSELMANS, G., VRANCKX, H., VANDEPOEL, R., SWERON, B., JACOBS, K., MENTENS, N., WLORDARSKA, I., CAUWELIER, B., CLOOS, J., SOULIER, J., UYTTEBROECK, A., BAGNI, C., HASSAN, B. A., VANDENBERGHE, P., JOHNSON, A. W., AERTS, S. & COOLS, J. 2013. Exome sequencing identifies mutation in CNOT3 and ribosomal genes RPL5 and RPL10 in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nature Genetics*, 45, 186-190.
- KERR, J. F., WYLLIE, A. H. & CURRIE, A. R. 1972. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer*, 26, 239-57.
- KEYES, W. M., WU, Y., VOGEL, H., GUO, X., LOWE, S. W. & MILLS, A. A. 2005. p63 deficiency activates a program of cellular senescence and leads to accelerated aging. *Genes Dev*, 19, 1986-99.
- KHALAILEH, A., DREAZEN, A., KHATIB, A., APEL, R., SWISA, A., KIDESS-BASSIR, N., MAITRA, A., MEYUHAS, O., DOR, Y. & ZAMIR, G. 2013. Phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 attenuates DNA damage and tumor suppression during development of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res*, 73, 1811-20.
- KHANNA-GUPTA, A. 2013. Bone Marrow Failure Syndromes: The Ribosomopathies. J Bone Marrow Res, 1.
- KHARDE, S., CALVINO, F. R., GUMIERO, A., WILD, K. & SINNING, I. 2015. The structure of Rpf2-Rrs1 explains its role in ribosome biogenesis. *Nucleic Acids Res*.
- KHATTER, H., MYASNIKOV, A. G., NATCHIAR, S. K. & KLAHOLZ, B. P. 2015. Structure of the human 80S ribosome. *Nature*, 520, 640-5.
- KIM, D. H., SARBASSOV, D. D., ALI, S. M., KING, J. E., LATEK, R. R., ERDJUMENT-BROMAGE, H., TEMPST, P. & SABATINI, D. M. 2002. mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. *Cell*, 110, 163-75.
- KIM, D. H., SARBASSOV, D. D., ALI, S. M., LATEK, R. R., GUNTUR, K. V., ERDJUMENT-BROMAGE, H., TEMPST, P. & SABATINI, D. M. 2003. GbetaL, a positive regulator

of the rapamycin-sensitive pathway required for the nutrient-sensitive interaction between raptor and mTOR. *Mol Cell*, **11**, 895-904.

- KIM, J. Y., CHO, Y. E., PARK, J. H. & LEE, S. 2013. Expression of GLTSCR2/Pict-1 in squamous cell carcinomas of the skin. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 305, 797-804.
- KIM, T. H., LESLIE, P. & ZHANG, Y. 2014. Ribosomal proteins as unrevealed caretakers for cellular stress and genomic instability. *Oncotarget*, 5, 860-71.
- KIM, T. S., KIM, H. D., SHIN, H. S. & KIM, J. 2009. Phosphorylation status of nuclear ribosomal protein S3 is reciprocally regulated by protein kinase C{delta} and protein phosphatase 2A. J Biol Chem, 284, 21201-8.
- KIM, Y. J., CHO, Y. E., KIM, Y. W., KIM, J. Y., LEE, S. & PARK, J. H. 2008. Suppression of putative tumour suppressor gene GLTSCR2 expression in human glioblastomas. *J Pathol*, 216, 218-24.
- KIMBALL, S. R. & JEFFERSON, L. S. 2006. New functions for amino acids: effects on gene transcription and translation. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 83, 500S-507S.
- KISCHKEL, F. C., HELLBARDT, S., BEHRMANN, I., GERMER, M., PAWLITA, M., KRAMMER, P. H. & PETER, M. E. 1995. Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO J*, 14, 5579-88.
- KITSY, A., CARNEY, S., VIVAR, J. C., KNIGHT, M. S., POINTER, M. A., GWATHMEY, J. K. & GHOSH, S. 2014. Effects of leucine supplementation and serum withdrawal on branched-chain amino acid pathway gene and protein expression in mouse adipocytes. *PLoS One*, 9, e102615.
- KLAUCK, S. M., FELDER, B., KOLB-KOKOCINSKI, A., SCHUSTER, C., CHIOCCHETTI, A., SCHUPP, I., WELLENREUTHER, R., SCHMOTZER, G., POUSTKA, F., BREITENBACH-KOLLER, L. & POUSTKA, A. 2006. Mutations in the ribosomal protein gene RPL10 suggest a novel modulating disease mechanism for autism. *Mol Psychiatry*, 11, 1073-84.
- KLINGE, S., VOIGTS-HOFFMANN, F., LEIBUNDGUT, M., ARPAGAUS, S. & BAN, N. 2011. Crystal structure of the eukaryotic 60S ribosomal subunit in complex with initiation factor 6. *Science*, 334, 941-8.
- KNIGHT, E., JR. & DARNELL, J. E. 1967. Distribution of 5 s RNA in HeLa cells. *J Mol Biol*, 28, 491-502.
- KNIGHT, S. W., VULLIAMY, T. J., HEISS, N. S., MATTHIJS, G., DEVRIENDT, K., CONNOR, J.
   M., D'URSO, M., POUSTKA, A., MASON, P. J. & DOKAL, I. 1998. 1.4 Mb
   candidate gene region for X linked dyskeratosis congenita defined by combined
   haplotype and X chromosome inactivation analysis. J Med Genet, 35, 993-6.
- KO, L. J. & PRIVES, C. 1996. p53: puzzle and paradigm. *Genes Dev*, 10, 1054-1072.
- KOBAYASHI, T., HECK, D. J., NOMURA, M. & HORIUCHI, T. 1998. Expansion and contraction of ribosomal DNA repeats in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: requirement of replication fork blocking (Fob1) protein and the role of RNA polymerase I. *Genes Dev*, 12, 3821-30.
- KOH, C. M., GUREL, B., SUTCLIFFE, S., ARYEE, M. J., SCHULTZ, D., IWATA, T., UEMURA, M., ZELLER, K. I., ANELE, U., ZHENG, Q., HICKS, J. L., NELSON, W. G., DANG, C. V., YEGNASUBRAMANIAN, S. & DE MARZO, A. M. 2011. Alterations in nucleolar structure and gene expression programs in prostatic neoplasia are driven by the MYC oncogene. *Am J Pathol*, 178, 1824-34.
- KOIZUMI, J., OKAMOTO, Y., ONOGI, H., MAYEDA, A., KRAINER, A. R. & HAGIWARA, M. 1999. The subcellular localization of SF2/ASF is regulated by direct interaction with SR protein kinases (SRPKs). J Biol Chem, 274, 11125-31.

- KONDO, T., MINAMINO, N., NAGAMURA-INOUE, T., MATSUMOTO, M., TANIGUCHI, T.
   & TANAKA, N. 1997. Identification and characterization of nucleophosmin/B23/numatrin which binds the anti-oncogenic transcription factor IRF-1 and manifests oncogenic activity. *Oncogene*, 15, 1275-81.
- KONG, X., TAN, B., YIN, Y., GAO, H., LI, X., JAEGER, L. A., BAZER, F. W. & WU, G. 2012. L-Arginine stimulates the mTOR signaling pathway and protein synthesis in porcine trophectoderm cells. *J Nutr Biochem*, 23, 1178-83.
- KONNO, Y., TOKI, T., TANDAI, S., XU, G., WANG, R., TERUI, K., OHGA, S., HARA, T., HAMA, A., KOJIMA, S., HASEGAWA, D., KOSAKA, Y., YANAGISAWA, R., KOIKE, K., KANAI, R., IMAI, T., HONGO, T., PARK, M. J., SUGITA, K. & ITO, E. 2010. Mutations in the ribosomal protein genes in Japanese patients with Diamond-Blackfan anemia. *Haematologica*, 95, 1293-9.
- KOS, M. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2010. Yeast pre-rRNA processing and modification occur cotranscriptionally. *Mol Cell*, 37, 809-20.
- KOVACINA, K. S., PARK, G. Y., BAE, S. S., GUZZETTA, A. W., SCHAEFER, E., BIRNBAUM,
  M. J. & ROTH, R. A. 2003. Identification of a proline-rich Akt substrate as a 14-3-3 binding partner. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 10189-94.
- KTHIRI, F., LE, H. T., GAUTIER, V., CALDAS, T., MALKI, A., LANDOULSI, A., BOHN, C., BOULOC, P. & RICHARME, G. 2010. Protein aggregation in a mutant deficient in yajL, the bacterial homolog of the Parkinsonism-associated protein DJ-1. J Biol Chem, 285, 10328-36.
- KUMAR, S., YOSHIDA, Y. & NODA, M. 1993. Cloning of a cDNA which encodes a novel ubiquitin-like protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 195, 393-9.
- KUMAZAWA, T., NISHIMURA, K., KATAGIRI, N., HASHIMOTO, S., HAYASHI, Y. & KIMURA, K. 2015. Gradual reduction in rRNA transcription triggers p53 acetylation and apoptosis via MYBBP1A. *Sci Rep*, *5*, 10854.
- KUMMALUE, T., INOUE, T., MIURA, Y., NARUSAWA, M., INOUE, H., KOMATSU, N.,
   WANACHIWANAWIN, W., SUGIYAMA, D. & TANI, K. 2015. Ribosomal protein
   L11- and retinol dehydrogenase 11-induced erythroid proliferation without
   erythropoietin in UT-7/Epo erythroleukemic cells. *Exp Hematol*, 43, 414-423 e1.
- KURKI, S., PELTONEN, K., LATONEN, L., KIVIHARJU, T. M., OJALA, P. M., MEEK, D. & LAIHO, M. 2004. Nucleolar protein NPM interacts with HDM2 and protects tumor suppressor protein p53 from HDM2-mediated degradation. *Cancer Cell*, 5, 465-75.
- KURODA, T., MURAYAMA, A., KATAGIRI, N., OHTA, Y. M., FUJITA, E., MASUMOTO, H., EMA, M., TAKAHASHI, S., KIMURA, K. & YANAGISAWA, J. 2011. RNA content in the nucleolus alters p53 acetylation via MYBBP1A. *EMBO J*, 30, 1054-66.
- KUSSIE, P. H., GORINA, S., MARECHAL, V., ELENBAAS, B., MOREAU, J., LEVINE, A. J. & PAVLETICH, N. P. 1996. Structure of the MDM2 oncoprotein bound to the p53 tumor suppressor transactivation domain. *Science*, 274, 948-53.
- LAFONTAINE, D. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1995. Trans-acting factors in yeast pre-rRNA and presnoRNA processing. *Biochem Cell Biol*, 73, 803-12.
- LAFONTAINE, D. L., PREISS, T. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1998. Yeast 18S rRNA dimethylase Dim1p: a quality control mechanism in ribosome synthesis? *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 2360-70.
- LAFONTAINE, D. L. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2001. The function and synthesis of ribosomes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 2, 514-20.
- LAI, M. C., LIN, R. I. & TARN, W. Y. 2001. Transportin-SR2 mediates nuclear import of phosphorylated SR proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 10154-9.

- LAJTHA, L. G. & OLIVER, R. 1961. A kinetic model of the erythron. *Proc R Soc Med*, 54, 369-71.
- LAM, Y. W., LAMOND, A. I., MANN, M. & ANDERSEN, J. S. 2007. Analysis of nucleolar protein dynamics reveals the nuclear degradation of ribosomal proteins. *Curr Biol*, 17, 749-60.
- LAMANNA, A. C. & KARBSTEIN, K. 2009. Nob1 binds the single-stranded cleavage site D at the 3'-end of 18S rRNA with its PIN domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 14259-64.
- LANE, D. P. 1992. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. *Nature*, 358, 15-6.
- LAPIK, Y. R., FERNANDES, C. J., LAU, L. F. & PESTOV, D. G. 2004. Physical and functional interaction between Pes1 and Bop1 in mammalian ribosome biogenesis. *Mol Cell*, 15, 17-29.
- LARIVIERE, F. J., COLE, S. E., FERULLO, D. J. & MOORE, M. J. 2006. A late-acting quality control process for mature eukaryotic rRNAs. *Mol Cell*, 24, 619-26.
- LAYAT, E., PROBST, A. V. & TOURMENTE, S. 2013. Structure, function and regulation of Transcription Factor IIIA: From Xenopus to Arabidopsis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1829, 274-82.
- LEARY, D. J. & HUANG, S. 2001. Regulation of ribosome biogenesis within the nucleolus. *FEBS Lett*, 509, 145-50.
- LEBARON, S., SCHNEIDER, C., VAN NUES, R. W., SWIATKOWSKA, A., WALSH, D., BOTTCHER, B., GRANNEMAN, S., WATKINS, N. J. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2012. Proofreading of pre-40S ribosome maturation by a translation initiation factor and 60S subunits. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, **19**, 744-53.
- LEE, C., SMITH, B. A., BANDYOPADHYAY, K. & GJERSET, R. A. 2005. DNA damage disrupts the p14ARF-B23(nucleophosmin) interaction and triggers a transient subnuclear redistribution of p14ARF. *Cancer Res*, 65, 9834-42.
- LEE, S., KIM, J. Y., KIM, Y. J., SEOK, K. O., KIM, J. H., CHANG, Y. J., KANG, H. Y. & PARK, J. H. 2012. Nucleolar protein GLTSCR2 stabilizes p53 in response to ribosomal stresses. *Cell Death Differ*, 19, 1613-22.
- LEE, S. B., KWON, I. S., PARK, J., LEE, K. H., AHN, Y., LEE, C., KIM, J., CHOI, S. Y., CHO, S. W. & AHN, J. Y. 2010. Ribosomal protein S3, a new substrate of Akt, serves as a signal mediator between neuronal apoptosis and DNA repair. *J Biol Chem*, 285, 29457-68.
- LEI, E. P. & SILVER, P. A. 2002. Protein and RNA export from the nucleus. *Dev Cell*, 2, 261-72.
- LEIDIG, C., THOMS, M., HOLDERMANN, I., BRADATSCH, B., BERNINGHAUSEN, O., BANGE, G., SINNING, I., HURT, E. & BECKMANN, R. 2014. 60S ribosome biogenesis requires rotation of the 5S ribonucleoprotein particle. *Nat Commun*, 5, 3491.
- LEVRERO, M., DE LAURENZI, V., COSTANZO, A., GONG, J., WANG, J. Y. & MELINO, G. 2000. The p53/p63/p73 family of transcription factors: overlapping and distinct functions. *J Cell Sci*, 113 (Pt 10), 1661-70.
- LI, M. & GU, W. 2011. A critical role for noncoding 5S rRNA in regulating Mdmx stability. *Mol Cell*, 43, 1023-32.
- LIAKOPOULOS, D., DOENGES, G., MATUSCHEWSKI, K. & JENTSCH, S. 1998. A novel protein modification pathway related to the ubiquitin system. *Embo j,* 17, 2208-14.

- LIANG, X. H., LIU, Q. & FOURNIER, M. J. 2007. rRNA modifications in an intersubunit bridge of the ribosome strongly affect both ribosome biogenesis and activity. *Mol Cell*, 28, 965-77.
- LIAO, J. M., ZHOU, X., GATIGNOL, A. & LU, H. 2014. Ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 cooperatively inactivate c-Myc via RNA-induced silencing complex. *Oncogene*, 33, 4916-23.
- LIEBERMANN, D. A. & HOFFMAN, B. 2008. Gadd45 in stress signaling. *J Mol Signal*, 3, 15.
- LINDSAY, J., ESPOSTI, M. D. & GILMORE, A. P. 2011. Bcl-2 proteins and mitochondria-specificity in membrane targeting for death. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1813, 532-9.
- LINDSTROM, M. S., JIN, A., DEISENROTH, C., WHITE WOLF, G. & ZHANG, Y. 2007. Cancer-associated mutations in the MDM2 zinc finger domain disrupt ribosomal protein interaction and attenuate MDM2-induced p53 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 1056-68.
- LINDSTROM, M. S. & NISTER, M. 2010. Silencing of ribosomal protein S9 elicits a multitude of cellular responses inhibiting the growth of cancer cells subsequent to p53 activation. *PLoS One*, **5**, e9578.
- LINZER, D. I. & LEVINE, A. J. 1979. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell*, 17, 43-52.
- LIPTON, J. M., ATSIDAFTOS, E., ZYSKIND, I. & VLACHOS, A. 2006. Improving clinical care and elucidating the pathophysiology of Diamond Blackfan anemia: an update from the Diamond Blackfan Anemia Registry. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, 46, 558-64.
- LIPTON, J. M., FEDERMAN, N., KHABBAZE, Y., SCHWARTZ, C. L., HILLIARD, L. M., CLARK, J. I. & VLACHOS, A. 2001. Osteogenic sarcoma associated with Diamond-Blackfan anemia: a report from the Diamond-Blackfan Anemia Registry. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol*, 23, 39-44.
- LIU, F. T., NEWLAND, A. C. & JIA, L. 2003. Bax conformational change is a crucial step for PUMA-mediated apoptosis in human leukemia. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 310, 956-62.
- LIU, G., PARANT, J. M., LANG, G., CHAU, P., CHAVEZ-REYES, A., EL-NAGGAR, A. K., MULTANI, A., CHANG, S. & LOZANO, G. 2004. Chromosome stability, in the absence of apoptosis, is critical for suppression of tumorigenesis in Trp53 mutant mice. *Nat Genet*, 36, 63-8.
- LIU, K., LOU, J., WEN, T., YIN, J., XU, B., DING, W., WANG, A., LIU, D., ZHANG, C., CHEN, D. & LI, N. 2013. Depending on the stage of hepatosteatosis, p53 causes apoptosis primarily through either DRAM-induced autophagy or BAX. *Liver Int*, 33, 1566-74.
- LIU, Y., HE, Y., JIN, A., TIKUNOV, A. P., ZHOU, L., TOLLINI, L. A., LESLIE, P., KIM, T. H., LI,
   L. O., COLEMAN, R. A., GU, Z., CHEN, Y. Q., MACDONALD, J. M., GRAVES, L. M. &
   ZHANG, Y. 2014. Ribosomal protein-Mdm2-p53 pathway coordinates nutrient
   stress with lipid metabolism by regulating MCD and promoting fatty acid
   oxidation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, E2414-22.
- LO, K. Y., LI, Z., WANG, F., MARCOTTE, E. M. & JOHNSON, A. W. 2009. Ribosome stalk assembly requires the dual-specificity phosphatase Yvh1 for the exchange of Mrt4 with P0. *J Cell Biol*, 186, 849-62.
- LOCKSLEY, R. M., KILLEEN, N. & LENARDO, M. J. 2001. The TNF and TNF receptor superfamilies: integrating mammalian biology. *Cell*, 104, 487-501.

- LOHRUM, M. A., LUDWIG, R. L., KUBBUTAT, M. H., HANLON, M. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2003. Regulation of HDM2 activity by the ribosomal protein L11. *Cancer Cell*, 3, 577-87.
- LONG, J. & CACERES, J. 2009. The SR protein family of splicing factors: master regulators of gene expression. *Biochem J*, 417, 15-27.
- LOOMIS, R. J., NAOE, Y., PARKER, J. B., SAVIC, V., BOZOVSKY, M. R., MACFARLAN, T., MANLEY, J. L. & CHAKRAVARTI, D. 2009. Chromatin binding of SRp20 and ASF/SF2 and dissociation from mitotic chromosomes is modulated by histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation. *Mol Cell*, 33, 450-61.
- LOUGHERY, J., COX, M., SMITH, L. M. & MEEK, D. W. 2014. Critical role for p53-serine 15 phosphorylation in stimulating transactivation at p53-responsive promoters. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 42, 7666-80.
- LYGEROU, Z., ALLMANG, C., TOLLERVEY, D. & SERAPHIN, B. 1996. Accurate processing of a eukaryotic precursor ribosomal RNA by ribonuclease MRP in vitro. *Science*, 272, 268-70.
- LYNCH, C. J. 2001. Role of leucine in the regulation of mTOR by amino acids: revelations from structure-activity studies. *J Nutr*, 131, 861S-865S.
- MACIAS, E., JIN, A., DEISENROTH, C., BHAT, K., MAO, H., LINDSTROM, M. S. & ZHANG, Y. 2010. An ARF-independent c-MYC-activated tumor suppression pathway mediated by ribosomal protein-Mdm2 Interaction. *Cancer Cell*, 18, 231-43.
- MACIEJEWSKI, P. M., PETERSON, F. C., ANDERSON, P. J. & BROOKS, C. L. 1995. Mutation of serine 90 to glutamic acid mimics phosphorylation of bovine prolactin. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 27661-5.
- MACLEOD, K. F., SHERRY, N., HANNON, G., BEACH, D., TOKINO, T., KINZLER, K.,
   VOGELSTEIN, B. & JACKS, T. 1995. p53-dependent and independent expression of p21 during cell growth, differentiation, and DNA damage. *Genes Dev*, 9, 935-44.
- MADRU, C., LEBARON, S., BLAUD, M., DELBOS, L., PIPOLI, J., PASMANT, E., RETY, S. & LEULLIOT, N. 2015. Chaperoning 5S RNA assembly. *Genes Dev*, 29, 1432-46.
- MAHATA, B., SUNDQVIST, A. & XIRODIMAS, D. P. 2012. Recruitment of RPL11 at promoter sites of p53-regulated genes upon nucleolar stress through NEDD8 and in an Mdm2-dependent manner. *Oncogene*, 31, 3060-71.
- MAIURI, M. C., CRIOLLO, A., TASDEMIR, E., VICENCIO, J. M., TAJEDDINE, N., HICKMAN, J. A., GENESTE, O. & KROEMER, G. 2007. BH3-only proteins and BH3 mimetics induce autophagy by competitively disrupting the interaction between Beclin 1 and Bcl-2/Bcl-X(L). Autophagy, 3, 374-6.
- MAKITIE, O., ELLIS, L., DURIE, P. R., MORRISON, J. A., SOCHETT, E. B., ROMMENS, J. M. & COLE, W. G. 2004. Skeletal phenotype in patients with Shwachman-Diamond syndrome and mutations in SBDS. *Clin Genet*, 65, 101-12.
- MANNING, B. D. & CANTLEY, L. C. 2007. AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. *Cell*, 129, 1261-74.
- MARECHAL, V., ELENBAAS, B., PIETTE, J., NICOLAS, J. C. & LEVINE, A. J. 1994. The ribosomal L5 protein is associated with mdm-2 and mdm-2-p53 complexes. *Mol Cell Biol*, 14, 7414-20.
- MASON, P. J. & BESSLER, M. 2011. The genetics of dyskeratosis congenita. *Cancer Genet*, 204, 635-45.
- MAYA, R., BALASS, M., KIM, S. T., SHKEDY, D., LEAL, J. F., SHIFMAN, O., MOAS, M., BUSCHMANN, T., RONAI, Z., SHILOH, Y., KASTAN, M. B., KATZIR, E. & OREN, M.

2001. ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. *Genes Dev*, 15, 1067-77.

- MCKEEGAN, K. S., DEBIEUX, C. M. & WATKINS, N. J. 2009. Evidence that the AAA+ proteins TIP48 and TIP49 bridge interactions between 15.5K and the related NOP56 and NOP58 proteins during box C/D snoRNP biogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 29, 4971-81.
- MCSTAY, B. & GRUMMT, I. 2008. The epigenetics of rRNA genes: from molecular to chromosome biology. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 24, 131-57.
- MEEK, D. W. 1999. Mechanisms of switching on p53: a role for covalent modification? *Oncogene*, 18, 7666-75.
- MELINO, G., BERNASSOLA, F., RANALLI, M., YEE, K., ZONG, W. X., CORAZZARI, M., KNIGHT, R. A., GREEN, D. R., THOMPSON, C. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2004. p73 Induces apoptosis via PUMA transactivation and Bax mitochondrial translocation. J Biol Chem, 279, 8076-83.
- MENNE, T. F., GOYENECHEA, B., SANCHEZ-PUIG, N., WONG, C. C., TONKIN, L. M., ANCLIFF, P. J., BROST, R. L., COSTANZO, M., BOONE, C. & WARREN, A. J. 2007. The Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond syndrome protein mediates translational activation of ribosomes in yeast. *Nat Genet*, 39, 486-95.
- MESSINGEROVA, L., JONASOVA, A., BARANCIK, M., POLEKOVA, L., SERES, M., GIBALOVA, L., BREIER, A. & SULOVA, Z. 2015. Lenalidomide treatment induced the normalization of marker protein levels in blood plasma of patients with 5qmyelodysplastic syndrome. *Gen Physiol Biophys*.
- MICHAEL, D. & OREN, M. 2003. The p53-Mdm2 module and the ubiquitin system. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 13, 49-58.
- MICHALAK, E. M., VILLUNGER, A., ADAMS, J. M. & STRASSER, A. 2008. In several cell types tumour suppressor p53 induces apoptosis largely via Puma but Noxa can contribute. *Cell Death Differ*, 15, 1019-29.
- MICHLEWSKI, G., SANFORD, J. R. & CACERES, J. F. 2008. The splicing factor SF2/ASF regulates translation initiation by enhancing phosphorylation of 4E-BP1. *Mol Cell*, 30, 179-89.
- MICHOT, B., JOSEPH, N., MAZAN, S. & BACHELLERIE, J. P. 1999. Evolutionarily conserved structural features in the ITS2 of mammalian pre-rRNAs and potential interactions with the snoRNA U8 detected by comparative analysis of new mouse sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 27, 2271-82.
- MILES, T. D., JAKOVLJEVIC, J., HORSEY, E. W., HARNPICHARNCHAI, P., TANG, L. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2005. Ytm1, Nop7, and Erb1 form a complex necessary for maturation of yeast 66S preribosomes. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 10419-32.
- MILLER, O. L., JR. & BEATTY, B. R. 1969. Visualization of nucleolar genes. *Science*, 164, 955-7.
- MIRABELLO, L., MACARI, E. R., JESSOP, L., ELLIS, S. R., MYERS, T., GIRI, N., TAYLOR, A.
  M., MCGRATH, K. E., HUMPHRIES, J. M., BALLEW, B. J., YEAGER, M., BOLAND, J.
  F., HE, J., HICKS, B. D., BURDETT, L., ALTER, B. P., ZON, L. & SAVAGE, S. A. 2014.
  Whole-exome sequencing and functional studies identify RPS29 as a novel gene mutated in multicase Diamond-Blackfan anemia families. *Blood*, 124, 24-32.
- MITCHELL, P., PETFALSKI, E., SHEVCHENKO, A., MANN, M. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1997. The exosome: a conserved eukaryotic RNA processing complex containing multiple 3'-->5' exoribonucleases. *Cell*, 91, 457-66.
- MIYASHITA, T. & REED, J. C. 1995. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. *Cell*, 80, 293-9.

- MONTANARO, L., TRERE, D. & DERENZINI, M. 2008. Nucleolus, ribosomes, and cancer. *Am J Pathol*, 173, 301-10.
- MOON, A., LIM, S. J., JO, Y. H., LEE, S., KIM, J. Y., LEE, J. & PARK, J. H. 2013. Downregulation of GLTSCR2 expression is correlated with breast cancer progression. *Pathol Res Pract*, 209, 700-4.
- MORITA, D., MIYOSHI, K., MATSUI, Y., TOH, E. A., SHINKAWA, H., MIYAKAWA, T. & MIZUTA, K. 2002. Rpf2p, an evolutionarily conserved protein, interacts with ribosomal protein L11 and is essential for the processing of 27 SB Pre-rRNA to 25 S rRNA and the 60 S ribosomal subunit assembly in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem, 277, 28780-6.
- MORONI, M. C., HICKMAN, E. S., LAZZERINI DENCHI, E., CAPRARA, G., COLLI, E., CECCONI, F., MULLER, H. & HELIN, K. 2001. Apaf-1 is a transcriptional target for E2F and p53. *Nat Cell Biol*, 3, 552-8.
- MORRIS, S. W., KIRSTEIN, M. N., VALENTINE, M. B., DITTMER, K., SHAPIRO, D. N., LOOK, A. T. & SALTMAN, D. L. 1995. Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Science*, 267, 316-7.
- MORRISSEY, J. P. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1993. Yeast snR30 is a small nucleolar RNA required for 18S rRNA synthesis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 2469-77.
- MULLER, M., WILDER, S., BANNASCH, D., ISRAELI, D., LEHLBACH, K., LI-WEBER, M., FRIEDMAN, S. L., GALLE, P. R., STREMMEL, W., OREN, M. & KRAMMER, P. H. 1998. p53 activates the CD95 (APO-1/Fas) gene in response to DNA damage by anticancer drugs. *J Exp Med*, 188, 2033-45.
- MULLER, P. A. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2013. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol, 15, 2-8.
- MULLINEUX, S. T. & LAFONTAINE, D. L. 2012. Mapping the cleavage sites on mammalian pre-rRNAs: where do we stand? *Biochimie*, 94, 1521-32.
- MYERS, K. C., DAVIES, S. M. & SHIMAMURA, A. 2013. Clinical and molecular pathophysiology of Shwachman-Diamond syndrome: an update. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am*, 27, 117-28, ix.
- NAGANO, T., HASHIMOTO, T., NAKASHIMA, A., KIKKAWA, U. & KAMADA, S. 2012. Xlinked inhibitor of apoptosis protein mediates neddylation by itself but does not function as a NEDD8-E3 ligase for caspase-7. *FEBS Lett*, 586, 1612-6.
- NAKANO, K. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2001. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. *Mol Cell*, **7**, 683-94.
- NARLA, A., DUTT, S., MCAULEY, J. R., AL-SHAHROUR, F., HURST, S., MCCONKEY, M., NEUBERG, D. & EBERT, B. L. 2011. Dexamethasone and lenalidomide have distinct functional effects on erythropoiesis. *Blood*, 118, 2296-304.
- NAZAR, R. N. 2004. Ribosomal RNA processing and ribosome biogenesis in eukaryotes. *IUBMB Life*, 56, 457-65.
- NGO, J. C., CHAKRABARTI, S., DING, J. H., VELAZQUEZ-DONES, A., NOLEN, B., AUBOL, B. E., ADAMS, J. A., FU, X. D. & GHOSH, G. 2005. Interplay between SRPK and Clk/Sty kinases in phosphorylation of the splicing factor ASF/SF2 is regulated by a docking motif in ASF/SF2. *Mol Cell*, 20, 77-89.
- NGUYEN, Y. H., MILLS, A. A. & STANBRIDGE, E. J. 1998. Assembly of the QM protein onto the 60S ribosomal subunit occurs in the cytoplasm. *J Cell Biochem*, 68, 281-5.
- NICULESCU, A. B., 3RD, CHEN, X., SMEETS, M., HENGST, L., PRIVES, C. & REED, S. I. 1998. Effects of p21(Cip1/Waf1) at both the G1/S and the G2/M cell cycle transitions: pRb is a critical determinant in blocking DNA replication and in preventing endoreduplication. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 629-43.

- NISSAN, T. A., GALANI, K., MACO, B., TOLLERVEY, D., AEBI, U. & HURT, E. 2004. A preribosome with a tadpole-like structure functions in ATP-dependent maturation of 60S subunits. *Mol Cell*, 15, 295-301.
- NOMOTO, S., HARUKI, N., KONDO, M., KONISHI, H., TAKAHASHI, T., TAKAHASHI, T. & TAKAHASHI, T. 1998. Search for mutations and examination of allelic expression imbalance of the p73 gene at 1p36.33 in human lung cancers. *Cancer Res*, 58, 1380-3.
- NOZAWA, Y., VAN BELZEN, N., VAN DER MADE, A. C., DINJENS, W. N. & BOSMAN, F. T. 1996. Expression of nucleophosmin/B23 in normal and neoplastic colorectal mucosa. *J Pathol*, 178, 48-52.
- NYMAN, S., SOPANEN, T. & MIKOLA, J. 1983. Regulation of development of leucine uptake activity by glutamine in the scutellum of germinating barley grain. *Plant Physiol*, 73, 135-41.
- O'DONOHUE, M. F., CHOESMEL, V., FAUBLADIER, M., FICHANT, G. & GLEIZES, P. E. 2010. Functional dichotomy of ribosomal proteins during the synthesis of mammalian 40S ribosomal subunits. *J Cell Biol*, 190, 853-66.
- ODA, E., OHKI, R., MURASAWA, H., NEMOTO, J., SHIBUE, T., YAMASHITA, T., TOKINO, T., TANIGUCHI, T. & TANAKA, N. 2000. Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. *Science*, 288, 1053-8.
- OEFFINGER, M., DLAKIC, M. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2004. A pre-ribosome-associated HEATrepeat protein is required for export of both ribosomal subunits. *Genes Dev*, 18, 196-209.
- OEFFINGER, M., LEUNG, A., LAMOND, A. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2002. Yeast Pescadillo is required for multiple activities during 60S ribosomal subunit synthesis. *Rna*, 8, 626-36.
- OEFFINGER, M. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2003. Yeast Nop15p is an RNA-binding protein required for pre-rRNA processing and cytokinesis. *Embo J*, 22, 6573-83.
- OEFFINGER, M., ZENKLUSEN, D., FERGUSON, A., WEI, K. E., EL HAGE, A., TOLLERVEY, D., CHAIT, B. T., SINGER, R. H. & ROUT, M. P. 2009. Rrp17p is a eukaryotic exonuclease required for 5' end processing of Pre-60S ribosomal RNA. *Mol Cell*, 36, 768-81.
- OFENGAND, J. 2002. Ribosomal RNA pseudouridines and pseudouridine synthases. *FEBS Lett*, 514, 17-25.
- OFIR-ROSENFELD, Y., BOGGS, K., MICHAEL, D., KASTAN, M. B. & OREN, M. 2008. Mdm2 regulates p53 mRNA translation through inhibitory interactions with ribosomal protein L26. *Mol Cell*, 32, 180-9.
- OGRYZKO, V. V., WONG, P. & HOWARD, B. H. 1997. WAF1 retards S-phase progression primarily by inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases. *Mol Cell Biol*, 17, 4877-82.
- OKAHARA, F., IKAWA, H., KANAHO, Y. & MAEHAMA, T. 2004. Regulation of PTEN phosphorylation and stability by a tumor suppressor candidate protein. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 45300-3.
- OKAMURA, K., TAKAYAMA, K., KAWAHARA, K., HARADA, T., NISHIO, M., OTSUBO, K., IJICHI, K., KOHNO, M., IWAMA, E., FUJII, A., OTA, K., KOGA, T., OKAMOTO, T., SUZUKI, A. & NAKANISHI, Y. 2014. PICT1 expression is a poor prognostic factor in non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncoscience*, **1**, 375-82.
- OKUDA, M., HORN, H. F., TARAPORE, P., TOKUYAMA, Y., SMULIAN, A. G., CHAN, P. K., KNUDSEN, E. S., HOFMANN, I. A., SNYDER, J. D., BOVE, K. E. & FUKASAWA, K. 2000. Nucleophosmin/B23 is a target of CDK2/cyclin E in centrosome duplication. *Cell*, 103, 127-40.

- OKUWAKI, M., MATSUMOTO, K., TSUJIMOTO, M. & NAGATA, K. 2001. Function of nucleophosmin/B23, a nucleolar acidic protein, as a histone chaperone. *FEBS Lett*, 506, 272-6.
- ONO, W., HAYASHI, Y., YOKOYAMA, W., KURODA, T., KISHIMOTO, H., ITO, I., KIMURA, K., AKAOGI, K., WAKU, T. & YANAGISAWA, J. 2014. The nucleolar protein Mybbinding protein 1A (MYBBP1A) enhances p53 tetramerization and acetylation in response to nucleolar disruption. J Biol Chem, 289, 4928-40.
- OSHEIM, Y. N., FRENCH, S. L., KECK, K. M., CHAMPION, E. A., SPASOV, K., DRAGON, F., BASERGA, S. J. & BEYER, A. L. 2004. Pre-18S ribosomal RNA is structurally compacted into the SSU processome prior to being cleaved from nascent transcripts in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell*, 16, 943-54.
- OU, X., LIU, M., LUO, H., DONG, L. Q. & LIU, F. 2014. Ursolic acid inhibits leucinestimulated mTORC1 signaling by suppressing mTOR localization to lysosome. *PLoS One*, 9, e95393.
- PALMERO, I., PANTOJA, C. & SERRANO, M. 1998. p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. *Nature*, 395, 125-6.
- PAN, Y. & CHEN, J. 2003. MDM2 promotes ubiquitination and degradation of MDMX. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 5113-21.
- PAPAPETROPOULOS, S., FFRENCH-MULLEN, J., MCCORQUODALE, D., QIN, Y., PABLO, J. & MASH, D. C. 2006. Multiregional gene expression profiling identifies MRPS6 as a possible candidate gene for Parkinson's disease. *Gene Expr*, **13**, 205-15.
- PARK, B. J., LEE, S. J., KIM, J. I., LEE, S. J., LEE, C. H., CHANG, S. G., PARK, J. H. & CHI, S. G. 2000. Frequent alteration of p63 expression in human primary bladder carcinomas. *Cancer Res*, 60, 3370-4.
- PARK, J. W. & BAE, Y. S. 1999. Phosphorylation of ribosomal protein L5 by protein kinase CKII decreases its 5S rRNA binding activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 263, 475-81.
- PAUSE, A., BELSHAM, G. J., GINGRAS, A. C., DONZE, O., LIN, T. A., LAWRENCE, J. C., JR.
   & SONENBERG, N. 1994. Insulin-dependent stimulation of protein synthesis by phosphorylation of a regulator of 5'-cap function. *Nature*, 371, 762-7.
- PAYNE, E. M., VIRGILIO, M., NARLA, A., SUN, H., LEVINE, M., PAW, B. H., BERLINER, N., LOOK, A. T., EBERT, B. L. & KHANNA-GUPTA, A. 2012. L-Leucine improves the anemia and developmental defects associated with Diamond-Blackfan anemia and del(5q) MDS by activating the mTOR pathway. *Blood*, 120, 2214-24.
- PECULIS, B. A. & GREER, C. L. 1998. The structure of the ITS2-proximal stem is required for pre-rRNA processing in yeast. *RNA*, 4, 1610-22.
- PENG, C. Y., GRAVES, P. R., THOMA, R. S., WU, Z., SHAW, A. S. & PIWNICA-WORMS, H. 1997. Mitotic and G2 checkpoint control: regulation of 14-3-3 protein binding by phosphorylation of Cdc25C on serine-216. *Science*, 277, 1501-5.
- PEREBOOM, T. C., BONDT, A., PALLAKI, P., KLASSON, T. D., GOOS, Y. J., ESSERS, P. B., GROOT KOERKAMP, M. J., GAZDA, H. T., HOLSTEGE, F. C., COSTA, L. D. & MACINNES, A. W. 2014. Translation of branched-chain aminotransferase-1 transcripts is impaired in cells haploinsufficient for ribosomal protein genes. *Exp Hematol*, 42, 394-403 e4.
- PEREZ-SAYANS, M., SUAREZ-PENARANDA, J. M., GAYOSO-DIZ, P., BARROS-ANGUEIRA, F., GANDARA-REY, J. M. & GARCIA-GARCIA, A. 2013. The role of p21Waf1/CIP1 as a Cip/Kip type cell-cycle regulator in oral squamous cell carcinoma (Review). *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal*, 18, e219-25.

- PERTSCHY, B., SAVEANU, C., ZISSER, G., LEBRETON, A., TENGG, M., JACQUIER, A., LIEBMINGER, E., NOBIS, B., KAPPEL, L., VAN DER KLEI, I., HOGENAUER, G., FROMONT-RACINE, M. & BERGLER, H. 2007. Cytoplasmic recycling of 60S preribosomal factors depends on the AAA protein Drg1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27, 6581-92.
- PESTOV, D. G., STOCKELMAN, M. G., STREZOSKA, Z. & LAU, L. F. 2001a. ERB1, the yeast homolog of mammalian Bop1, is an essential gene required for maturation of the 25S and 5.8S ribosomal RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 29, 3621-30.
- PESTOV, D. G., STREZOSKA, Z. & LAU, L. F. 2001b. Evidence of p53-dependent cross-talk between ribosome biogenesis and the cell cycle: effects of nucleolar protein Bop1 on G(1)/S transition. *Mol Cell Biol*, 21, 4246-55.
- PETFALSKI, E., DANDEKAR, T., HENRY, Y. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1998. Processing of the precursors to small nucleolar RNAs and rRNAs requires common components. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 1181-9.
- PHIPPS, K. R., CHARETTE, J. & BASERGA, S. J. 2011. The small subunit processome in ribosome biogenesis-progress and prospects. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA*, 2, 1-21.
- PIANESE, G. 1896. Beitrag zur Histologie und Aetiologie der Carcinoma. *Histologische und experimentelle Untersuchungen Beitr Pathol Anat Allg Pathol.*, 1–193.
- POSPISILOVA, D., CMEJLOVA, J., HAK, J., ADAM, T. & CMEJLA, R. 2007. Successful treatment of a Diamond-Blackfan anemia patient with amino acid leucine. *Haematologica*, 92, e66-7.
- PRETI, M., O'DONOHUE, M. F., MONTEL-LEHRY, N., BORTOLIN-CAVAILLE, M. L., CHOESMEL, V. & GLEIZES, P. E. 2013. Gradual processing of the ITS1 from the nucleolus to the cytoplasm during synthesis of the human 18S rRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 41, 4709-23.
- PUVION-DUTILLEUL, F., PUVION, E. & BACHELLERIE, J. P. 1997. Early stages of pre-rRNA formation within the nucleolar ultrastructure of mouse cells studied by in situ hybridization with a 5'ETS leader probe. *Chromosoma*, 105, 496-505.
- QUARELLO, P., GARELLI, E., CARADANDO, A., BRUSCO, A., CALABRESE, R., DUFOUR, C., LONGONI, D., MISURACA, A., VINTI, L., ASPESI, A., BIONDINI, L., LORENI, F., DIANZANI, I. & RAMENGHI, U. 2010a. Diamond Blackfan Anemia: Genotypephenotype correlations in Italian Patients with RPL5 and RPL11 Mutations. *Haematologica*, 95, 206-213.
- QUARELLO, P., GARELLI, E., CARANDO, A., BRUSCO, A., CALABRESE, R., DUFOUR, C., LONGONI, D., MISURACA, A., VINTI, L., ASPESI, A., BIONDINI, L., LORENI, F., DIANZANI, I. & RAMENGHI, U. 2010b. Diamond-Blackfan anemia: genotypephenotype correlations in Italian patients with RPL5 and RPL11 mutations. *Haematologica*, 95, 206-13.
- QUIN, J. E., DEVLIN, J. R., CAMERON, D., HANNAN, K. M., PEARSON, R. B. & HANNAN, R. D. 2014. Targeting the nucleolus for cancer intervention. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1842, 802-16.
- RAO, S., LEE, S. Y., GUTIERREZ, A., PERRIGOUE, J., THAPA, R. J., TU, Z., JEFFERS, J. R., RHODES, M., ANDERSON, S., ORAVECZ, T., HUNGER, S. P., TIMAKHOV, R. A., ZHANG, R., BALACHANDRAN, S., ZAMBETTI, G. P., TESTA, J. R., LOOK, A. T. & WIEST, D. L. 2012. Inactivation of ribosomal protein L22 promotes transformation by induction of the stemness factor, Lin28B. *Blood*, 120, 3764-73.

- RHODIN, M. H., RAKAUSKAITE, R. & DINMAN, J. D. 2011. The central core region of yeast ribosomal protein L11 is important for subunit joining and translational fidelity. *Mol Genet Genomics*, 285, 505-16.
- RIDLEY, D. M., DAWKINS, F. & PERLIN, E. 1994. Erythropoietin: a review. J Natl Med Assoc, 86, 129-35.
- ROSEN, N. & SHE, Q. B. 2006. AKT and cancer--is it all mTOR? Cancer Cell, 10, 254-6.
- ROSS, A. P. & ZARBALIS, K. S. 2014. The emerging roles of ribosome biogenesis in craniofacial development. *Front Physiol*, 5, 26.
- ROVIN, S., DACHI, S. F., BORENSTEIN, D. B. & COTTER, W. B. 1964. MANDIBULOFACIAL DYSOSTOSIS, A FAMILIAL STUDY OF FIVE GENERATIONS. *J Pediatr*, 65, 215-21.
- RUDRA, D. & WARNER, J. R. 2004. What better measure than ribosome synthesis? *Genes Dev*, 18, 2431-6.
- RUGGERO, D. & PANDOLFI, P. P. 2003. Does the ribosome translate cancer? *Nat Rev Cancer*, **3**, 179-92.
- RUVINSKY, I. & MEYUHAS, O. 2006. Ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation: from protein synthesis to cell size. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 31, 342-8.
- SAHASRANAMAN, A., DEMBOWSKI, J., STRAHLER, J., ANDREWS, P., MADDOCK, J. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2011. Assembly of Saccharomyces cerevisiae 60S ribosomal subunits: role of factors required for 27S pre-rRNA processing. *EMBO* J, 30, 4020-32.
- SANCAK, Y., THOREEN, C. C., PETERSON, T. R., LINDQUIST, R. A., KANG, S. A., SPOONER, E., CARR, S. A. & SABATINI, D. M. 2007. PRAS40 is an insulin-regulated inhibitor of the mTORC1 protein kinase. *Mol Cell*, 25, 903-15.
- SANFORD, J. R., ELLIS, J. D., CAZALLA, D. & CACERES, J. F. 2005. Reversible phosphorylation differentially affects nuclear and cytoplasmic functions of splicing factor 2/alternative splicing factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 15042-7.
- SANFORD, J. R., GRAY, N. K., BECKMANN, K. & CACERES, J. F. 2004. A novel role for shuttling SR proteins in mRNA translation. *Genes Dev*, 18, 755-68.
- SANIJ, E. & HANNAN, R. D. 2009. The role of UBF in regulating the structure and dynamics of transcriptionally active rDNA chromatin. *Epigenetics*, 4, 374-82.
- SANTOS-ROSA, H., MORENO, H., SIMOS, G., SEGREF, A., FAHRENKROG, B., PANTE, N. & HURT, E. 1998. Nuclear mRNA export requires complex formation between Mex67p and Mtr2p at the nuclear pores. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, 6826-38.
- SASAKI, M., KAWAHARA, K., NISHIO, M., MIMORI, K., KOGO, R., HAMADA, K., ITOH, B.,
  WANG, J., KOMATSU, Y., YANG, Y. R., HIKASA, H., HORIE, Y., YAMASHITA, T.,
  KAMIJO, T., ZHANG, Y., ZHU, Y., PRIVES, C., NAKANO, T., MAK, T. W., SASAKI, T.,
  MAEHAMA, T., MORI, M. & SUZUKI, A. 2011. Regulation of the MDM2-P53
  pathway and tumor growth by PICT1 via nucleolar RPL11. *Nat Med*, 17, 944-51.
- SAX, J. K., FEI, P., MURPHY, M. E., BERNHARD, E., KORSMEYER, S. J. & EL-DEIRY, W. S. 2002. BID regulation by p53 contributes to chemosensitivity. *Nat Cell Biol*, 4, 842-9.
- SCHAFER, T., MACO, B., PETFALSKI, E., TOLLERVEY, D., BOTTCHER, B., AEBI, U. & HURT, E. 2006. Hrr25-dependent phosphorylation state regulates organization of the pre-40S subunit. *Nature*, 441, 651-5.
- SCHAFER, T., STRAUSS, D., PETFALSKI, E., TOLLERVEY, D. & HURT, E. 2003. The path from nucleolar 90S to cytoplasmic 40S pre-ribosomes. *EMBO J*, 22, 1370-80.

SCHILLEWAERT, S., WACHEUL, L., LHOMME, F. & LAFONTAINE, D. L. 2012. The evolutionarily conserved protein Las1 is required for pre-rRNA processing at both ends of ITS2. *Mol Cell Biol*, 32, 430-44.

SCHMITT, M. E. & CLAYTON, D. A. 1993. Nuclear RNase MRP is required for correct processing of pre-5.8S rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 7935-41.

SCHWARZACHER, H. G. & WACHTLER, F. 1993. The nucleolus. *Anat Embryol (Berl),* 188, 515-36.

SCRIPTURE, J. B. & HUBER, P. W. 1995. Analysis of the binding of Xenopus ribosomal protein L5 to oocyte 5 S rRNA. The major determinants of recognition are located in helix III-loop C. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 27358-65.

SCRIPTURE, J. B. & HUBER, P. W. 2011. Binding site for Xenopus ribosomal protein L5 and accompanying structural changes in 5S rRNA. *Biochemistry*, 50, 3827-39.

SENGER, B., LAFONTAINE, D. L., GRAINDORGE, J. S., GADAL, O., CAMASSES, A., SANNI, A., GARNIER, J. M., BREITENBACH, M., HURT, E. & FASIOLO, F. 2001. The nucle(ol)ar Tif6p and Efl1p are required for a late cytoplasmic step of ribosome synthesis. *Mol Cell*, 8, 1363-73.

SENGUPTA, S., PETERSON, T. R. & SABATINI, D. M. 2010. Regulation of the mTOR complex 1 pathway by nutrients, growth factors, and stress. *Mol Cell*, 40, 310-22.

 SENOO, M., TSUCHIYA, I., MATSUMURA, Y., MORI, T., SAITO, Y., KATO, H., OKAMOTO, T. & HABU, S. 2001. Transcriptional dysregulation of the p73L / p63 / p51 / p40 / KET gene in human squamous cell carcinomas: expression of Delta Np73L, a novel dominant-negative isoform, and loss of expression of the potential tumour suppressor p51. *Br J Cancer*, 84, 1235-41.

SHAMMAS, C., MENNE, T. F., HILCENKO, C., MICHELL, S. R., GOYENECHEA, B.,
BOOCOCK, G. R., DURIE, P. R., ROMMENS, J. M. & WARREN, A. J. 2005.
Structural and mutational analysis of the SBDS protein family. Insight into the leukemia-associated Shwachman-Diamond Syndrome. J Biol Chem, 280, 19221-9.

SHERR, C. J. 2006. Divorcing ARF and p53: an unsettled case. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 6, 663-73.

SHERR, C. J. & ROBERTS, J. M. 1999. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. *Genes Dev*, 13, 1501-12.

SHIELDS, L. B., GERCEL-TAYLOR, C., YASHAR, C. M., WAN, T. C., KATSANIS, W. A., SPINNATO, J. A. & TAYLOR, D. D. 1997. Induction of immune responses to ovarian tumor antigens by multiparity. *J Soc Gynecol Investig*, 4, 298-304.

SHVARTS, A., STEEGENGA, W. T., RITECO, N., VAN LAAR, T., DEKKER, P., BAZUINE, M., VAN HAM, R. C., VAN DER HOUVEN VAN OORDT, W., HATEBOER, G., VAN DER EB, A. J. & JOCHEMSEN, A. G. 1996. MDMX: a novel p53-binding protein with some functional properties of MDM2. *EMBO J*, 15, 5349-57.

SINGH, G., AKCAKANAT, A., SHARMA, C., LUYIMBAZI, D., NAFF, K. A. & MERIC-BERNSTAM, F. 2011. The effect of leucine restriction on Akt/mTOR signaling in breast cancer cell lines in vitro and in vivo. *Nutr Cancer*, 63, 264-71.

SINGH, S. A., GOLDBERG, T. A., HENSON, A. L., HUSAIN-KRAUTTER, S., NIHRANE, A., BLANC, L., ELLIS, S. R., LIPTON, J. M. & LIU, J. M. 2014. p53-Independent cell cycle and erythroid differentiation defects in murine embryonic stem cells haploinsufficient for Diamond Blackfan anemia-proteins: RPS19 versus RPL5. *PLoS One*, 9, e89098.
- SJOGREN, S. E., SIVA, K., SONEJI, S., GEORGE, A. J., WINKLER, M., JAAKO, P.,
   WLODARSKI, M., KARLSSON, S., HANNAN, R. D. & FLYGARE, J. 2015.
   Glucocorticoids improve erythroid progenitor maintenance and dampen Trp53 response in a mouse model of Diamond-Blackfan anaemia. *Br J Haematol*.
- SLOAN, K. E., BOHNSACK, M. T., SCHNEIDER, C. & WATKINS, N. J. 2014. The roles of SSU processome components and surveillance factors in the initial processing of human ribosomal RNA. RNA, 20, 540-50.
- SLOAN, K. E., BOHNSACK, M. T. & WATKINS, N. J. 2013a. The 5S RNP couples p53 homeostasis to ribosome biogenesis and nucleolar stress. *Cell Rep*, 5, 237-47.
- SLOAN, K. E., MATTIJSSEN, S., LEBARON, S., TOLLERVEY, D., PRUIJN, G. J. & WATKINS,
   N. J. 2013b. Both endonucleolytic and exonucleolytic cleavage mediate ITS1
   removal during human ribosomal RNA processing. *J Cell Biol*, 200, 577-88.
- SMETANINA, N. S., MERSIYANOVA, I. V., KURNIKOVA, M. A., OVSYANNIKOVA, G. S., HACHATRYAN, L. A., BOBRYNINA, V. O., MASCHAN, M. A., NOVICHKOVA, G. A., LIPTON, J. M. & MASCHAN, A. A. 2015. Clinical and genomic heterogeneity of Diamond Blackfan anemia in the Russian Federation. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*.
- SMITH, M. L., CHEN, I. T., ZHAN, Q., BAE, I., CHEN, C. Y., GILMER, T. M., KASTAN, M. B., O'CONNOR, P. M. & FORNACE, A. J., JR. 1994. Interaction of the p53-regulated protein Gadd45 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Science*, 266, 1376-80.
- SOBELL, H. M. 1985. Actinomycin and DNA transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82, 5328-31.
- SONG, M. S., SALMENA, L. & PANDOLFI, P. P. 2012. The functions and regulation of the PTEN tumour suppressor. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 283-96.
- SPERKA, T., WANG, J. & RUDOLPH, K. L. 2012. DNA damage checkpoints in stem cells, ageing and cancer. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 13, 579-90.
- ST-DENIS, N. A. & LITCHFIELD, D. W. 2009. Protein kinase CK2 in health and disease: From birth to death: the role of protein kinase CK2 in the regulation of cell proliferation and survival. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 66, 1817-29.
- STEENSMA, D. P. & EBERT, B. L. 2013. Initial experience with L-leucine therapy in myelodysplastic syndromes with associated chromosome 5q deletion. *Blood*, 121, 4428.
- STIEWE, T. & PUTZER, B. M. 2002. Role of p73 in malignancy: tumor suppressor or oncogene? *Cell Death Differ*, 9, 237-45.
- STREZOSKA, Z., PESTOV, D. G. & LAU, L. F. 2000. Bop1 is a mouse WD40 repeat nucleolar protein involved in 28S and 5. 8S RRNA processing and 60S ribosome biogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 5516-28.
- STRUNK, B. S., LOUCKS, C. R., SU, M., VASHISTH, H., CHENG, S., SCHILLING, J., BROOKS, C. L., 3RD, KARBSTEIN, K. & SKINIOTIS, G. 2011. Ribosome assembly factors prevent premature translation initiation by 40S assembly intermediates. *Science*, 333, 1449-53.
- STRUNK, B. S., NOVAK, M. N., YOUNG, C. L. & KARBSTEIN, K. 2012. A translation-like cycle is a quality control checkpoint for maturing 40S ribosome subunits. *Cell*, 150, 111-21.
- STULKE, J. 2010. More than just activity control: phosphorylation may control all aspects of a protein's properties. *Mol Microbiol*, 77, 273-5.
- STUMPF, C. R. & RUGGERO, D. 2011. The cancerous translation apparatus. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 21, 474-83.

- SUBONG, E. N., SHUE, M. J., EPSTEIN, J. I., BRIGGMAN, J. V., CHAN, P. K. & PARTIN, A.
   W. 1999. Monoclonal antibody to prostate cancer nuclear matrix protein (PRO:4-216) recognizes nucleophosmin/B23. *Prostate*, 39, 298-304.
- SUGIKAWA, E., HOSOI, T., YAZAKI, N., GAMANUMA, M., NAKANISHI, N. & OHASHI, M. 1999. Mutant p53 mediated induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis at G1 phase by 9-hydroxyellipticine. *Anticancer Res,* 19, 3099-108.
- SULIC, S., PANIC, L., DIKIC, I. & VOLAREVIC, S. 2005. Deregulation of cell growth and malignant transformation. *Croat Med J*, 46, 622-38.
- SULIMA, S. O., PATCHETT, S., ADVANI, V. M., DE KEERSMAECKER, K., JOHNSON, A. W. & DINMAN, J. D. 2014. Bypass of the pre-60S ribosomal quality control as a pathway to oncogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 5640-5.
- SUN, C. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 1994. The yeast NOP4 gene product is an essential nucleolar protein required for pre-rRNA processing and accumulation of 60S ribosomal subunits. *EMBO J*, 13, 3127-35.
- SUNDQVIST, A., LIU, G., MIRSALIOTIS, A. & XIRODIMAS, D. P. 2009. Regulation of nucleolar signalling to p53 through NEDDylation of L11. *EMBO Rep*, 10, 1132-9.
- SZYMANSKI, M., BARCISZEWSKA, M. Z., ERDMANN, V. A. & BARCISZEWSKI, J. 2003. 5 S rRNA: structure and interactions. *Biochem J*, 371, 641-51.
- TAKAGI, M., ABSALON, M. J., MCLURE, K. G. & KASTAN, M. B. 2005. Regulation of p53 translation and induction after DNA damage by ribosomal protein L26 and nucleolin. *Cell*, 123, 49-63.
- TAN, S. H. & NEVALAINEN, M. T. 2008. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5A/B in prostate and breast cancers. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 15, 367-90.
- TANAKA, M., SASAKI, H., KINO, I., SUGIMURA, T. & TERADA, M. 1992. Genes preferentially expressed in embryo stomach are predominantly expressed in gastric cancer. *Cancer Res*, 52, 3372-7.
- TANG, L., SAHASRANAMAN, A., JAKOVLJEVIC, J., SCHLEIFMAN, E. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2008. Interactions among Ytm1, Erb1, and Nop7 required for assembly of the Nop7-subcomplex in yeast preribosomes. *Mol Biol Cell*, 19, 2844-56.
- TANIMURA, S., OHTSUKA, S., MITSUI, K., SHIROUZU, K., YOSHIMURA, A. & OHTSUBO, M. 1999. MDM2 interacts with MDMX through their RING finger domains. *FEBS Lett*, 447, 5-9.
- TAO, W. & LEVINE, A. J. 1999. P19(ARF) stabilizes p53 by blocking nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of Mdm2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 6937-41.
- TASDEMIR, E., MAIURI, M. C., GALLUZZI, L., VITALE, I., DJAVAHERI-MERGNY, M.,
  D'AMELIO, M., CRIOLLO, A., MORSELLI, E., ZHU, C., HARPER, F., NANNMARK, U.,
  SAMARA, C., PINTON, P., VICENCIO, J. M., CARNUCCIO, R., MOLL, U. M.,
  MADEO, F., PATERLINI-BRECHOT, P., RIZZUTO, R., SZABADKAI, G., PIERRON, G.,
  BLOMGREN, K., TAVERNARAKIS, N., CODOGNO, P., CECCONI, F. & KROEMER, G.
  2008. Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10, 676-87.
- TEHRANCHI, R., WOLL, P. S., ANDERSON, K., BUZA-VIDAS, N., MIZUKAMI, T., MEAD, A.
  J., ASTRAND-GRUNDSTROM, I., STROMBECK, B., HORVAT, A., FERRY, H.,
  DHANDA, R. S., HAST, R., RYDEN, T., VYAS, P., GOHRING, G., SCHLEGELBERGER,
  B., JOHANSSON, B., HELLSTROM-LINDBERG, E., LIST, A., NILSSON, L. &
  JACOBSEN, S. E. 2010. Persistent malignant stem cells in del(5q) myelodysplasia
  in remission. N Engl J Med, 363, 1025-37.
- TENG, T., MERCER, C. A., HEXLEY, P., THOMAS, G. & FUMAGALLI, S. 2013. Loss of tumor suppressor RPL5/RPL11 does not induce cell cycle arrest but impedes

proliferation due to reduced ribosome content and translation capacity. *Mol Cell Biol*, 33, 4660-71.

- THEDIECK, K., POLAK, P., KIM, M. L., MOLLE, K. D., COHEN, A., JENO, P., ARRIEUMERLOU, C. & HALL, M. N. 2007. PRAS40 and PRR5-like protein are new mTOR interactors that regulate apoptosis. *PLoS One*, 2, e1217.
- THEVENON, J., MICHOT, C., BOLE, C., NITSCHKE, P., NIZON, M., FAIVRE, L., MUNNICH, A., LYONNET, S., BONNEFONT, J. P., PORTES, V. D. & AMIEL, J. 2015. RPL10 mutation segregating in a family with X-linked syndromic Intellectual Disability. *Am J Med Genet A*, 167, 1908-12.
- THOMAS, G. 2000. An encore for ribosome biogenesis in the control of cell proliferation. *Nat Cell Biol*, 2, E71-2.
- THOMSON, E. & TOLLERVEY, D. 2005. Nop53p is required for late 60S ribosome subunit maturation and nuclear export in yeast. *RNA*, 11, 1215-24.
- TIMOFEEV, O., SCHLERETH, K., WANZEL, M., BRAUN, A., NIESWANDT, B., PAGENSTECHER, A., ROSENWALD, A., ELSASSER, H. P. & STIEWE, T. 2013. p53 DNA Binding Cooperativity Is Essential for Apoptosis and Tumor Suppression In Vivo. Cell Rep.
- TOLEDO, F., KRUMMEL, K. A., LEE, C. J., LIU, C. W., RODEWALD, L. W., TANG, M. & WAHL, G. M. 2006. A mouse p53 mutant lacking the proline-rich domain rescues Mdm4 deficiency and provides insight into the Mdm2-Mdm4-p53 regulatory network. *Cancer Cell*, 9, 273-85.
- TOMECKI, R., LABNO, A., DRAZKOWSKA, K., CYSEWSKI, D. & DZIEMBOWSKI, A. 2015. hUTP24 is essential for processing of the human ribosomal RNA precursor at site A, but not at site A. *RNA Biol*, 0.
- TRAINOR, P. A., DIXON, J. & DIXON, M. J. 2009. Treacher Collins syndrome: etiology, pathogenesis and prevention. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 17, 275-83.
- TSCHOCHNER, H. & HURT, E. 2003. Pre-ribosomes on the road from the nucleolus to the cytoplasm. *Trends Cell Biol*, 13, 255-63.
- TSUJIMOTO, Y. 1998. Role of Bcl-2 family proteins in apoptosis: apoptosomes or mitochondria? *Genes Cells*, **3**, 697-707.
- UCHI, R., KOGO, R., KAWAHARA, K., SUDO, T., YOKOBORI, T., EGUCHI, H., SUGIMACHI, K., MAEHAMA, T., MORI, M., SUZUKI, A., KOMUNE, S. & MIMORI, K. 2013.
   PICT1 regulates TP53 via RPL11 and is involved in gastric cancer progression. *Br J Cancer*, 109, 2199-206.
- ULBRICH, C., DIEPHOLZ, M., BASSLER, J., KRESSLER, D., PERTSCHY, B., GALANI, K., BOTTCHER, B. & HURT, E. 2009. Mechanochemical removal of ribosome biogenesis factors from nascent 60S ribosomal subunits. *Cell*, 138, 911-22.
- URAMOTO, H., SUGIO, K., OYAMA, T., NAKATA, S., ONO, K., MORITA, M., FUNA, K. & YASUMOTO, K. 2004. Expression of deltaNp73 predicts poor prognosis in lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res,* 10, 6905-11.
- URAMOTO, H., SUGIO, K., OYAMA, T., NAKATA, S., ONO, K., NOZOE, T. & YASUMOTO, K. 2006. Expression of the p53 family in lung cancer. *Anticancer Res*, 26, 1785-90.
- VALDEZ, B. C., HENNING, D., SO, R. B., DIXON, J. & DIXON, M. J. 2004. The Treacher Collins syndrome (TCOF1) gene product is involved in ribosomal DNA gene transcription by interacting with upstream binding factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 101, 10709-14.

 VAN DEN BERGHE, H., CASSIMAN, J. J., DAVID, G., FRYNS, J. P., MICHAUX, J. L. & SOKAL, G. 1974. Distinct haematological disorder with deletion of long arm of no. 5 chromosome. *Nature*, 251, 437-8.

VAN HOOF, A., LENNERTZ, P. & PARKER, R. 2000. Three conserved members of the RNase D family have unique and overlapping functions in the processing of 5S, 5.8S, U4, U5, RNase MRP and RNase P RNAs in yeast. *EMBO J*, 19, 1357-65.

VARDIMAN, J. W., HARRIS, N. L. & BRUNNING, R. D. 2002. The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of the myeloid neoplasms. *Blood*, 100, 2292-302.

VENEMA, J. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1995. Processing of pre-ribosomal RNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Yeast*, 11, 1629-50.

VENEMA, J. & TOLLERVEY, D. 1996. RRP5 is required for formation of both 18S and 5.8S rRNA in yeast. *EMBO J*, 15, 5701-14.

VENTIMIGLIA, F. A. & WOOL, I. G. 1974. A kinase that transfers the gamma-phosphoryl group of GTP to proteins of eukaryotic 40S ribosomal subunits. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 71, 350-4.

VIKHANSKAYA, F., D'INCALCI, M. & BROGGINI, M. 2000. p73 competes with p53 and attenuates its response in a human ovarian cancer cell line. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 28, 513-9.

VILLUNGER, A., MICHALAK, E. M., COULTAS, L., MULLAUER, F., BOCK, G., AUSSERLECHNER, M. J., ADAMS, J. M. & STRASSER, A. 2003. p53- and druginduced apoptotic responses mediated by BH3-only proteins puma and noxa. *Science*, 302, 1036-8.

VLACHOS, A., BALL, S., DAHL, N., ALTER, B. P., SHETH, S., RAMENGHI, U., MEERPOHL, J., KARLSSON, S., LIU, J. M., LEBLANC, T., PALEY, C., KANG, E. M., LEDER, E. J., ATSIDAFTOS, E., SHIMAMURA, A., BESSLER, M., GLADER, B. & LIPTON, J. M.
2008. Diagnosing and treating Diamond Blackfan anaemia: results of an international clinical consensus conference. *Br J Haematol*, 142, 859-76.

VOGELSTEIN, B., LANE, D. & LEVINE, A. J. 2000. Surfing the p53 network. *Nature*, 408, 307-10.

VOUSDEN, K. H. & LANE, D. P. 2007. p53 in health and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 8, 275-83.

VOUSDEN, K. H. & PRIVES, C. 2009. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. *Cell*, 137, 413-31.

VULLIAMY, T., MARRONE, A., GOLDMAN, F., DEARLOVE, A., BESSLER, M., MASON, P. J.
 & DOKAL, I. 2001. The RNA component of telomerase is mutated in autosomal dominant dyskeratosis congenita. *Nature*, 413, 432-5.

WADE, M., WANG, Y. V. & WAHL, G. M. 2010. The p53 orchestra: Mdm2 and Mdmx set the tone. *Trends Cell Biol*, 20, 299-309.

WAGA, S., HANNON, G. J., BEACH, D. & STILLMAN, B. 1994. The p21 inhibitor of cyclindependent kinases controls DNA replication by interaction with PCNA. *Nature*, 369, 574-8.

WAGER, M., GUILHOT, J., BLANC, J. L., FERRAND, S., MILIN, S., BATAILLE, B., LAPIERRE,
 F., DENIS, S., CHANTEREAU, T., LARSEN, C. J. & KARAYAN-TAPON, L. 2006.
 Prognostic value of increase in transcript levels of Tp73 DeltaEx2-3 isoforms in low-grade glioma patients. *Br J Cancer*, 95, 1062-9.

WAJANT, H. 2002. The Fas signaling pathway: more than a paradigm. *Science*, 296, 1635-6.

- WALDMAN, T., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 1995. p21 is necessary for the p53mediated G1 arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res*, 55, 5187-90.
- WANG, M. & PESTOV, D. G. 2011. 5'-end surveillance by Xrn2 acts as a shared mechanism for mammalian pre-rRNA maturation and decay. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 39, 1811-22.
- WANG, R., YOSHIDA, K., TOKI, T., SAWADA, T., UECHI, T., OKUNO, Y., SATO-OTSUBO, A., KUDO, K., KAMIMAKI, I., KANEZAKI, R., SHIRAISHI, Y., CHIBA, K., TANAKA, H., TERUI, K., SATO, T., IRIBE, Y., OHGA, S., KURAMITSU, M., HAMAGUCHI, I., OHARA, A., HARA, J., GOI, K., MATSUBARA, K., KOIKE, K., ISHIGURO, A., OKAMOTO, Y., WATANABE, K., KANNO, H., KOJIMA, S., MIYANO, S., KENMOCHI, N., OGAWA, S. & ITO, E. 2015. Loss of function mutations in RPL27 and RPS27 identified by whole-exome sequencing in Diamond-Blackfan anaemia. *Br J Haematol*, 168, 854-64.

WARBRICK, E. 2000. The puzzle of PCNA's many partners. *Bioessays*, 22, 997-1006.

- WARNER, J. R. 1977. In the absence of ribosomal RNA synthesis, the ribosomal proteins of HeLa cells are synthesized normally and degraded rapidly. *J Mol Biol*, 115, 315-33.
- WARNER, J. R. 1999a. The economics of ribosome biosynthesis in yeast. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 24, 437-40.
- WARNER, J. R. 1999b. The economics of ribosome biosynthesis in yeast. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 24, 437-440.
- WATKINS, N. J. & BOHNSACK, M. T. 2012. The box C/D and H/ACA snoRNPs: key players in the modification, processing and the dynamic folding of ribosomal RNA. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA*, **3**, 397-414.
- WEI, S., CHEN, X., MCGRAW, K., ZHANG, L., KOMROKJI, R., CLARK, J., CACERES, G.,
  BILLINGSLEY, D., SOKOL, L., LANCET, J., FORTENBERY, N., ZHOU, J., EKSIOGLU, E.
  A., SALLMAN, D., WANG, H., EPLING-BURNETTE, P. K., DJEU, J., SEKERES, M.,
  MACIEJEWSKI, J. P. & LIST, A. 2013. Lenalidomide promotes p53 degradation by
  inhibiting MDM2 auto-ubiquitination in myelodysplastic syndrome with
  chromosome 5q deletion. *Oncogene*, 32, 1110-20.
- WEI, S., CHEN, X., ROCHA, K., EPLING-BURNETTE, P. K., DJEU, J. Y., LIU, Q., BYRD, J., SOKOL, L., LAWRENCE, N., PIREDDU, R., DEWALD, G., WILLIAMS, A., MACIEJEWSKI, J. & LIST, A. 2009. A critical role for phosphatase haplodeficiency in the selective suppression of deletion 5q MDS by lenalidomide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 12974-9.
- WILD, T., HORVATH, P., WYLER, E., WIDMANN, B., BADERTSCHER, L., ZEMP, I., KOZAK, K., CSUCS, G., LUND, E. & KUTAY, U. 2010. A protein inventory of human ribosome biogenesis reveals an essential function of exportin 5 in 60S subunit export. *PLoS Biol*, 8, e1000522.
- WILSON, D. N. & DOUDNA CATE, J. H. 2012. The structure and function of the eukaryotic ribosome. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.*, 1.
- WISE, C. A., CHIANG, L. C., PAZNEKAS, W. A., SHARMA, M., MUSY, M. M., ASHLEY, J. A., LOVETT, M. & JABS, E. W. 1997. TCOF1 gene encodes a putative nucleolar phosphoprotein that exhibits mutations in Treacher Collins Syndrome throughout its coding region. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 3110-5.
- WOLFF, S., ERSTER, S., PALACIOS, G. & MOLL, U. M. 2008. p53's mitochondrial translocation and MOMP action is independent of Puma and Bax and severely disrupts mitochondrial membrane integrity. *Cell Res*, 18, 733-44.

- WU, G. S., BURNS, T. F., MCDONALD, E. R., 3RD, JIANG, W., MENG, R., KRANTZ, I. D.,
  KAO, G., GAN, D. D., ZHOU, J. Y., MUSCHEL, R., HAMILTON, S. R., SPINNER, N. B.,
  MARKOWITZ, S., WU, G. & EL-DEIRY, W. S. 1997. KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damageinducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. *Nat Genet*, 17, 141-3.
- WU, K., WU, P. & ARIS, J. P. 2001. Nucleolar protein Nop12p participates in synthesis of 25S rRNA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 29, 2938-49.
- WU, X., BAYLE, J. H., OLSON, D. & LEVINE, A. J. 1993. The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. *Genes Dev*, 7, 1126-32.
- XIONG, Y., ZHANG, H. & BEACH, D. 1992. D type cyclins associate with multiple protein kinases and the DNA replication and repair factor PCNA. *Cell*, 71, 505-14.
- XIRODIMAS, D. P., SAVILLE, M. K., BOURDON, J. C., HAY, R. T. & LANE, D. P. 2004. Mdm2-mediated NEDD8 conjugation of p53 inhibits its transcriptional activity. *Cell*, 118, 83-97.
- XIRODIMAS, D. P., SUNDQVIST, A., NAKAMURA, A., SHEN, L., BOTTING, C. & HAY, R. T. 2008. Ribosomal proteins are targets for the NEDD8 pathway. *EMBO Rep*, 9, 280-6.
- XU, B., LEE, K. K., ZHANG, L. & GERTON, J. L. 2013. Stimulation of mTORC1 with Lleucine rescues defects associated with Roberts syndrome. *PLoS Genet*, 9, e1003857.
- XUE, Y., REN, J., GAO, X., JIN, C., WEN, L. & YAO, X. 2008. GPS 2.0, a tool to predict kinase-specific phosphorylation sites in hierarchy. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 7, 1598-608.
- YANG, A., KAGHAD, M., WANG, Y., GILLETT, E., FLEMING, M. D., DOTSCH, V., ANDREWS, N. C., CAPUT, D. & MCKEON, F. 1998. p63, a p53 homolog at 3q27-29, encodes multiple products with transactivating, death-inducing, and dominant-negative activities. *Mol Cell*, 2, 305-16.
- YANG, E., ZHA, J., JOCKEL, J., BOISE, L. H., THOMPSON, C. B. & KORSMEYER, S. J. 1995. Bad, a heterodimeric partner for Bcl-XL and Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. *Cell*, 80, 285-91.
- YANG, H. Y., WEN, Y. Y., CHEN, C. H., LOZANO, G. & LEE, M. H. 2003. 14-3-3 sigma positively regulates p53 and suppresses tumor growth. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, 7096-107.
- YANG, X. & FRIEDL, A. 2015. A positive feedback loop between prolactin and STAT5 promotes angiogenesis. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 846, 265-80.
- YAO, Y., DEMOINET, E., SAVEANU, C., LENORMAND, P., JACQUIER, A. & FROMONT-RACINE, M. 2010. Ecm1 is a new pre-ribosomal factor involved in pre-60S particle export. *RNA*, 16, 1007-17.
- YEE, K. S., WILKINSON, S., JAMES, J., RYAN, K. M. & VOUSDEN, K. H. 2009. PUMA- and Bax-induced autophagy contributes to apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*, 16, 1135-45.
- YIM, J. H., KIM, Y. J., KO, J. H., CHO, Y. E., KIM, S. M., KIM, J. Y., LEE, S. & PARK, J. H. 2007. The putative tumor suppressor gene GLTSCR2 induces PTEN-modulated cell death. *Cell Death Differ*, 14, 1872-9.
- YING ZHANG, MORIMOTO, K., DANILOVA, N., ZHANG, B. & LIN, S. 2012. Zebrafish Models for Dyskeratosis Congenita Reveal Critical Roles of p53 Activation Contributing to Hematopoietic Defects through RNA Processing. *PLOS One*, 7, e30188.
- YIP, B. H., PELLAGATTI, A., VUPPUSETTY, C., GIAGOUNIDIS, A., GERMING, U., LAMIKANRA, A. A., ROBERTS, D. J., FERNANDEZ-MERCADO, M., MCDONALD, E.

J., KILLICK, S., WAINSCOAT, J. S. & BOULTWOOD, J. 2012. Effects of L-leucine in 5q- syndrome and other RPS14-deficient erythroblasts. *Leukemia*, 26, 2154-8.

- YU, J., ZHANG, L., HWANG, P. M., KINZLER, K. W. & VOGELSTEIN, B. 2001. PUMA induces the rapid apoptosis of colorectal cancer cells. *Mol Cell*, **7**, 673-82.
- YU, Y., MAGGI, L. B., JR., BRADY, S. N., APICELLI, A. J., DAI, M. S., LU, H. & WEBER, J. D. 2006. Nucleophosmin is essential for ribosomal protein L5 nuclear export. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26, 3798-809.
- ZEMBRUSKI, N. C., STACHE, V., HAEFELI, W. E. & WEISS, J. 2012. 7-Aminoactinomycin D for apoptosis staining in flow cytometry. *Anal Biochem*, 429, 79-81.
- ZEMP, I. & KUTAY, U. 2007. Nuclear export and cytoplasmic maturation of ribosomal subunits. *FEBS Lett*, 581, 2783-93.
- ZENG, X., CHEN, L., JOST, C. A., MAYA, R., KELLER, D., WANG, X., KAELIN, W. G., JR., OREN, M., CHEN, J. & LU, H. 1999. MDM2 suppresses p73 function without promoting p73 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 3257-66.
- ZHANG, J., BAI, D., MA, X., GUAN, J. & ZHENG, X. 2014. hCINAP is a novel regulator of ribosomal protein-HDM2-p53 pathway by controlling NEDDylation of ribosomal protein S14. Oncogene, 33, 246-54.
- ZHANG, J., HARNPICHARNCHAI, P., JAKOVLJEVIC, J., TANG, L., GUO, Y., OEFFINGER, M., ROUT, M. P., HILEY, S. L., HUGHES, T. & WOOLFORD, J. L., JR. 2007. Assembly factors Rpf2 and Rrs1 recruit 5S rRNA and ribosomal proteins rpL5 and rpL11 into nascent ribosomes. *Genes Dev*, 21, 2580-92.
- ZHANG, Q., XIAO, H., CHAI, S. C., HOANG, Q. Q. & LU, H. 2011. Hydrophilic residues are crucial for ribosomal protein L11 (RPL11) interaction with zinc finger domain of MDM2 and p53 protein activation. J Biol Chem, 286, 38264-74.
- ZHANG, Y. & LU, H. 2009. Signaling to p53: ribosomal proteins find their way. *Cancer Cell*, 16, 369-77.
- ZHANG, Y., MORIMOTO, K., DANILOVA, N., ZHANG, B. & LIN, S. 2012. Zebrafish models for dyskeratosis congenita reveal critical roles of p53 activation contributing to hematopoietic defects through RNA processing. *PLoS One*, **7**, e30188.
- ZHANG, Y., XIONG, Y. & YARBROUGH, W. G. 1998. ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. *Cell*, 92, 725-34.
- ZHANG, Z. & KRAINER, A. R. 2004. Involvement of SR proteins in mRNA surveillance. *Mol Cell*, 16, 597-607.
- ZHANG, Z., WANG, H., LI, M., AGRAWAL, S., CHEN, X. & ZHANG, R. 2004. MDM2 is a negative regulator of p21WAF1/CIP1, independent of p53. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 16000-6.
- ZHENG, J., LANG, Y., ZHANG, Q., CUI, D., SUN, H., JIANG, L., CHEN, Z., ZHANG, R., GAO, Y., TIAN, W., WU, W., TANG, J. & CHEN, Z. 2015. Structure of human MDM2 complexed with RPL11 reveals the molecular basis of p53 activation. *Genes Dev*, 29, 1524-34.
- ZHOU, C., ZANG, D., JIN, Y., WU, H., LIU, Z., DU, J. & ZHANG, J. 2011. Mutation in ribosomal protein L21 underlies hereditary hypotrichosis simplex. *Hum Mutat*, 32, 710-4.
- ZHOU, X., HAO, Q., ZHANG, Q., LIAO, J. M., KE, J. W., LIAO, P., CAO, B. & LU, H. 2015.
   Ribosomal proteins L11 and L5 activate TAp73 by overcoming MDM2 inhibition.
   *Cell Death Differ*, 22, 755-66.
- ZHU, J., JIANG, J., ZHOU, W. & CHEN, X. 1998. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. *Cancer Res*, 58, 5061-5.

- ZHU, Y., POYUROVSKY, M. V., LI, Y., BIDERMAN, L., STAHL, J., JACQ, X. & PRIVES, C.
   2009. Ribosomal protein S7 is both a regulator and a substrate of MDM2. *Mol Cell*, 35, 316-26.
- ZINDY, F., EISCHEN, C. M., RANDLE, D. H., KAMIJO, T., CLEVELAND, J. L., SHERR, C. J. & ROUSSEL, M. F. 1998. Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. *Genes Dev*, 12, 2424-33.